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AGRA.

The administrative head-quarters of the Agra district, gituation.

United Provinces, situated on the right bank of the river
Jumna, in 27° 10’ N.and 78° 8’ E., 843 miles by rail from .
Calcutta and 839 miles by rail from Bombay. The city is -
the fourth in size in the United Provinees and is growing
rapidly in population : 1872, 149,008 ; 15881,.160,203 ; 1891,
168,622 ; 1901, 188,022. The figures include the population
of the cantonments, which ameunted to 22,041 in 1901.
Hindus numbered 121,249 and Musalméns 57,760..

Before the time of Akbar Agra had been a residence of
the Lodi kings whose city; however, lay on the left or eastern
bank of the Jumna. Traces of its foundations may still be-
noticed opposite the modern town, and a flourishing suburb.
has grown up on part of the former site. Babar occupied.
its old palace after his victory over Ibrahim Khan in 1526 ;
and when a year later he defeated the:-Rajput forces near:
Fatehpur Sikri and securely” established the Mughal supre-
macy, he took up his permanent residence at this place. Hes=
died at Agra in 1580 ; but his remains were removed to
Kabul, so that no mausolenm preserves his mentory here.
His son, Humaytn, was for'a time driven out'of the Ganges
valley by Sher Shah, the rebel Afghin governor of Bengal,
and after his re-establishment on the throne he fixed his:
court at Delhi. Humayin was succeeded by his son, Akbar,,
the great organizer of the imperial system: Akbar removed
the seat of government to the present Agra, which he
founded on the right' bank of the river, and built the fort'
in 1566. A second name of the city, Akbarabad, is still
used by natives. Four years later he laid the foundations oft
Fatehpur Sikri, am?. contemplated making that town the
capital of his empire, but was dissuaded apparently by the
superior advantages of Agra, situated as it was'on the great'
waterway of the Jumma. From 1570 to 1600 Akbar was
oceupied with his conquests to the south and east; but in
1601 he rested from his wars and returned to Agra, where
he died four years later. During his reign the palaces in the
fort were commenced and the gates of Chitor were set up:
at Agra. Akbar had named Jahangir as his successor, who
had to guppress an abortive attempt on the throne made by
his own gon, Khusri. Jahangir built his father’s mausoleum
at Sikandra, and also erected the tomb of his father-in-law,



mad-ud-daula, on the left bank of the river, as well as the
portion of the palace in the fort known as the Jahangir
Mahal. In 1618 he left Agra and never returned. shah
Jahan was proclaimed emperor at Agra in 1628, and resided
here from 1632 to 1687. It is to his reign that most of the
great architectural works in the fort must be referred, though
doubtless many of them had been commenced at an earlier
date. The Moti Masjid, or Pearl Mosque, the Jima Masjid,
or Great Mosque, and the Khas Mahal were all completed
under this magnificent emperor. The Taj Mahal, generally
allowed to be the most exquisite piece of Muhammadan
architecture in the world, commemorates his wife, Mumtaz
Mahal. In 1658 Shah Jahan’s third son, Aurangzeb, rebelled
and deposed him ; but the ex-emperor was permitted to live
at Agra in imperial state, though in confinement, for seven
years longer. After his death Agra sank for a while to the
position of a provincial city, as Aurangzeb removed the seat
of government permanently to Delhi. It had often to resist
the attacks of the turbulent Jats during the decline of the
Mughals ; and in 1763 it was actually taken by the Bharat-
pur forces under Siraj Mal and the renegade, Walter Rein-
hardt, better known by his native name of Sumra, In 1770
the Marathas ousted the Jats and were themselves driven
out by the imperial troops under Najaf Kban four years later.
Najaf Khan then resided in the city for many years with

reat state 28 imperial minister. After his death in 1779
%’Ilﬂmmmad Beg was governor of Agra; and in 1784 he was
besieged by the forces of the emperor Shah Alam and
Madbhuji Sindhia, the Maratha prince. Sindhia took Agra,
and held it till 1787, when he was in turn attacked by the
imperial troops under Ghulim Kadir and Ismail Beg. The
partisan, General de Boigne, raised the siege by defeating
them near Fatehpur Sikri in June 1788. Thenceforward
the Marathas held the fort till it was taken by Lord Lake
i October 1803, From this time it remained a British fron-
tier fortress, and in 1835, when the new presidency of Agra
was founded, this city was chosen as the seat of Government,
though the Board of Revenue and the principal courts
remained at Allahabad till 1843, when they were moved to
Agra, The British rule continued undisturbed until the
Mutiny in 1857. News of the outbreak at Meerut reached
Agra on the 11th of May, and the fidelity of the native
goldiers at once became suspected. On the 30th of May
twe companies of Native Infantry belonging to the 4dth



and 67th Regiments, who had been despatched to Muttra
to escort the treasure into Agra, proved mutinous, and marched
off to Delhi. Next morning their comrades were ordered to
pile arms, and sullenly obeyed. Most of them then quickly
retired to their own homes, The mutiny at Gwalior took
place on the 15th of June, and it became apparent Imme-
diately that the Gwalior contingent at Agra would follow
the example of their countrymen. On the 8rd of July
the Government found it necessary to retire into the fort.
Mwo days later the Nimach and Nasirabad rebels advanced
towards Agra, and were met by the small British force at
Sucheta. Our men were compelled to retire after a brisk
engagement ; and the mob of Agra, secing the English troops
unsuccessful, rose at once, plundered the city, and murdered
every Christian, European or native, upon whom they could
lay their hands. The blaze of the bungalows was seen by our
retreating troops even before they reached the shelter of the
fort. The mutineers, however, moved on to Delhi without
entering the town ; and on the 8th partial order was restored
in Aora. During the months of July and (August, the
officials remained shut up in the fort, though oceasional raids
were made against the rebels in different directions. The
Licutenant-Governor of the North-Western Provinces (John
Colvin) was one of the officers thus shut up. Hedied during
thogse months of trouble, and his tomb now forms a graceful
specimen of Christian sepulture within the fort of the
Mughals. After the fall of Delhi in September, the fugitives
from that city, together with the rebels from Central India,
unexpectedly advanced against Agra on the 6th October.
Meanwhile, Colonel Greathed’s column from Delhi entered
the city without the knowledge of the mutineers. Neither
force kmew of the presence of the other till the attack took
place, but the rebels were ;epu]sed after a short contest, which
completely broke up their array, Agra was immediately
relieved from all danger, and the work of reconstituting the
district went on unmolested. The provisional Government
continued to occupy the former capital until February 1858,
when it removed to Allahabad, which was considered a
superior military position. Since that fime Agra has become
for administrative purposes merely the head-quarters of =
Division and a district ; but the ancient capital still main-
tains its natural eupremacy as the finest city of Upper India,
while the development of the railway system, of which it



forms a great centre, is gradually restoring it to the -com-
mercial 1mportance it once held.

lescription. _ The city of Agra stretches inland west and south from
the Jumna, forming-a roughly equilateral triangle, with its
base running west from the river. The cantonments lie
“beyond the southern point, and include a large rectangular
area. Most of the civil station is surrounded by portions of
the native city, but the jails and Judge’s court lie north of it.
"The bazars are better built than those in most towns in the
Provinees, ‘and contain a large proportion of stone houses.
"The Mughal 'buildings for which the place is famous lie on
the edge of the city or some distance away. The Jama
Masjid or great mosque stands at the centre of the south-
eastern face, separated from the river by the vast pile of
buildings included in‘the fort. From the north angle of the

' fort the Jumna curves away to the east, and on its bank at a
- distance of ‘a mile and a half rises the lovely marble building
famous as theTaj. The space between, which was formerly
‘an unsightly stretch of ravines, is now oecupied by the
MacDonnell Park, commenced as a famine work in 1897,
‘which occupies about 250 acres. The tomb of Ttimad-ud-
daula and the Chini-kd-rauza are situated on the left bank of
‘the river ; and the magnificent tomb of Akbarisat SrrAanDRA,
[he Jama D miles north-west of Agra. The main building of the Jama
Masjid. ‘Masjid, 130 feet in length by 100 in breadth, is divided inte
three compartments, each of which opens on the ecourtyard by
a fine archway, and is surmounted by alow dome built of
white and red stone in oblique courses, producing a some-
what singular, though pleasing, éffect. The work has all the
originality and vigour of the early Mughal style, mixed with
many veminiscences of the Pathan school. The inscription
over the main archway sets forth that the mosque was con-
structed by $he emperor Shah Jahan in 1644, after five years
labour. It was built in the name of his daughter, Jahénara,
who afterwards devotedly shared her father’s captivity when
he was deposed by Aurangzeb. This is thé noble-hearted
and pious princess, whose modest tomb lies near that of the
poet Khusra, outside Delhi. The splendid Jama Masjid
at Agra i8 her public memorial. Opposite to the Jima
Phe fort.  Magjid, across an open square, lies the fort, whose walls
ave 70 feet high,and a mile and a half in eireuit ; but
as they are only faced with stone, and consists within of sand
and rubble, they have no real strength, and would crumble at
once before the fire of modern artillery. A drawbridge leads
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ross the deep moat which surrounds the erenelated ramparts,
and gives access through a massive gateway and ap a paved
ascent to the inner portal. The actual entrance is flanked by
two octagonal towers of red sandstone, inlaid with ornamental
“designs in white marble; the passage between them being
covered by two domes, and known as the Delhi gate. Within
it, beyond a bare space once occupied by a courtyard, lie
the palace buildings, the first of which is known as the
Diwan-i-am, or hall of public audience, formerly used as an
armoury. It was built by Aurangzeb m 1685, and did duty
as an imperial hall and court-house for the palace. The roof
18 supported by colonnades which somewhat impair the effect
of the interior. This hall opens on a large court or tilt-yard ;
and while the emperor with his grandees sat in the open hall,
the general public occupied three of the cloisters, A raised
throne accommodated the sovereign, behind which a door
_communicated with the private apartments of the palace.
The main range of buildings does not belong to Akbar’s time,
but was built by his son and grandson. The centre consists
of a great court 500 feet by 370, surrounded by arcades and
-approached at opposite ends through a succession of corridors
opening into one another. The Diwan-i-am is on one side,
“and behind it are two smaller enclosures, the one containing
the Diwan-i-khas and the other the harem. Three sides were
occupied by the residences of the ladies, and the fourth by
three white pavilions. The Diwan-i-khas, or hall of private
audience, consists of two corridors, 64 feet long, 34 feet
‘broad, and 22 feet high, both built in 1637, It has been
repaired in a spirit of fidelity to the original. The Machhi
Bhawan, or court between these and the Diwan-i-im, were
probably built by Shah Jahan. On the riverside of this
court are two thrones, one of white marble and the other of
black slate. The substructures of the palace are of red .
sandstone ; but the corridors, rooms, and the pavilions are
of white marble elaborately carved. Next to the Diwan-
i-khas comes the Shish Mahal, or Palace of Glass, which
was an oriental bath adorned with thousands of small
mirrors, To the south again lies a large red building called
the Jahangir Mahal, with a fine two-storied fagade and
relieving lines of white marble ; one of the inner courts is 70
feet square, and both are of red stone. Retween them 18
2 handsome entrance on pillars, The Jahangir Mahal
présents some admirable examples of Hindu carving, with
projecting brackets as supports to the broad eaves, and to
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AGRA.

fhe architraves between the pillars, which take the place
of arches. This Hindu form is adopted in the Jahangir
Mahal and in the neighbouring Saman Burj instead of the
arch ; and the ornamentation of the former is purely Hindu.
The exquisite Moti Masjid, or Pearl Mosque, stands to the
north of the Diwan-i-am. It is raised on a lofty sandstone
platform, and has three domes of white marble with gilded
spires. The domes crown & corridor open towards the court
and divided into three aisles by a triple row of Saracenic arches.
The Pearl Mosque is 142 feet long by 56 feet high, and was
built by Shah Jahan in 1654. It is much larger than the
Pearl Mosque at Delbi ; and its pure white marble, sparingly
inlaid with black lines, has an effect at oncenoble and refined.
Only in the slabs composing the floor is colour employed—
a delicate yellow inlaid into the white marble. There is,
however, in the Agra fort a second and much smaller Pearl
Mosque, which was reserved for the private devotions
of the emperors. This exquisite miniature house of prayer is
entirely of the finest and whitest marble, without gilding or
inlaying of any sort.

The Taj Mahal with its beautiful domes, “a dream in
marble,”’ rises on the river bank. It isreached from the fort
by the Strand Road made in the famine of 1838, and adorned
with stone ghdats by native gentlemen. The Taj was erected
as a mausolenm forthe remains of Arjmand Bant Begam,
wife of the emperor Shiah Jahan, known as Mumtiz Mahal or
Txalted of the Palace. She died in 1629, and this building
was set on foot soon after her death, though not completed
till 1648. The materials are white marbles from Jaipur, and
red sandstone from Fatehpur Sikri. The complexity of ite
design and the delicate intricacy of the workmanship baffle
deseription. The mausoleum ~stands on a raised marble
platform, at each of whose corners rises a tall and slender
minaret of graceful proportions and exquisite beauty, Beyond
the platform stretch the two wings, one of which is itself a
mosque of great architectural merit. In the centre of the
whole design, the mausoleum occupies s sqnare of 186 feet,
with the angles deeply truncated, so as to form an unequal
octagon. The main feature of thie central pile is the great
dome, which swells upward to uearly two-thirds of a sphere,
and tapers at its extremity into a pointed spire, crowned by a
crescent. Hach corner of the mausoleumn is covered by a
similar thongh much smaller dome, evected on a pediment
pierced with graceful Saracenic arches. Light is admitted

L,
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o the interior through a double screen of pierced marble,
which tempers the glare of an Indian sky, while its whiteness
prevents the mellow effect from degenerating into gloom.
The internal decorations consist of inlaid work in precious
stones, such as agate and jasper, with which every spandril or
other salient pont in the architecture is richly fretted.
Brown and violet marble is also freely employed in wreaths,
serollg, and lintels to relieve the monotony of the white walls,
In regard to colour and design the interior of the Taj may
rank first in the world for purely decorative workmanship ;
while the perfect symmetry of its exterior, once seen, can
never be forgotten, nor the aérial grace of its domes, rising
like marble bubbles into the clear sky.

The Taj represents the most highly elaborated stage of
ornamentation reached by the Indo-Muhammadan builders—
the stage at which the architect ends and the jeweller begins.
In its magnificent gateway the diagonal ornamentation at the
corners which satisfied the designers of the gateways of the
Itimad-nd-daula and Sikandra mausoleums is superseded by
fine marble cablos, in bold twists, strong and bandsome.
The triangular insertions of white marble and large flowers
have, in like manner, given place to a fine inlaid work. Firm
perpendicular lines in black marble, with well-proportioned
panels of the same material, are effectively used in the interior
of the gateway. On its top, the Hindu brackets and mono-
lithic architraves of Sikandra are replaced by Moorish cusped
arches, usually single blocks of red sandstone in the kiosks
and pavilions which adorn the roof, From the pillared
pavilions a magnificent view is obtained of the Taj gardens
below, with the noble Jumna river at their farther eud, and
the city and fort of Agra in the distance.

From this eplendid gateway one passes up a straight alley,
through a beautiful garden cooled by a broad shallow piece of'
water running along the middle of the path, to the Taj
itself. The Taj is entirely of marble and gems. The red
sandstone of other Muhammadan buildings has disappeared ;
or rather the red sandstone, where used to form the thickness
of the walls, is in the Taj overlaid completely with white
marbles ; and the white marble is itself inlaid with precious
Stones arvanged in lovely patterns of flowers, A feeling of
purity impuresses itself on the eye and the mind, frqm the
absence of the coarser material which forms so invariable a
material in Agra architecture, The lower walls and panels



/10 AGRA. L

headquarters of the Agra Volunteer Corps. The cantonment
fund has an annual income and expenditure of over

R60,000 ; a Cantonment Magistrate is stationed here.

Trade. The trade of Agra has undergone considerable changes
, under British rule, the principal factors being the alteration
in trade routes due to the extension of railways, and changes in
native fashions, It was formerly celebrated as a great centre
through which sugar and tobacco passed to Rajputdna and
Central India, while salt was received from Rajputana, cotton
and g4z were imported from the surrounding country, and
stone was supplied from the quarries in the west of the
district. There was also a considerable trade in grain, the
direction of which varied according to the seasons. Agra has
now become a great railway centre at which the East Indian
and Great Indian Peninsula broad-gauge lines, and the
narrow-gauge Rajputana-Malwa line meet, and these impotr-
ant functions of collection and distribution have increased
and been added to. The recent opening of another broad-
gauge line to Delhi will increase its trade still further. In
addition to the products of the country, European piece-goods
and metals are largely imported and distributed to the neigh-
bouring towns and villages. Agra was also famous for its
native arts and manufactures, gold and silver wire drawing,
embroidery, silk weaving, calico printing, pipe stems, shoes,
carving in marble and soapstone, inlaying of precious stones
in marbie, and the preparation of mill-stones, grinding-stones,
and stone mortars, Consequent on the growing preference
for articles of European manufacture, the industries connected
with embroidery, silk weaving, wire drawing, shoe making,
and pipe stems have declined; and calico printing is little
practised. On the other hand the trade in uscful stone
articles has prospered, and ornamental work has been fostered
by the large sums spent in the restoration of the principal
buildings and by the demand created by Huropean visitors.
And although some of the indigenous arts have become
depressed, new industries have been created.. In 1903, there
were 6 cotton gins and presses employing 959 hands ; and 3
cotton spinning mills with 1,562 workers and 30,000 spindles,
The Agra Central jail has been noted for many years for the
production of carpets, of which about 15,000 square yards ave
turned out annually, and a private factory also manufactures
the same articles, A flour mill and a bone mill are also
working. = The total value of the annual rail-borue traffic of
Agra is nearly 4 crores of rupees. The trade with the rest of
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he United Provinces amounts to nearly half of this, and that
with Rajputina and Central India to a quarter. Bombay °
has a larger share of the trade of this city than Calcutta. B

Agra is one of the chief educational centres of the United
Provinces. The Agra College was founded by Government
in 1823, and endowed by a grant of land in 1831. In 1883,
it was made over to a local committee, and now receives o
grant of 87,000 from Government. In 1904, it contained
175 students in the arts classes, besides 45 in the law classes

- and 312 in the school department. The Roman Catholic
College, St. Peter’s, was founded in 1841, and is a school for
Europeans and Eurasians, with 6 students reading in college
classes in 1904. 1In 1850, the Church Missionary Society
founded St. John's College, which in 1904 contained 128
students in college classes and 898 in the school. It also
had a business department with 56 pupils and 5 branch
schools with 850. The municipality maintains one school
and aids 22 others with 1,756 pupils. In addition to these
colleges and schools there are a normal school for teachers,
and a medical school (founded in 1855) for traming hospital
assistants. The latter contains 260 pupils including candi-
dates for employment under the Dufferin fund. There are
dbout 20 printing presses, and 4 weekl y and 6 monthly papers
are published. Agra is noted as the birthplace of Abul Fazl
the historian of Akbar, and his brother, Faizi, a celebra
poet. It produced several distinguished authors of Persian
and vernacular literature during the 19th century, Among
these may be mentioned Mir Taki and Shaikh Wali M uhams
mad (Nazir). The poet, Asad-ullah Khan (Ghalib), resided

at Agra for a time.




are covered with tulips, oleanders, and full-blown lilies, i
flat carving on the white marble; and although the inlaid
worlk of flowers, done in gems, is very brilliant when looked.
at closely, there is on the whole but hittle colour, and the all--
prevailing sentiment is one of whiteness, silence, and calm.
The whiteness is broken only by the fine colour of the inlaid
gems, by lines in black marbles and by delicately written
ingeriptions, also in black, from the Koran, Under the dome-
of the vast mausoleum, a high and beautiful screen of open
tracery in white marble rises round the two tombs, or rather
cenotaphs,* of the emperor and his princess and in this -
marvel of marble, the carving has advanced from the old
geometric patterns to a trellis-work of flowers and foliage,- |
handled with great freedom and spirit. The two cenotaphs
in the centre of the exquisite enclosure have no carving, except |
the plain Kalamdan, or oblong pen-box, on the tomb of ‘
emperor Shah Jahian. Bub both are inlaid with flowers-
made of costly gems, and with the over-graceful oleander

geroll.
l!qmb of The tomb of Ttimid-ud-daula stands some distance from
s:"ﬂ“d'“d' the left bank of the river. Itimad-ud-daula was the Wazir
o or prime minister of tne emperor Jahangir, and his mausoleum

forms one of the treasures of Indian architecture. The great
gateway is constructed of red sandstone, inlaid with white
marble, and freely employing an ornamentation of diagonal
lines, which produce a somewhat unrestful Byzantine effect..
The mausoleum itself in the garden looks from the gateway
like a structure of marble filigree. 1t consists of two storeys ;-
the lower one of marble, inlaid on the outside with coloured
stones chiefly in geometrical patterns, diagonals, cubes, and
gtars, The numerous niches in the walls are decorated withy
enamelled paintings of vases and flowers. The principal
entrance to the mausoleum is a marble arch, groined, and very
finely carved with flowers in low relief. In the terior
painting or enamel is freely used for the roof and the dado of
the walls ; the latter is about 8} feet high, of fine white
marble inlaid with coloured stones in geometrical patterns,
The upper storey consists of pillars of white marble (also
inlaid with coloured stones), and of a series of perforated
marble screens stretching from pillar to pillar. The whole
gorms 8 lovely example of marble open filigree work.

Modesa In addition to the ordinary distriet offices, Agra contains
buildings and some fine public buildings. = Among these may be mentioned:
officiale, N i

. TIhe real tombs are in @ vault below.
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the three Colleges, the Roman Catholic Cathedral and the
Mission buildings, the Thomason Hospital, now one of the
best equipped in the Provinces, and the Lady Lyall Hospital,
the Central and District jails, and the Lunatic Asylum.
Agra is the headquarters of the Commissioner of the Division,
the Commissioner of Salt Revenue in Northern India, two
Superintending Engineers in the Irrigation Branch, the
Chemical Examiner to Government in the United Provinces,
and an Inspector of Schools, The town was the earliest
centre of missionary enterprise in northern India, for the
Roman Catholic Mission was founded here in the 16th
century, and in 1620 a Jesuit College was opened. Northern
India was constituted an Apostolic Vicariate in 1822 with
headquarters at Agra ; but in 1886 Agra became the seat of
an Archbishop appointed by the Holy See. The Baptist
Mission here was founded in 1811, and the Church Missionary
Society commenced work in 1815,

Agra was constituted a municipality in 1863. In ten M unicipal-
years ending 1901, the average income and expenditure were iy
3:3 lakhs, excluding the loan account. In 1903-04 the
income was 53 lakhs, which included octroi, 24 lakhs;
water-rate, HR68,000; rents, R37,000; sale of water,
133,000 ; tolls, R35,000. The expenditure was 4°8 lakhs,
including repayment of loans, 13 lakhs ; conservancy,
R70,000; water-supply and drainage (capital, 12,000 ;
maintenance, R63,000) ; administration and collection,
850,000 ; roads and buildings, ®24,000; and public safety,
R41,000. An attempt was made between 18814 and 1887
to obtain & water-supply from an artesian well, but was aban-
doned in favour of a supply from the Jumna. The work
commenced in 1889, and water was first supplied to the city in
1891, Many extensions and improvements have been made,
since, and loans amounting to nearly 16 lakhs have been taken
from Government. In 1903, the daily consumption of filtered
water was more than 94 gallons per head, and there were 811
house-connections. About 27 miles of drains are flushed
daily. The drainage system has long been recognised as
defective owing to the small flow in the Jumna in the hot
weather, and changes in its channels. An intercepting sewer
is mow (1904) being constructed at a cost of R39,000,
which will discharge 1ts contents below the city.

The cantonment is ordinarily garrisoned by British and Cantonment.
native infantry and by British artillery. Agua i also the
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AJMER.
Population A large and important city in Rajputana, and the adminis-
snd trative head-quarters of the small British Province of Ajmer-

| situation.  Arowiira (26° 27’ N.; 74° 87’ B.) Ajmer is 677 miles north
> of Bombay, and 275 miles south of Delhi, 228 west of Agra,
805 north of Ahmadabad and 893 north of Khandwa, the
four principal termini of the Rajputana-Malwa Railway.
Population (1872) 85,111, (1881) 48,735, (1891) 68,843, and
(1901) 73,839—males 39,467, females 34,372. Hindus
numbered 48,346 in 1901, Muhammadans 25,569, Jains
2,483, and Christians 1,871. The opening of the railway in
1879 hrought with it a large influx of people, and since then
the population has steadily increased. Ajmer lies at the foot
of the Taragarh hill. Tt has some well-built open streets, con-
tains many fine houses and is surrounded by a stone wall, now
in disrepair, with five gates. The ancient town stood in the
Indrakot valley, through which the road leads to Taragarh.
A small portion of the population, all Muhammadans, and
kmown as Indrakotis, still veside at the entrance to the valley,
immediately outside the Tirpolia gate. The hill, on the
summit of which the fort of Taragarh was built, towers in
an imposing manner immediately above the ecity and
commands it at every point. It stands, with precipitous
surroundings, at a height of 2,855 feet above sea-level, and
between 1,300 and 1,400 feet above the level of the valley at -
its base, and is partially enclosed by a wall, some 20 feet t%ick
and as many high, bui{; of huge blocks of stone, cut and
squared. The ull fort was dismantled in 1832 and since 1860
has been used as a sanitarium for the European troops
stationed at Nasivibad and Mhow. Within it stands the
ghrine of a Muhammadan Martyr, Saiyid Husain, known as
the ganj shahidian (Treasury of Martyrs).
Tistion 0 Ajmer is vich in objects of archwological interest. The
worrpings, nost important is the mosque known as the Arkas-din-ka-
Arbai-din-ka Jhonpra or © two and a half days’ shed.”” This, originally a
Jhonpri. Hindu eollege, established by the Chauban king Visaldev is
amid to bave been converted info a mosque by order of
Muhammad Ghari, the legend being that, as he passed the
college, he ordered that it should be ready for him to pray in
on his returnin tWo and a half days. The pillars and roof of
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the college were permitted to remain, but the rest of the
building was demolished and- much of the carving on the
pillars defaced. A fagade of remarkable beauty was then
erected, and forms the front of the present mosque which was
surrounded by lofty cloisters, with a tower at each corner of
the quadrangle. The cloisters have largely fallen in and the
surviving portion of the towersis very imperfect. The fagade,
however, and mosque itself, are in good preservation, having
been extensively repaired during Lord Mayo’s viceroyalty,
while considerable restorations were carried out in 1900-02.
The mosque is of about the same date as the Kutab Minar
near Delhi, : )

The embankment of the Anasagar lake supports the Anisigar
beautiful marble pavilions erected as pleasure houses by Shah Pavilions.
Jahan. Of the five original pavilions, four remain in good
preservation ; the remains of the fifth have been preserved,
but are very seanty, The embankment, moreover, contains
the site of the former fammdim (bath-room) the floor of which
still remains, Three of the five pavilions were at one time
built into residences for British officials, while the embank-
ment was covered with office buildings and enclosed by
gardens. The houses and enclosures were finally removed in
1900-1902, when the two south pavilions were re-erccted, the
marble parapet completed, and the embankment restored, as
far as was practicable, to its early condition.

The Dargah Khwaja Sahib, wherein is the tomb of the The Dargsb
Muhammadan saint Mu’in-ud-din Chishti, who died here Khwija
about 1235, is another remarkable building, and is an object S*M>-
of pilgrimage to Muhammadans from all parts of the country.

The yearly number of pilgrims is about 25,000, The shrine
also contains a mosque b).' Akbar, another by Shah Jahan and
several more modern buildings, The gateway, though dis-
figured by modemn colouring, is picturesque and old. The '
shrine contains the large drums and bhmss candlesticks taken
by Akbar at the sack of Chitor, The saint’s tomb, which
was commenced in the reign of Shams-ud-din Altamsh and
finished in that of Humayun, is richly adorned with gold and
silver, but only Mubhammadans are permitted to enter its
gn'e« incts. A festival, called the Urs meld, which lasts 6
days, is held annually at the Dargah in the Muhammadan
month of Rajab at which the following peculiar custom is
observed. There are two large cauldrons inside the Dargdh,
one twice the size of the other, known as the great and liftle
deg. Pilgrims to the shrine propose to offer a deg feast.




The smallest sum for which rice, butter, sugar, almonds,
raisins and spices to fill the large deg can be bought is
1,000, while the donor has to pay about B200 more in
presents to the officials of the shrine and in offerings at the
tomb. The materials for the small deg cost half the sum
required for the large one. After a gigantic rice-pudding of
this description has been cooked it is scrambled for boiling
hot. Eight earthen pots of the mixture are first set apart for
the foreign pilgrims, and it is the hereditary privilege of the
people of Indrakot and of the menials of the Dargdh to
empty the cauldron of the remainder of its contents. All
the men who take part in the “looting of the deg”” are
swathed up to the eyes in cloths to avoid the effect of the
sealding fluid. When the cauldron is nearly empty, the
Indrakotis tumble i together and scrape it clean. There is
no doubt that this custom is an ancient one, though no
account of its origin can be given. It is counted among the
miracles of the saint that no lives have ever been lost on
these occasions, though burns are frequent. The cooked rice
is bought by all elasses, and most castes will eat it.

The Farl,ete,  The Ajmer fort was built by Akbar. It is a massive
square building with lofty octagonal bastions at each corner.
The fort was used as the residence of the Mughal entperors
during their visits to Ajmer, and was the head-quarters of the
administration in their fime and in that of the Marathas.
The main entrance faces the city, and is lofty and imposing.
It was here that the emperors appeared in state, and that, as
recorded by Sir Thomas Roe, erimmals were publicly executed.
The ground surrounding the fort has heen largely built over,
and its striking appearance is thus considerably impaired.
The interior was used as a magazine during the British occu-
pation until 1857, aud the cenfre building, now used as a
tahsil office, has been so much altered that its original shape
and ife proportions are difficult to trace and restore. With
the fort the outer city walls, of the same period, are connected.
These surround the city and are pierced by the Delli, Madar,
Usri, Agra and Tirpolia gates, The gates were at one time
highly decorated, but the Delhi gate alone retains any traces
of its earlier ornaments. In the older city, lying in the valley
beneath® the Taragarh hill and now abandoned, the Nir-
c¢hashma, a garden house used by the Muaghals, still remains,
as does a water lift commenced by Mildeo Rathor, to raise
wadler to the Tarigarh citadel. The Daulat Bagh or Garden
of Splendour, which was made by the emperor Jahangir in
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the 16th century, stretches for some distance from the Anasagar
embankment in the direction of the city. It contains many
venerable trees, is maintained from municipal funds and is a

popular public resort.

Ajmer is an important railway centre and the local empor- Ail}lm’ & 3
ium for the trade of the adjoining parts of Rajputana. The %’2{;’;{3 ol
locomotive, carriage and waggon shops of the Rajputana- — hee ™
Milwa Railway are established here and employ about 7,000
hands, while the whole of the earnings of the Railway are
paid into the Ajmer Treasury. Several important Seth tra-
ding firms have their head quarters at Ajmer, with branches
throughout Rajputina, and in Calcutta, Bombay and other
principal cities of India. They act chiefly as bankers and
money lenders and transact considerable business with Native
States,

Ajmer has been a municipality since 1869. The municipal Municipality
committee consists of 22 members, mostly Natives. Its income aud water-
in 1902-03 was 1183, 000, or B2} per head of popula- VOke
tion, the principal source of revenue being octroi.

The city derives its water-supply from the Foy Sagar tank
some 3 miles to the west of the city. It was built as a famine
relief work in 1891-92, the money being lent to the municipal-
ity by Government. The water is conveyed into the eity
and suburbs through pipes which are laid under-ground. The
capacity of the tank is 150,000,000 cubic feet, and when
full it holds, approximately, a two years’ supply of water for
the city, the civil station and the Railway Warkshops.
When the water level in the reservoir is below a certain depth,
the water has to be pumped.

The Mayo  College and the local Government
College are the principal educational institutions. The former Mayo
was established at the suggestion of Lord Mayo as a college Colegts
where the sons of Chiefs and nobles would receive an education
which would fit them for their high positions and import-
ant duties. The endowment fund, subscribed by 17 of the
Rijputana States, amounts to about 7 lakhs of rupees and the
interest on this sum, added to a Government subsidy, forms
the income of the college. - Some of the Native States have
built boarding honses, while the Government of India presented
the college park, comprising 167 acres and formerly the
site of the old Residency, and erected the main building, the
vesidences of the Principal and Vice-Principal and the Ajmer
boarding house. 1t also provides the salaries of the Ynglish
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“staff. The foundation stone of the college was laid in 1878

and the building was opened by the late Marquis of Dufferin
in 1885. The main building is of white marble in the
Hindu-Saracenic style. The Jaipur boarding house stands
apart, to the south of the main building, while the other 9
boarding houses are arranged in the form of a horse-shoe,
with the college in the centre of the base. A fine marble
statue of Lord Mayo, by Noble, erected from funds subseri-
bed by British and native residents in Rajputana, stands in
front of the main building. The college is administered by a
Council, of which the Viceroy is the President, and the
Agent to the Governor-General for Rajputana, Vice-President.
The Chiefs of Rajputana and the Political Officers accredited
to them are members of the Council and the Principal is the
Secretary. The English staff was strengthened in 1903 and
now consists of a Principal, a Vice-Principal and two
assistant masters. The native staff has also been streng-
thened and improved. The college curriculum isnot fettered
by any prescribed code and a course of studies is followed
which experience has shown to be as useful and as practical as
possible. The total number of admissions from the opening
of the college up to 1st April 1904 has heen 859, of whom 83
are now on the rolls. The total includes several ruling
Chiefs both in and out of Rajputana, whence the greater
number of boys come.

Ajmer possesses a Central jail, a large General Hospital and
two smaller hospitals, The United Free Church of Scotland,
the Church of England, the Roman Catholics and the Ame-
rican Episcopal Methodists have Mission establishments here. -
1t is likewise the head quarters of a Native Regiment and of
a Railway Volunteer Corps. There are 12 printing presses in
the eity, from which 8 weekly newspapers (mostly vernacular)
issue, none of which is, however, of any importance.
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AURANGABAD.

The headquarters of the Division and Distriet of the same
name in the Hyderabad State, lying in 19° 53' N. and 75° 20’
E., on the eastern bank of the river Kaum. In point of his-
torical interest and population it is the second city in the
State. Its population af the last three censuses was as fol-
lows :—in J881, 30,219 ; in 1891, 83,887 ; and in 1901,
36,837, including the Aurangabad Cantonment. In 1610
Malik Ambar the minister of the Nizam Shahi kings of
Ahmadnagar, built the city and named it Kharki. The
Mughals and the Nizam Shahi troops under Malik Ambar
were constantly at war during the early part of the seven-
teenth century. After the death of Malik Ambar in 1626, the

ower of the Abmadnagar kingdom gradually declined, until

632, when the Nizam Shihi territories were incorporated in
the Decean Siibahs of the Mughal empire. Aurangzeb was
first appointed viceroy of the Deccan in 1635, and again in
1658, and during his residence at Kharki changed its name to
Aurangabad. It was from here that he directed his earlier
campaigns against the Marathas and the Bijapur and Gol-
conda kingdoms. In 1657, he dethroned and imprisoned
his father Shah Jahan, A few years later he undertook the
subjugation of the Muhammadan kingdoms of the Deccan,
and commenced his wars with the Marathas, in which he was
almost continuously engaged until his death, at Ahmadnagar,
in 1707. Bijapur fell in 1686 and Golconda, the Kutab
Shahi capital, in 1687 ; which resulted in the annexation of
the territories of the two kingdoms to the empire of Delhi.
He was succeeded by his eldest son in 1707. During the con-
fusing and internal dissension that followed for the next few
years, Nizam-ul-mulk Asaf Jah, the first Nizim, retired to
Aurangibad, and having declared his independence, subse-
quently made Hyderabad his capital,

The ecity is bounded on the north and south by the Sichel
and Sattara ranges. During the reign of Aurangaeb its popu-
lation is said to have been not less than 200,000, and the
ruins of the present day bear testimony to its former
extent. The modern city is situated to the east of old
Aurangabad and the cantonments lie to its west, being sep-
arated from it by the Kaum river. The garrison of the
cantonments consists of two regiments of infantry, and one
of cavalry, under the command of British officers.

L,
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In 1853 Aurangabad was the scene of a sharp conflict
between the Contingent troops and a body of Arabs, who were
defeated. Of the Contingent troops fifteen were killed and
forty wounded. In the eventful year of 1857 some of the
troops showed a spirit of disaffection, and an attack was
meditated upon the cantonment. The authorities at Hyder-
abad had been apprised of this, and troops from Poona were
ordered to march to Aurangdbdd. When the Poona troops
arrived under General Woodburn, the disaffected cavalry
were summoned to a dismounted parade. On the names of
the ringleaders being called out, a jemadar ordered his men
to load their carbines, A scene of wild confusion ensued,
and some of the troops profiting by it ran to their horses
and mounting them fled, and though pursued by the 14th
Dragoons from Poona, they escaped. Two-thirds of the regi-
ments remained loyal, A court-martial was held and twenty-
one of the condemned were shot and three blown away from

guns,

At .Aura.ngﬁb{id the Siabahdar (Commissioner), the
Nazim-i-Siibak (Judicial Commissioner), the First Talukdar
and other officers hold their courts, There is a large Central
jail, a high school, a school of industry and several smaller
schools. The city 18 an imgortant centre of trade, and silk
and gold and silver cloth and lace of a very superior quality
are manufactured here and largely exported. There is a large
spinning and weaving mill which gives employment to 7.0
versons. 'The city euffered severely from p{ague and the
amines of 1897 and 1900, and but for the opening of the
Hyderabad-Godavari Valley Railway, the city and the -
country around would have been depopulated. The increase
of population in 1901 is due to the immigration of famine-
stricken people from the neighbouring villages. Aurangibad
has an old system of water-supply which was introduced by
Malik Ambar and comp]etedl;)y Aurangzeb, and though
much of it has fallen into decay, that which remains yields
sufficient water to supply the needs of the people. A new
system of water-works was opened in 1898, which supplies
filtered water to the cantonment. '

There are many places of interest in the city and its
suburbs ; as for instance the Makbara or the tomb of Aurang-
zeb’s wite, the Jama Masjid built by Malik Ambar, the
ancient palace of the Nizams near Borapal and the Kila. Ark
or citadel which was Aurangzel’s palace. About two miles
to the north of the ecity are the Aurangabad caves, eleven
in number, mostly of Buddhist origin, three of which ave
unfinished,
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BAHAWALPUR,.

The capital of the Bahawalpur State, Punjab, head-
quarters of the Bahawalpur n¢zamat and tahsil and a station
on the North-Western Railway, lying on the south bank of
the Indus, 65 miles south of Multan, m 29° 24' N. and 71°
47" B. Population (1901) 18,546. It was founded in 1748 by
Nawab Bahawal Khan of Bahawalpur, and replaced Derawar

L,

as the capital of that State. The palace built by Nawab Sir

Sadik Muhammad Khan IV in 1882 is a vast square pile,
with towers at each corner. The reception hall in the centre
is 60 feet long and 56 high, the vestibule to it being 120 feet
high. The palace contains underground apartments where
the thermometer remains at about 70° F., while it rises to
100° and even 110° in the upper rooms. From the roof of
the palace an extensive view is gained over the vast desert of
Bikaner, which stretches away waterless for 100 miles, Iive
miles from Bahawalpur, the North-Western Railway crosses
the Sutlej by the magmificent iron girder ¢ Empress’ bridge
opened in 1878, 4,258 feet in length, with 16 spans,
each 250 feet long. The guest-house or  Niir Mahal,” built
in 1875 at a cost of 12 lakhs, is a handsome building in the
Italian style. The town possesses the Sadik-Egerton College,

an anglo-vernacular middle, Church Mission, and theological

schools, an orphanage and hospital. The town has a ¢onsider-
able trade, and some flourishing industries. The municipality,
constituted in 1874, consists of 24 nominated members, and
had in 1908-94 an income of R32,503. The cantonment
containg the lines of the Nizam regiment and Imperial
Service Camel Corps.
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BANGALORE.

The seat of government for the Mysore State, and head-
quarters of the Bangalore District of the Indian Army ;
situated in 12° 57’ N,, 77° 85’ E., by rail 219 miles from
Madras, and 692 from Bombay. Total population 159,046.
It covers an area of 25 square miles, and is composed
of two separate but adjacent parts,—Bangalore City (the
Peta, Pété, or original native town of Bangalore proper),
under the Mysore Government, and the Civil and Military
Station (formerly called the Cantonment), an Assigned Tract
under British administration through the Resident.

Bangalore City has been largely extended of recent years,
especially since the outbreak of plague in 1898, and now
covers an area of 11 to 12 square miles, extending from the
Imperial Service Lancer lines in the north to the Bull temple
in the south, a distance of 7 miles, and from Cubbon Park
in the east to Chamrajpet in the west, above 4 miles. The

¢ OOy population has been as in the margin,

1881 , , 62317 the decrease since 1891 being due to

Lok e s0.2¢5  plague. The City is divided into § muni-

i Mgyl cipal divisions or wards, namely, Palace,
Balepaté, Manivartapeté, Halsiirpets, Negartapeté, Lal Bagh,
Fort, Basavangudi, and Mallesvaram, ‘The municipal board
is composed of a President, 5 other ez-gfficio and 5 nominated
members appointed by Government, and 18 elected members.
The privilege of election was granted in 1892. The principal
heads of municipal receipts and expenditure are (1900-01) :—

Roceipts. Expenditure.
R R
Octroi : o 45,925 | Interest on debts . 1,278
Tax ouv houses and Head office charges . 10,384
bnildings . 28,679 | Collections . & 13,418
L}ghtlng tax . . 4,718 | Conservancy . t 84,244,
Licenses for Tiquor Health department . 11,913
shops, ete. | ! 18,723 | Lighting chatges . 12,844
Tax on vehicles and Public Works . 3 46,765
animals p 3 8,048 | Charitable grants . 21,658
Tolls 5 ¢ 5 19,800 {;Education . $ 11,874
Carried over 4 Carried over .
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Receipts. Expendifure.

Brought forward Brought forward .
‘Water tax o e 919 | Miscellaneous « g 4,822
Mohatarfa (on shops, Deposits, repayment

looms, oil mills and of loans, oto. , 3 12,684

carts) o . 5 7,148
Rents . . . 7,765
Fines and fees ’ 370
Contribution for hog-

pitals, roads, ete. . 9,664
Miscellaneous 5 17,347
Deposits . ; 5,946

Total «| 1,65,953 “Total .| 1,81,894

The name is properly Bengaliru, the éiru or town, of
bengatu or beans. The Hoysala king Vira Ballala, it is said,
became separated from his attendants when hunting and was
benighted. Faint and weary, he came upon a golitary hut in
which was an old woman, who could give him only some
bengalu or beans boiled in alittle water., This he was glad
to share with his horse and passed the night there, The
incident soon became known, and the #r# or village which
sprang up was called the Bengal-tru. This was situated to
the north, beyond Kodigehalli, and is now kmown as Old or
Halé Bangalaru. Bangalore was founded in 1587, by Kempe
Ganuda, the chief of Yelahanka, and a watch-tower at each of
the cardinal points marks the limits to which it was predict=
ed it would extend, a prophecy now more than fulfilled. The
first extension was Chamrijpet, from the Fort westwards, in
1892, 1In 1899 were added the Basavangudi extension,
south from the Fort, and the Mallesvaram extension, north |
from the city railway station. The Fortiste the south of
the original town, but since 1888 has not been used for any
military purpose. First built of mud, it was enlarged and
built of stone in 1761, under Haidar Ali, captured by the
British in 1791, subsequently dismantled by Tipa Sultan,
but restored in 1799, The walls have now been pierced for
roads, and a part pulled down and the moat filled up provid-
ing a site for the Victoria Hospital. The most important
buildings included in the City are the Maharija’s Palace to
the north; and the range of public offices in Cubbon park.
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~“Rast from the Fort is the Lal Bagh, or State Botanical
gardens, dating from the time of Haidar AL

On the west of the city are large spinning and manu-
facturing mills, woollen, cotton and silk mills, oil mill
and soap factory, brick and tile works, eastwards, asilk-
worm farm under Japanese management and to the south-
west, the Government distillery. Near the city railway
station are locomotive workshops, and an iron; foundry.
Near the cantonment railway station are large coffee cur-
ing works, where also artificial manures are prepared.

The water-supply (provided in 1896) is pureand abun-
dant, drawn from the Hesarghatta tank on the Arkavati, 18
miles to the north-west. The wateris pumped to the top of a
small hill at Banavar, from there runs by gravitation through
cast-iron pipes to settling and filtering beds near the city, and
thence to a subterranean reservoirat the race-course, from
which it is distributed to all parts. The daily supply pro-
vides fora million gallons. The drainage of the city is col-
lected into one main channel which runs out from the
southern side of the old town and is continued as far as the
Sunnakal tank, a distance of 2 or 8 miles, where the sewage
is applied to agricultural purposes.

The Civil and Military Station of Bangalore adjoins
the city on the east, and covers an area of 18 square
miles, extending from the Residency on the west to Bin-
namangala on the east, about 4 miles, and from the Tan-
neries on the north to Agram on the south, about 5
miles. The population at each census was returned as in the
R glgto DATgIn. The decrease since 1891 is

881 . . 9354 due chiefly fo plague, but also partly

1801 ., ;100081 o the absence of troops in 1901 at

W01 .. B 4h6 seats of war in South Afries and
China. The cantonment was established in 1809, on the
removal here of the British garrison from Seringapatam,
which had proved too unhealthy for the troops, But the
headquarters were at first in the Fort, where also the prin-
cipal Buaropeans lived. The name cantonment continued
till 1881, being known to the Hindus as Dandu and to the
Musalmans as ZLashkar. On the rendition of Mysore in
that year, it was made over to the British as an Assigned
Tract, and under the present designation became subject to
the administration of the Resident,

The garrison contains 3 hatteries of arfillery, and wregi-
ments of British cavalry and | infantry, nvative ecavalry,
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ppers and miners, pioneers, and infantry (2), mounted
infantry, supply and transport corps, and mule corps.
T'here are, besides, the Mysore Imperial Service Lancers and
transport corps, Mysore Barr infantry, and the Bangalore
rifle volunteers.

The Station municipal board has the District Magistrate
as president, and is composed of 6 ez-officio and 18 mnon-
official members, the latter being elected. There are 6
divisions or wards,~ Halsur (Ulsoor), Southern, East General
Bazar, West General Bazar, Cleveland Town, and High
Ground.  The elected commissioners are so apportioned
among them as to represent the several classes in cach. There
are thus 6 Europeans and Eurasians, 5 Muhammadans,
and 8 Hindus and others. The principal heads of municipa

receipts and expenditure are (1900-01) :— »
Receipts. Expenditure,
B R
Rates and Taxes .| 2,24,692 | Public Works . +| 1,06,123
Revenne from Muni- Education 5 10,002
cipal property ; 79,767 | Sanitation and Medi-
Grants and contribus cal services . 3.610
tions . . & 28,757 | Health department .| 1,45,146
Miscellaneons . : 6,041 | Mixcellaneous « s 81,671
Extraordinary  and Supervision and
Debt, . A X 25,000 | Management . 40,083
Advances recovered . 9,984 | Pensions and gratui-
ties s < 14,282
Advances recoverable 7,921
Total . 3,69,161 Total .| 3,568,738

The water-supply is drawn from the same source as for
the city, namely, the Hesarghatta tank, but by an independent
system of pumping works, filter beds. and pipes, to a reservoir
on the high ground. The daily supply is calculated at a
million gallons, of which one-third 1s in theory for the
military and two-thirds for the eivil population. In case
of failure the troops bave the prior claim to water. The
drainage of the bazar and cantonment is carried by a large
sewer passing through 2 tunnel in the Halsur tank to some
distance beyond Halsur, where it is applied to cultivation.

The Assigned Tract occupied by the Civil and Mihtary
Station is under the control of the Resident, and provided

E
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with various departments and administrations separate
from those of the Mysore Government. The revenue
work is discharged by the Collector and District Magistrate.
For police there is a Supermtendent with 39 officers and
234 constables. The police jurisdiction also extends over
railways (327 miles), for which purpose there are 18 addi-
tional officers and 118 men. The criminal courts are the

Bench of Honorary Magistrates, those of the second Magis-
trate, of the Sessions Judge, who is the Assistant Resident,
and the High Court which is that of the Resident. The
cvil courts are the Munsiff’s Cowrt wunder the second
Magistrate and the Distriect Court under the District
Magistrate. There is no separate jail, but prisoners are
sent to the Bangalore Central jail of the Mysore Government
and paid for. The medical institutions are under the Resi-
dency Surgeon, and the educational institutions, all of which
are aided (36, with 3,095 pupils!), are visited by an Inspector
from Madras,

The revenue of the Assigned Tract for 1900-01 was
R7,23,683 (of which £6,19,522 was derived from excise)
and expenditure ®4,21,628. The surplus goes to the Govern-
ment of India. The municipal accounts for the same year

show receipts R3,69,161, and expenditure R8,58,738.

*This does not include regimental schools under the Military authoritios.
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BENARES.
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Municipality and cantonment and headquarters of the Situstion,

Benares District and faksi?, United Provinces, lying on the
left bank of the Ganges; in 25° 18’ N. and 83° 1’ E.; dis-
tance by rail from Calcutta 479 miles, and from Bombay 941
miles. The city is the second largest in the United Provinees;
but its population includes a large number of pilgrims and is
liable to considerable variations: 1872, 175,188, 1881, 214,758;
1591, 219,467 ; 1901, 209,881. 1In 1901, the popula-
tion included 153,821 Hindus and 58,566 Musalmans and
about 1,200 Christians, The cantonment contained a popula-
tion of 4,958, which is included in the figures already given.

The ancient name of the city of Benares was Varanasi, misory.

the etymology of which is uncertain ; its popular derivation
from Varand (Barni) and Asi, the names of the two small
streams which confine the modern city is, however, untenable.
A more recent name, still commonly used by Hindus in all
parts of India, is that of Kash or Kashi, which is possibly taken
from the name of a tribe of Aryas, though popularly
explained as meaning bright. In the 18th century the city
was officially known as Muhammadabad. The great anti-
quity of Benares is attested by its mention in both the Maha-
bharata and Ramiyana; but details of its history are very
scanty, and even the Puranas only mention one dynasty of
kings. It was close to Benares in the deer-park, which is
identified with the country round Sarnatn, that Gautama
Buddha commenced to preach. In the 7th century A.D,,
Hiuen Tsiang found the kingdom of Benares mostly inhabited
by Hindus, and only a few followers of the law of Buddha.
The city at that time contained 20 Hindu temples with a
gigantic copper image of Siva. It is probable that Benares
was sacked by Mahmad of Ghazni early in the 11th century,
and nearly two hundred years later it fell into the hands
of Muhammad Ghori. Throughout the Musalman period
its political importance was slight, and the active cultivation
of the Hindu religion was forcibly restrained. In the 18th
century, the city and surrounding country gradually came
under the Raja of Benares, and tinally in 1775 was ceded
to the British,

Benares or Kashi is at the present time one of the holiest Descrip-
places to the orthodox Hindu and attracts great concourses of tion.
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pilgrims, while may of its inhabitants are persons who have
settled there in the hope of salvation through a death within
its sacred precincts. The native town lies for four miles along
a kankar ridge on the north-west bank of the Ganges, which
forms a slightly curved reach below it, thus permitting the
eye to take in at a single sweep the long line of picturesque
ghats surmounted by irregular buildings of various styles and
proportions, the slender white minarets of Aurangzeh’s mosque
rising high above the general level. For a distance of from
one to two miles from the bank the city consists of winding
labyrinths and narrow alleys, lined by many storied buildings
used as shops or private houses, with innumerable shrines in
every part, ranging from a shapeless fiagment of stone
smeared with vermilion to magnificent temples. Raja Man
Singh of Jaipur is said to have presented 100,000 temples to

the city in a day.
Build- The ordinary throng of a large city is added to by the
ings, presence of strings of pilgrims being conducted from one to

another of the more important shrines, and by the number of
gacred bulls which wander about the streets. Along the ghats
strange figures of religious mendicants and ascetics are to be
seen, some superintending the ablutions of the pilgrims in the
eacred stream of the Ganges, while others practise devotions or
various forms of austerity. 'Within the city there are many
handsome houses substantially built and elaborately decorated ;
but the narrow, dirty, and crowded environments usually dis-
appoint the visitor, after the high expectations aroused by the
view from the river. Even the temples are gencrally small;
and are not more than a few hundred years old, From a religious
point of view the Bisheshar or golden temple, dedicated to
Siva, is the most important. Siva in the form of Bisheshar~
is regarded as the spiritual monarch of the city, and this is the
holiest of all the holy places in the sacred city. It contains
the venerated symbol of the god, a plain Zingam of uncarved
stone, The building ie not of striking dimensions and has
no great pretensions to beauty, but is crowned by a dome
and spire covered with copper, which was gilded at the cost of
Mabaraja Ranjit Singh of Lahore. Tt was built by Ahalya
Bai, the Marathi princess of Indore. Subordinate to Bish-
eshar "is Bhaironath, who acts as his minister and magis-
trate. The other temples to which pilgrims are speciall
directed are those of Bhaironath, and his staff or Dandpani,
Ganesh or Dhundi Raj, Vindumadhava or Vishnu, Durga
and Annpurna. These were chiefly built by Marathds in
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8th century, and are all comparatively small. The
Durga temple is, however, remarkable for its simple and
graceful architecture, and is situated in the outskirts on the
bank of a large tank. Along the river front the Dasishwa-
medh, Manikarnika, and Panchgangs giats are the most
esteemed. At the first of these Brahma is said to have
performed ten horse-sacrifices, Near the second is situated
the famous well, which Vishnu dug with] his discus and
filled with his sweat, forming one of the chief attractions
for pilgrims, thousands of whom annually bathe in the fetid
water. The Panchganga ghdé is so named from the belief
that five rivers met at it, but the Ganges alone 1s visthle
to the gross material eye. Raja Jai Singh’s observatory,
built in 1693, is a handsome and substantial building over-
looking the Man Mandir gkat. It includes a number of
instruments which have been allowed to fall out of repair.
Close by stands the Nepalese temple which is ornamented
by a series of obscene wooden carvings. The huge mass of
Aurangueb’s mosque, built from the remains of a temple,
towers high above a steep cliff over the Panchganga gha¢, and
is the most conspicuous building in the city when seen from
the river. Another mosque, also built on the remains of a
temple of Bisheshar, stands close to the Gyan Bapi or well
of knowledge, where Siva is said to reside. The older build-
ings and remains are chiefly found in the north and west
of the present city, and the ancient site appears to have been
situated on both banks of the Barna. This stream flows
into the Ganges about a mile beyond the present northern
limit of the town. West of the city lies the suburb of
Sigra, the seat of the chief missionary institutions, Northe
wards, the Sikraul cantonments and parade-ground stretoh
away to the bank of the Barna, which is here crossed by two
bridges of stone and iron respectively. The civil station, '
including the courts and ecentral jail, oceupy the northern
bank. The most noteworthy of the modern buildings are
the mint, the Government College, the Prince of Wales
"Hospital, built by the gentry of Benares in commemoration
of the visit of His Majesty to the city in 1876, the police-
station, and the Town Hall, a fine building constructed at
the expense of a Mabaraja of Vizianagram. Benares is the
headquarters of the Commissioner of the Division, who is
also a Political Agent for the payment of eertain pensions;
of an Inspector of Schools, and of an Executive Engineer in

the Roads and Buildings branch, It contains three male and



three female hospitals, besides a lunatic asylum, a leper asy-
lum, a poor-house and branches of the Church Missionary,
Liondon Mission, Baptist and Wesleyan Societies. Some
members of the ex-Royal family of Delhi reside at Benares in
a large building called the Shivala, which was once occupied
by Chet Singh.
Muni- A municipality was constituted in 1868. In the ten
cipality. years ending 1901, the average income was 4'8 lakhs, and the
expenditure was 5'8 lakhs, the latter, however, including
capital expenditure on water-supply and drainage. In 1903-
04, excluding a loan of 1'5 lakhs, theincome was 4°7 lakhs,
the chief items being octroi 8 lakhs, water-rate 83,000,
otheer taxes R34,000, and rents $30,000. The expendi-
ture amounted to 6°4 lakhs, including repayment of loans
and interest 1'1 lakhs, water-supply and drainage
capital, 2'2 lakhs, and maintenance #72,000, conservancy
#70,000, roads and buildings 828,000, public safety
R50,000, and administration and collection R40,000.
An excellent water-works system was constructed between
1890 and 1892, which has cost upwards of 26 lakhs. In
1908-04, the daily consumption of filtered water amounted
to over 16 gallons per head of population, and there were
more than 5,000 house-connections. Water is pumped from
the Ganges and filtered before use, An elaborate drainage
scheme is still under construction, and is estimated to cost
15 lakhs. It includes a system of sewers, with house-connee-
tions.
Canton: The cantonment is usually garrisoned by British and
ment. native infantry. The average receipts and expenditure of the
cantonment fund in the 10 years ending in 1901 were
R12,400. In 1908-04 the income was R112,700 and
the expenditure R13,100.
The wealth of Benares depends largely upon the constant

Trade  §nflux of pilgrims from every part of India, whose presence
;:;z::_“' lends the same impetus to the local trade as that given to

Furopean watering-places by the season visitors, Some of
the pilgrims are Réjas or other persons of importance, who
bring considerable retinues, and become large “benefactors to
the various shrines and temples. Hindu princes of distant
States ptide themselves upon keeping up a “ town residence **
in holy Kashi. 'The city thus absorbs a large share of the
agricultural produce of the District, and it also actsas a
distributing centre. Its manufactares include ornamental
brassware, silk, bothplain and embroidered with gold and
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silver, jewellery, and lacquered wooden toys. The brassware
has a considerable reputation among Europeans as well as
natives. The trade in silk tam#kkwib or kincob, woven with
gold and silver, is decreasing, as native taste inclines towarde
HBuropean fabrics. A good deal of German silver work is now

L,

turned out in Benares, and employs a number of workmen -

who formerly prepared gold and silver wire. This is perhaps
the most flourishing industry of Benares. The only factories
are 3 ice works, two brick yards, 2 chemical works, and a few
large printing presses. :
The Benares College was opened in 1791, and the fine
building in which it is now housed was completed in 1852.
It is maintained by the State and includes a first grade
college with 97 pupils in 1904, and a Sanskrit college with
427 pupils. The Central Hindu College was opened in 1898,
and 1s affiliated to the Allahabad University up to the B. A.
standard. It contained 104 students in the college and 204
in the school department in 1904. It was founded largely
through the efforts of non-Indiar theosophists, and is intended
to combine Hindu religious and ethical training, on an
unsectarian basis. with modern western educatnct. The
missionary societies maintain a number of schools both for
boys and girls, and the Church Missionary Society is in
charge of Ja1 Nariyan’s collegiate school which was founded
by a Hindu, after whom it is called, in 1818, and presented
to the Society. The same Society manages a Normal school
for female teachers. The municipality maintains 15 schools
and aids 7 others attended by more than 1,300 pupils. Bena-
res has produced a number of Hindu scholars and authors,
"and was the residence of the celebrated religious teachers
Vallabhiacharys, Kabir, and Tulsi Das, and the 19th century

Education-

author and critic, Harish Chandra, The Sanskrit college .

issues a periodical called The Pandst, dealing with Sanskrit
learning, and a Society called the Nagari Pracharini Sabha
has recently commenced the publication of ancient verna-
cular texts. There are several active presses and a few
newspapers are published, but none of importance.—(Rev.
M. A. Sherring, the Sacred City of the Hindus, 1868.)
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+ BHARATPUR.

The capital of the State of the same name, is situated in
27° 18’ N. and 77° 82 E., 34 miles by railway west of Agra,
875 miles north-west of Calcutta and 815 miles north-east
of Bombay. It is the sixth largest city in Rajputana,
having a population of 43,60 against 66,163 in 1881 and
67,665 in 1891. The large decrease of over 85 per cent. is
said to be due, partly to exaggerated enumeration in 1891
and partly to the fact that, in the year last mentioned,
several suburbs were considered as part of the city whereas
in 1901 they were treated as separate villages, Acecording
to the latest census, Hindus number 80,784 or 70 per cent.
of the population, Musalmans 11,964 or over 27 per cent.,
Jains 722 and ““others”” 181. The city and fort are said
to have been founded about 1733 and to have been named
after Bharat, a legendary character of great fame in Hindu
mythology. The fort of Bharatpur is celebrated as having
bafled the attacks of Tord Lakein 1805, and been
captured by Lord Combermere on the 18th January
1826. The famous mud walls still stand, though
a good deal out of repair. The only important
manufactures are the ckhauris or fly-whisks made of ivory or
gandal-wood. The artis said to be confined to a few families
who keep the process a profound secret. The tail of the
fly-whisk is composed of long, straight fibres of either of the
materials above mentioned which in good specimens are
almost as fine as the ordinary horse hair, These families
algo make fans of the same fibres beautifully interwoven,
A municipal board of 12 members is respongible for the
sanitation and lighting of the city, the State providing the
necessary funds, about 823,000 a year. The central jail is
at Sewar, about 8 miles to the south-west and, though much
improved during recent years, is not altogether satisfactory
as a prison. It has accommodation for 179 prisoners and the
daily average number of inmates has varied from 281 in 1901
to 215 in 1908. The manufactures such as rugs, carpets,
blankets, matting, ete., yield a yearly profit of about B1,500.
The educational institutions, 8 in number (omitting in-
digenous schools such as makiabs and patshalas), are attended
by 850 boys and 89 girls. Of these, 5 are maintained by
the State and 8 by the Church Missionary Society. The
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only school of any note is the Darbir high school which
teaches up to the entrance standard of the Allahabad
University and which, since 1894, has passed 19 students
for that examination. Including the two Imperial Service
regimental hospitals and that attached to the jail, there are
five hospitals and a dispensary at Bharatpur, They have
accommodation for 148 in-patients and, in 1903, 48,934 cases
(2,116 being those of in-patients) were ftreated and 1,182
operations performed. In the Victoria hospital, one wing of
which is solely for females, the Bharatpur Statepossesses
what has been pronounced by experts to be the best equipped
and most thoroughly up-to-date institution as regards
medical and scientific details in India at the present time.

4
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BIKANER.

The settlement or habitation (mer) of Bika is the capital
of the State of the same name, and is situated in 28° N, and
73° 22° E., 1,340 miles by rail north-west of Calcutta and 759
miles almost due north of Bombay. Bikaneris the fourth
largest city in Rdjputdna and its population at each of the
three censuses was : 1881, 88,1564 ; 1891, 50,518; and 1901,
53,075. In the year last mentioned, Hindus numbered 38,796
or over T8 per cent. of the population, Musalmans 10,191 or
over 19 per cent., and Jains 8,936 or over 7 per cent.; there are
also a few Christians, Sikhs, Parsis and Aryas. The city,
which was founded in 1488, is situated on a slight elevation
about 726 feet above the sea and has an imposing appearance,
being surrounded by a fine wall crowned with battlements
and possessing many lofty houses and temples and a massive
fort. The wall, 40 miles in circuit, is built wholly of stone
and has five gates and six sally-ports. It is 6 feet thick and
from 15 to 80 feet high, including a parapet 6 feet high and
2 feet thick. There 1s a ditch on three sides only, the ground
on the southern face being intersected by deep ravines which
have broken up the whole plain in that quarter ; the depth
of the ditch is about 15 and the breadth 20 feet.

The old fort, built by Bika 3 years before he founded the
¢ity, is picturesquely situated on some high rocky ground
close to, and on the south-west side of, the city. It is small
and now rather a shrine than a fort ; near it are the cenotaphs
of Bika and two or three of his successors, as well as of
some persons of less note. The larger fort is more modern
baving been built by Raja Rai Singh between 1588 and
1598; it contains the old palaces and is situated about 800
yards from the Kot gate of the city. 1t is 1,078 yards in
eireuit, has two entrances each of which has three or four
‘successive gates, and its rampart is strengthened by numerous
bastions about 40 feet high and a moat running all reund in
a direction parallel to the curtains without following the
curve of the bastions. The moat is 80 feet wide at the top
but narrow at the bottom and from 20 to 26 feet in depth.
This fort has been besieged several times but is said to have
never been taken though the old one once was. The palace
buildings are the work of successive Chiefs nearly every one
of whom has contributed something ; the latest addition ie the
spacions Darbar hall called Ganga Niwds after the present
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aharaja, it is & fine building, the interior being of carved
red sandstone, the ceiling of carved wood and thé floor of
marble, but being of different material and architectural style
it does not blend very well with its surroundings.

The city is irregularly square in shape and contains many
good houses faced with ved sandstone richly carved, the
tracery being called khudai or manomat, but the majority of
these houses are situated in narrow tortuous lanes where they
can scarcely be seen. The poorer buildings are besmeared
with a sort of reddish clay, abundant in the ravines mear the
city, which gives the place an appearance of neatness and
umformity, the walls being all red and-the doors and windows
\Yhite. The north-western portion of the city, where the
richest bankers reside, was so much congested that it was
found necessary to extend the wall in that direction so as to
bring in a considerable area of habitable land ; this is being
rapidly built over while in the northern and north-eastern
portions, where formerly there were only a few small houses,
such public buildings as the jail, hospital, high and girle’
schools, post office and district courts have been erected.
The total number of wells in the city and fort is 46, of which
b are fitted with pumping engines ; water is found from 300
to 400 feet below the surface and, though not plentiful, is
generally excellent in quality. There are 10 Jain monasteries
(upisaras) which possess many Sanskrit mauuseripts, 159
temples and 28 mosques, but none of these buildings is
particularly striking in appearance.

Qutside the eity the principal buildings are the Maharaja’s
new palace called Lalgarh, a handsome edifice of carved red
sandstone, fitted with electric light and fans; the Victoria
memorial club, the new pul.)lic offices called Ganga Kacheri
and the Agency. Bikaner is famous for a white variety of
sugar-candy and for its woollen shawls, blankets and earpets.
Since the establishment of & municipality in 1889, the sanitas
tion and lighting of the city have been greatly improved.
The average income of the municipality is about R10,600 a
year, derived mainly from a conservancy tax and a duty on
g%7, and the average expenditure is about R31,400, the
deficit being found by the Darbar. A number of metalled
roads have been constructed in the city and suburbs, the prin=
cipal one from the new palace to the fort being lit by electrie
light. The central jail is probably the best in Rajputdna ; it
has accommodation for 590 prisoners.  In 1908-04 the dail
average strength was 378, the expenditure sbout 122,000 an

L
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the net profits on jail manufactures over R18,600. There are
3 State schools at the capital, one of which is for girls, and in
1903-04 the daily average attendance was 453 boys - and 74
girls. The principal educational institution is the high
school which is affiliated to the Allahabad University, Ex-
cluding the Tmperial service regimental and the jail hospitals,
there are one general hospital and 2 dispensaries for out-
patients while a hospital solely for females is under con-
struction, The general hospital, named Bhagwan Das after a
wealthy 8eth of Churu who provided the necessary funds for
its construction, has accommodation for 70 in-patients and is
largely attended. Five miles east of the city is the Devi
kund, the cremation tank of the Chiefs of Bikaner since the
time of Jet Singh (1527—15641). On each side of this tank
are ranged the cenotaphs of fourteen Chiefs from Kalyan
Singh to Dungar Singh ; several of them are fine buildings
with enamel work on the under surface of the domes, The
material is red sandstone from Dalmera and marble from
Makrana (in Marwar) ; on the latter are sculptured in bas-
relief the mounted figure of each Chief while in front of him,
standing in order of precedence, are the wives and hehind
and below him the concubines who mounted his funeral pile.
The date, names of the dead and in some cases a verse of Sans-
krit are inscribed. The last distinguished sati in Bikaner was
a daughter of the Udaipur ruling family named Dip Kunwar,
the wife of Maharaja Sirat Singh’s second son, Moti Singh,
who died in 1825. Near the tank is a palace for the con.
venience of the Chief and his ladies when they have ocecasion .
to attend ceremonies here, while about half way between Devi
kund and the city is a fine though modern temple dedicated
to Siva with a garden attached to it known as Siva biri.
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BOMBAY.
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The city of Bombay, the capital of the Presidency of Situation,

Bombay, and the principal seaport of western India, is situated ete.

on an island in 18° 55' N. and 72° 54' E. Bombay Island
18 one of a group lying off the coast of the Konkan ; but
by the recent construction of causeways and break-waters it is
now permanently united on the north side with the larger
island of Salsette, and so continuously with the mainland.
The remainder of the group of islands constitutes a part of
the Kolaba District. For certain administrative purposes
Bombay City is regarded as constituting a District by itself,
with an area of 22 square miles, and a population, according
to the census of 1901, of 776,006 souls.

In the beauty of its scenery, as well as in the commercial General
advantages of its position, Bombay is unsurpassed by any of aspeot.

the cities of the East. Bombay Island is connected with the
mainland on the north by two railway embankments and
as many causeways. The entrance into the harbour from the
sea discloses a magnificent panorama. The background is
shut in by the barvier range of the Western Ghits. In front
opens the wide harbour, studded with islands, dotted with
the white sails of inpumerable native eraft, and affording a
secure shelter to fleets of steam-propelled merchantmen. The
city itself consists of well-built houses and broad strects
ennobled by public buildings, The seashore is formed by
docks, warehouses, and a long line of artificial embankments
extending continuously for nearly five miles. On approaching
Bombay from the west, there is little to stiike the eye: the
coast is low, the highest point, Malabar Hill, being only
about 180 feet above the sea. But on entering the harbour
a stranger is impressed with the picturesqueness of the scene,
To the west the shore is crowded with buildings, some of
_ them, as Colaba Church and the Rajabai Clock tower of the

University, very lofty and well-proportioned. Mo the north
and east are numerous islands, and pre-eminent among the
hillg, the remarkable one of Bava Malang, otherwise called
Malanggarh, on the topof which is an enormous mass of
perpendicular rock, crowned with a ruined fort. The harbonr
is an animated and picturesque scene. There are usually a
troopship and a man-of-war of Fl. M.’z East India Squadron,
together with numerous large passenger or merchant steamers,
among which may be mentioned those of the Peninsular and
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Oriental Company, the Italian Rubattino, the British India
Steam Navigation Company, the Messageries Maritimes, the
Austrian  Lloyd, the ¢Clan,’ ¢ Anchor,’ and ¢ Hall,’ lines,
Many other steamers, and an occasional sailing vessel, are to
be seen riding at anchor, swinging with the swiftly-flowing
tide, and discharging or receiving cargo. All kinds of boats,
ships, dingies, steam-launches, native bunders and Lariches
incessantly ply on the harhour, At the southernmost point
of the “Prongs,” a dangerous reef jutting from Colaba point,
stands the light-house builtin 1874 and containing a first
class dioptric light, which is visible for eighteen miles.

The Island consists of a low-lying plain about 11} miles
long by 3 to 4 broad, flanked by two parallel ridges of low
hills, " Point Colaba, the headland formed by the longer of
these ridges, protects the harbour lying on its eastern side
from the foree of the open sea; the other ridge terminates in
Malabar Hill ; and between the two lies the shallow expanse
of Back Bay, The island is in shape a trapezoid. "It is
popularly likened to a hand laid palm upwards, with the fin.
gers stretching southwards into the sea, and the thumb repre-
senting Malabar Hill, with Back Bay between the thumb and
forefinger : others seein ita resemblance to g withered log,
with a very high heel and pointed toe, the heel being Malabar
Hill and the toe Coliba. On a slightly raised strip of land
between the head of Back Bay and the harbour is situated the
Fort, the original nucleus round which the town grew up, but
now chiefly occupied by stately public buildings and commer-
cial offices. From this point the land slopes westward to
the central plain, which, before the construction of the em-
bankment known as the Hornby Vellard, was liable to be
submerged at high tide. To the north and east recent,
schemes of reclamation have similarly shut out the sea, and
partly redeemed the foreshore for the use of commerce. In
the extreme north of the Island a large tract of salt marsh
still remains unreclaimed,

The Government offices, the business houses, and the shops,
cluster thickly in the Fort, Many of the public and commer-
cial buildings, econstructed during the past forty vears, are
of splendid dimensions, and have 110 rival in any other Indian
city, except perhaps Caleutts, The houses in LK(, native bazar
are also handsomely built, rising three, four, and even six
stories in height, with elaborately carved pillars and frents
work. Some of the narrow, unpaved and crowded strocts
give an inadequate idea of the real opulence of their inhabit-
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s~ “But in many of them may be seen evidences of the
wealth of the city and of the magnificence of its merchant
princes. The most conspicuous line of public buildings is on
the Esplanade facing Back Bay. Here is the Secretariat, an
enormous erection in the Venetian—-Gothic style of architec-
ture ; the University Library, Senate Hall, and Rajabai Clock-

1,

tower ; the High Couwrt; the Public Works, Post and Tele-.

graph Offices, A little inland, and behind the Secretariat
range of buildings, runs the broad thoroughfare of Rampart
Row, off which branch many narrow streets containing native
and Huropean shops. Rampart Row and its continuation
towards the Apollo Bunder (landing-place) form the main line
of thoroughfare of the European city of Bombay. Along one
side of Rampart Row is a colonnade of arches giving entrance
to the Bombay Club, the French Bank, and other buildings.
On the opposite side of Rampart Row, which is here fifty or
sixty yards broad, rises another line of many-storied offices
chiefly belonging to merchants in grain and cotton. The
Fort is illuminated during the night by incandescent light.
Near the Apollo Bunder is the Sailors’ Home, erected at the
expense of a former Gaikwar of Baroda. Behind the Sailors’
Home is the Yacht Club, a favourate resort of Bombay
socicty ; and adjoining are the club residential quarters and
the grand structure of the new Taj Mahal Hotel. At the
other end of Rampart Row is a white marble statue of the
Queen, under a Gothic canopy, also the gift of the Gaikwir.
The most important buildings in the densely-built space occu-
pying the site of the Fort are the circular row of offices and
warehouses known as the Elphinstone Circle, the Custom
House, the Town Hall, the Mint, and the Cathedral.

The Castle and Fort St. George are the only two spots
now retaining any traces of the old fortifications. The exist-
ing defences of Bombay harbour are batteries on the rocks,
which stud the séa from about opposite the Memorial Church
at Colaba to the Elphinstone reclamation. The one most to
the south is called the Oyster Rock, which is 1,000 yards
from the shore and 8,400 feet south-west of the Middle
Ground Battery. The fort on the Middle Ground shoal is in
the middle of the anchorage, 1,800 yards from shore. The
third defence is on Cross Island, at the north end of the
anchorage, 100 yards from the shore and 4,000 yards from
Middle Ground. There are also batteries at Malabar Point
and Mahalakshmi on the western side of the Island.

On leaving the Bazar Gate police station, which represents
the most northernly point of the Fort section, the first object

Other parts
ol the city.
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of mterest is the Victoria Terminus of the great Indian
Peninsula Railway, a very handsome building standing on
the original site of an old temple of Mumbadevi. Opposite
the station are the Municipal Offices, the foundation stone of
which was laid by Lord Ripon in December 1884. Imme-
diately beyond them the new offices of the leading Bombay
newspaper; The Times of India, have now been erected, and
thence a few minutes” stroll will bring the visitor to the great
markets, named after Mr. Crawford, who held the post of
Municipal Commissioner from 1865 to 1871. North of the
markets lies the native city proper. Two of the best known
thoroughfares in this portion of the Island are the Kalbadevi
Road and Abdur Rahman Street, both of which lead to the
Paydhuni (foot-wash) locality, o called from the fact that in
very ancient times a stream flowed there, in which passers-by
used to wash the dust of travel from their fect. Close to the
junction of the Kalbadevi Road and Abdur Rahman Street
stand the modern terple and tank of Mumbadevi, the guardian
goddess of the Island. To the north of Paydhuni there
are two interesting buildings, namely, the City Jail in Umar-
khadi built in 1804, under the admimistration of Jonathan
Duncan, and the Jewish synagogue called “The Gate of
Merey.” The latter was built by a member of the Beni-Isracl
community named Ezeckiel, who served in the Bombay army
during the campaign against Tipa Sultan, Having been
captured, he was about to be executed with other prisoners,
whén the mother of Tipi begged that his life might be spared
and her request was seconded by the chief munshi, who
declaved that Ezeckiel belonged to a race known as “the
chosen of God.” He was accordingly taken into Tipa’s
service, but managed at length to escape to Bombay, where,
in gratitude for his deliverance, he built the Synagogue.
Leaving the Tadvadi and Mazagaon sections, which contain
several features of intes est, as for example the Vietoria
Gardens in the former and the temple of Ghorupdeo in the
latter, and journeying northward, one reaches the historie
locality of Parel. It was here and in the neighbouring
villages of Naigaon, Vadala, and Matunga that Bhima Riji
and his followers seftled on their arrival from the Deccan
about 1294. In later times Parel was the favourite quarter
of the Buropean residents, and contained the official vesidence
of the Governor of Bombay. - It has now yielded place as a
fashionable European quarter to Malabar Hill, and Cumballa
Hill (a continuation of the former), both of which are covered
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~with handsome houses and bungalows. The views obtain-

s able from the ridge of Malabar Hill and the summit of the
Altamont Road, which  winds up Cumballa Hill, are
magnificent. Standing by night upon the ridge, one looks
down upon the palm-groves of Chaupiti, and across the sweep
of Back Bay to the Rajibai toyer, the Secretariat, and the °
Light-house at Colaba point, the whole curve of land being
jowelled with an unbroken chain of lights, which have earned
the appropriate title of “The Queen’s Necklace.” From
Cumballa Hill the view to the east includes the whole native
city, the hill of Mazagaon, upon which, in early days, a well
whitewashed house stood as a guide for vessels entering the
harbour, and beyond them the harbour, islands, and mainland
of the north Konkan. To the left- lies the industrial area,
with its high chimney-stacks and mill roofs, and the coast
section of Siwri, in which may still be seen relics of the old
fortress built upon a projecting spit of land. Siwri in these
days contains the BEuropean cemetery, which was originally
the garden of the Horticultural Society of Bombay. On the
west side Cumballa Hill slopes down to the shore, where,
close to the Hornby Vellard, the Mahalakshmi temples
command attention. The present shrines are comparatively
modern ; but they are stated to stand upon the site of three
very old temples which were destroyed during the period of
Muhammadan domination. The temples form the northern
limit of another suburb, known as Breach Candy, where the
houses are built close down upon the seashore within the
refreshing sound of the waves. The ruined fortress of Warli
can be visited from this point ; while a good road leads
through the great cocoanut woods of Mahim to the Lady
Jamsetji Causeway and the neighbouring island of Salsette.
The causeway was opened in 1845, up to which time com-
munication between Bombay and Béndra, the southernmost
ﬁillagc in Salsette, had been carried on by means of ferry-

oats,

At Malabar Point the Governor of Bombay has a pretty
marine villa, in which he spends the cold-weather months of
the year. During the hot-weather months the Bombay
Government repair to Mahabaleshwar, while they spend the
I3ny or monsoon season at Poona. Not far from Malabar
Point lie the ruins of the old temple of Walkeshwar, which
was built by the Silahira dynasty some time between 810
and 1260 "A.D. Other inferesting religious monuments of
the Island are the tomb of a Musulman pir at Mahim and




the great Jama mosque in the city. The former was built
about 1431 in memory of Sheikh Ali Paru andis the only
architectural legacy to Bombay of early Muhammadan rule.
The shrine, which was repaired and enlarged in 1674, is sur-
mounted by a dome, the inner gide of which is ornamented
with a gilt inseription in Arabic characters recording the
name and dates of the birth and death of the saint. An
annual fair is still held here and is attended by Muham-
madans from all parts of India. The Jama mosque was
built in 1802.

Climate. Bombay never attains great extremes of heat or cold such
as are encountered in the iutgrlor of India. but the climate,
though temperate, is oppressive owing to the extreme satura-
tion of the air with moisture during the greater part of the
year, The cold season last from December till March. In
June the south-west monsoon breaks and heavy rain continues
with great regularity till the end of September. The hottest
months are May and October. The average rainfall for the
twenty years ending 1901, as registered at Colaba Observa-
tory, was 74:27 inches, the maximum being 99'74 and the
minimum 35. The average temperature is 79-2° F.

In the year 1902 the chief causes of mortality were
plague (13,786), remittent fever (4,777), and diseases of the
respiratory system (7,211).
History. Originally Bombay consisted of seven separate islands,
Harly and formed an outlying portion of the kingdom of Aparinta
inhabitagis. i) s North Konkan, of which the earliest ruler known to,
history was named Asoka. To him succeeded a dynasty of
Satakarnis or Satavahanas, who flourished about the 2nd
century 4.0, and were in turn succeeded by Mauryas,
Chalukyas, and Rashtrakatas. The earliest inhabitants of
the islands were the Kolis, an aboriginal tribe of hushandmen
and fisherfolk, who must have journeyed thither about the
opening of the Christian era, and formed rude hut settlements
in those portions of the Island which are now known as
Upper Colaba, Lower Colaba, Dongri, Mazagaon, Naigon,
Sion, Mahim, and Warli. The Island takes its name from
the Koli goddess Mumba, a form of Parvati, whose temple
as above mentioned formerly stood close to the site now
occupied by the Victoria station.

Mindu and In the Maurya and Chalukya periods (c. 450—750 a.n.)
z:hm::" the city of Puri on Eueruanta island was the chief place in

Bombay harbour ; but under the Silahara chiefs of the Konkan
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—1260) Bombay became better known through the dis-
cov ery of the Shrigundi or stone of trial, and the building of
the Walkeshwar temple at Malabar point. But no town
sprang up until Raja Bhima, who probably belonged to the
house of the Yadavas of Deogiri, founded Mahikavati (Mahim)
as a direct result of Ala-ud-din Khilji's raid into the Deccan
in 1294, Bhima's followers, among whom the Prabhus,
Palshikar Brahmans, Panchkalshis, Bhandaris, Bhois, and
Thakurs were the most noteworthy, spread over the Island
and settled in Mahim, Siwri, Naigaon, Matunga, Vadila
and Parel.  Representatives of these clagses are found in Bom-
bay today, while many place names in the Island undoubtedly
date back to this era of Hindu rule which lasted till 1848,
when Salsette and Bombay were ‘conquered by a Muhame
madan force from Gujarat. The islands remained part,first of
the province, and then of the kingdom, of Gujarat until 1534,
when Sultan Bahadur ceded them to the Portuguese. With
the exception of the well-known shrine at Mahim and one
distinet class of the population, the Konkani Muhammadans,
the era of Muhammadan rule has left little trace upon modern’
Bombay, for the Sultans of Gujarat contented themselves with
establishing a military outpost at Mahim, and delegated their
administrative powers to tributary Hindu chieftains.

The Portuguese were no more successful in the work of Portuguese
colonisation than their immediate predecessors. The lands rule.
were gradually divided by them into manors or fiefs, which
were granted as rewards to deserving individuals or to religious
orders on a system known as “aforamento whereby the
grantees were bound to furnish military aid to the king of
Portugal, or, Wht:,‘!'e military service was not deemed necessary,
to pay a certamn quit-rent. The northern districts were
parcelled out among the Franciscans and Jesuits, who were
responsible for the building of several churches on the Island;
notably that of Our Lady of Hope on the Esplanade, now
destroyed, and those of 8. Michael at Mahim and of Qur
Lady of Salvation at Dadar, which exist to this day. The
Quinta or Manor House, built some time in the 16th century,
stood upon the site of the modern arsenal behind the Town
Hall, and was surrounded by a lovely garden. It was partly
bumt by the Dutch and English in 1626, but remained
standing in a more or less dilapidated condition until 1861,
when Donna Inez de Miranda, the proprietress of the Manor
of Bombay, handed it over to the British representative
Humphrey  Cooke. The intolerance = of the Porbuguese had
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seriously hindered the growth of the settlement, which, when
it was handed over to the English, had a population of some
10,000, mostly Kolis, Agris, and other low castes, with a
gprinkling of Prabhus, Brahmans, and Muhammadans.

The English had coveted Bombay for many years before
it came into their possession under the terms of the marriage
treaty between Charles 11. and the Infanta of Portugal. They
had endeavoured to seize it by force in 1626 ; the Surat Council
had urged the Directors of the East India Company to pur-
chase it in 1652 ; and the Directors in their turn had urged
upon Cromwell the excellence of the harbour and its natural
isolation from attack by land. But it was not until 1661
that Bombay was ceded to the English King, nor until 1665
that Humphrey Cooke took possession of the Island on his
behalf. The revenues at the date of the cession were not
large, aceruing mainly from taxes upon rice-lands, oil and gh;
and upon the cocoanut and arecanut palms which grew in
abundance between the maidas or Xsplanade and Malabar
Hill. Moreover, so averse were the Portuguese in India to
the cession that they retained their hold upon the northern
portion of the Island, declaring that it was private property,
and it was only by the vigorous actions of Cooke and his
immediate successors that Mahim Sion, Dharavi, and
Vadala were taken from the Portuguese religious orders and
incorporated with the Island proper.

The Tsland was transferred in 1668 from the Crown to
the East India Company, who placed it under the Factory of
Surat. The real founder of the modern city was Gerald
Aungier (1669-77) who believed in the future of “the city
which by God’s help is intended to be built)” and increased
1ts population to 50,000 by the measures which he took for
the settlement of the land revenue, the establishment of law
courts, the strengthening of the defences, and the securing of
freedom of trade and worship to all comere. Among the
most important of the new settlers were Banias, Armenians

‘

and Parsis,

In the later years of the 17th century the settlement
became so unhealthy through the silting up of the erecks that
separated its component islands and throngh the prevalence
of plague and cholera (mort de chine), that 1t was said that
“ two monsoons were the life of a man,” Progress wae further
checked by quarrels among the leading men and the rivalry
between the old and the new Mast India companies. The
steady unfriendliness of the Portuguese and the prevalence of
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v made trade unsafe, and supplies for the large popula-
tion hard to obtain, while down to 1690 the Sidi admirals of
the Mughal fleet were frequent but unweleome guests of the
English, who did their best to trim between them and the
Marathas. '

In 1708 a brichter period began with the union of the Progress
two companies, which was followed by the transfer of the g:ﬁ‘;gpm \
Governor’s head-quarters from Surat to Bombay. The two of 18tk
great needs of the time were a base of sapplies on the main- centary.
land and the suppression of piracy. The former object was
attained in 1783 by an alliance with the Sidis, but the pirates,
though held in check, were not yet suppressed. The Maratha

~conquest of Bassein and Salsette (1737-39) put an end to the
hostility of the Portuguese, but warned Bombay to strengthen
its forces by sea and land against & more dangerous enemy.
The town wall had been finished in 1718 and settlers again
flocked in, especially from distracted Gujarat.

The dockyards were extended under the superintendence
of a “wadia ”’ or ship-builder from Surat, Lowji Nasarwanji,
who arrived in Bombay in 1736 : a marine was established
about the same date : a criminal court was -created in 1727,
and a mayor’s court in 1728 for the settlement of all civil
disputes : and a bank for the encouragement of trade and
agriculture was established on the lsland in 1720, Severe
measures were taken for the prevention of treachery as evi-
denced by the historic trial and conviction of Rama
Kamathi : monetary loans were granted, and other conven-
tences afforded, to various classes, such as the weavers and
small traders, whose settloement it was held desirable to stimu-
late, As a result, the population had expanded to 70,000 by
the year 1744, and the revenues of the Island had risen to
about 16 lakhs as compared with about Rs. 37,000, which it
bad yielded to the Portuguese. The most notable building in
the Fort at this time was St. Thomas’ Church, which was
opened by My, Boone on Christmas Day 1718. It

The defences of the town were further stregthened by 174070,
reagon of the French wars (1744-48 and 1756-63), and the
influx of seftlers from the mainland made the question of
supplies as well as that of the protection of trade from piracy
more pressing. Both were in a measure secured by an
alliance with the Peshwa, which resulted in the acquisition of.
Binkot (1755) and in the destruction of the pirate nest at
Vijayadurg by a force under the command of Watson and
Clive (1756). The occupation of Surat castle {1758) and the



soitsa SL,

capture of the forts of Malvan and Reddi (1765) were further
gteps talken in the interests of trade. This period witnessed
the opening of two new docks at Bombay, one being comi=
pleted in 1750 and the second in 1762, and a further increase
in the number of vessels. Regulations were also passed for the
preservation of good order on the Island ; a town scavenger
was appointed ; building rules were promulgated in 1748 ;
advances made from the Land Pay Office to the poorer
inhabitants whose dwellings had been destroyed by fire;
 passage-boats between Bombay and the mainland were organ-
ised into a regular service; and a Court of Requests was
instituted in 1758 for the recovery of debt. As a result, a
very large increase of population took place; and so many
houses were built in the native town that many of them had
eventually for safety’s sake to be removed. Grose referred
in 1750 fo the enormous amount of building which had taken
place in the oarts and groves; and new thoroughfares and
burial grounds were continually being opened throughout
the period. The old Government House at Parel is first
spoken of in these years as“a very agreeable country house,
which was originally a Romish chapel, belonging to the
Jesuits, but was confiscated about 1719 for some foul practices
against the English interest’’ The building has long
been deserted by the Governors of Bombay, and 1s at present
utilised as a laboratory for the preparation of preventive and
curative plague-serum, -
177101817. Tt was the wish to acquire Salset'e a8 a defence and a
base of supplies that led the Bombay Council to enter the
field of Maratha polities (1772). The history of the trans-
aetions that ended in the formation of the modern Presidency
is dealt with elsewhere. In the Island itself great improvements
were made. A fariff of labour rates was formulated ; a better
system of conservancy was enforced in 1777 ; hospitals, fo
which Forbes refers in the « Qriental Memuirs,”” were erected
in 1768 and 1769; an accurate survey of the land was
carried out; a proper police force was organised about 1780
in place of the old Bhandari militia ; and in 1770 the cotton
trade with China was started, in consequence - of a consider=
able famine in that country, and an edict of the Chinese
Government thata larger proportion of the land should be
utiliged for the cultivation of grain. The orderly extension
of the mative town was also taken in hand about 1770;
crowded and insanitary houses were in_many cases removed ;
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splanade was extended and levelled ; new barracks were
built; and everv encouragement was given to the native
community to build their dwellings at a greater distance
from the Fort. The great Vellard, which takes its name
from the Governor Mr. William Hornby (1771-87), was
erected during this period, and, by uniting the southern
boundary of Warli with the northern limit of Cumballa Hill,
shut out the ses from the central portions of the Island, and
rendered available for cultivation and settlement the wide
stretch of the flats, The traveller Parsons, who visited the
Island in 1775, speaks of the town as “ nearly a mile in
length from the Apollo Gate to that of the Bazar, and
about a quarter of a mile broad in the broadest part from the
bunder across the green to Church Gate, which is nearly in
the centre as you walk round the walls betwesn Apollo and
Bazar Glates. Between thetwo marine gates is the castle,
properly called Bombay Castle, a very large and strong forti-
ﬁqatlon which commands the bay ; and the streets are well
laid out and the buildings so numerous as to make it an
elegzant town,”

In 1798 the mayor’s court gave place to that of a
Recorder. In 1800 this court was held in Mr. Hornby’s house,
which is familiar in these days as the Great Western Hotel;
and thither Sir James Mackintosh, who succeeded the first
Recorder in 1802, used to repair for the purpose of deciding
civil and criminal suits. In 1798 the Governor and Members
of Council were the only Justices of the Peace in Bombay,

' and in 1796 sat in a court of quarter sessions, inviting two
qf the inhabitants to sit with them. This system continued
till 1807 when the Governor and Council were empowered
to appoint a certain mumber of the Company’s servants
or other British inhabitants to aet as justices under the
seal of the Recorder’s Court. Two motable events at the
commencement, of the 19th century were the famine of 18083,
which drove a vast number of people from the Konkan and
Deccan to seek refuge and employment in Bombay, and the
great fire which broke out in the Fort in the same year.
Though the damage done to house property was enormous,
the conflagration enabled the Government to open up wider
thoroughfares in very congested parts of the Fort, and 16
801(_’1(1 as a great incentive to the native community to build
therr houses, shops, and godowns outside the Fort walls,
and in those areas which are now the busiest portion of the
city. The abolition of the Company’s monopoly of the
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Indian trade in 1818 led to a great increase in the number-of
independent European firms and lm'gely improved the export
trade in raw cotton.
1818-39. The conquest of the Deccan m 1817-18 put an end to the
Expunsion  Maratha troubles and transformed Bombay from a trading
%frg?ﬁgt’; town to the capital of a large province, "Phe Recorder’s Court
snd City.”  was replaced in 1823 by tne Supreme Court. The Borghat
road to Poona was opened in 1830, and a regular monthly
mail service to England by the overland route was established
in 1838. The same year saw the construction of the Colaba
Causeway, which united the last of the original seven islets to
the parent Tsland of Bombay, and was immediately followed
by commercial speculation in recovering a certain portion of
ground for building factories, wharves, and for the greater
facility of mercantile operations. A new hospital was built in
Hornby Row in 1825, a new mint was opened in 1827, and the
well-known Town Hall was completed after a series of vicis-
situdes in 1833. The Bishopric of Bombay was constituted
in 1835, and in 1838 the old church of St. Thomas became
the cathedral of the diocese.
1840-70. The year 1840 marked the commencement of g period of
;‘o';;’bf,’;’f,, progress and prosperity. The first sod of the Great Indian
Develop- Peninsula Railway was turned in 1850 ; the first twenty
ment of miles to Thana were laid by 1853 ; and ten years later the
sl Borghat incline was opened. The Bombay, Baroda and
Central India Railway was completed southwards as far as
Bowbay in 1864. In 1855 the first contract was made with
the Peninsular and Oriental Company for fortnightly mail
service, which became weekly in 1857. The Austrian Lloyd's,
the Rubattino, and the Anchor lines at this time (1857)
started regular services. The first bank of Bombay was
opened in 1840 ; and by 1860 there were at least six large
banking corporations, all holding an assured position. Indus-
tria,l' enterprises and schemes, such as the Elphinstone Recla-
mation scheme, were promoted ; the great Vehar water-works
were constructed ; the first tramway communications were
opened in Coliba in 1860; a scheme of drainage was for-
. mulated 1 1861 ; and in 1857 the first spinning and weaving
mill eommenced to work. By 1860 gix more mills had been
opened, and Bombay had become the great cotton market of
western and central Indis. Between 1861 and 1865 ocensrred
the enormous increase in the cotton trade which was brought
about by the outhreak of the Qivil War in America. The
supply of American staples being suddenly eut off,
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ancashire turned eagerly to Bombay for her cotton, and poured
into the pockets of the mercantile community some 31 million
pounds sterling over and above what they had in former years
considered a fair price for their cotton. An unexampled
exportation of cotton continued as long as the war was carried
on. “ Financial associations,”” as Sir Richard Temple wrote
in Men and Events of my time in India, “ sprang up like
mushrooms ; companies expanded with an inflation as that of
bubbles ; projects blossomed only to decay.” Suddenly when
commercial delirium was at its height, the American war
ended. The price of Bombay cutton at once fell fast, and the
whole elaborate edifice of speculation toppled down like a
house of cards. WNevertheless the commercial stability of the
city suffered no permanent damage, and modern Bombay
was literally built up and established during those years. Thp
wealth of speculators of the early sixties was sunk in the engi-
neering and reclamation schemes, which pushed back the sea
and gave the Island her splendid wharf accommodation. 1t
was they who presented Bombay with her University Library
Buildings, the Rajabai Tower, the Jamsetji Jijibhai School
of Art, her hospitals and museum, and the Mechanics’ Insti-
tute. The Government aided private enterprise in the task
of beautifying and improving the Island ; and it was during
this period that those great schemes were formulated which
have endowed the city with the unrivalled line of publie
buildings facing Back Bay ,with the Elphinstone Circle, with
admirable railway workshops, with a fine dockyard at Maza-
gaon, with new Police Courts, and Light-houses, with the
Wellington Memorial Fountain, and the European General
Hospital. Room was made for many of these improvements
by the demolition of the walls of the Fort in 1862,

Great changes took place at this time in Municipal adminis-
tration. In 1858 a triumvirate of Municipal Commissioners
was appointed for the control of urban affairs, and was sue-
ceeded in 1865 by a body corporate composed of Justices for
the Town and lsland, the entire executive power and responsibi-
lity being vested in a Commissioner appointed by Govern-
ment for a term of three years. This system existed until
1872, when a new Municipal Corperation, consisting of 64
persons, all of them rate-payers, was established by law. Con-
siderable progress was made in sanitation and communications.
An efficient Health department was ovganised in 1865 ; many
old and dangerous graveyards were closed between 1866 and
1871 ; epecial committees were appointed to deal with the
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drainage question ; new markets were built, notably the Arthur
Crawford Markets, which were opened in 1869 and form one
of the most useful of all the public improvements executed in
Bombay ; the water-supply of Vehar was increased ; the Tilsi
water-works were commenced 5 the Oval and Rotten Row
were laid out as recreation grounds ; and the reclamation of
the flats with town sweepings was after much discussion taken
: in hand.
Develop- Between 1872 and 1881 railway  communication was
ment up to  extended across the contment of India and steam navigation
present day. along the coast, The mill industry throve apace, and gave’
employment in 1882 to about 32,000 persons, The Tilsi
water-works were completed in' 1879 5 the Port MTrust was
established, on the model of the Mersey Board, in 1873, and
opened the Prince’s Dock in 1850 ; new roads were opened in
various parts of the Island ; the lighting of the town was
extended ; the Victoria Gardens, the Elphinstone Circle
Garden, and the Northbrook Garden in the poorer portion of
the eity, were opened between 1873 and 1874 ; while in 13878
the Municipality raised a loan of 27 lakhs for drainage pur-
poses, and commenced the task of layi

Ing anew main sewer
from Carnac Bunder to Love Grove, and a new outfall sewer

pumping station, and pumping plant at Warli. The resources
of Bombay were tested in 1878 when an expeditionary force
was despatched to Malta: within fourteen days after the
receipt of orders the Bombay Government engaged 48,000
tons of merchant shipping and despatched from the port 6,000
men and 2,000 horses with two monthg’ supplies of provisions -
and six weeks’ supply of water. Again in 1899 the salvation
of Natal direetly resulted from the promptitude with which
the Bombay Government carried out the embarkation and
despatch to South Afries of 5 large military force.

The water-supply of the city was further improved by the
opening of the Pawai works in 1889, and of the great Tansa
works in 1891-92.  Between 1879 and 1891 much attention
was paid to education, with the result that the census of
1891 showed an increase of 46,000 in the number of literate
persons, Schqo]s for deaf-mutes were subsidised ; the Victoria
Jubilee Technical Institute was founded by Lord Reay’s
G overnment ; tramway ¢ommunications were greatly extended 5
a good fire bngnde Service wag organised ; special cholera and
small-pox hospitals were erected for the benefit of the poorest
classes ; and the streets were cleared of lepers by the opening
of the Matunga Leper Asylum, in chEewe victims of this
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shtly disease are so well cared for that they feel no tempt-
ation to stray away. The export and import trade showed a -
remarkable increase during the ten years prior to 1891, while
the mill industry assumed such large proportions that legisla-
tion for the regulation. of female and child labour became
imperative in 1890. Not only had sections of the city
proper, such as Mandvi and Dhobi Talao, been choked with
buildings in such a way that their original character was
wholly obliterated, but the northern sections of the Island
such as Parel, Byculla, Tadvadi, Nagpada, and Chinchpugli,
had expanded through the progress of industrial enterprise
into the populous dwelling-places of a large immigrant labour
population,

The great influx of labourers which took place between 1860 City

" and 1890 has been indirectly vesponsible for the continued lln“;ll":”e’
presence and virulence of the plague, which broke out for myyg,
the first time in 1896. The congested state of many streets,
and the monstrous overcrowding of houses, which were erected
to accommodate a great influx of population, have proved
highly favourable to the spread of a disease which, during
the last seven years, has played havoc with the cotton indus-
try and with trade, and has raised the mortality rate of the
city and island to an alarming figure. It is the object of the
City Improvement Trust, created by Lord Sandhurst’s govern-
ment, to open out such localities, and by the erection of
model dwellings for the artisan classes, to combat successfully
the spread of evils, such as plague and phthisis, which at pre-
sent flourish unchecked in the moist and infected air of the
industrial quarters,

At the time of the cession of Bombay to the English, the Popa-
population is stated by Dr. John Fryer in his “ New Account lation.
of Hast India and Persia (1698) to have been 10,000; and,
according to Niebuhr, it had increased to 70,000 in 1744. In
1780 a special committee, appointed to enquire into the price
of fm»d-g)_".nnn, was furnished with a rough census of all resi-
dents, which totalled to 113,726. By 1814 this number had,
according 1o & contempoyary writer, risen to 180,000 ; and an
estimate recorded in 1833 showed a further inerease to
236,000. On the initiative of Sir Bartle Frerea propetl
organised census was for the first time taken in 1864, whici
recorded a total population of 816,562 This abuormal
figure, which was mainly due to the extraordinary prosperity
which Bombay enjoyed during the American war, décreased in
1872 to 644,405 ; bub the decrease was the natural outcome
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“of the reversion of Bombay commercial life to its ordinary
groove, and was in no wise permanent, as is apparent from the
census figures of 1881 and 1891 which amounted to 773,196
and 821,764, respectively. According to the census of
1901 the population of the area administered by the Bombay
municipality, which is co-extensive with Bombay Island, in
an area of 22 square miles, is 776,006. This figure includes
37,681 persons who are described as homeless, as the harbour
population, or a8 travellers by the railway. The density of
population per acre for the whole Island is 51, but this figure
varies largely in different areas. In Kumbarwada, for exam-
ple, there are 598 persons to the acre, in Khara Talao 556, in
Second Nagpada 516, in Chakla 472, and in Umarkhadi

460 ; whereas in Sion there are only 5 persons to the acre, in

Siwri 20, in Mahim 21, and in Warli 25. It will be appar-

ent from these figures how suitable a field is afforded by "the

northern portions of the Island for the wider and more
healthy distribution of the native population. The extension
of electric traction, which the municipality is at present
endeavouring to establish, will draw off the surplus popula-
tion of the central portions of the city and lower the death-
rate. The average population per inhabited house is 24°5 for
the whole Island, rising to 35 in B ward which includes

Chakla, Mandvi, Umarkhadi, and Dongri, and sinking to 15

in G ward, which ¢omprises Mahim and Warli. The great

poverty of the bulk of the population is shown by the fact .

that 80 per cent. of the whole number occupy tenements con-

taining a single room only, the average number of occupants
in such a room being about 5. Instances were discovered at
the time of the 1901 census of 39, 43, and 54 persons occupy-
ing and sleeping in a single room ; while three of the largest
tenement houses in the central part of the Island gave shelter
to as many as 587, 668, and 691 individuals. The propor-
tion of males in the total population is over 61 per cent.

The number of females to 1,000 males varies considerably by

localities, there being 770 in Dongri and only 234 in the

southern portion of the Fort. A very large proportion of the
male inhabitants come to Bomhay for a few monthe only in
search of ‘work, leaving their families in their native villages.

The number of children under one year of age had sunk in

1901 to the very low figure of 9,900 ; but this was brought

about by a high rate of mortality among infants since 1897

and an abnormally low birth-rate,

Before the outbreak of the plague in 1896 the average
leath-rate for the whole population was 24 yper thousand,
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ce 1896 it has risen to 78. The birth-rate is as low as 14
per thousand, but this is no indication of the true natural
inerease, the bulk of the population being immigrants whose
women return to their homes at the time of motherhood.

Some 23 per cent. only of the total population claims the
Island as its birth-place; and the proportion of those born in
Bombay is highest in sections like Dhobi Talao and Chakla,
which are inhabited respectively by Parsis and Konkani
Muhammadans, who are really indigenous. The District of
Ratnagiri in the Konkan supplies Bombay with most of her
mill-hands and labourers, while Cutch and the Gujarat Dis-
tricts supply large numbers of the trading classes.

Hardly any city in the world presents a greater variety of C'otmpon-
national types than Bombay. The Hindus and Muham- ®™ faces.
madans of course predominate, but in the busy streets the
characteristic dress of every Oriental people may be seen.

The green and gold turban of the Musalman, thelarge red or
white head-dress peculiar to the Maratha, the pointed red
turban of the Gujarati Bania, and the black or brown brimless
hat of the Parsi, lend colour and variety to the scene. In

ongri and Mandvi one meets members of well-known com-
mercial classes, such as the Osval Jains; in Chakla will be
found the Konkani Muhammadans, a very rich and influential
community, who trace their descent from the ancient
L Nawaits,” the children of Arab fathers and Hindu mothers,
and who have gradually risen from the position of ships’
officers, sailors, ‘and boatmen to that of prosperous and educated
merc_ba.nts. The Sidis, who are descended from the warriors
of 8idi Sambhal and from Zanzibar slave immigrants, will be
Seen m  the Umarkhadi quarter; the Beni-Israel, whose
ancestors were wrecked off Chaul in the 13th century, are |
settled in the same neighbourhood ; the Julahas, a poor aund
so;nev_vhat turbulent class of Muhammadan weavers, are meb
with in Nagpada ; the portion of Dhobi Talao known as Cavel
shelters large numbers of Goanese and Native Christians, who
have regarded thig locality as their stronghold since the era
of Portuguese dominion ; the unmistakeable head-gear of the
Arabs 18 constantly met with in Byeculla ; Parel and Nagpada
are peopled by the lower and industrial classes from the
Deccan and Konkan ; while hidden away in many corners of
the Island are small groups of Kolis, the lineal descendants
of the earliest Bombay settlers known to history. The Parsis
exercise an influence much greater than is implied by their
pumbers, They commenced to settle in Bombay soon after
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Port, Trust. The Port Trust, a small board of 13 members representing
commercial and other interests, controls the administration of
the port. It had in 1903 a revenue of over 59 lakhs and a
reserve fund of 20 lakhs. The Trust is responsible for carrying
out improvements to the port, and has under contemplation
the early addition of a third and more commodious dock to the
existing Vietoria and Prinee’s Docks, which no longer meet
. the requirements-of the local shipping.
City Traprove- A similar board of 14 members, constituted under the
ment Trust. administration of Liord Sandburst and styled the Bombay
City Improvement Trust, has, as already mentioned, been
entrusted with the regeneration of the eity by the construc-
tion of new thoroughfares, the demolition of insanitary areas,
the erection of sanitary quarters for the labouring classes, and
the development of valuable sites for building. Tts chief -
sources of revenue are an annual contribution from the muni-
cipality and the income from valuable property assigned to it
by Government.
Land revenue.  There are eight forms of land tenure existing in Bombay,
namely, ¢Pension and Tax,” Quit and Ground rent, Foras,
Toka, Leage-hold, Land newly assessed, Tenancies-at-will, and
Tnam. ¢ Pension and Tax,’ from the Portuguese peneao, repre-
sents a fixed payment for fee-simple possession in compromise
of a doubtful tenure and dates from 1674. It is not subject
to revision, and is redeemable on payment of 30 years’ assess-
ment. Quit and Ground rent assessment represents a tax
imposed in 1718 to cover the cost of erecting fortifications, and
varies from 8 to b} pies per square yard. Foraslands are held
at a low rate by occupants willing to improve them. The
tenure dates from 1740 when low-lying land was offered to
the public for cultivation at a rent or foras of 2 pies per sixty
square yards. Zoka vepresents a share of the produce of the
land, the original payment in kind being subsequently replaced
by & money payment, which in 1879-80 was fixed for 50
years. Lease-hold land is held for terms varying from 20 to
999 years. Newly assessed lands are mtc*dyunder Act IT of
1876, and the rates may be raised from time to time, The
chief holders of Tnam land in the Island arve the Lavji family
(1783) and the heirs of Jamsetji Bomanji (1821). They pay
no cess or vent of any kind., The revenue of Bombay 1s col-
lected under a ?eeial Act (Bombay Act IT of 1876, modified
by Act .III of 1900), and amounted 1 1902-03 to 3 lakhs.
Phe excise revenue, including tree-tax for the same year, was

12 lakhs,




[ucation was represented in 1880-81 by 146 schools and Education.
eolleges with a total of 16,413 pupils. In 1900-01 the
number of those under instruction had risen to 40,104. By
the close of March 1903 the city possessed 587 educational
institutions of all kinds, as detailed in the subjoined

Table:—
Number of Pupils.
Class at Institution: Number. |—

Male. | Female. | Total.

Public.
Arts Colleges , . , . 3 | 9756 15 | 991
Professional Colleges . 4 . 2 912 82 944
High Schools ., ., nta o 40 | 8901 | 1,331 [10,282
Middle English Sehools L ; 14 479 732 | 1,211
Ml.ddle Vernacular Schools . g 33 1,899 | 246 | 2,145
Primary Schools . 3 5 . 195 {18,859 5,608 |18,967
:l‘ecl_mical Schools y i ‘ 10 | 1,367 1,367
Training Schools : . . 2 19 17
Private, “ G 238 B 11,330
ToTAL ¢ 537 0 oS 47,204

Of these institutions the Grant Medical College, which
was established in 1%45, prepares students for the degrees of
L. M. & 8. and M. D., and is the only college of its kind in
the Presidency, The Elphinstone College, to which a law
class is attached, was instituted in 1885 and is under the
management of (yovernment. Among ‘other important
establishments are the Vietoria Jubilee Technical Institute
and a school for deaf-mutes. According to the census of
1901 the number of those who are wholly illiterate amounts
to 81 per cent. of the total population.

A vigorous English and vernacular press flourishes in Bora- Newspapers)
bay. Thﬁ‘ thm’e& of India and the Bombay Gazette, both of
them daily Journals, well-edited and well-informed, represent

- the Anglo-Indian community ; and the Advocaté of India, an

eveniig paper adopting a more critical attitude, is also widely
circulated. The Bombay Sumichar heads the list of verna-
calar newspapers, the most important of which are published
in Gujarati.

For purposes of health administration the city is divided Medioal
into 4 divisions of 32 sections, each division being placed in
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the cession of the Tsland to the English ; and now by the force
of their mherited wealth, their natural genius for trade, their
intelligence, and their munificent charities, they hold high rank
among the native community. Their position was gracef}ﬂly
recognised by the Crown when Sir J amsetji Jijibhai received
a baronetcy in 1857; and the present representative of his
family was chosen to represent the city of Bombay at the
coronation of the King-Emperor in 1902. Next in import-
ance to the Parsis are the Hindu traders or Banizs who may
be divided into two classes, those of Gujardt and the Marwaris
of Central India. A large proportion of both these classes
adhere to the Jain religion, while not a few of the remainder
belong to the Vaishnav sect, especially to the sub-denomina-
tion known as Vallabhacharyas. The Muhammadans include
representatives from all the great countries that have embraced
Islam—Arabs, Persians, Turks, Afghans, Malays, and Afri-
cans. The three classes of trading Muhammadans—the
Memons, Bohras, and Khojas—are especially numerous. The
spivitual head of the last-named community, His Highness
the Aga Khan, was among the representative men invited to
His Majesty’s coronation in 1902, The commercial dealings
of these three classes are chiefly with the Persian G ulf, Zan-
zibar, and the Bast Coast of Africa ; but many of them do
not shrink from visiting Burope for trade purposees, and are
ready to take advantage of the improved means of communi-
cation now existing between Bombay and the rest of the

world. The Parsis and Jews compete with the English in the
markets of Furope.
Religion The following table gives the population of the city in
and 1901 classified according to religion :~
Language, Religion. Number. Percentage.
Hindus < e . B0S,608 6554
M ulammadans | . 155,747 2007
Ohngtmns { « 46,176 582
Parsis [N 46,231 596
%mns N Ry RN P 1 188
Jews s . 5 5,35
Others s 5 " 6327?

776,008
Some idea of the cosmopolitan character of Bombay ecan be
formed from the fact that 62 different languages or dialects
are spoken within ite imits. Marathi and Gujarati are the
most widely prevalent, the latter being particularly the com-
mercial language of the Island. A considerable number of



Muhammadans are bi-ﬁngual from an early :ige, speaking

Hindustani in their homes, but conducting their daily business
in Gujarati. In the same way Gujarati and English are
equally well known to many members of the Parsi com-
munity. ’

Of the total area of the Island a considerable portion is
still cropped.  The chief crop grown is rice ; but many varie-
ties of garden vegetables are also cultivated, particularly
onions and several members of the gourd tribe. The tending
of cocoanut trees, and the preparation of intoxicating drink
£rom this tree and other species of palms, afford employment to
a considerable section of the population. The original toddy
drawers of Bombay were the Bhandaris, who at present
number nearly 17,000 persons ; but a large number of them
~discarded their hereditary pursuit.in favour of military, police,
and other duties during the 18th century, and they are found
engaged at the present day in many different occupations.
The Bombay mangoes are said to have been improved from
grafts by the Jesuits and Portuguese priests ; and it was from
the Mazagaon groves that the royal tables at Delhi, in the
time of Shah Jahin, were furnished with their principal
vegetable attraction, They have long been famous through-
out India for their delicate flavour ; and there exist to this
day in Mazagaon two noted trees which bear a double crop of
mangoes every year. The Bombay ¢ pamalo,” a shaddock
which looks like a large orange, is also a favourite fruit.
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Cultivation,

Bombay supports all the many - industries incidental o the Manufac-

active life of a great city and seaport. The trades of dyeing,
tanning, and metal-working are especially prosperous. The
School of Art has done much to encourage those techmical
facplties which depend upon an artistic and secientific edu=
cation ; and the work of its pupils, which was exhibited at
the Art Exhﬂ“»iﬁon held during the Delhi Darbar of 1903,
earned very high approbation, But the characteristio feature
of Bombay manufacture is the rapid growth of the European
factory system=——mills, worked by steam and employing a
large_number of operatives, hayve been erected by local eapital,
especially in the northern suburbs, where the tall chimney-
stacks recall a factory town in Lancashire. Between 1881
and 1902 the total number of factories in the Island rose
from 53 to 188, the inerease being mainly due to the construc-
tion and opening of new spinning and weaving mills ; while
the number of persons engaged in the manufacture and sale

of cotton is 181,796 or 17 per cent. of the total population, as

tures,
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compared with 101,821 in 1891. This increase of the
industry during the last decade has taken place in spite of
very great disorganisation engendered by the plague, and in
spite of a falling-off in the China demand for Bombay's
production. dince 1897 the mill industry has been passing
through a grave crisis, resulting to some extent from an un-
suitable and improvident system of management. The better
conducted mills, however, such as those of the great Parsi
capitalist Mr. Jamsetji N. Tata, have made and still continue
to make a steady profit from their yarns and piece-goods.
The industry has proved an inestimable hoon to many of the
poorer inhabitants of the Konkan and Deccan, who, without
the steady wages which it offers, might have fared ill during
the famines of the last few years. i
Trade. The latter half of the 19th century witnessed a remarkable
development of the trade of the port. In 1854-55 the whole
trade of Bombay was valued at 16 crores, and twelve years
later (1866-67) rose to 47 crores. The yearly average for
the succeeding five years was 51 croves. Befween 1876-77
and 1895-96 the total value of imports and exports, including
the value of the coasting trade, steadily increased from 61
crores to 105 crores. The constant demand from distant
markets, coupled with a considerable improvement of commu-
nications, has brought about a rise under every head of
mmports and exports during the last twenty-five years, the most
noticeable increase under the former category being in sugar

and cotton manufactures, and under the latter in grain,
cotton twist and yarn.

The total value of the sea-borne trade centred at Bombay
in 1902-08 was 112 erores (exports 56 erores and imports 56
crores) of rupees, of which 91 erores represented trade with
countries beyond India. The chief exports are grain, raw
cotton, seeds, eotton twist and yarn ; the chief imports, cotton
goods, metals and machinery. The number of vessels, sailing
and steam, which entered and cleare with cargoes from and

to foreig:n c¢ountries at the port of Bombay in 1902-03 was
1,546 with a tonuage of 2,493,057,

Bombay possesses a Chamber of Commerce with 118

members representing 200 firme, and a committee of 12 elected

avnuslly, whose deliberations are presided over by a chair-

man. The Chamber is represented on the Legislative Couneil,
the Municipality, the Port Trust, and the Bombay Improves
ment Trust.
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bfe is also a special association for protecting and
ering the interests of the cotton industry, styled the
Bombay Mill Owners Association. Over 100 mills are
represented on the general committee, and the opinion of the
Association therefore carries great weight on all questions
connected with the industry. Founded in 1868, the Asso-

L,

c¢iation has witnessed an increase from 3 to 188 mills in the -

territories from which it draws its members.

The Government land revenue, amounting to 2 lakhs of

rupees, is collected under the direction of an official styled the
Collector of Bombay, who is a member of the Covenanted
Civil Service, and also performs the functions of Collector of
Customs, Opium, and Abkari (Excise). The Presidency
Stamp and Stationery office and the Steam Boiler Inspection
department are in his charge, and heis assisted by two Indian
Civilians, one of whom is Chief Inspector of the numerous
factories in the Island. The ordinary local administration
vests mainly in the Bombay municipality which, as econsti-
tuted by Act IIT of 1888, consists.of 72 members—36 elected
by the rate-payers, 20 by the Chamber of Commerce, the
University, and the Justices of the Peace, and 16 appointed by
Government. The Corporation thus constituted possesses
extensive powers, and elects its own President and 8 out of 12
members of a standing committee which deals with ordinary
business, The other four members of this committee are
appointed by Government. A chief executive officer, known as
the Municipal Commissioner, is appointed by Government
usually from the ranks of the Indian Civil Service. The
revenue and expenditure of the Corporation 18 shown in the
table at the end of this article. The municipality has raised
loans amounting by 1904 toabout 479 lakhs of rupees, mainly
for 113{119 provision of an adequate water-supply and of drainage
works.
_ Justice is administered by the Bombay High Court, which,
n addlt‘lon to the appellate and revisionary powers which
it exercises throughout the Presidency, is a court of first
instance for causes arising within the Island of Bombay. A
Small Cause Court and four Presidency Magistrates exercise
jurisdiction in mimor civil and criminal matters.

.The City Police force, under a Commissioner, who is
divectly subordinate to Government, consists of 2,126 officers
and men, 88 of whom are mounted. . The force contfains 91
Europeans.. The .Commissioner is assisted hy a Deputy and
eight Superintendents. There is a Central jail at Byculla.

Muniei-
pality,

‘Justice,

Police.
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In the centre of the town stands Fort William surrounded
by the noble expanse of park known as the Maidan. To the
north of it are the shops and business houses of the Europeans,
whose residential quarter bounds it on the east. To the south
and south-east lie the Buropean suburbs of Birtuyeuner and
of ALtPORE which contains the residence of the Lieutenant-
Governor of Bengal. Surrounding the European quarter on
all sides is the native town. Tmmediately north of the
Buropean commercial quarter is Burra Bazar, the chief centre
of native business ; the buildings are mainly one-storeyed
masonry shops, and it is only here and in the adjoining
quarters of Jorabagan and Bow Bazar that brick buildings are
more numerous than tiled huts. Three-fifths of the whole
population live in the latter, which have mud or wattle walls
and are known as Zufcka houses. The native town is traversed
by three main roads from north to south, and by five or six
roads from east to west, but with these exceptions it is
extremely ill-arranged. The lanes are narrow, tortuous and
badly lit; the dwellings are overerowded and insanitary ; and
the overwhelming proportion of one-storeyed houses gives this
portion of the town a peculiarly squahd appearance which
belies the proud title of a city of palaces which Calcutta claims.

The town of Caleutta includes the area under the control
of the municipal corporation, or Caleutta proper, and also
Fort William and the Maidan (1,288 acres), which are under
the military authorities, and the water area, or port and
canals, with an area of 7,310 acres. Calcutta proper again ig
divided into the “Old Town * and the “ Added Area.”” The
former, which covers 3,766 acres, is divided into 18 wards,
and is situated between Lower Circular Road and the river
Hooghly. This is the tract within the old Maratha ditch,
and corresponds with the original civil jurisdiction of the
Sadar Dywiny Adalat. The Added Avea lies south and east
of the Old Town, and. is separated from it by the Circular
Road ; it contains 8,188 acves distributed over 11 wards, 1t
was excluded from the Suburban municipality and added to

salcutta by (Bengal) Act IT of 1888,

The soil on which Caleutta is built has heen formed at a
comparatively recent date by the alluvial deposits of the
Gaugetic delta, and excavations made for tanks and founda-
tions disclose alternate layers of sand and clay. A bore-hole
sunk in Fort William in 1840 revealed an ancient land surface
at a depth of 382 feet.

Geology.
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erature is 79° Fahr., the mean maximum being 102° in May
and the mean minimum 48° in January. The average tem-
perature in the hot weather is 84-5°, in the rains 83:3°, and in
the cold season 71'5°. Humidity averages 78 per cent. of
saturation, ranging from 69 per cent, in March to 89 per cent.
in August. The average annual rainfall is 60 inches and
the average number of rainy days in the year 118,

The average mean tem- Climate,

At the beginning and close of the rainy season Caleutta is Cyclones.

frequently visited by cyclones, the most disastrous having
occurred in 17387, 1842, 1864 and 1867. In that of 1787
the steeple of St. Anne’s Church fell to the ground, many
‘houses were blown down, and all but one of the ships in the
river were driven ashore. In the’cyclone of 1864 as many as
49 persons were killed and 16 mnjured ; several brick houses

were destroyed or damaged, and only 23 of the 195 vessels in
the port escaped without, injury.

Cal
1,300 houses were mjured.

The earthquake of 12th June 1897 was severely felt in Barth-
cutta; the steeple of the Cathedral was destroyed and quoke.

Caleutta is mentioned in a poem of 1495 A.D. as a village History.

on the bank of the Hooghly. When the Portuguese began
to frequent the river about 1580, Satcaon, not far from

ooghly on the old Saraswati river, was the great emporium
of trglde. Owing to the shallowness of the upper reaches of
the rver, however, the ships used to anchor at Garden Reach
and their goods were sent up to Satgaon in small boats, and a
market thus sprang up at Betor, near Sibpur, on the west
bank of the Hooghly, which the Portuguese made their head-
quarters. Tn the gt} century the Saraswati began to silt
up, and Satgaon was abandoned, Most of its inhabitants
went to the town of Hooghly, but about the middle of the
century four familieg of Bysakhs and one of Seths founded
the village _of Gobindpur on the site of the modern Fort
William, Shortly affer {his the Portuguese moved to
Hooghly, dffﬂemng Betor, and the trade of the latter place
WS grqdua,l]y t”i_}nst’errud to Suatanuti (cotton mart) in the
goctint modetn: Calewttn, - Jol Chamodh of the Britid Bt
Igdxa Company came to this place in 1686, after his skirmish
with the Mughals at ooghly, and formulated certain
demands on the Nawab. hese were rejected hy the latter
who ordered his subordinates to drive the British out of the
country, Charnock retaliated by destroying the salt-houses
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charge of a qualified medical officer subordinate to the Health
Officer of the municipality. The municipal hospital for in-
fectious diseases at Arthur Road is supplemented by numer-
ous private plague hospitals where members of the different
communities can be treated. Altogether there are 13 hos-
pitals and 42 dispensaries and similar institutions, public and
private, in Bombay, including a Buropean General Hospital
and five hospitals for women. The expenditure on public
medical institutions in 1902 was Rs. 4,66,000, and the annual
attendance was 20,350 indoor and 191,568 outdoor patients
in the public institutions, and 1,076 indoor and 239,469 out-
door patientsin 24 private i_nstitutions. There are 13 vac-
cinating stations with 8 vaccinators, and the number of per-
sons vaccinated was 20,026.

A Leper Asylum at Matunga, established by the efforts
of a former Municipal Commissioner, Mr. H. A, Acworth, -
provides accommodation for 370 inmates at a yearly cost of
Rs. 33,000. The lepers are mainly drawn from the neigh-
bouring coast districts, though some come from remote towns
i Central Asia. They are employed in cultivating food
crops, assisted by a system of septic sewage tanks, and the
asylum is popular among those who are afflicted.

A public Lunatic Asylum is maintained at Colaba Point
for Europeans, Eurasians, and Parsis, It had in 1902 an
average strength of 141 inmates costing Rs. 244 per head
per annum,

On 24th September 1896 a case of genuine bubonic plague
wag discovered in a house in Mindvi, & densely populated’
quarter of the native town on the east side of the Island. The
disease spread rapidly, and by December the mortality of the eity
had attained alarming dimensions. Measures were soon im-
peratively demanded for checking the spread of the epidemic.
The control of these measures was entrusted to a special com-~
mittee of officers appointed by Government and invested with
very full powers. Attempts were then made to enforce the
segregation of persons who had been in contact with a plague
patient, the removal of the patients to some proper] y equip-
ped hospital, and the disinfection of clothing and premises.
These measures were essentially unpopular, and besides add-
ing & stimulus o emigration on a large scale, the population,
fleeing as much from an unreasoning fear of all forms of
control as from terror of the epidemie, eventually led to riote

and bloodshed. The position was one of extreme difficulty.

Tlie sanitary service of the ity was in the hands of Aalalkhors
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avengers, Had these joined the general exodus, the eity
would in a short time have been rendered uninhabitable. A%
the same time, the exodus of panic-stricken residents threatened
to carry the plague over the whole of the Presidency and even
beyond its limits. Attempts were made to enlist the co-opera-
tion of the leaders of native communities ; gradually calmer

feelings began to prevail, and with the subsidence of the .

epidemic in the hot weather, Bombay tended to resume its
normal aspect. But in the interval the exodus had been
enormous (it was roughly estimated at one quarter of the
population), the disease had heen spread far and wide by
heedless fugitives, business had almost been brought to a
“standstill, and the weekly mortality had risen to the appall-
mg figure of 1,900. Annually since the fatal year of 1396
plague has become epidemic in the city. The highest rates
of mortality reached in the succeeding years were : —

1897.98 ; : : . . 2,250 per week,
1898-99 c . . e . 2450 do.
1899-1900 stigatinety (o B
1900-01 - . . : . 2,620 do.
190102 5 > . . .. 259  do.
1902-03 > . 3 - . 1,902 do.
1903-04 - . 5 . 2,604 do,

representing nearly 200 per 1,000 per annum. The usual
seagson of maximum mortality is February or March. Gra-
dually it came to be recognized that the continued existence
of the plague, combined with the passive resistance of the
people to measures which they failed to approve, rendered
drastic expedients both undesirable and inoperative. After
the abolition of the first plague committee, the Governmenit
mamtained for geyeral years a specially organized plague
administration in Bombay Town and Is]anﬁ; chareed with
?he carrymg out of moderate measures of disinfection and
Jl}so]atlon > a8 far as possible with the coneurrence of the vie-
tims, ASSISthl:lCe was given for the evacuation of seriously
!ufectgd localities by the erection of temporary ¢ health campé’
1n various parts of the Island. Finally, in 1901, the control
of plague measures was handed over once more to the Health
department of the municipality, with whom it now rests.
"Tae inoculation of healthy persons with Haffkine's preventive
gerum was carried out en a considerable scale, and with fair
success, though thg operation, partly owing to the shortness
of the period for which it offers protection, and partly owing
to prejudice, was never popular,

L
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Revenue account of Bombay Municipality for 1902-03,

sn thousands of rupees.

RevexNus. \ ExrexviTves.

Taxation Proper,

Genera] Tax o o
Wheel Tax and Tolls o
Town Duties . . .
Ticenses

” 27,11 | General Superintendence . . 3,17
. 3,71 | Assessment and Colleetion and

. 12,19 | Bevenue und Refund Audit

5 1,02 | Depts, 0§ gy, W s 2,93
T

Receipts from Government fo JiroBrigade . ., ., . 1,10

Lk}uor Licenses . . 1,44 |'Pablic ~ Gardens—Maintenance
Receipts from Government for and New[Works. o At 69
Tobacco duty 4 g X 2,44 | Public Works (Engineer’s) Dept. 16,02
s e | Wew Works A9

Total , | 147,91 | Public Health Department” . 20,06
Police charges . ‘ . 5,08

Bervices vendered. Education . , | A 4 1,10
EERDIRINC S WS ™ s 56

7,96 | Pensions, Gratuities, and Com-

Halalkhor Tax v o ) {
Water Tax and other miscellane- paseionate Allowanse i 69
ons Water-works revenue . 15,14 | Contribution to the City Im-
pro Lo e i el 5,00
Total S 23,10 roi iyt 98
ol ° 66,09
Returns from Property and fhany
x{:uumn. Municipai Debt—
Interest and charges on Loans . 21,00

Reduetion of Debt and payment
of 8inking Fund, including

Market Receipts . . . 4]33
50 investment of Interest accraed
3

Public Gardens . . .
Tramway Rent. . ., .
Contribution from Munieipal

on Bioking Fand . . . 6,02
Servants towards Pension, ete.,

N Total 27,118
Interest and Profit on In- ————
vestments of Burplus Investments—

Loan and other balances 1,37 Worn-out Water Maine Renewal

Interest on Sinking, In- Fand . . M . ‘ v 13
surapee, Worn-out Maing Municipal Buildings Insurance

Revewal, 8chool Build- Fupd 5 . s 5 L
iog, and Net Premis .| Interest on the Insarance, Worn-
Funds Investments . 1,98 out Mains Renewal, School
— 8,35 Building and Net Promia

336 Funds " . . N a8

RMiscellanoous , 3 # . 2,19 et

Total 4 63

Total 10,76 -

Miscellaneous ., ol el 75

Grand Totsl 2 81,78 @rand Total 4 84,63
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CALCUTTA.

Capital of the Indian Empire and the official vesidence of
‘the Viceroy and Governor-General, situated on the east or
left bank of the Hooghly river in 22° 34’ N., and 88° 22’ E.,
in the 24-Parganas District, Bengal. The city lies about 86
miles from the sea, and is only 18 to 21 feet above the mean
sea-level, Stretehing northward for 6 miles along the river-
bank, and bounded on the east by the Circular Canal and the
Salt Lakes, it covers at the present day an area of 20,5647
acres, of which only 1,792 are ruaral, and 1,113 acres form
the Maidan. Calcutta is so called after a village, which
formerly occupied the site of the modern Bow Bazar; the
name is supposed by some to be connected with the worship
of the goddess Kali.

The city is bounded on all sides by suburban ‘municipal-
. ities which have been excluded from Calcutta for purposes of
municipal administration. CossieorE-CRITPUR on the north,
MANIRTATA on the east and GarpEN Reaca on the south-
west, as well ag Howran on the west bank of the Hooghly
river, are industrial suburbs which form an integral part of
the life of the metropolis. If these be included, Calcutta has
a population of 1,106,738, which is greater than that of any
Buropean city except London, Constantinople, Paris and
Berlin, and of any city in America, except New York,
Chicago and Philadelphia. Excluding China, the population
of whose cities ig uncertain, the only city in Asia with more
inhabitants than Caleutta is Tokio, and next to London, it is
the most populous city in the British Empire. The present
article is, however, confined to the municipal town of Caloutta
ag defined in (Bengal) Act 11T of 1899, Fort William and the
water area, the population of which is 808,969, 4,612 and
34,2156 respectively,

The importance of Caleutta lies in its position as the
capital of the empire and as a seaport situated on a navigable
viver and connected by converging lines of railway, rivers,
navigable canals; and roads with the rich valleys of the
Ganges and Brahmaputra, whose produce it exports overseas,
while it supplies their dense population with the products aud
manufactures of other countries,
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Hospital was removed to its present site, and at this period
the European quarter began to extend gouthwards along
Chowringhee. In 17783 by an Act of Parliament the Bengal
Council was vested with control over the other Indian
possessions of the Company, and soon afterwards Warren
Hastings removed the treasury from Murshidabad to Cal-

cutta.
Municipal The history of municipal administration in Calcutta dates
history. from 1727 when the first Corporation came into existences

It consisted of a Mayor and 9 Aldermen, and its duties were
to collect ground rents and town dues, and to make the
necessary repairs to roads and drains. The amount thus spent
was however msignificant. An effort was made, about 1757,
to organise a municipal fund by levying a house-tax, but the
scheme came to nothing. The duty of keeping the town in
order rested with the Police Commissioner ; but its insanitary
condition was notorious, and in 1780 the native town was
thus described by Mackintosh :—* It is a truth that, from the
western extremuty of California to the eastern coast of J. apan,
there is not a spot where judgment, taste, decency and con-
venience are so grossly insulted as in that scattered and con=
fused chaos of houses, huts, sheds, streets, lanes, alleys, -
windings, gullees, sinks and tanks, which, jumbled into am
undistinguished mass of filth and corruption, equally offensive
to human sense and health, compose the capital of the English
Company’s Government in India. The very small portion of
cleanliness which it enjoys is owing to the familiar intercourse
of hungry jackals by night, and ravenous vultures, kites and
crows by day . In like manner it is indebted to the smoke-
raised on public streets, in temporary huts and sheds, for any

respite it enjoys from mosquitoes, the natural productions of
stagnated and putrid waters

By a statute of George I1I Justices of the Peace were
appointed for the town in 1794, and regular assessments were
authorised. The Circular yoad wae metalled and the conser-
vancy establishment was increased. But many defects res
mained, and in 1808 Lord Wellesley pointed out the extremely
defective construction of the public drains and watber-courses,
the absence of any regulations in respect of the situation of
public markets and slaughter-houses, the irvegularity of the
buildings and the dangerous condition of the streets and
appointed a Town Improvement Committes of 80 membersg
to carry out the necessary reforms,
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Since 1798 it had been the practice to raise money for
public improvements by means of lotteries, ten per cent. of
their value being set aside for public works or charitable
purposes. As long as the Town Improvement Committeo
existed these funds were made over to it; butin 1817 a
Lottery Committee was formed, which was employed for 20
years in §chemes for the improvement of the town. During
this period a great advance was undoubtedly made. The
Town Hall was built and the Beliaghata canal dug, and a
large number of streets were opened out, including the Strand
Road, Amherst Street, Colootolla and Mirzapur Streets, Free
School Street, Kyd Street, Canal Road, Mango Lane, and
Bentinck Street, and the long roadway formed by Cornwallis
Street, College Street, Wellington Strect, and Wellesley
Street, with the four adjoining squares. Arrangements for
W@tering the streets were also introduced. In 1820 a system-
atic plan for road metalling was adopted at an annual cost of
Rs. 25,000. Public opinionin England having condemned
this method of providing funds for municipal purposes, the
Lottery Committee came to an end in 1836.

Meanwhile, under the Act of 1794, the Justices had met
the expenses of the conservancy and police of the town from a
tax on houses and licenses for the sale of liquor. In 1819
the house tax realised a little over 24 lakhs of rupees, and in
1836 this had risen to 8 lakhs, while 14 lakhs was derived
from‘excise. The expenditure on eonservancy and police was
at this period 51 lakhs, the difference being made up by
Government,

In 1810 the principle of municipal taxation was extended
to the suburbs, Tn 1840 an Act was passed dividing Caleutta
into 'fon.r divisions and authorising the rate-payers, on an
appheation made by two-thirds of ‘them, to undertake their
oW ARsoSement, coliction and management of the rates up
to & ]_mnt of 5 per cent. on the asseseable property in Caleutta.
Nothing came of this Act and in 1847 the Justices were
replaced by a Board of seven paid members, four of whom were
to be elected by the rate-payers. They were empowered to
purchase ﬂ“,d hold Property for the improvement of Caleutta
and to make surveys; and were entrusted with the maintens
ance of the streets and drainage. In 1852 their mumber
was reduced to four, two being ﬂ;‘:pointcd by Government and
two elected ; and they were allowed a maximum salary of
Rs. 250 a month, The house-tax was raised first to 6} per

CALOVITA. 6 L
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and forts at Tana or Garden Reach and seizing Hijili. He
was shortly afterwards superseded by Captain Heath, who
came out from England with instructions to seize Chittagong.
The attempt on this place failed, but on the 24th August
1690 the English returned to Satanuti under Charnock, ati
the invitation of the Nawab, and laid the foundation of
modern Calcutta.

Several reasons led to the selection of this place as the
headquarters of British trade in Bengal. The Hooghly
river tapped the rich trade of the Ganges valley, and Calcutta
was situated at the highest point at which the river was
navigable for sea~going vessels ; 1t was moreover protected
against attack by the river on the west and by morasses
on the east, and 1t could be defended by the guns of the
shipping.

Tn 1696 the rebellion of Subha Singh, a Burdwan zamin-
dar, assumed formidable dimensions, and the British applied
to the Nawab for permission to fortify their settlement. This
was granted and a fort was constructed on a site extending
from the modern Fairlie Place on the north to Koila Ghat
Street on the south, the river forming the western, and Dal-
housie Square the eastern, boundary. It was completed in
1702. Four years previously the three villages of Calcutta,
Satanuti and Gobindpur had been purchased from the gov-
ernor of Hooghly.

The town grew rapidly ; within a short time a wharf, a
good hospital, a Church and barracks were erected ; and in-
1707 the East India Company Directors declared it a separate
Presidency accountable only to the Directors in London. The
new settlement was perpetually harassed by the Muhammadan
governors of Bengal, and in 1717 the Council of the Settle-
ment sent an embassy to Delhi to procure the recognition of
their rights in the country and permission to purchase pro-
perty on the banks of the Hooghly. The emperor granted
the permission sought for, but it was to a great extent
rendered nugatory by the determined opposition of the
Nawab.

In 1742, the inhabitants commenced to dig an entrench-
ment round their settlement as a defence against the Marithis,
who were then raiding Bengal. This entrenchment, known
as the Maratha diteh, followed the course of the modern
Cireular Road, but it was never completed along the southem
boundary. The scare caused by the Maratha invasion and



fie“growing trade of the Company brought a large influx of
new settlers, and in 1752 Holwell calculated the population
at 409,000, though this was probably an over-estimate as the
number of houses was still less than 15,000, The original
settlement round the Fort was protected by palisades, but the
Company’s servants lived in the quarter now bounded by
Canning Street on the north, Hastings Street on the south,
Mission Row on the east, and the river on the west. Within
this area there were in 1758, exclusive of the Fort and
its warchouses, no less than 230 masonry structures, and

the native portion of the town contained about the same
number,

The chief event in the early history of Calecutta is its cap-
ture in 1756 by Sirdj-ud-daula, Nawib of Bengal. The
native troops deserted and the Europeans were driven into the
fort which wag practically indefensible, as its.guns were
masked by the surrounding buildings. The Governor and
many of the officials made their escape to the ships which
thereupon dropped down the river, and the garrison, under

¢ command of Holwell, were driven to surrender. They
were forced, to the number of 146, into a small room, measur-.
g only 18 by 14 feet, which is known to history as the
Black Hole, Here they were left for the night : if was the
20th June ; the heat was intense, and the two small grated
windows were quite insufficient to give air to the closely
packed crowd, who endured terrible sufferings. When the

mMOMming came gnd the door was opened, only 23 were found
Ve,

The town wag recaptured by Clive and Admiral Watson
early in 1757, and after the battle of Plassey, Mir Jafar gave
the English the zamindari of the 241 arganas, as well as a
free gifl of the town and some of the adjacent villages.
Heavy coMmpensation was paid to the merchants and the
Company’s servants and adherents for their losses, and per-
ssIon was granted to establish a mint. From this date the
town has enjoyed uninterrupted prosperity. With part of
the compe nsation money received from the Nawab, Gobindpur
was cleared of its inhabitants and the foundations of the
present_fort were laid, Tt was not finished till 1778 and i
said to have eost 2 millions sterling, half a million of which
was _spent on works to protect the west face from the erosion
of the river. The clearing of the jungle round the fort led
to the formation of the Maidan. In 1766 the General
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cent. and later.to 74 per cent., and a 2 per cent. lightning
rate and a tax on carts were authorised ; horses and vehicles
had already been made taxable by the Act of 1847. The
Commissioners were required to set aside 1} lakhs for the
sewage and drainage of the town. In 1856 their number

was reduced to three, all of whom were appointed by the
Lieutenant-Governor.

In 1863 the municipal government was vested in a body
composed of all the Justices of the Peace for the town of
Calcutta, together with all the Justices for the Province who
happened to be resident in Caleutta, Thig body elected
its own Vice-Chairman and had a regular Health Officer,
Engineer, Surveyor, Tax Collector, and Assessor. A water-
rate was imposed and the house-tax raised to a maximum of
10 per cent. The Justices’ powers of borrowing were
extended by several Acts, and during their period of office, the
drainage and water system of the town were lagely developed.
The new market was erected in 1874 and the municipal
slanghter-houses in 1866. Foot-paths were made along
the main thoroughfares, Beadon Square was opened, and

mn all about 2 crores were spent on the improvement, of the
town.

In 1876 a new corporation was created, consisting of 72
Commissioners with a Chairman and Vice-Chairman ; 48 of
the Commissioners were elected by the rate-payers and
24 appointed by the Local Government. This body com-

pleted  the original drainage scheme, largely increased the
supply of filtered and unfiltered water and effe

improvements, including the congtru

Road.
_ In 1888 the municipal boundaries were extended by the
melusion of a large 1

2 e portion of the suburbs lying south and
cast of the Circular Road. Seven wards were gdded, and

additions were made to three other wards in the north of the
town. The number of municipal commissioners was raised
to 7;), of whom 50 were elected, 15 app()infgd by Govern-
ment, and the other 10 nominated by the Chamber of Coni-
merce, the Trades Association and the Port Commissioners.
During the following 10 years the filtered water-supply was
further extended, at a cost of 18 lakhs, and an underground
drainage scheme for the Added Avea was started. A @hobi-
khana, or laundry, and an incinerator were constructed, and
a number of insanitary tanks were filled up and replaced by

ction of the Harrison

I

nd effected many other -
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and squares. This constitution remained unaltered
until 1900, when it was replaced by the system of municipal
government now in force which will be described later.

The population of Calcutta in 1901 was 847,796, the The people.
mean density for the whole town being 41 persons per acre,
while it was 68 in Calcutta proper. By far the most crowded
ward is Colootolla with 281 persons to the acre, and it is
followed by Jorasinko (202), Jorabagan (201) and Moochee-
para .(199) ; these wards are in the centre of the native com-
mercial quar’ ». The lowest density occurs in the suburbs of
Alipore and Ballygunge, where much land is still not built over.
The greatest increase in population during the last decade
has occurred in the wards which were already most populous
in 1891. J adged by European standards the city is seriously
overcrowded ; more than half the population have less than
half 2 room per head, and 90 per cent. have three-quarters of
a room or less. In Burra Bazar no less than 9,631 persons
out of 31,574 are crowded four or more into each room. - The
town in normal years is fairly healthy, but of late the
mortality has been greatly swollen by the plague which in
1908 accounted for 8,222 deaths out of a total of 29,765 ;
the other chief diseases are fever, dysentery, cholera and
respiratory complaints.

_ Estimates of the population were made from time to
time, but they were partial and untrustworthy, and it was
not until 1876 that the first complete census was taken.
The population then enumerated for the whole area of modern
Calcutta was 611,784 which grew to 612,307 in 1881, to
682,305 in 1891 and to 847,796 in 1901. On the last two

00088i91{18 the increases have amounted to 11 and 24 per cent.
respectively,

Ounly a third of the population of Caleutta were born Immigration.
there; half were born in other parts of Bengal and one-
seventh in other parts of India. The number of persons
born in other countries in Asia is 2,973, in BEurope 6,701, in
Africa 96, in America 17 B, in Australia 80 and at sea 9. Of
the number born in other parts of Bengal the 24~Parganas
supplies nearly one-fifth, and large numbers come from
Hooghly, Gaya, Patna, Midnapore and Cuttack, Of those
from other parts of British India the bulk ave recruited from
the United Provinces, chiefly from Benares, Azamgarh,
Ghazipur and Jaunpur. Of other Asiatics, the Chinese, who
eongregate in China Bazar and the Bow Bazar and Waterloo
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Street sections,' account for 1,709, of whom onlx '14‘1 are
fexl;mlm. Of those born in El;rope 5,750 are British and
951 come from other countries, France (176), Germany (168)
and Austria (108) alone having more than 100 represent-
atives.

Sexand age.  In the whole population there are only half as many
i women as men. This is due to the large number of immig-
rants amongst whom there are only 279 females to 1,:00

males ; the majority of these are temporary settlers who

leave their families at home. Another result of the large

volume of immigration is that 44 per cent of the entire popu-

lation are male adults, which is double the proportion for the

whole of Bengal.

8 No lees than 57 different languages are spoken by people
e living in Caleutta, of which 41 are Asiatic and 18 non-
Asiatic. The Bengali-speaking population numbers 435,000
and the Hindi-speaking 819,000. Ahout 31,000 persons

speak Oriya, 29,000 English and 24,000 Urdu,

Religions. By rveligion 65 per cent, are Hindus, 294 per cent.,
Muhammadans and 4 per cent. Christians, leaving only about
1 per cent. for all other religions combined ; the latter include
2,903 Buddhists, 1,889 Jews and 1,799 Brahmos. Hindus pre-
pouderate in the north of the town, while the chief Musalman
centres are Colootolla and Moocheepara, and the outlying
wards near the Docks and Canals, During the decade ending
in 1901 the growth of the Christian population was 381
per cent. The number of native Christians during the same .
period inereased from 6,671 10 9,872, or hy 49 per cent., the

e Roman Catholie missions with g gain of 83 per cent. being

C’,‘";::;n the most successfn], The chief protestant proselytising bodies

gt T T tl?e (.‘hgrc_h Missionary Society, the Oxford Mission, the
Baptist Mission, the London Mission, the Episcopal Metho-
dist Mission and the misgions of the Kstablished and Free
Churches of Scotland. Begiqes direct evangelization, most
of the missions maintain schools and colleges, and thus
promote the cause of higher education,

Caates. Brahmans (83,000) are the most numerous caste, and with
Kiyasths (67,000), Kmbnrttus (37,000), Subarnabaniks and
Chamarg (25,000 each), Goalas (28,000) and Tantis (21,000)
account for more than half the Hindu population. Among
the Mubammadans 91 per cent. are Sheikhs and 5 per cent.
Pathans, while Saiyids nunmibey 8,000. Europeans number
18,5671, and Eurasians 14,482,
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he main features of the statistics of occupation prepared Occupations.
at the census of 1901 are reproduced below :— :

WORKERS, Total number| Percentage
Main head of occu- of workers to whole
pation, and depend- |  popula-
Male. Female, ants, tion.
Government service 18,787 213 89,690
Pasture and agricul-
ture . v 12,413 1,379 80,7564 4
Personal service : 81,704 23,649 148,933 18
Preparation and supply p
of material sub-
stances 5 % 140,110 12,970 271,713 83
Commerce, trade and
storage . , | 123,698 1,981 208,854 24
Professions ST 20,082 2,448 54,812 6
Unskilled labour .| 83,054 16,967 61,623 7
Independent of labour 12,171 6,629 86,617 4
Total o| 441,969 66,236 847,796 100

. Nearly a third of the inhabitants of Calcutta are engaged
In manufactures, and nearly a fourth in trade, while personal
service accounts for a sixth. Assuming that a man does mnot
begin to work until 15 years of age, 1t would appear that no
less than 96 per cent. of the males above that age are actual
workers ; the corresponding proportion in the case of women
18 only 82, The industrial population is most numerous in
Colootolla, Moocheepara, Jorasanko, Bhawéanipur, Intally and
Beniapukur, while J orasinko, Burra Bazar and Joribagan
wards Lave the greatest number of persons engaged in com-
merce. The professional element is strongest.in Burtolla in
the north, and in Bhawanipur in the south of the town.

Of the total number of persons in (tovernment service, no
than one-tenth (4,000) are municipal employés; the
8&730 number are employed as constables, messengers, ete.;
and 6,000 ave elerks op inspectors. Indoor servants number
igﬂOU, of whom 18,000 ave women and 12,000 are cooks.
b a;ons (12,000) include 2,000 women, shopkeepers and
rokers number 19,000 ang 6,000 respectively, and there are
a8 many as 25,000 boatmen. Of the professional population
priesteraft, literature and medicine each account for 4,000,
while _3,000 persons are engaged in educational Imrsul't-! and
2,000 in law.  No less than 14,000 out of the 17,000 women
entered under the head * unskilled labour” are prosbitutes,
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" Of the persons shown as “independent of labour,” only 5,000
have an independent income, while 8,000 are beggars.

Of the European population 7,269 are actual workers, and
of these 3,064 are in Government service, while 1,667 are
engaged in commerce, 1,094 in the professions, and 587 in
the preparation of material substances. Under the first he.ad
the Army and Navy account for 2,480. Of the commercial
population, 643 are general merchants and 270 are brokers.
The professional classes include 345 engineers, 208 medical
men, 127 munisters, ete., vivhllie 114 persons are engaged in
education, 85 in law and 83 in literature,

The city itself contains but few factories, only three jute

gxal:t:uaf‘;ﬁ- mills andtytwo jute presses lying within the town. yln the out-

tures. skirts of the city, however, several smaller industrial concerns

are situated, including 63 oil-mills chiefly worked by cattle,

24 flour millg, two rice mills, 16 iron foundries and 12 tan-

neries, which employ less than 13,000 persons all told. The

chief home industries are pottery and brass-work, but Cal-

,, cutta exports little of its own manufactures, and it is to
commerce that the city mainly owes its position,

Commerce Calcutta eame into existence as a trading  city, because its

and trade.  position enabled merchants to tap the rich traffic of the valley
of the Ganges, The luxurious courts of the Mughal ruler
had fostered the manufacture at Dacca and Murshidabad of
the most beautiful silks and muslins that the world has ever
known, and these were eagerly bought up in Europe. The
saltpetre of Bihar was in great demand in England for the
manufacture of gunpowder during the French wars, and rice;
sesamum oil, cotton, cloths, sugar, clarified butter, lae, pepper,
gmger, myrabolams and £asar silk were also in great request.
Bengal j4:1:'1'0c1uced all these articles, and Caleutta was the only
seaport from which they could be exported.

The demaqld for Indian musling gradually died out in
Europe, while early in the 19th century Lancashire began to
export manufactured cotton goods to India, and the introduc-
tion of steam-power placed the local weavers at such a dis-
advantage that piece-goods are now by far the largest article
of import to Bengal, while the export of silk and cotton
manufactures has practically ceaged. The export of jute, on
the other hand, has grown enormously since the middle of
the 19th century, and the produetion of oil-seeds, indigo and tes
hae vastly increased. Bengal coal is in great demand all over
India; and salt and mineral oils are laxgely umported.



steamer routes along the main water ways has greatly strength-
ened its position, so that it now focusses the trade of
Assam as well as of Eastern Bengal and of the Gangetic valley,
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i held its own, and the development of railways and of -

L

The foreign trade of tne port in 1903-04, exclusive of the Sea-borne -

transport of treasure, was valued at 90-54 crores of which brade:

exports amounted to 5704 crores, and the coasting trade at
1161 crores of which 666 crores represented exports. The

total value of the sea-borne trade including: treasure was.
112-92 croves.

The steady progress of foreign trade in recent years is Forelgn.

indicated by the figures below which show the average annual trade.

‘valuga of the foreign imports and exports of merchandise:
(omitting treasure) during successive quinquenmal periods :—

Five years Lakhs of rupees. Five years Lakhs of rupees.
end’mg emﬁng ’___/\.\
Imports. Expoits. Imports. Exports.
1875 . 16,48 23,59 1895 . 265,96 89,97
1880 . 17,80 27,78 1900 . 28,46 45,59
1585 . 21,50 83,08 Four years-
1890 . 28,44 85,28 ending

1904 . 82,66 64,28

The chief imports inte Calcutta are cotton goods repre--
senting in 1903-04 a value of over 16 crores. Next in im-
portance are treasure, metals, oil, sugar and machinery, and
these are followed by woollen goods, hardware and cutlery,
salt, liquors, apparel, drugs and railway material. About
seven-eighths (in value) of the imports came from Europe,.
three-quarters of the whole being from the United Kingdom.

The chief exports are raw and manufactured jute, tea,
opium, hides and skins, oilseeds, grain and -pulses, indigo,
lac, raw cotton, coal, raw silk, saltpetre and oils.. The most
striking feature in the growth of the export trade has beepn.
the enormous increase in the shipments of jute and coal.
The exports of jute have risen from 8 erores in 1893-94' to
nearly 20 croves in 1903-04, and now form about threescighths
of the outward trade ; while the ghipments of coal to foreign
ports amounted in 1901 to more than half a million tons as
against 8 tons in 1880. During the same period the imports
of foreign coal dwindled from 70,000 to 2,000 tons, More
than half of the export trade was with European ecountries,
the United Kingdom taking a third of the whole, Of the
Continental countries Geermany took almost as much as all
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the others combined. The trade with the United States came
next to that of the United Kingdom, and Chins took rather
less than Germany. It is a significant fact that the balance
of trade has been in favour of this country throughout the
period mentioned.

The coasting trade has been influenced considerably by
extensions of railway communications and by the development
of direct steamship communications between other Indian
ports and abroad. The value of imports in 1903-04 was 504
lakhs, of which 462 lakhs was the Yalue of Indian produce
and 32 lakhs of foreign merchandise, while 1( Jakhg repre-
sented treasure. The exports were valued at 726 lakhs, of
which 587 lakhs was the value of Indian produce and 79
lakhs that of foreign merchandise, treasure amounting to 60
lakhs. The chief ports with which the coasting trade is
carried on are Rangoon, Moulmein, Akyab, Bombay and
Madras. The imports are cotton goods and salt from Bom-
bay, rice and mineral oil from Burma, and sugar, vegetahble
oil and oilseeds from Madras; and the exports are grain and
pulses, coal, jute and gunnies, spices, tobacco and tea,

In respect of internal trade the principal articles which
make up the imports to Caleutta are, from Bengal, raw and
manufactured jute, rice, coal, linseed, opium, tea, grain and
pulses, hides and skins, silk and indigo ; from the United
Provinces, opium, oilseeds, grain and pulses, hides and skins
and mineral manufactures 5 and from Assam, tea, oilseeds,

grain, pulses and lime, In 1901-02 the imports from Bengal
were valued at nearly 49 erores.

Caleutta being the chief distributing centre of Bengal, the.
prncipal articles exported to the inferior are the same as
those enumerated under the head of foreign imports. The
total exports from Caleutta by rail, road and river were valued

The chief associations connected with the trade and com-
merce of the town are the Bengal Chamber of Commerce
(founded in 1834) with its affiliated Societies, and the Royal
Exchange, Bengal Bonded Warehouse Association, the Cal-

cutta Trades Association ang the Bengal National Chamber
of Commerce,

* Four railways converge on Caleutta. The Bast Indian
Railway connects C?,lclltt;a, with Bombay, the United‘ Pro-
vinces and the Punjab and is the outlet for the rich traffic
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{ e Ganges valley. TIts terminusis on the west bank of
the river at Howrah, but a branch crosses the Hooghly by a
bridge at Naihati 26 miles up the river and provides access
to the docks at Kidderpore over the Eastern Bengal State
Railway. The Bengal Nagpur Railway runs through Orissa
to Madras and westwards through the Central Provinces to
Bombay ; its terminus also is at Howrah, but a wagon ferry
plies between Shalimar and the docks, The Eastern Bengal
State Railway, the terminus of which is at Sealdah, connects
Calcatta with North and Eastern Bengal and Assamand with

Diamond Harbour, The Bengal Central Railway runs to
Eastern Bengal.

The railways, however, by no means monopolise the traffic.
Numerous native craft ply up and down the rivers, along the
channels through the Sundarbans which connecti Calcutta with
Eastern Bengal and the valley of the Brahmaputra, and on the .
Midnapore and Orissa Coast canals, There are also several
large steamer eompanies whose vessels navigate these inland
waters and carry an extensive coasting trade to the Orissa
ports ; the most important of these are the India General, and
the Caleutta Steam and River Steam Navigation Companies.

The Port was formerly under direct Government manage- The Port.
ment, but in 1870 a Port Trust was formed, consisting at
first of 12, and afterwards of 15, commissioners. The
Strand Bank lands were subsequently made over to them on
an annual quit-rent of Rs. 87,392. The value of the property
taken over by the Trust was estimated at 27°65 lakhs, and
with further advances the debt was consolidated into a single
lqan of 60 lakhs. During the last 30 years the commis-
sioners have heen adding considerably to the facilities of the
Port. 1n 1870 there were only six serew-pile jetties, six cranes
and four sheds for the accommodation of the sea~going trade ;
whereas now there are six unloading berths for sea-going
vessels ab the Jetties, with [a frontage of 2,982 feet, and all,
the loading is done separately at the Kidderpore docks.
These docks, which were constructed in 1884-86 a cost of
285 lakhs, consist of o basin, connected by a double passage
with the wet docks which accommodate 12 vessels, and of
two graving docks. The petroleum whatf at Budge-Budge
was established in 1886, and the tea warehouse in 1887
In 1889 the Port Commissioners were made the Conservators
of the Port. They have their own dock-yard and workshop,
and they maintain a staff of assistant harbour masters who
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take over the pilotage of all vessels from Garden Reach g
they license all eargo boats and pay three-fourths of the cost
of the River police ; they survey and prepare charts of the
river from Caleutta to the sea, and are responsible for the
-lighting of the Hooghly.

The revenue of the Port in 1908-04 amounted to 80 lakhs
and the expenditure to 77 lakhs. The bulk of the jncome is
derived from a toll of 4 annas a ton on all goods shipped or
discharged. The capital debt amounts to 501 lakhs and the
book value of the Trust property is returned at 656 lakhs,
exclusive of the 8trand Bank .and Howrah foreshore lands
and an accumulated sinking fund of 42 Jakhs,

‘The Even before the foundation of Calcutta, the Bast India
Hooghly Lompany had found it necessary to maintain a special staff
pilots, to guide ships through the difficult channels of the I ooghly.

The Pilot Service is now a Government; department, con-
sisting in 1903-04 of 58 officers who are paid by fees. Some
account of the action taken from time to time to keep the
channels open, and to facilitate navigation, will be found in
the article on the HoocHLY RIVER.

Shipping. _ The trade of the port has grown up since 17 27, when the
shipping was estimated at but 10,000 tons. The steady
growth in recent years will be seen from the following

.abstract ;—
‘ENTERED. CLEARED,
Yean 3
Number of Number of
vessels. Tos. veasels, Toum,
1886-87 . . 1,387 1,553,675 1,419 1,620,877
1891-92 , - 1,446 1,912,681 1,416 1,849,678
1806-87 . . 1,676 2,070,786 1,679 2,060,867
A901-02 o 1,499 2,861,700 1,514 2,878,730
A1908-04 . 1,663 3,174,946 1,569 8,176,263

) T!m most noticeable features of recent, years are the sub-
stitution of steam for sailing vessels, the rapid growth of the
coasting trade and the increase in the size of the vessels
visiting the port. In 18%6-587 the number of sailing vessels
was 465, butin 1908-04 it hag dropped to 87, and only 29
of these hailed from foreign ports, During the same period
the volume of the coasting trade has grown from 1,410,000
tons to 3,517,000 tons; the average tonnage of vessels
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ed in the foreign trade has inereased from 1,449 to
tons, and that of coasting vessels from 881 to 1,679

\rmiengag
2,622
“tons.
Up to 1867 only two of the roads in Calcutta were Roads and
metalled with stone; and now (1905) there are 300 miles bridges.
-of road, of which 117 miles are metalled with stone. The
roads are maintained by the Corporation with the exception
cof thcse on the Maidin which are under the charge of the
Public Works Department. The city is intersected by four -
main roads running parallel with the river. The most
westerly of these, known as the Strand Road, hasg been
formed by successive reclamations of the foreshore and skirts
“the river bank from Hastings to Nimtolla, passing by Fort
William, the Eden Gardens and the Jetties. East of this is
the Chowringhee Road with its row of lofty houses facing
the Maidan, which a traveller of the 18th century described
as “an entire village of palaces.”” This road, with its north-
ern continnations, Bentinck Street and the Chitpore Road,
occupies the site of theold pilgrim road to Kali Ghat ; and
its southern continuation, known as the Russa Road, is still
the route for pilgrims visiting that shrine. Between this
and the Lower Circular Road is a street running through the
beart of the town, the various sections of which are called
Wellesley Street, College Street and Cornwallis Street ; and
to the east of it the Liower Cireular Road sweeps round the
town, one section of it following the course of the old
Maratha ditch from the débres of which it was formed in
1742. These four main roads are linked by a. number of
cross streets, the most important of which are Park Street,
passing through the European quarter and so called because
it orig'mall_y bordered the spacicus garden house of Sir Elijah
Tmpey ; Dhurrumtolla Street, passing through a quarter
largely inhabited by Burasians; Lal Bazar and its conti-
nuation Bow Bazar in the centre of the native town, pre-
senting a mass of densely packed houses and shops ; Canning |
Street and Harrison Road named after Lord Canning and a
former Chairman of the Corporation ; and, to the north of
the town, Sobha Bazar and Grey Street. From Government
House to Kidderpore, two miles to the south, stretches the
oldest road in the Maidan, known as the old Course and
described in 1768 as being © gut of town in a sort of angle
made to take the air in’; to the north this road runs into
Old Court House Street, 2o called from the Old Court House
pulled down in 1792. Starting from Kidderpore the Garden
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? Reach and Circular Garden Reach Roads connect t:he docks
and the mills fringing the Hooghly, with the main town,

while to the south the Diamond Harbour Road links Calcutta
with the harbour after which it is named.

Calcutta is connected with the important city of Howrah,
on the west of the river, by several ferries and also by a
floating bridge opened in 1874. This structure supported on
pontoons is 1,530 feet in length between the abutments, and
has a road-way for carriages 48 feet in width with footpaths
of 7 feet on either side. The bridge is opened three times a
week to allow ships to pass to the dockyards above, and while
it is open a ferry steamer plies 2cross the river. Bridges over
Tolly’s Nullah at Kidderpore, Alipore and Kali Ghat conneck
the south-east portion of the present city with the old town,
« On the north the main roads converge at the Chitpur Bridge
by which the old Grand Trunk Road crosses the Cireular
Canals.

Lines of tramway run from the High Court to Tolly-
gunge, Nimtolla Ghat, and Sealdah, and from the Esplanade
to Chitpur, Sham Bazar and Sealdah, These tramways have
been recently electrified. There is a large suburban traffic
along all the main lines of railway and also on two small

light raillways from Howrah to Amta and Sheakhala,

Civil and In the “Old Town ”

eriminal  Judge of the High Court,

Justice. ahove Rs. 2,000 in value and suits concerning land, and by
the Small Cause Court with 5 Judges who, try suits up to
Rs. 2,000 in value. In the “ Added Area” a small cause
court and 2 munsiff’s courts sit; at Sealdah, and 8 munsiff’s.
courts at Alipore; these are subordinate to the District
Judge of the 24-Parganas. Both the District J udge and
Additional Judge of the 24-Parganas have jurisdiction in
Caleutta under the Land Acquigition Act. Criminal justice
is administered in the Old Town by 8 stipendiary, and a
number of honorary, Presidency Magistrates. The High
Court Rolds Criminal Sessions and hears appeals from the
Presidency M&.Lglstrates. In the Added Area the Sessions
Judge and District Magistrate of the 24-Parganas have
eriminal jurisdietion. Two stipendiary magistrates sit, one
at Alipore and the other at Sealdah, and there are also several
honorary magistrates. Throughout Caleutta cases under the
Municipal Act are tried by a stipendiary municipal magis~
trate.

civil justice is administered by a
who sits singly and tries cases
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~““The Chief Presidency Magistrate is also the presiding
officer in the court for the trial of pilots and Judge of the
Court of Survey for the Port of Calcutta.

L,

The revenue receipts under the main heads amounted in Revenue.

1908-04 to §8°5 lakhs, of which Rs. 18,000 was derived from
land revenue, 29°7 lakhs from stamps, 883 lakhs from excise
and opium, and 254 lakhs from income-tax. The revenue
receipts under the same heads in 18&0-81, 1890-91 and
1900-01 were 335 lakhs, 614 lakhs and 801 lakhs, respecs
tively. In 1881 the income-tax had not been imposed.

The Collector of Calcutta, who is assisted by a deputy

collector, is Collector of stamp revenue in the “ Old Town,”

and is Superintendent of excise revenue throughout Calcutta,
and in the municipalities of Cossipore-Chitpore, Maniktala,
Garden Reach, Howrah and Bally. He is also deputy
collector of land revenue in the Old Town; and in this
respect is subordinate to the Collector of the 24-Parganas,
whose ordinary jurisdiction extends over the * Added Area”
I all revenue matters except excise. There is a separate
Collector of income-tax in the “ Old Town. ”’

The stamp revenue of Caleutta has risen from 23 lakhs in
1892-93 to 297 lakhs in 1903-04, when 142 lakhs was
rea.hged from judicial and 155 lakhs from non-judicial stamps,
During the same period the income-tax receipts rose from
}7'22 to 254 lakhs, in spite of the exclusion from assessment
m 1903 of incomes below Rs. 1,000, and excise from 250 to
838'3 lakhs, The main items under the latter head are im-
ported liquor (1-5 lakhs), country spirit (19'4 lakhs), opluim
(479 lakhs), homp drugs (43 lakhs), rum (28 lakhs), and
¢are (Rs, 79,000).

In the “Old Town” there is, strictly speaking, no land
revenue, as m 1758 the Wast India Company obtained from
the Nawab a free grant of the area on which Caleutis now
stands, The go-cal
‘has been permz}mpently fixed and amounts to Rs. 18,168, Tlhe
¢ Added Arqa. belongs for revenue purposes to the 24-Par-
ganag District. The tract egst of Tolly’s Nullah and the
Lower Circular R{)a{i, which comprises Bhawanipur, Bally-
gunge and Intally, is included in the PanoHANNAGRAM Govern-
ment estate. - West of Tolly’s Nullah are ordinary perma-
nently-settled estates belonging to private owners; a eonsi-
derable area is, however, included in the Government estate
Sahiban Bagichas,

led revenue is really ground-rent which

TLand

revenue.
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The grand total realized by the Customs department it
1903-04 was 388 lakhs, to which salt contributed 197 lakhs,
cotton piece-goods 49} lakhs, mineral oil 17} lakhs, liquor
924 lakhs, articles of food and drink 12} lakhs, countervailing:
duties on sugar 4 lakh, and arms and ammunition 12 lakhs.
The export duty on rice amounted to 154 lakhs. Besides
this 264 lakhs was paid imto District treasuries on account of
salt imported into Caleutta.

Municipal The municipal administration of the city is now regulat-
govern-  ed by (Bengal) Act 11T of 1899, and is in the hands of three
ment. co-ordinate authorities, the Corporation, the General Com-

mitteeand the Chairman. The Corporation, consists of the
Chairman, appointed by Government, and 50 commissioners,
of whom 25 are elected at ward elections, and the remainder
are appointed as follows, viz., four by the Bengal Chamber of
Commerce, four by the Caleutta Trades Association, two by the
Port Commissioners and 15 by the Bengal Government. ~ The
General Committee consists of 12 commissioners and the Chair-
man, who is President. Of the commissioners four are elected.
by the ward commissioners, four by the appointed commissioners
and the remaining four are appointed by the local Government.
The entire executive power is vested in the Chairman, to
be exercised subject to the approval or sanction of the Corpor-
ation or General Committee, whenever this is expressly
directed in the Act. To the Corporation are reserved the
right of fixing the rates of taxation and all those general
functions which can be efficiently performed by a large body.
The General Committee stands between the deliberative and!
executive authorities, and deals with those matters which are
ill-adapted for discussion by the whole Corporation, but yeb

a;-e too important to be left to the disposal of the Chairman
alone,

The Corporation thus constituted commenced work in
April 1900, and their efforts have so far been mainly divected
to the introduction of a continuous water-supply forthe whole
town, the completion of the drainage scheme, the decentraliz-
ation of control and the punctual collection of the rates, The
town has been divided into 4 districts, each with its own staff,
for conservancy, roads and buildings. A large scheme for

opening oub the congested arveas, with the assistance of Impe-«
rial funds, is under consideration,

Water- The dvinking water-supply is obtained from the Hooghly
supply.  river at Paltd, 17 miles north of Caleutta, where it is pumpeg
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up into settling tanks and filtered. The pure water is conveyed
by gravitation through two iron mains to a masonry reservoir
at the north end of the town. Thence it is pumped into the
distributing mains and three other reservoirs i different quar-
ters of the town, and from these it is again pumped into the
distributing pipes. The scheme was inaugurated in 1860, and
it was then intended to supply 6 million gallons per diem
or 15 gallons per head. In recent years the works have been
greatly extended, and the Corporation has now three pumping
stations at Palta and four in the town ; there are 1,997 stand-
posts and 5,904 ground hydrants, and the number of filtered
water connections exceeds 26,000. These now give to Cal-
cutta and the adjacent towns of Barrackpore, Dum-Dum,
Cossipore-Chitpur, Maniktala and Garden Reach a daily sup-
ply of over 7,624 million gallons of filtered water, or 214 gal-
lons per head. The streets are watered and the drains flushed
with unfiltered water pumped up in Calcutta, and for these
purposes there are more than 8,500 connections. The initial
cost of the works was 7 lakhs. Subsequent extensions have
mereased the capital cost to 210 lakhs; the annual cost of
maintenance is 16§ lakhs.

The scheme of under-ground drainage, by which the
to_wn is freed of surplus water and of the filth which water
will carry, was inaugurated half a century ago. The drain-
age is carried eastwards by a series of five parallel conduits
which discharge into an intercepting sewer, and thence into a
large well at Tengrsa in the eastern suburbs. There it is
raised by steamn pumps into a high level sewer, which carries
it to t}}e Salt Water Lakes, east of the town, there to undergo
oxidation. The original project was commenced in 1859,
and took 16 years to complete, but meanwhile fresh addi-
tions had been found necessary, and these are still incom-
plete so fzn: as the ¢« Added Area’’ is concerned. The
execution of the original scheme proved a very expensive
undertaking and cost the municipality 95 lakhs inelud-
ing a storm-water cut completed in 1883-84. The annual
cost of maintenance amounts to Re. 26,000.

I

Drainage.

Good progress has been made in lighting the town, specially Miscellz-

in the southern area, and the Corporation have now over 9,000 neous.

street lamps. A municipal vailway conveys street refuse to
the Salt Lnkes, BT

The income of the Corporrtion has increased largely in Finsnce.

recent years, but its expenditure has grown even more rapidly,
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and its indebtedness on the 31st March 1904 was nearly 327
lakhs, of which 1794 lakhs has been horrowed during the last
decade. The chief item of receipt is the consolidated rate
which in the last 10 years has varied from 32 to 42 lakhs per
anpum. Next in importance are the license tax on trades and
professions and the tax on animals and vehicles. The muni-
cipal market has also proved a source of profit to the Corpora-
tion. The average receipts and expenditure during the 10
years ending in 1908-04 are noted below :—

RECEIPTS. In thousands EXPENDITURE, In thousands
of rupees. of rupees.
General administration . 5,62
Fire & . v . 66
Rates and taxes . . 46,52 {#g&tmg i o . 450
Realisation under special Acts 46 D:;inl;;pp ¥ : ' : Z’gg
Other revenue apart from Public works . . & 87T
taxation . 1 A . 4,54 Markets . % « 98
Grants from Government , 52 | Hospitals QU bed G gt o )
s Conservancy . . 11,90
Other contribution e k) Registration of births and
Miscellaneous receipts includ- deaths . . . 14
ing sale of water . . 2,34 | Grants to public institutions. 18
Thand " - : 19,87 | Contribution for general pur
e o - A > poses 1 S L, ~ 3
Beslization from Sinking Interest on loans 7 .11,88
funds for repayment of loans 1,05 Misoollingods . . I ¥ 3:52
Advances . ¢ & . 7,20 | Repayment of loans and con-
Detos y . tribution to sinking funds . 8,56
g AICA o B 37 ot
—— | Deposits ¥ @ . 6,92
TorAn . 89,30 TOTAL . 87,52

Publie :
buildings.  private. T
of the modern Customs Office.

building was commenced in 1797 at the instance of the

Caleutta possesses many fine buildings, both public and
1€ origmal Government House occupied the site
The erection of the present

Marquis of Wellesley, who urged that * India should be
: governed fr_om 4 palace, not from a counting-house.”” It was
completed in about 7 years at a cost of 13 lakhs of rupees.
The design was bz}sﬁd on that of leston Hall in Derbyshire
the structure consisting of four great wings runhing to eac];v
Poiut'of the. compass from a central pile approached by a
magnificent flight of steps on the noyth. The Grand Hall is an
exceptionally fine chamber, and the building also containg the
Council Chamber in which the Supreme Legislature holdy
its sittings. Various articles of furniture and trophies recall
the perilous early days of the Company, having been captured
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om Huropean or native powers. The two fine full-length
portraits of Louis le Bien Aimé and of his Queen, with the
chandeliers and twelve busts of the Cewmsars in the aisles of
the Marble Hall, are said to have been taken from a French
ship.

Belvedere, in Alipore, is the official residence of the
Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal. Formerly a country house
of Warren Hastings, it was purchased in 1854 as the resid-
ence of Sir Frederick Halliday, the first Lieutenant-Gover-
nor of Bengal. Tt is a handsome edifice and stands in exten-
sive and well-kept grounds. It was greatly improved and
embellished by Sir Ashley Eden, At the spot which is now
the west entrance of Belvedere, on the Alipore Road, was
fought the famous duel between Warren Hastings and Sir
Philip Francis, in which the latter was wounded. Not far
from this spot, is Hastings House, the favourite residence of
the great Governor-General, which is now used as a guest~
house for native princes.

To the west of Government House, and nearer to the rivers
stands the High Court. This imposing structure in some-
what florid Gothic was completed in 1872, on the site of the
old Supreme Court. The design is said to have been sug-
gested by the townshall at Ypres. The Town-hall stands
west of Government House, between it and the High Court.
1t is a large building in the Doric style, approached by a noble
ﬂ"lght' of “steps leading up to the grand portico. 1t was
built m 1804 at a cost of about 7 lakhs, and contains many in-
teresting statues and portraits. The Indian Museum 1s situated
m Chowringhee and “contains a fine collection of fossils and
minerals, a geological gallery and a gallery of antiquities.
Ad]om'l_ng' 1t are the Fconomic Museum and the School of
Art. The M il}t in the north of the town covers 184 acres,
and was built 1, 18241830, The style 1s Dorie, the central
portico being a €opy in half size of the temple of Minerva at.
Athens. The Victora Memorial Hall which it is proposed
to eréct In memory of the Jate Queen-Empress is now {1905)

in course of construction at the south end of the Maidan near
the Cathedral.

'T‘he _General P_OSiJ Office, opened in 1870, occupies &
position in Dalhousie Square on the site of the old Fort. In
the same square are Writers’ Buildings used for the offices of
the Bengal Secretariat, the Central Telegraph = Office, the
Currency office and the offices of the Commissioner of the
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Presidency Division and the Collector of Caleutta, The
offices of the Indian Secretariat and the Treasury lie between
Governmenti House and the Town-Hall, and the Foreign and
Military Departments have recently transferred their offices to a
handsome new building in the Esplanade. The Survey Office
occupies substantial quarters in Wood Street. The Bank of
Bengal was incorporated as a Presidency Bank by Act XI of
1876 and has a fine building in the Strand erected in 1809.
Hard by it is the Metcalfe Hall, occupied by the new Imperial
Library. The Mubammadan mosques and Hindu temples of
Calcutta have no great architectural merit, the only mosque
of any pretensions being the one at the corner of Dhurrum-
tolla Street which was built and endowed in 1842 by Prince
Ghulam Muhammad, son of the late Tipa Sultan. Kali
Ghat, in the south of the town, is a place of great sanctity
for Hindus, and numbers go there every day to bathe in
Tolly’s Nullah. The temple, which is said to be about 800
years old, has 194 acres of land assigned for its maintenance, 5

Churclies, "The Cathedral Church of the See of Calcutta, St. Paul’s
stands at the south-east corner of the Maidan, It was com-
menced in 1839 and consecrated in 1847, and it is practically
the work of Bishop Wilson, Of the 7} lakhs raised to build
and endow the Cathedral, the Bishop gave 2 lakhs, the East
India Company 14 lakhs, and 2'8 lakhs was subseribed in
Hogland ; only Rs. 1,20,000 was collected in India. 1t is built
in a style which is known in Calcutfa-as.Indo-Gothic, that is
to say Gothic adapted by a military engineer to the exigencies
of the Indian climate. The building is 247 feet in length
with a transept of 114 feet, and the tower and gpire are 207 .
. feet in height. Among the many monuments to famous
Engllsh}ncn who bave served in this country, the most cons-
picuous is & life-sized kneeling figure in bishop’s robes by
Chantry bearing the gingle word “ Heber,” The spire was

rebuilt in 1897, the original one having been destroyed in the
earthquake of that year,

8t. John’s, the old Cathedral, was commeneed in 1784,

It was erected to replace the still older Church of St. Annes,
which occupied the site of the modern Bengal Council Cham-
ber and was demolished by Sivaj-ud-daula in 1756. St.

| John’s was built chiefly by volhuntary subscriptions, the site

| fif:iu;z the gift of a native Raja. In the graveyard isthe
| Imausoleum which cavers the remains of Job Charnock ; and
slabs commemorating William Hamilton, who died in 1717,




Admiral Watson, are built into the walls of the Chuich,
The old Mission Church has a peculiar interest as having been
erected between 1767 and 1770 by Kiernander, the first
Protestant Missionary to Bengal, at his own expense. In
1786 the good Swede found himself unable to defray the
charges involved by his benevolent schemes and the Church
was seized by the Sheriff, It was rescued and restored to
religious purposes by Charles Grant, afterwards the well-
known Bast Indian Director, who paid Rs. 10,000, the sum at
which it was appraised. Other Churches of the Anglican
Communion are the Fort Church of St. Peter, St. Thomas,’
St. Stephen’s, Kidderpore, and St. James’, hesides several
others belonging to missionary bodies.

The Roman Catholic Cathedral, situated in the heart of
the commercial quarter, was built in 1797, taking the place of
a Chapel built by the Portuguese in 1700. The Greek
Church in the same quarter was built by subscriptions in 1780,
and the Armenian Church was completed in 1790. At the
corner of Dalhousie Square on the site of the old Mayor’s
Court House stands the Scots Church of St. Andrew, :

The Maidan is the chief open space in Calcutta and s‘l“i‘"”
stretches from Government House and the Eden Gardens on :;wz: o
the north to Tolly’s Nullah on the south, Chowringhee lying
on the east, and the river and Fort on the west. Scattered
over it are several monuments, the most conspicuous of them
being the Ochterlony Monument, erected in honour of Sir
David Ochterlony, who, “for 50 years a soldier, served in
every Indian war from the time of Hyder downwards.” It
rises 165 feet with a Saracenic capital, and its summit com-
mands & noble view of the city, Facing the river 18 a
pillared archway erected by the citizens of Calcutta to per-
petuate the memory of James Prinsep, founder of the science
of Indu_m Dumismatics, Near Park Street is the fine bronze
statue of Sir James Outram, in which he 1s represented with
drawn sword looking vound to his troops and checring them
forward, _Among other monuments may be mentioned those
of Lord William Bentinek, Lord Hardinge, Lord Mayo, Lord
Lawrence, Lord Dufferin and Lord Lansdowne; and the
statue to Lord Roberts is g noteworthy addition fo this greup.
A statue of Her late Majesty Queen Victoria by Frampton
has recently heen placed on the Maidan, waiting “till it may
find a more honoured position in the Hall now (1905) being
erected in her memory. On the south-west side of the
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being passed for the purpose. Until 1889 the Chairman of
the Calcutta Corporation was also Commissioner of Police,
but in that year the appointments were separated.

Jails, The Presidency Jail on the south of the Maidan contains
accommodation for 70 European and 1,214 native prisoners,
the average number of prisoners during the year 1903 being
1,209, The chief industry carried on in this jail 1s the print-
ing of Government forms, and the printing work done during
1903 was valued at 1'77 lakhs; minor industries are the
manufacture of mustard oil, wheat grinding and carpentry.
1t is intended to transfer this jail to another site in Alipore
where new buildings are being erected for the purpose.
There are also a District and Central Jail and a Reformatory
School at Alipore, and & Criminal Lunatic Asylum at Dui-
lunda.

Education. At the census of 1901, 20°9 per cent. of the male, and 3-8
per cent. of the female, population were returned as literate,
The percentage for Christians (both sexes) was 75°9, for
Hindus 26'5 and for Muhammadans 12°2.

The University of Calcutta exercises, by means of the
examinations for its degrees, paramount influence over English
education throughout Bengal. An account of it will be
found in the article on Benaar. The University building is
situated in College Street, and it contains a library adorned
with paintings of some of the more famous persons who have
been at various times connected with the University.

The higher colleges in Caleutta are the Presidency, the
Doveton, the La Martiniére, the Free Church Institutioniand
Duff ecollege, the London Mission Society’s Institution,
the Sanskrit eollege, Bishop’s college, St. Xavier’s, the Gene-
ral Assembly’s Institution, the Mcf;i'opolita,n Institution, the
City, Ripon, Cenfral and Bangabasi colleges for men, and the
Bethune college for women, OFf these the Presidency, the
Sanslrit and the Bethune colleges are Government institn-
tions ; the first was founded in 1855 and the second in 1824 24
the third was founded in 1849 by the Heon’ble Mr. Bethune,
and maintained by him till his death in 1851. It was then
maintained by Lord Dalhousie until 1856, and from that date
by the Government. 'The Doveton college was first opened in
1823 for the education of Christian boys under the name 6f
the Parental Academic Imstitution, hut it was subsequently
called after Captain J. Doveton, whe gave it an endowment
of 28 lakhs. The La Matiniére was founded by General
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Claud Martin, and was opened in 1836. Bishop’s college was
founded by Bishop Middleton in 1820, and was at first located
at Sibpur on the site now occupied by the Civil Engineering
college. The colleze of the Scots Church was founded in
1830 and St. Xavier's in 1860. The second grade colleges
are the Madrasa, the Albert college, the Armenian college and

. the Church Missionary college. The Madrasa (for Muham-

madans only) was founded and endowed by Warren Hastings
in 1781 ; m 1878 it received additional funds from the
Hooghly Muhammadan Educational Endowment, and it is
also assisted by Government. The Armenian college was
opened in 1821, and is managed by trustees. The Sibpur
college for Engincering (see Howran town) is situated in the
Howrah District, opposite Kidderpore, and was opened by
Government in 1880,

Calcutta contains 75 schools teaching up to the standard
for the Entrance Kxamination of the University, and a large
number of primary schools. The oldest Christian school 18
the Calcutta Free School, which was founded in 1789 from
the united funds of the “ Old Calcutta Charity > and the Free
School Society, which then amounted to 3 lakhs of rupees.

The Calcutta Medical college is a Government institution
which was opened in 1835 and had 519 pupils in 1903-04 ;
there are also four private medical schools with 454 pupils.
Of the latter the oldest is the Caleutta Medical school to
which the Albert Victor Hospital has lately been attached.

The two most important hostels under Government manage-
ment are the Eden Hindu hostel and the Elliott Madrasa
hostel.  The former is intended chiefly for the accommodation
of such Hindu pupils of the Presidency college and of the
Hindu and Hare schools as do not live with their parents or
g‘uardmns; the latter is for Muhammadans studying at, the
Caleutta Madrasa who have no parents or guardians to live
thh; 1In 1908-04 the number of inmates in the Eden hostel
was 247 and in the Elliott hostel 222. The total expenditure
of the former amounted to Rs. 80,000 and that of the latter,
ezfduswe of messig charges, to Rs. 4,500, Out of this
Government paid R700 and R1,400, respectively, chiefly
for medical attendance and superintendence. The average
cost of & student was R10 per month per head in the for-
mer and a little over R3 in the latter,

The Government school of Avt attached to the Govern-
ment Art Gallery was attended by 241 pupils in 1903-04.

L
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Maidan is the race-course, while the rest of it is devoted to
recreation grounds.

Other open spaces are the Eden Gardens, named after the
Misses Bden, sisters of Liord Auckland, on the north-east of
the Maidan, Dalhousie Square in the heart of the official
guarter, Beadon Square in the north of the town, named after
a Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal, and a series of squaves by
the side of Comnwallis, College, Wellington and Wellesley
Streets. The Zoological Gardens at Alipore were opened
by the (then) Prince of Wales in 1876. They are managed
by an honorary Committee and are maintained chiefly by
donations and subscriptions, entrance receipts and a Govern-
ment grant-in-aid. The expenditure in 1903-04 amounted to
Rs. 87,000, of which Rs. 42,000 was spent on new buildings.
The Government of India have rqade a grant of a lakh of
rupees, which it has been decided to devote mainly to
permanent improvements. The gardens contain (1903-04)
464 mammals, 842 birds and 238 reptiles.

At Sibpur are situated the Botanical Gardens, which are
beautifully laid out along the Hooghly and are stocked with
rare tropical plants. They were founded in 1786 at the
instance of Colonel Alexander Kyd for the collection of
plants indigenous to the country and for the introduction and
acclimatisation of plants from foreign parts. This object has
been fully realised, and among the greatest triumphs of the

ardens may be mentioned the introduction of the tea plant
from China. They cover 272 acres and contain a fine her-

bariut{x, botanical library and monuments to the first two
Superintendents, Kyd and Roxburgh.

Army. Fort William is the head-quarters of the Lucknow division
of the Eastern Command, The garrison consists of a batta~
lion of British Infantry, a battery of Garrison Artillery, a
company of the Tudian Sub-Marine Mining Corps, and a
regiment of Native Infantry in the Fort, and half a squadron
of Native Cavalry and a regiment of Native Infantry at
Alipore. The Volunteer forces are (1) the Caleutta Port
Defence Volunteers in five companies, two being Naval
Divisions, one of Garrison Artillery, one of Sub-Marine
Miners and one of Electrical Bngineers, with a strength in
1903-04 of 833 incuding 814 efficients; (2) the Caleutta
Light Horse, in 5 troops, strength 187, efficients 132; (8)
the Cossipore Artillery with 4 batterics, 6 guns, strength 438,
efficients 402 ; (4) the Calcutta Volunteer Rifles with 8 batta-
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lions (of which the third is a Cadet company), and a strength
of 2,075, including cadets and reservists, of whom 2,058 are
efficients; and (5) the Eastern Bengal State Railway Volun-
teers, strength 728, efficients 696. The military authorities
have control over the erection of buildings on the Maidan and
in the Hastings ward, which lies to the south of Fort
William. \

The Calcutta Police force is under a Commissioner, a
Deputy Commissioner and additional Deputy Commissioner
of Police, and congists (1908) of 8 Superintendents, 55 ins-
pectors, 74 sub-inspectors and European constables, 291 head
constables and sergeants including mounted men, 2,484 foob
constables and 180 river constables. It has under its control,
besides the municipal area, the suburban municipalities of
Cossipore-Chitpur, Maniktala, part of Garden Reach and the
river. There are 18 police-stations in the  Old Town * and
14in the “ Added Avea” and in the suburbs. The total cost
of the police force in 1901 was 866 lakhs, of which 8:15
lakhs was paid from the Imperial and Provincial revenues,
and the rest by local bodies and private individuals for services
rendered. The proportion of police to population was 1 to
405' persons and to area 76°l per square mile. Besides
ordinary police duties, the Commissioner of Police is respon-
gible for the working of the Arms Act and the Fire-Brigade.
"The latter consists of one chief engineer, 4 engineers, one
European and 4 native drivers, 3 firemen, 16 tindals, 34
khalasis, and 1 mspector of warehouses. The force is equipped
with 6 steam engines and 6 manual engines, and is paid for
Earl‘ﬂy by fees levied on jute and other warehouses and partly

y certain municipalities. The number of fires reported in
1903 in the town and suburbs, including Howrah, was 120, of
,Wl.“ch 7.0“13’ were serious. The Port Commissioners main-
tain their own boats and staff for fires on the river. ‘

_ Until 1845, there does not appear to have been any dis-
ciplined force, _the only police being a number of ¢Adnddars
and peons for night duty, but in that year the town was
dlylded mto 3 po_llce divisions, each containing a police-station
with 6 sub-stations. Tn 1852 the number of divisions was
reduced to 2, and in 1877 the present divisions and thanas
were created. By Act XITI of 1856 a Commissioner of
Police was appointed, and in 1868 the detective bramch was
gonstituted. In 1861 the suburban police was made over to
the Commissioner’s control, a special Act [ (Bengal) TI of 1866]

Police.

L
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An aided industrial school was attended by 47 pupils, and
8 unaided schools of Art taught 182 pupils. Besides, there
were two schools for the blind and a deaf and dumb school.
There were 4 training schools for mistresses in 1900-01, and
one Normal school for the training of school masters. In
addition to the Bethune college there were 6 other higher
class female institutions in Calcutta,

The total number of pupils under instruction increased
from 25,124 in 1883 fo 40,724 in 1892-93 and 43,979 in
1900-01, while 39,524 boys and 8,277 girls were at school in
1903-04, being respectively 46'8 and 19-3 per cent. of the
number of school-going age. The number of educational
institutions, public and private, in that year was 531 including
20 Arts eolleges, 89 secondary schools, 311 primary schools
and. 131 other special schools. ‘The expenditure on education
was 18:06 lakhs of which 622 lakhs was met from Provineial
funds, R11,000 from municipal funds and 8-16 lakhs from
fees.

Medical. The chief hospitals are the Medical College, Eden, Ezra,
Syama Charan Law Eye, Presidency G eneral, Campbell,
Police, 8ambhu Nath Pandit and Dufferin Victoria Hospitals,
the Mayo Native Hospital with 3 dispensaries and the Chand-
ney Hospital attached to it, and the Kidderpore M unicipal
and Dockyard Dispensaries. Of these the Dufferin Victoria
Hospital and the Eden Hospital are for women only. The
Medical College Hospital was originally started in 1838 with
only 30 beds. It was very largely attended and, the accoin-
modation having soon been found quite insufficient, an enlarg-
ed building was opened on the present site in 1852. The
Kden or lying-in Hogpital, the Bzra Hospital for Jews, and
the Eye Infirmary were subsequently added toit. The Pre-
sidency General Hospital for Europeans dates from about the
middle of the 18th century. The central block was purchased
by Government in 1768 and two wings were added in 1795,
The foundation-stone of a new block was laid in 15898. This
ig one of the best hospitals in India ; it eontains (1903) aceom-
modation for 233 patients, and has been provided with all
modern requirements and conveniences. The Campbell Hos-
pital; sturted in 1867, is the largest hogpital in India and hasg
accommodation for 752 patients, The Police Hospital with a
capacity of 211 beds was opened in 1865 for the treatment
of the members of the Calcutta Police. The Mayo Native
Hospital, the successor of the old Chandney Hospital, contains
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05 beds and was opened in 1874. The number of patients
treated in these institutions during the year 1903 was 274,000
of whom 25,000 were in-door and 248,000 out-door patients.
Of these 163,000 were men, 51,000 women and 59,000
children. These charities are mainly dependent on Govern-
ment for their support. 1In 1908, out of a total income of
915 lakhs, Government gave 639 lakhs ; 1 lakh was supplied
from local funds ; the Corporation contributed R46,000; in-
terest on investments amounted to B25,000, while only
R 7,000 was subscribed, the balance being made up from fees
from paying patients. Government therefore paid 71 per
cent. of the entire cost. There are also two Lunatic Asylums
entirely under Government control, while a Leper Asylum has
lately been erected. '
Vaccination is compulsory and is controlled by the Health Vaccination.
Department, of the Corporation. In 1903-04, 22,492 persons
were vaccinated.
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CAWNPORE.

Administrative head-quarters. of the Cawnpore District?
United Provinces, lymg on the right bank of the river Ganges,
120 miles above its junction with the Jummna at Allahabad,
" in 26° 28’ N.and 80° 21’ B.; distance by rail to Howrah
684 miles and to Bombay 839 miles, The city is the third
largest in the United Provinces and is increasing rapidly.
Population : 1872, 122,770 ; 1881, 151,444 ; 1891, 188,714 ;
and 1901, 197,170, including cantonments (24,496). In the
eighteenth century it was a mere village known as Kanhai-
yapur or Kanhpur, of Whicl_l .the present name is a corrupted
spelling. Following the British victories in 1764-65 at Buxar
and at Jajman, west of Kora, a treaty was made at Fyzabad
in 1773 with the Nawab Wazir of Oudh, Shuji-ud-daula,
who allowed the British to occupy two stationsin his territories
with troops. The places first sclected were Fatehgarh and
a site in the Hardol District ; but in 1778 the troops were
moved from the latter placeto Cawnpore, and in 1801 the
Distriet with others was ceded by the Nawab. Like Calcutta,
the city, which is now the most important trade centre in upper
India, owes everything to British influence. The population
m 1901 included 144,123 Hindus, 47,949 Musalmans, and
about 4,000 Christians, of whom nearly 8,000 were Euro-
peans or Eurasians. The civil lines and cantonments streteh
for several miles along the river bank, and separate the native
city from it. The latter is of mean appearance and consists
of a maze of narrow winding streets, .
In 1857 Cawnpore was the scene of several of the mosb
terrible episodes of the Mutin y. The native garrison included
a company of artillery, a regiment of cavalry, and three of
nfantry, while there were only 200 British troops. Inflam-
mafory rumours had already spread before the outhreak at
Meerut on May 9th, and the news of that disturbance in-
creased them. On the 20th, General Wheeler telegraphed to
Lucknow for reinforecements ; hut Sir Henry Lawrence could
ouly spare 50 men. The General then appealed to Dundu
Pant, adopted som of the lagt Peshwa, who was living at
Bithur 12 riles away and who had a grievance against the
British Government owing to Lord Dalhousie’s refusal to re-
cogmise his succession to the late Peshwa’s title. Dundu
Pant, more familiarly known as the Nina Sihib, biought in

300 horse and foot and two gune, Before the eud of May an

The Mutiny.
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énchment was prepared consisting of a.shallow trench and
miserable parapet four or five feet high, surrounding two long
single-storeyed barracks, the whole enclosure® being but 200
yards square. On June 2nd the 50 men who had come from
Lucknow were sent back with 50 more of the Cawnpore gar-
rison. During the night of June 4th, the outbreak began
with the departure of the cavalry regiment followed by the
1st Infantry, and the next day the other two regiments fol-
lowed. In no case were the European officers injured and a
few men of all the regiments, mostly native officers, joined
the English in their entrenchments. The sepoys, after plun-
dering the treasury and houses in the civil station and open-
ing the jail, had started for Delhi; but on the 6th the Nana,
who had thrown off his too successful pretence of friendship,
persuaded them to return. The European entrenchment con-
tained between 750 and 1,000 persons, of whom 400 were
men able to bear arms. On the 7th, the besiegers, who were
subsequently reinforced and had as many as 12 guns, opened
their attack in earnest ; but in spite of three general assaults
on June 12th, 18th, and 28vd, the failing stores and difficulty
in obtaining water, the defenders still held out. The Nana
then decided to have recourse to stratagem. He promised
that our forces should be allowed to march out with arms,
that carriages should be provided for those who could not
march and for the women and children, and that boats properly
victualled should be ready at the Sati Chaura G Aat to convey
éverybody to Allahabad.” On the other hand the entrench-
ments, treasure, and artillery were to he given up. Early on
June 26th the evacuation bégan. Though every detail of the
coming massacre had heen carefully prepared and the fatal
ghat was surrounded by armed men and guns, the mutineers
could not restrain themselves, and victims began to fall before
they had entered the ambussade. The majority were, however,
allowed to embark, when a bugle sounded just as the boats
were ready to start. For twenty minutes grape and bullets
hailed on the boats, and then only did the enemy venture to
come to close quarters. Every man caught was killed, and
the women and children were taken to the Savada Kothi,
where their number were shortly increased by the inmates of
a boat which had got away, but was subsequently eaptured.
Tn the meantime Havelock had been advancing up the Grand
trunk road, and he defeated the Nana’s brother and entered

¢ A Memorial church now stands riear the site of the entrenchment.
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Rajputdna and Central India on the west, and the Districts
north of the Gogra and Bihar and Bengal on the east, meet
here. A net work of sidings also connects these lines with the
leading factories in the place. In the last ten years imports
have increased by about 2,000,000 maunds and exports by
3,000,000, or by 30 to 40 per cent. in each case. Cawnpore,
however, 1s not only a collecting and distributing centre for
raw products,such as cotton, food-grains, oilseeds, salt,saltpetre,
gugar, and foreign manufactured goods ; it has algo become
a great manufacturing town. TIn 1869 the Elgin Cotton
Spmning and Weaving Mills were foupdegl by a company and
subsequently purchased by a private individual, Since then
three other mills have been opened by. companies, the Mnuir
Mills in 1875, the Cotton Mills, Lmuted, _in 1882, and the
Victoria Mills in 1887. The. nom.mal capital in 1901was
1£66,00,000, excluding the Elgin Mills, and there were 2,349
looms and 226,370 spindles at work, employing 6,481 persons
daily. The next industry to be organized in factories was
tanning, and it has now become of even greater importance
than cotton. In upper India tanning is the traditional oceu-
pation of Chamars, who are also day-labourers and formed a
large proportion of the early population of the town, A
Government Harness and Saddlery Factory—opened on a small
scale soon after the Elgin Mills commenced operations—mnow
employs 2,000 to 2,500 hands, and turns out goods valued at
30 lakhs annually, A still larger concern is the Army Boot
and Equipment Factory, owned by a private firm and employ-
ing over 8,000 persons daily. In 1908, the three large tan-
neries inspected under the Factory Act employed 4,915 persons’
daily, and including small native works it was estimated that
the capital involved exceeded 45 lakhs, and about 10,000 hands
were employed. Military requirements have been furnished
not only throughout India, but to troops sent from England
to Bgypt, China, and South Africa, while the hoots and shoes
manufactured here are also sold in the Straits Settlements and
in South Africa. The chiet tanning material is the bark of
the babal tres which is found all over the Doiib, A woollen
mill was opened in 1876, which has developed from a small
blanket manufactory into g large concern with a aapital of 20
lakhe, employing 1,600 hands and using 300 looms and 18,100
spindles, while the outturn consists of every class of woollen
goods, valued at 17 lakhs. The other factories in Cawnpore
include a sugar mill where rum is also manufactured, a jute
mill, 7 coton gins and presses, a tent factory, two flour milly,
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sh and cabinet-making factory, two iron foundries, a
tape factory, and chemical works. There is a small, but in-
creasing, native industry in cheap cutlery. The total capital
sunk in manufacturing enterprise is estimated at one million

sterling, and more than half the inhabitants of the city are

directly dependent on it. Tt must be pointed out that the-

manufactures of cotton, wool, leather, flour, and sugar, referred

L.

to above, were all assisted materially in the first place by °

Government contracts for army purposes ; but although their
establishment without such aid would have been difficult, they
could now, almost without; exception, be maintained indepen-
dently of the official market.

The Upper India Chamber of Commerce was founded at
Cawnpore in 1889, and now represents practically every Huro-
pean commercial firm and manufacturing concern of conse-
quence in the United Provinces and the Punjab. The Asso-
ciation takes as its object the general welfare and interests of
trade and commerce, and has supplied a want which would
otherwise have been greatly felt. It has now decided to move
the Allahabad Currency Office fo Cawnpore.

The principal educational institution is Christ Church
College, maintained by the Society for the Propagation of the
Gospel Mission. 1t was founded as a High School in 1860
and affiliated to the Calcutta University in 1866. It is now
affiliated to Allahabad and was raised to the first grade in 1896.
In 1904 the number on the rolls was 106. The same Mission
also manages an industrial school, which includes a carpenter’s
shop and brass foundry. The municipality maintains 10
schools and aids 12 others, with a total attendance of 1,046.
A large experimental farm, with an agricultural school ab
which Eanungos are trained, is situated in the old civil lines,
north of the city. There are 24 printing pressés and threo

weekly and four monthly newspapers, none of which is of
much importance,

(Valuable information on the trade of Cawnpore has been

obtained from a note by the late Mr. W, B, Wishart, Secre-

tary to the Chamber of Commerce.)

Education.



the Cawnpore Distriet on July 15th. The same night five
men armed with swords entered the Bibighar, to which the
women and children had heen removed, and hacked and
slashed till all were left for dead. Next morning the bodies
of the dead and a few childven who had survived, were
thrown into a well in the compound. The well is now
! surrounded by a stone screen, and overit is a pedestal on
| which stands a marble figure of an angel by Marochetti. A
‘ large area round it was enclosed at the expense of the town, and
is called the Memorial Garden. Cawnpore was occupied by
Havelock on July 17th, and was held till the end of November,
when the Grwalior Contingent got possession of it for ten days.
It was recovered on December 6th by Sir Colin Campbell
on his return from Lucknow. Since the Mutiny the most
serious event has been the riot of April 1900. Two or three
cases of plague had happened, and several patients had been
segregated. = A mob of the lowest classes of the people, led
by ringleaders of better circumstances, attacked the plague
huts and murdered six policemen and a taksil chaprasi. There
is reason to believe that some of these were thrown alive into
the burning thatch. The rioters then proceeded to the parade-
ground and were dispersed by troops who fired on them,
Seven of the ringleaders were hanged and a punitive force of
police was quartered in the city for a year.
Municipality. . Cawnpore has been a municipality since 1861, Durin
e ten years 1892-—1901, the average income was 56 lakhs
and the average expenditure 5°5 lakhs ; but the income includes
loans from Government, amounting to 144 lakhs, in the decade.
Owing to its position as a trading centre, octroi was noft,
levied here for many years, the chief receipts being derived
from a license tax on trades and professiong, and from the rents
of escheated lands within the municipality, which are under
the management of the municipal board. TIn 1892, octroi was
introduced, but two years later it was veplaced by a terminal
tax on both imports and exports, which now produees about
half of the total municipal receipts. In 1903-04, out of
a total income of 58 lakhs (excluding a loan of 10 lakhs),
the prineipal receipts were, terminal tax, 1'9 lakhs, ftax
on professions and trades, ®60,000, house tax, &59,000
and rents, ®85,000. The expenditure of 11'3 lakhg in-
cluded general administration, R19,000, collection of taxes,
£22,000, public works, 91,000, conservancy, 1'4 lakhs,
repayment of loans with interest 89 lakhs, besides capital
expenditure of 2'3 lakhs and plague charges 817,000,
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A system of water-works was completed in 1894 at a cost
of 14} lakhs, and the annual charges for maintenance amount
to about R6S,000, while the income from sale of water 18
R27,000. The works supply the whole town with potable
water drawn from the Ganges and filtered before distribution ;
standposts are situated in all parts for public use, and the
daily supply amounts to about 10 gallons per head, about
one-seventh being taken by a few of the largest mills. A
drainage scheme which was much needed 18 now being
carried out, and the house tax was especially imposed to meet
the extra charges that will be necessary. Main sewers are
complete, and the branches are nearly finished. The initial
cost of the scheme was for the first time in the United Pro-
vinces met from a loan raised in the open market. Refuse is
removed from the city by a steamr tramway, the only one of
its kind in the Provinces, and incinerators have been erected
to consume it. An electric tramway has been sanctioned to
run for about 4 miles through the town. The average receipts
of the cantonment fund in the 10 years ending 1901 were
50,000 and the expenditure B48,000. In 1903-04, the in-
come and expenditure were £60,000 and 68,000, respectively.
The ordinary garrison in the cantonment consists of British
infantry and artillery, and native infantry and cavalry.

L

While Cawnpore first became of importance as a military Tiale.

canfonment, its subsequent growth has been the result of
alterations in trade routes dating from its connection by rail
with Calcutta in 1863. When the demand for cotton arose
during the American War, it was easiest to send it from
Bundellkhand to the railway at Cawnpore. The strain on
Cawnpore was difficult to meet. Lands covered with the mud
huts of camp-followers were hastily taken up by the authori-
ties. Commissariat elephants were brought out to push down
the frail erections in order to clear space for the storage of
the bales oi'; cotton, which, piled up level with the roofs, had
beﬂ} blocking every lane i the city. At the same time the
ordimary country praduce of the Doab and of Oudh began to
pour in here mstcz.ul of passing by along theriver. The trade
which thus had its origin in the alignment of a railway has
bheen immensely increased by the later development of the rail-
way system of upper India. In addition to the Bast Indian
Railway, the Oudh and Rohilkhand and the Indian Midland
broad-gauge systems pass through Cawnpore, providing
through communication with the northern part of the Provinces
and with Bombay, while the narrow gauge lines traversing
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DARJEELING.

Administrative head-quarters of Darjecling’ District,
Bengal, sitnated in the lower Himalayas in 27°8' N. and
88° 16’ E., 379 miles from Calcutts by rail. The name
. Darjeeling (Rdo-sje-gling) means the place of the *dorje,”
~ the mystic thunderbolt of the Lamaist religion, and is con-

nected with the cave on Obscrvatory Hill, which was a sacred
spot prior to the British occupation of the country, and above
whic]&) once stood the monastery which has since heen removed
to a sitelower down the hill, At the census of 1901 the popu-
lation of the town with the two cantonments of Darjeeling
and Lebong was 16,924, of whom 10,271 were Hindus, 4,437
Buddhists, 1,182 Christians, and 1,049 Musalmans. The
number of inhabitants during the summer months js much
greater and a special enumeration effected in September 1900,
disclosed a population of 23,852, Darjeeling was acquired
by the British Government in 1885 as a sanitarium, and it
soon became a favorite summer retreat for the officials of
lower Bengal and their families. It is now the summer
head-quarters of the Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal, and also
of the Commissioner of the Rajshahi Division, It occupies
a long narrow ridge descending abruptly to the bed of the
Great Rangit river. The highest and lowest points within
the limits of the town are about 7 ;500 feet and 6,000 feet
respectively. In 1872, before the days of the railway,

the population Jpumbered only 8,157, but during the next
nine years it increased by more than 100 per cent., and
it doubled again between the years 1881 and 1891. Since

been less rapid, as most of the
A have been already taken up and
built upon.  Moreover, the disagtrous landslips of 1899
caused a t»GIIIPOI?M‘y check to its development. These
were caused by a violent cyclone with heavy rainfall, which
visited the District in September 1899. On the 23rd, a heavy
thunderstorm broke in Darjeeling about 1-80 ».a., and for
three hours the rain descended in torvents, A Tull ensued
till about 8 o’clock, and then the cyclone burst in all its fury,
The storm raged the whole of the night of the 28rd, and all
the next day and night, without the slightest intermission till
about 3-30 in the early morning of the 26th. No less than
5:80 inches of rain fell during the 84 howrs ending at 8 o clock
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' morning of the 24th, and 19:40 inches before 4 A.M. of
the following day. Most of the landslips occurred on the
cast of the town, where the hill-side is very precipitous,
These overwhelmed many houses, and roads and pathways
were broken away in many places by the constant stream of
mud, water and stones down the hill sides, Seventy-two
lives were lost. The station also suffered much damage in
the great earthquake of 1897, when many houses were injured
and a few were entirely wrecked ; three lives were lost by the
fall of boulders from the hill sides.

The local trade of Darjeeling is practically confined to
supplying the want of European inhabifants and of the tea
plantations. A considerable trade is carried on by the hillmen
with residents and visitors in China cups, turquoise, coral and
amber ornaments, jade and agate cups and beads, prayer
wheels, bells, amulets and other curiosities illustrative of
Buddhist monastic life, as well as #u4ris, Bhotia and Lepcha
knives, Nepilese brass work, ete. The Darjeeling shop-
keepers deal mostly in European piece-goods, stores, glass,
hardware and crokery,

The Darjecling municipality was constituted in 1850, and
at first coineided with the tract of 188 square miles ceded by
the Sikkim Raja; it is now restricted to the station itself
with the two cantonments of Darjeeling and Lebong, covering
an area of 4°85 square miles, and is governed by a special
Act (Bengal) T of 1900. The Committee consists of 25 mem-
bpps nominated by Government with the Deputy Commis-
gioner as ez-officio Chairman, The average income for the
decade ending in 19y1-02 was 2°19 lakhs, and the expenditure
1:72 lakhs. In 1908-04, R48,000 was derived from a tax on
houses and lands, 19,000 from a water rate, 829,000 from a
lighting rate, ®23,000 from a conservancy rate, 842,000 as
ground rents from leases of Government property within the
town, and 89,000 as fees from the municipal market. The
incidence of taxation was heavier than in any other town in
Bengal, b“,“,‘-‘-f R7-2-10 per head of the population. In the
same year 827,000 was spent on lighting; R98,000 on water-
sapply, 847,000 on conservancy, B10,000 on medical relief,
#14,000 on roads, B4,000 on buildings, R5,000 on drainage,
and R1,000 on edueation. A Joan of 165 lakhs has been
obtained from Government for the improvement of the water-
supply. An electric light installation was introduced in 2897
at a cost of 1'31 lakhs, which supplies the streets and some of
the houses ; an additional grant of 10,000 was made from

L

Commeree.

Municipality.
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DELHI.

A city in the Delhi District, Punjab, head-quarters of -
the Delhi Division, District and tahsil, and former capital of
the Mughal empire. It is situated by rail in 28° 89'N. and 77°
15" E. on the wesb bank of the Jumna, distant by rail from
Calcutta 956 miles, from Bombay 982 miles, and from Karachi
907 miles. The population at the last three enumerations was :
1581, 178,398 ; 1891, 192,579 ; and 1901, 208,575 ; the in-
crease in the last decade is greatly due to the development of
mill industries. The population in 1901 included 114,417
Hindus, 88,460 Muhammadans, 8,266 Jaing, 2,164 Christians
and 229 Sikhs.

; The point where the northernmost spur of the Aravallt
History. hills abuts on the Jumna has perhaps from the remotesi
times been the site of one great city after another. First

of these is the city of Indraprastha, founded, according to

the tradition preserved in the Mahabharata, by the Pandava

chief Yudishthira, at a date which, as Sir Alexander Cunning-

ham believed, cannot be later than the 15th century B. C.
Indraprastha was, however, only one of thefive prasthas or

* plains °  which included Sonepat, Panipat, Pilpat and

Baghpat, Perishta has preserved a tradition that Delhi or
Dilli was founded by a Raja Dihtu before the Macedonian
mvasion, but as a historical city Delhi only dates from the
middle of the 11th eentury A.D. when Anangapala, a
Rajput chief of the Tomara (Tunwara) clan, built the Red
Fort, in whichthe Kutab Minar now stands, and founded a town.
He also removed the famous iron pillar on which are inseribed
the eulogies of Chandragupta Vikramadity from Muttra and
seb 16 up in 1052 as an adjunct to a group of temples.
This remarkable relic consists of a solid shaft of metal 16
inches in diameter and about 28 feet in height, set in magonry,
some 3 feet of i6 being below the surface. Tradition
indeed asserts that a holy Brahman assured the Raja that the
pillar had been driven so deeply into the earth that it reached
the head of Vasuki, the serpent king who supports the world,
and consequently had become immoveable, whereby the domi-
nion was as ensured for ever to the dynasty of its founder, so
long as the pillar stood. The incredulous Raja ordered the
monument to be dug up, when its base was found reddened
with the blood of the serpent king. 71hus convinced, Ananga-
pila at once commanded that tﬁu shaft should be sunk again
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sor mdtithe earth ; but as a punishment for his want of faith, it
appeared that no force could restore it to its place as before.
Hence the city derived its name Dhili, from the fact that the
column remained loose (@%la) in the ground, Unfortunately
for the legend, not only does the inscription prove its falsity,
but the name of Dilli is undoubtedly earlier than the rise of
the Tomara dynasty.

S

Anangapila, who seems to have come from Kanauj, ruled
a petty principality, extending to Hansi on the north, the
Ganges on the east and Agra on the south. His dynasty
lasted just a century, until 1151, when it was supplanted by
Visala~-dara or Biéaldeo, a Chauhin chief of Ajmer. Bisal-
deo’s grandson, the famous Prithvi Raj or Rai Pithora,
ruled both Delhi and Ajmer and built the city which bears
his name at the former place. The walls of this city may
still be traced for a long distance round the Kutab, From
Delhi Rai Pithora, in 1191, led his Hindu vassals and allies
to defeat Muhammad of Ghor at Turawary, butin the follow-
ing year he met with a decisive overthrow at that place.
With his death the higtory of Hindu Delhi ends. In 1193
Kutab-ud-din, Muhammad’s slave general, took Delhi and
on his master’s death in 1206, it became the capital of the
Slave Dynasty to whom old Delhi owes its grandest ruins.
Kutab-ud-din’s mosque was commenced, according to the
mmseription on its entrance archway, immediately after the
capture of the city in 1193. It was completed in three years,
and enlarged during the reign of Altamsh, son-in-law of the
foungler, and the greatest monarch of the line. This mosque
consists of an outer and inner courtyard, the latter surrounded
by an. exquisite colonnade, whose richly decorated shafts have
been torn from the precinets of earlier Hindu temples. Onui-
ginally a thick coat of plaster concealed from the believer’s
eyes the profuse idolatrous ornamentations ; but the stucco
has now_fallen away, revealing the delicate workmanship of
the Hindu artists in all its pristine beauty. Eleven magni-
ficent arches close its western fagade, Muhammadan in outline
and .deS{g*n, but carried out in detail by Hindu workmen, as
the intricate lace-work which ecovers every portion of the
arcade sufficiently bears witness. Ibn Batita, the Moorish
traveller, who was a magistrate in Delhi, and saw the mosque
about 150 years after its erection, describes it as unequa]}cd
either for beauty or extent. The Kutab Mindr, another
celebrated monument of the great Slave king, stands in the
south-east corner of the outer cowrtyard of the mosque. It



Provincial funds in 1908-04 towards the improvement of the
installation.

Publio The chief public buildings are the Shrubbery, the residence

buildings.  of the Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal, built in 1879 ; the
Secretariat offices, built in 1898 ; the Eden Sanitarium, the
Lowis Jubilee Sanitarium, St. Andrew’s Church, the Wesle-
yan Chapel, the Scots’ Kirk, the Roman Catholic Convent
and Chapel, 8t. Paul’s School, 8t. Joseph’s College, and the
barracks at Katapahar, Jalapahar and Lebong. Two gardens,
Lloyd’s Botanical gardens and the Victoria Pleasaunce, are
open to the public. !

Army. The Darjeeling cantonment, which is above the town,
comprises Jarapamar and Katapabar. At Katapahar are
Artillery barracks which at present accommodate a battery of
Field Artillery and a company of Garrison Artillery during
the summer. Jalapahar is a convalescent depdf and “containg
accommodation for 400 men. The LEBoNG cantonment helow
Darjeeling is occupied by a British Infantry Regiment.

The head-quarters of the Northern Bengal Mounted Rifles
are at Darjeelng ; the force consists of 6 companies with
head-quarters at Kurseong, Jalpaiguri, Dam-Dim, Nagrakot,
Alipur-Duars and Purnes, 3 companies of cadets and one
reserve company. Its total strength (1908-1904) is 510 of
all ranks,

Jail. The District jail at Darjeeling has accommodation for
132 prisoners. The bakery, from which bread is supplied to
the troops and to the general public, constitutes the chief in-
dustry ; oil-pressing, bamboo and cane work, carpentry, boot
and shoe-making are also carried on, and bees are hived,

Bducation. The chief educational institutions are St. Paul’s school
for the sons of EBuropeans and East Indians, established at
Caleutta in 1845 and removed to Darjeeling in 1864, and St.
Joseph’s Roman Catholic College, founded at Sunny Bank in
1888 but transferred to the present buildings at North Point
in 1802. 1In 1908-04 there were 218 pupils at St. Joseph’s
college and 96 at St, Pauls school ; the latter received ftrom
Government a high  school grant of R1,800 and an attend-
ance grant of R3,850. Other schools for European and
Purasian .edu.ca‘tiun are the Diocesan girle’ school with 85
pupils which 1s assisted by an annnal Government grant of
R3,600, and the Loretto Convent school with 170 pupils.
New buildings have recently been erected for the Diceesan
girls’ school which accommodate 100 pupils ; the present
constitution of the school in its relation to the Clewer Sister-
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d dates from 1895. The Darjeeling High sehool is open
to all natives; the students numbered 280 in 1901, of whom
49 were Bhotias and 3 Lepchas. Bhotias and Lepchas who
do not intend to read for University examinations are educated
free,and are trained chiefly as explorers, interpreters and sur-
veyors. Attached to the schoolis a boarding house with
accommodation for 7 Bhotias and Lepchas, which is main-
tained with the help of a Government grant of R750 a year.

L

The most important medical institution is the Eden Jubilee Modical.

Sanitarium which was opened in 1883, and provides accom-
modation for 86 sick and convalescent persons ; it is self-
supporting. A new hospital in connection with it, built at a
cost of B20,000 and opened in 1901, contains an excellent
operating theatre of the most modern type, and provides
accommodation for 6 patients and 2 nurses. The Lowis
Jubilee Sanitarium for natives, which was opened in 1887,
contains accommodation for 99 persons; the main building
and the land were given by the Maharaja of Cooch Behar.
The town also contains a digpengary with 38 beds: 7,000
patients were treated in 1903, of whom 444 were in-patients ;
the expenditure in that year was R45,000, of which
R37,000 was spent on buildings. The income was R50,000,
of which £12,000 was a special grant from Government,
R9,000 each was contributed by local and municipal funds,
and £16,000 by subscriptions,



vises to a height of 238 fect tapering gracefully from a
diameter of 47 feet at the base tonearly 9 feet at the summit.
The shaft consists of five storeys, enclosing a spiral staircase,
and was crowned by a now broken cupola, which fell during
an earthquake in 1803. The original purpose of the minaret
was doubtless as a muazzan’s tower, whence the call to morning
and evening prayer might be heard throughout the whole city.
The site chosen for the mosque was that already occupied by
the iron pillar, which_ forms the centre ornament of the inner
courtyard. Around in every divection spreads a heap of
splendid ruins, the most important of which are the tomb of
Altamsh and ‘the unfinished minaret of Ali-ud-din, com-
menced in 1311. -

During the reign of the Slave kings, a Queen, for the
only time in its history, sat on the throne of the Muhammadan
empire of Delhi.  As the patriot Hungarians, in the annals
of modern Europe, drew their swords for Rew Maria Theresa,
g0 her subjects gave to Queen Razziya the masculine title of
Sultén.

The Slave Dynasty retained the sovereignty till 1290,
when Jalil-ud-din, the Khilji, founded a new line. During
the reign of his nephew and successor, Ala-ud-din, Delhi was
twice unsuceessfully attacked by Mughal hordes, who swept
into the country from Central Asia.

In 1820, the house of Tughlak succeeded to the empire ;
and Ghiyas-ud-din, its founder, erected a new capital, Tughlak-
abad, ona rocky eminence 4 miles further to the east.
Remains of a massive citadel, and deserted streets or lanes
still mark the spot on which this third metropolis arose ; but,
no human inhabitants now frequent the vast and desolate
ruins. Ghiyas-ud-din died in 1325, and was succeeded by his
son Muhammad Tughlak, who thrice attempted to remove
the seat of government and the whole population from Delhi
to Daulatabad (Deogiri) in the Deccan—more than 800 miles
away. lbn Batuta gives a graphic picture of the desolate
city, with its magnificent architectural works, and its bare,
unpeopled houses.  Firoz Shah Tughlak once more removed
the site of Delhi to a new town, Firozabad, which appears to
have occupied all the ground between the tomb of Humayiin
and the Ridge. Amid the ruins of the prince’s palace, just
outside the” modern south gate, stands one of the famous
pillars originally erected by Asoka, the great Buddhist emperot,
in the 8rd century B. C. This monolith, 42 fect in height, is
known as Firoz Shah’s /a/ or pillar as it was brought by him
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rom opra near Khizrabad in the District of Ambgla. It is
composed of pale pink sandstone, and bears a Pali inscription,
first deciphered by Mr. Prinsep, '

In December 1398, while rival claimants of the house of
Tughiak fought for the remnants of the kingdom, the hordes
of Timtir reached Delhi. Mahmad Shah II, the nominal
king, fled to Gujarat, after Lis prmy bad suffered a deteat be-
neath the walls, and Timar, entering the civy, gave it over
for five days to plunder ‘and massaere. Dead bodies choked
the streets; and when at lact éven the Mughal appetite for
carnage was satiated, the hostretired, dragging with them
nto slavery larce numbers both of men and women. op
two months Delhi remained absolutely without government;
until Mahmiid Shak recovered a miserable fragment of his
former empire, In 1412, he died and his snccessors the Saiyid
vassals of the Mughals, held Delhi, with a petty principality
in the neighbourhood, until 1447, when the Liodi dyuasty
succeeded to the Muhammadan empire.  In 1503, Sikandar'11
made Agra the capital of the empire, but Delhi retained much
of its former importance. After hig defeat of Ihrahim I, the
last of the Lodis, at Panipat, Babar entered Delhi in 1526,
but resided mainly at Agra. Humayin removed to Delhi,
and built or restored the fort of Purana Kila on the site of
Indraprastha, . The Afghan Sher Shah, who diove out Huams-
yin in 1540, enclosed and fortified the city with a new wall.
One of his approaches, known as the Lal Darwaza or Red
S}{lte; still stands isolated on the roadside facing the modern
Jail. - The fortress of Salimgarh preserves the name of a son
of Sher Shah, uméayan’s 'tomb forms .one of .the most
striking architectural ~ monuments in the neighbourhood.
Akbar and J abangir usually resided at Agra, Lahore, or
Ajmer. Shih Jahan rebuily the city on its present site,
surrounding it with the existing fortifications and adding the
title of Shahjahavabad from his own vame. Healgo built
the J ama Maspd, and réopened the, Western Jumna Canal,
From his time Delhi vemained the head-quarters of the
Mughal emperors, Tn 17886, during the reign of Muham-
mad Shih, the Marithas firsy appeared beneath the walls of
Delbi. ~ Two years later, Nadir Shah entered thé city in
triumph and re-enacted the massacre of Timir, - For 58 days
the victorious Persian plundered rich and poor alike, and left
the city witha booty estimated at, £9,000,000. Before the
final disruption of the decaying empire in 1760, the unhappy
capital was twice devastated by civil war, sacked by Abmad




< Shah Durrani ; and finally spoiled by the rapacious Mar'&(_i-
thas, Alamgir IT, the last real emperor, was murdered in
1760. Sbah Alam, who assumed the empty title, could
not establish his authority in Delhi, which became the
alternate prey of Afghan and Marathas until 1771 , when the
latter party restored the phantom emperor to the city of his
ancestors. In 1788, a Maratha garrison permanently occupied
the palace, and the king remained a prisoner in the hand of
Sindhia until the British conquest, On March l4th, 1808,
Lord Lake, having defga-ted the Marathas, entered (/elhi,
and took the king under his protection. Next year, Holkar
attacked the city ; but Colonel, afterwards Sir David Ochter-
lony, first British Resident, successfully held out against
overwhelming numbers for 8 days, until relieved by Lord
Lake. The conquered territory was administered by the
British in the name of the emperor, while the palace remained
under His Majesty's jurisdiction,

The story of the Mutiny at Delhi and of the restoration
of British sovereignty, belong rather to Imperial than local
history. Delhi was recovered in September 1857, and remained
for a while under Military Government; and it became
necessary, owing to the frequent murders of European soldiers,
to expel the population for a while from the city. Shortly
after, the Hindu inhabitants were freely re-admitted ; but the
Muhammadans were still rigorously excluded, till the restora-
ilggls of the city to the civil authorities, on J anuary the 11th,

Delhi has on  two occasions since the Mutiny been the
scene of Imperial Assemblages ; in 1877, when Queen Victoria
was proclaimed Empress of India, and in 1908 to eelebrate the
accession of Bdward VII,

Modsen The modern ¢ity of Delhi extends for over two milesalong
Dalhi. the west bank of the river J umnma, and on the other three sides
is enclosed by a stone lofty wall 84 miles in length built by
the emperor Shah Jahan and re-constructed by the British at
the beginning of the last ¢entury. It was once entered by
14 gates, 8 on the land side and 6 leading to the river ; but
many of these have now been removed. Of those that remain,
the principal are—on the north the Kashmir Gate, on the west
the Farash Khana and Ajmer gates, and on the south the
Delbi Gate. The imperial palace, now known as *the fort,’
lies to the east of the city, and abuts divectly on the river, It
is surrounded on the other three sides by an mposing wall of
ved sandstone, with small round towers, and gateways on the
west and routh,
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n the north-east of the fort is the out-work of Salimgarh.
At this point the East Indian Railway enters the city by
a magnificent bridge across the Jumna passing over Salim-
garh and through a corner of the fort to the railway station
within the city walls. North-west of the fort, up to the
Kashmir Gate, lies an open space in which are situated the
public offices and 8t. James’ Church. South of this and
separated from it by the railway line, lies another open space
devoted to the public gardens, and in the south-east corner
of the aity, in the quarter known as Darya Ganj, is the
cantonment. The whole area thus occupied covers nearly one-
half of the entire city ; it presents a comparatively open appear-~
ance, and forms a marked contrast to the south-west quarter
of the town which is densely occupied by the shops and
dwellings of the native population.

The architectural glories of Delhi are famous alike in
Indian and BEuropean literature. It is impossible in a brief
notice like the present to attempt any adequate description of
them. They are deseribed in Mr. Fergusson’s History of
Indian and Bastern Architecture (1876) in Mr. Fanshawe’s
Delhi Past and Present (1902) and in many other works,
The palace of Shah J ahan, perhaps less picturesque and more
gober in tone than that of Agra, has the advantage of being
built on a more uniform plan, and by the most magnificent of
the royal builders of India. It formsa parallelogram, measur-
ing 1,600 feet east and west by 8,202 feet north and south,
exclusive of the gateways, Passing the deeply recessed portal,
a vanlted hall ig entered, rising two storeys, 875 feot long,
like the nave of a gigantic Gothic cathedral— the noblest
entrance,” says Mr Fergusson, “ to any existing palace.”” Fac-
i“g.t’mf entrance is the Naubat Khana or music hall beyond
which is the great court of the palace in the middle of which
stands the Diwan-i-4m or hall of public audience. Behind
this again is a court containing the Rang Mahal or Painted
Chamber.  Notth of this central range of buildings stands
the Diwan-i-Khas or private audience hall which forms, ¢ If
not the most beautiful, certainly the most ornamented of all
Jahan’s buildings.” It overhangs the river and nothing can
exceed the delieacy of its inlaid work or the poetry of its
design. 1tison the walls of this hall that the Pamous
ingeription van, “ If there is a heaven on earth. it is this—ib
is this I South of the central range of buildings an area,
measuring about 1,000 feet each way, was oceupied, says Mr.
Fergusson, by the harem and private apartments of the

L
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palace, covering, consequently, more than twice the area of
the Escurial or, in fact, of any palace in Europe. )
The buildings in the native town are chiefly of brick,
well-built and substantial. The smaller ctreets are narrow
and tortuous, and in many cases end in eulsdesac. On the
other hand, no aty in India has finer streets than the main
thoroughfares of Delhi, 10 in number, thoroughly drained,
metalled, and lighted. The principal thoroughfare, the
Chandni Chauk or Silver Btreet, leady eastwards from the
Fort to the Lahore Gate, thiree qliarters of a milé long by
74 feet broad. Throughout the greater part of its length,
a double row of trees runs down its centre on beth sides of a
raised path, which has taken the place of the masonry
aquednct that in former days conducted water from the canal
into the palace. A ht}tle to the gouth of the Chandni
Chauk is the Jama Masjid, or great mosqte, standing out
boldly from a small rocky rising ground. Begun by Shah
Jahin in the fourth year of his reign and completed ‘in the
tenth it still remains one of the finest buildings of its kind
in India. The front courtyard, 450 fect square, surrounded by
a cloister open on both sides, is paved with granite inlaid
with marble. and commands a view of the whole city The
mosque itself, a splendid strueture forming an oblong 261 feet
in length, is approached by a magnificent flight of stone
steps. Three domes of white marble rise from its roof, with
two tall and graceful minarets at the corners in front.
The interior of the mosque is paved throughout with white
marble, and the walls and 1voof are lined with thé same
material. Two other mosqués in Delhi deserve a passing
notice—the Kala Masjid or black mosque, so called from
fthe dark colour given to it by time, and supposed to have
been built by one of the early Afghan sovereigns, and the
mosque of Roshan-ud-daula.  Among the more modern
buildings of Delhi may be mentioned the Residency, the
Town Hall, & handsome building in the Chindni Chauk
contaiwing a Darbar Hall with a good collection of pictures,
a4 Museum and Public Libtary, and the Church of 8t James
built at a cost of £10,000 by Colonel Skimper—an officer
well known 1 the history of the Fast India Company.
Aboitt half way down the ‘Chandni Chauk is a high clock-
tower. North of the Chandni Chauk lie the Queen’s Gar-
dens. Outeide the city walls the Civil lines stretch awany
on the north as far a- the historic ridge, about a mile aut-
gide the town. To the west and south-west considerable
#uburbs cluster beyond the walls, containing the tombs of the
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imperial family. That of Humayin is a noble building of
red sandstone with a dome of marble. It lies about 84 miles
from the Delhi Gate in a large garden of terraces, the
whole surrounded by an embattled wall, with towers and four
onteways. In the centre stands a platform about 20 feob
high by 200 feet square, supported by cloisters, and.ascended
by four great flights of granite steps. Above rises the
mausoleum, also a square, with a great dome of white marble
in the centre.  A'mile to the westward is another burying-
ground, or collection of tombs and small mosques, some of
them very beautiful. ‘I'he most remarkable is perhaps the
little chapel id honour of a-celebrated Mubammadan saint,
Nizam-ud din, near whose shrine the members of the
Mughal imperial family, up to the time of the Mutiny, lie
buried, each in his own: little enclosure, surrounded by
avery elegant lattice-work of white marble.
The palaces of the nobles, which formerly gave an air of
grahdeur to the city, have for the most part; disappeared.
Their gites are oceupied by structures of less' prefemsion, but
still with some elegance of architectural designi The city is
now amply supplied with water, and mueh. attention has of
late been pail to cleanliness and sanmitary requirements
generally.
The Delhi  municipality; created in 1880, is of the first
¢lass. Tt has 24 members, 12 nominated and 12 elected.
The Deputy Commissioner is ez-offieio president. The average
incomie for the 10 years ending 1902-03 was R5,57,830 and
the expenditure R5,53,200. Its income for 1903-04 was
16,50,8%9 and expenditure 15,80,5.4:
The occupations and industries of Delhi are numerous, and
comprise jewellery, silversmith’s work, brass and copper ware,
wory carving; pottery, weaving, gold and silver embroidery,
miniature painting, ete. For centuries the jewellery of Delhi
has had a worldwide repatation, but it is doubtful whether the
productions of the present day ave equal to those of Mughal
tiines. Tvory earving is carried on very successfully by one
or two fnmlhf‘ﬂ,‘and within recent years some very beautitul
caskets and similar articles in this material have been pro-
_duced. A feature of the Delhi work is the employment of

geometrie open work patterns which ave carried out with @
very high degree of finish. The pottery of Delhi is a kind
of rough porcelain and has certain artistic qualities, It 18 &
cotnparatively modern art; and is in the hand of only one or
two craftemen. An important industry is gold and silver

L
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embroidery, chiefly carried on by the dealers of the Chandni
Chauk. Although the designs are now showing signs of
Buropean influence, good oriental patterns are still obtainable
and the art isin a fairly flourishing condition. The manu-
facture of gold and silver wire to carry on this industry is an
extensive one, and employs a large number of hands. These
kandla kaskan or wire drawers pay the municipality yearly
R25,000, in return for which the municipality supervises
the melting and blending of the metal in a central work-
shop, and thereby gives it a guarantee of purity whose value
is undisputed throughout India. .
Commeree Delhi possesses a very considerable trade, though the
and trade.  gontinuation of the great North-western trunk railway on the
eastern bank of the river has thrown it somewhat off the
modern line of traffic. It derives importance as a trade centre
at present owing to the fact that grain and piece-goods are free
of octroi, and it still forms the main entrepét for commerce
between Calcutta or Bombay on the one side and Rajputana
on the other, The chief imports include indigo, chemicals,
cotton, silk, fibres, grain, oilseeds, A7, metals, salt, horns,
hides, and Buropean piece-goods. The exports consist of the
gsame articles in transit together with tobacco, sugar, oil,
jewellery. and gold or silver lacework. Beyond the borders
of the Province, Delhi merchants correspond with those of
Jind, Kabul, Alwar, Bikaner, Jaipur and the Doab; while
with all the Punjab towns they have extensive dealings.
Buropean finance is represented by the Bengal, National,
Delhi and London, Allahabad and Upper India Banks, and’
soveral cotton merchants have agents in-the city. The great
trade avenue of the Chandni Chauk, already described, is
lined with the shops and warehouses of merchants, and is one
of the chief sights of interest to the visitor at Delbi.
Tdueation. The prineipal educational institution was, until 1877,
the Delhi College, founded in 1792, but abolished in 1877, in
order to concentrato higher education in the Punjab Univer-
sity at Lahore. The chief school at Delhi is now the muni-
cipul high school with 6 branch schools; other high schoeols
are the Anglo-Arabic, the Anglo-Sanskyit, 8t. Stephen’s
Mission Scheol, and the Shahzida High School, maintained
chiefly for poor descendants of the Mughal royal family. All
these receive grants-in-aid. The city also has & normal school
which trains vernacular teachers for primary  schools, &
municipal industrial school, the aided middle boarding school®
for girls of the Baptist and Sodgly for he Propagation of
the Gospel missions, and a school for the Yénani system of
native medicine.
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GWALIOR.

A decayed town formerly of great historical importance
situated in 26° 13" N. and 78° 10’ E., at the foot of the
famous fort of the same name. The name Gwalior is
often applied, but quite erroneously, to the capital of the Ma-
haraja Sindhia’s dominions, of which the correct name is
Lashkor (see #7/ra). Gwalior proper was never the capital
of Sindhia’s dominions, of which up to 1810, when the pre-
sent capital was founded, Ujjain was considered the chief
town.

Gwalior was in Akbar’s day the chief town of one of the
Sarkars of the Suba of Malwa. It was famous for its stone
carving industry, which still survives, the manufacture of
glazed tiles and jewellery, now lost arts, and its ironware
made of metal smelted locally.” Until the opening of the
presept Agra-Bomba,y high road Gwalior was also important
as being one of the prineipal stages on the great route from
the Deccan, which passed by Sironj, Narwar, Gwalior, and
Dholpuz, to Agra.

The old city is now a desolate looking collection of half
empty, dilapidated, flat-roofed stone houses, deserted mosques
and ruined tombs, Its opulation in 1859 was 83,792
persons ; in 1881, 20,000 ; 1891, 15,766 ; 1901, 16,807 ; males
9,559, females 8,218, Constitution, Hindus 11,684, Musalmans
4,902,.Jains 271,

1t stands, the town is entirel y Mubammadan in character,
no old Hindu remaing being traceable. It has one good main
street, and in spite of its generally wretched appearance, con-
tains several fing buildings. The Jama Masjid (or cathedral

140

mosque), built of a fine veg sand-stone; is a good example of °

the lgter Mughal style. The main building was erected in
the timé of Jahangiy (1605-1627), a new end being added
in 1665. T_he mosyue of Khandola Khan, his'tomb and that
of his son Naziri Khan, as well ag several other tombs are
noticeable for the good stomo ornamentation with which they
are decorated, much of the pierced screen work being of
unusual beauty. .

Yo the east of the town stands the mausoleum of Muhams=
mad Ghaus, a very fine example of early Mughal architecture.
1t is buwlt in the form of a square with hexagonal towers at
its corners, smmounted by small domes, The body of the
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building is enclosed on all sides by carved stone lattices of
elaborate and delicate design, the whole being surmounted by
a large dome which was originally covered with blue glazed
tiles, Shaikh Muhammad Ghaus, whose body lies within,
was a well known personage in the sisteenth century, He was
famous forhis liberality, and also notorious among Muhammad.-
aus, for  his broad minded views regarding * Infidels.” - He
visited Akbarat Agra in 1558,.but owing to the iofluence at
court: of axival saint, who, the historian Badauni says, showed
that “ spirit of jealous spite and malice which is the peculiar
property of the saints of Hindustan,” he was ill received and
in: disgust retived into seclusion at Gwalior, where he died in
1562. Near to Muhammad Ghaus's tomb is that of Tan Sen
the most: famous singer India bas ever had, It isan open
structure supported by 12 outer pillars.and 4 inner, .. Over. it
there formerly guew an Jmli tvee (Tamarindus Indica) the
leaves of which, ,when. chewed, were popularly supposed
to endow.the partaker, with a most melodious voice, and were,
in consequence, much sought after by dancing girls.

Just beyond the fort to the north stands a tall cusped
Pathan gateway. . Nothing but. the gate remains, a con-
spicuous object from a long distance. The old fort is one of
the most famous in India, “the pearl in the necklace-of the
castles of Hind ” as the author of the Taj-ul-Maasir puts :it.
It stands on an isolated sand-stone hill, which towers 300
feet above the old town, It is one and three quarters of 'a
mile long and 2,800 feet across at its widest part.  The
walls above the scarp are about 80 feet high. , As seen from
the nerth-east  its aspect is most imposing ““ the long line
of battlements which crown the steep scarp .on the east is
broken enly by the lofty - towers and fretted .domes of the
noble palace of: Baja Man Bingh, . e e a0 Ablihe
northern .end .where the rock hus been . quarried for ages, the
Jagged masses of the overhanging cliff seem ready to fall
upon the city beneath them. . . . . . Midway  over
all, towers the giant form of a massive Hindu temple, grey
with the moss of ages” The fort has figured in Indian
history. since the eighth century, and may have been of im-
portance long before that, as the date of its foundation is
uncertain, while from the time of its capture by Kutab-ud-
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;in 1196, until 1858, it has been continuously the centre
of war and tumult.

Tradition assigns the foundation of the fort to one
Siiraj Sen, who was cured of leprosy by an ascetic named
Gwilipa, who inhabited the hill on which the fort now
stands, and which was called Gwalior after him.

In inseriptions relating to the fort, however, it is called
Gopagiri, Gopadri and Gopachala (the shepberd’s hill)
whence the modern Gwalher, Giwiliar and Gwalior.

The first historical holders of the fort of Gwalior were
the Huna adventurers Toramédna and his son Mihkula who
partially overthrew the Gupta power in the sixth century.
An inseription belonging to this family was found in the fort.
In the ninth century it wasin the hands of Raja Bhoja of
Kananj, whose record, dated A. D. 876, is on the Chaturbhaj
rock cut temple. The Kachhwaha Rajputs were the pos-
sessors in the middle of the tenth century, and they appear
to have continued to hold it, cither as independent rulers,
or as feudatories till 1129, when they were ousted by the
Parihar Rajputs. ;

The Parihars held possession until 1196, when the fort was
taken for Saltin Muhammad Gherl by Kutab-ud-din Aibak.
Mahmid of Ghazni had'commenced an assault in 1021, but
had been bought off, " In 1210, during the rule s of Kutab-ud-
din’s son, the Parihars recovered it, and held possession until
1232 when it was captured by Altamsh, after a severe siege
lasting 11 months, when 700 prisoners were “ordered to
receive punishment at the door of the royal temt.” 1t
remained a Muhammadan possession till 1898 when, in the dis-
turbances eaused by Timur’s invasion, it was seized by the
Tonwara Rajputs, Though subjected to attacks in 1404,
:1416 and 1429 the Tonwaras managed to retain their hold on
it up to 1518, when it was surrendered to Tbrahim Lodi.

During the period of Tonwara rule Gwalior rose to great
eminence, especially inthe long reign of Réja Man Singh
(1486-1517), It was in his time that the magnificent
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/palace with its great gate, which crowns the eastern face o

the rock was built, while under the direction of his favourite
G ajart queen Mrignaina,  the fawn-eyed,” Gwalior became
pre-eminent as the home of musie, whence all the finest musi-
cians of India came for long after. In Akbar’s day out of
57 singers and players, 80 had learned in the Gwalior
school, including the famous Tan-sen. In 1526 the fort
passed to Babar. In 15642 it fell to Sher Shah Sir, with
whom it became a favourite resort, the remaining rulers qf
his dynasty practically making it the capital of their domi-
nions,

In 1558 it fell to Akbar and remained a Mughal posses-
sion until the eighteenth century. During its possession by
the Muhammadans it was used as a state prison. The cells now
called the Nauchauki still exist near the “ Dhonda * gate, to
the west of the fort. Many members of the Delhi ruling
house of the day have entered the fort, few ever to leave it.
Political prisoners were disposed of by being made to drink
a decoction of crashed popy heads called pust. “ This potion,”
says Bernier, ‘“is generally given to Princes confined in the
fort of Gouileor whose heads the monarch is deterred by
political reasons from taking off. This drug emaciates the
weetched victims, who lose their strength and intellect by
slow degrees, becoming torpid and senseless, and at length
die.” In the confusion which followed on the battle
of Panipat in 1761, Lokendra Singh, the Jat chief of
Gohad, obtained possession of i, but was driven out
by 8indhia soon after, During the Marathi war it was
taken on August 8rd, 1780, by Major Popham’s brigade, a
Burprise assault being made by a party led by Captain
Bruce, brother to the well-known traveller, who was shown
tbe way up the rock by a dacoit. The spot where the
escalade took place, is to the west of the fort mnear the
* Urwiihi” gate, and i still called the * Faringi pahir ** or
* white man’s hill.” The fort was thea handed back by us to
the Rana of Gohad, but was re-taken by Sindhiain 1784. In
the troubles with Sindhia, in the beginning of the nineteenth
century, the fort was taken by General White on 4th
Pebruary 1804, Tn 1805 it was again made over to Sindhia.
A't:ter the disturbances which ended in the battles of Maha~
rijpur and Panniar in 1843, the fort was garrisoned by the
Gwalior Contingent Force under British oflicers, which had
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been raised in accordance with the treaty of 184d. Tt
continued in charge of the Contingent till they rebelled in
1857. On 18th June 1858 it was taken by assault by a
party of Sir Hugh Rose’s force, under Lieutenants Waller
and Rose the latter of whom fell in the great gateway.
It was thenheld by a detachment of the troops from
Morar until 1885, when it was made over to Sindhia in
exchange for Jhansi. :
Areheologiesl remains.—The fort contains many objects
of historical and antiquarian interest. The main entrance is
on the eastern side where a long ramp, affording an ever
extending view over the plains below, leads up through six
gates to the summit of the rock. Of these gates three are
worthy of special note, the lowest gate built in Muhammadan
style and kmown as the Alamgiri-Darwaza, erected in 1660,
the gate uext aboveit the Badalgarh-paur, in Hindu style
of the fifteenth century, and the Hathi-paur of the same style
and period at the summit.
Just beyoud the fourth or Ganesh gate is a small mosque
which was built by a Musalwan governor on the site of the
original shrine erected by Siraj Sen to Gwalipa, the tute-
lary saint of the bill,
On appreaching the next or ‘¢ Lakshman *’ gate there is
a gmall rock cut temple in ninth century style, hewn out of the
hill side. It is dedicated to Chaturbhiij, the four armed
Vishnu, and bears an ingeription of Raja Bhoja of Kanauj,
dated A. D. 876, in which he js termed ** Gopagiri-Swami *
| or lord of Gwalior. The Jast gate through which the fort is
: enf}ered 18 a magnificent example of Hindu work, and was

built b_Y Raja Man Singh in the fifteenth century. 1t is called
. the Hathi-paur or elophant gate, from the life eize figure of an
| elepbant which formerly stood just outside it.

The Palaces~There gre gix palaces on the fort, four

Hinduand two Mubammadan, The finest is that of Rajs Man
|

Singh, the Tonwara chief om 14 1517,
Between the Lakshmao, 1ef who ruled from 1486 to 1517,

along the magnificent fagade of this palace ; a wall, of hewn

sand-stone blocks, three hundred feet long and 100 high,
relieved along the top by an ornamental frieze of coloured

tiles, and at intervals along the front by massive round
towers crowned with graceful « chhatris, ”” and econnected

together by a balusirade of delicately fretted stonework.

o and Hathi-paur gates one passes
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The palace is a two storeyed building 300 feet long by
160 broad with two extra storeys of ¢ Taikhana’ (under
ground rooms for use in hot weather) on its eastern face.
The roomsand court-yards of this palace are richly carved,
and were originally profusely ornamented with coloured
tiles, of which a few still remain. The emperor Babar who
visited the fort in 1527, some 20 years after its completion,
has left a graphic account of its appearance. He notes that
the palaces are “ singularly beautiful, but built in different
patches without regular plan,” and states that the facade
was then covered with white stucco, and the domes plated
with copper, while he shrewdly adds of the palace apart-
ments, that, ¢ though they have had all the ingenuity of
Hindusthin bestowed on them, yet they are very uncomfort-
able places. ” :

The Gajari Mahal, situated at the south-east corner of
the fort has a noble quadrangle full of fine sculpture and
mouldings, and some admirable windows, It was built by
Raja Man Singh for his favourite queen Mrignaina. Just
outside the palace is a small cemetery containing the graves
of Buropeans who died in the fort.” The remnining Hinda
palaces are of less interest while the two Muhammadan
edifices are poor, being built only of rubble and plaster.

The Temples~There are many temples and shrines
still standing on the fort, of which three are of gpecial
importance. Two stand close together upon the eastern
rampart and are known to natives as the greater and lesser
Sas-bahu, and are, as a rule, erroneously called Jain by
Buropeans. Both must have leen, when complete, very
beautiful examples of 11th century work. They are built
on the same plan, that of 5 cross, and are richly ornamented
with soulpture. The larger one bears an inseription which
mentions its foundation in A. D. 1092, and its completion
the following year by Mahipala Deva, the Kachhwaha chief
of Gwalior, The dedicatory verses show that the temple
was sacred to Hari (Vishou), which is what the seulptures
would lead ome o expect. The smaller temple must have
been built about the same time, and was also dedicated to
Vishnu,

The third temple of importance is that now called the
Teli mandir or Oilman’s temple, Itis a curious building
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as well ag an imposing one. Much the Ioftiest building on
the fort being 110 feet high, it is distinguished by its roof
from all other temples in northern India. The lower portion
of the building is decidedly northern in style, while the
upper portion is designed mainly in the style of a southern
Indian temple, its roof being of the ““waggon’ type met
with in the Raths of Mahabalipur, and other buildings in
the Madras Presidency, It was at first a Vaishnay temple,
as the flying figures of Garuda over the lintel of the original
door and on the side faces show. When it was later on, in
the fifteenth century, converted to Saivic uses a second and
smaller door was erected, inside the other, which bears a
figure of Siva’s son, the elephant beaded god Ganesh,
upon it. It dates from the tenth or eleventh century.

Jain remains.—There are on the fort one small Jain
temple to Parasnith, and the remains of another Jain temple,
both of the twelfthcentury ; but of no great interest. The
only really important Jain remains are the five great collee-
tions of figures carved on the face of the rock itself, which
were all executed between 1497 and 1580 during the sway
of the Tonwara dynasty, The figares are some of them
colossal, one, inthe group near the Urwahi gate, being 67
feet high. The emperor Babar notices this figure, and adds
that be ordered all of them to be destroyed, but as a matter
of fact only some of those most easily reached, were partially
mutilated.

Tanks .—~There are 5 large number of tanks on the fort.
Two cut in the wall of the rock lie on the ascent between
the 5th and 6th gates, and are said ‘never to fail in their
sup_ply, an ill}portant factor in old days of long sieges, and
which Tavernier remarks,  caused this place to be esteemed
one of,the best in India.” The oldest tank is the © Siiraj
kund ” or tank of the sun, where a temple formerly stood.
At the northern end is the Johar tank, where the Rajputs
slew their women and children to save them from capture
(Johar), when the fort wags taken by Altamsh in 1282
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Lashkar.—The modern capital of Gwalior State, situated
two miles south of the fort and old town of Gwalior. It is the
largest and most important town in the Agency. * The original
capital of Sindhia’s dominions was Ujjain. The foundations
of this city were laid by Maharija Daulat Rao Sindhia in
1810, when after wresting the district from his 'vassal
Ambaji Inglia, be fixed on this spot for his standing camp or
¢ Lashkar,” whence it derives its name. A year orso later
a few buildings were erected, notably the old palace, now
called Maharaj-wara. Evenin 1818, however, it was little
more than a great encampment as the following description
by an eve witness shows: “It (Lashkar) presents the
appearance of an immense village, or rather collection of villages
with about a dozen chunamed (stucco) buildings, shapeless,
coarse, without any air of ornament, . . . ., . .
interspersed with many tents, and palls, flags and peanons,
in some parts hutted lines and piles of arms, . . . .

in all open spaces horses picketed, strings of camels, and a few
statelv elephants. On the skirts of this large mass a few
smaller and more regular encampments, belonging to
particular Chiefs with their followers, better armed and
mounted. The sounds too of neighings of horses, drums
and firearms, and occasionally the piercing trump of an
elephant mingled in the confusion with the hum of a
population loud, busy and tumultuous, convincingly tell you
that the trade here is war, the manufacture one of arms.’’

By 1829, however, the city had assumed a more settled
appearance, the houses in the main street being “ handsome,
large and built of stone.”’

In 1858, during the Mutiny the Rani of Jhansi and
Tantia Topi joined forces, and on May 30th appeared before
Lashkar and called on Sindhia to assist the mutineers.
Sindhia not only refused but attacked them. His army,
however, mutinied and except; for his Maritha guard, went
overin a body to the enemy. Sindhia protected by his
Marathas reached Agra fort in safety. He returned to

Lashkar on June 20th with Sir Hugh Rose and the Resident,
Major Macpherson,



GWALIOR. II@L

The city is picturesquely situated in s horseshoe-ghaped
valley opening eastwards. Just below the fort are tlle
palaces standing ‘in a walled enclosure known as the Phal
Bagh, or flower garden. The modern residence of the Chief;
the Jaivilas palace, and the older Moti Mahal, now used for
the State departmental offices, s, Muscum and other buildings,
are all sitnated within this enclosure. Outside it, to the
south are the Elgin Club for the Sardars of the State,
managed on the lines of a European club, the Victoria Col-.
lege, and the Jayaji Hospital. The city proper lies beyond.
the palaces. It is bisected by the main road leading from
the Gwalior railway station, and is divided into numerous
quarters. The Sarafas or banker’s quarter is the only street

with any pretensions. It is formed by a fine broad road, not

unlike the Chandni Chauk at Delhi, but the houses on elose

inspection are seen to be in bad taste, Italian finials and

balustiades being mingled with exquisite native stone work,

while their thin poorly built walls are but inadequately econ=

cealed by a certain veneer of smartness.

The architecture of the city generally has little to recom-
mend it, although Gwalior is still the centre of a stone
carving industry, which has been famous for centuries, a
fact only to be explamed by the demoralising effect which
the Maratha inroads of the eighteenth century had on all the
arts  The great Jaivilas palace, built in 1874, is constructed
on the general plan of an Italian palazzo, but is unfortunately
disfigured by an incongruous mingling of European and
Tndien styles. It contains a fine Darbar ball & hundred
feet long by fifty wide and forty high.

The earlier Moti Mahal palace is a copy of the Peshwa’s
palace at Poona, and an example of the debased style of the
eighteenth century. The modern Jayaji Hospital and Vietoria
College are more satisfactory buildings. The Chhatris, or
cenotaphs of the Sindhias, which are situated to the south of
the city, are good examples of modern Hindu architecture,
especially that _of the late Mahéréj & \

4he population was in 1881, 85 066 ; 1591, 88,317 ; 1901,
89,164 ; males 45,886, females 43 963, Constitution, Hindus
67 899 or 76 per cent., Jaing 2,054 or2 per cent., Parsis 7,
M usalman 18,8}9 or 21 per ceut., Christians 208, Animists
137. The density at present is 22,288 persons f)er square
mile, or excluding the palace area, 30,000 ; the density of
London and Bombay is about 86,000, The principal lan-
guages spoken are Marathi, which ig employed by 85 per
cent, of the population, and Urdi, by 46 per cent,
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Of the population 35 per cent. are engaged in industrial,
11 per cent. in commercial, 10 per cent. in agricultural and
6 per cent, in professional occupatious, the rest in miscella-
neous work. The prevailing castes are Brahmans forming
18 per cent, of the population, and Marathas 7 per cent.; it
is noticeable that of the Musalman population 40 per cent.
are Pathans ; Shaikhs 87 per cent. The people are on the
whole well-to-do, many of the big merchants being men of
great wealth. The principal sources of trade are banking and
exchange, stone-carving, the export of building stone and grain.

There are many temples in the city, but none is of
special interest. } )

The ecity is well lald_ out with metalled roads, and a
branch of the Gwalior Light Railway runs from the railway
station to the Jaivilis palace. There is a General Pogt
Office belonging to the State Posta.l system in the Jaindraganj
quarter of the city, and branches in other quarter. There ie
a combined British Post and Telegraph office at the Gwalior
railway station, and at Jatinak-tal, in the west of the city.

The city is in charge of a municipality, originally estab-
lished in 1%87. Tt consists now of 69 members, of whom
7 are officials, the vrests elected. They have control of
the city proper which is divided into 18 wards. The
management of the lighting, conservancy, roads, markets,
drainage and samtation, and the acquirement of land
for public purposes, ave, in their hands. The municipal
income is derived from taxes on lighting, bazars, hackney
earriages and the rent of certain lands. Its total income is
172,000 a year ; expenditure ahout R50,000, 13,000 being
expended on conservancy, and R9,000 on Public Works,
The city is watched by a police force of 792 men, distributed
through 81 police station and out-posts. There are branch
hospitals in the city connected with the Jayaji Hospital,
also an asylum for the blind. There are three schools in the
city connected with the Victoria College, a free Library, kept
in the old Mahdraj-wara palace, besides five special schools,
one for Sardar’s sons, & military school, a service school,
and two girls” schools,

There is & State guestjhouse near the station for THuropean,
and two sarais for native, visitors. Lashkar is reached from
the Gwalior station of the Great Indian Peninsula Railway,
768 miles distant by rail from Bombay ; 72 from Agra, and
32 from Jhinsi. 1tis 841 miles from Indore by the Agra-
Bombay yoad,



This place is popularly termed the Kamp# and is the can-
tonment for the State troops, 1t is situated at the south-east
corner of the city, but is entirely distinet from it. 1t 18 nob
under the city municipality, but in charge of a special magis-
trate, who is responsible for the sanitation as well as the ma-

isterial work in the same way as cantonment magistrates in
%ritish India. Population, 1891, 12,757 ; 1901,18,472 ; males
8,226, f.'emales 5,246 ; the excess of males is accounted for by
the military nature of the population. Constitution, Hindus
9,767, Musalmins 8,663, Christians 47, Apimists 5. 1t
covers an area of 1} square miles, having 6,837 ocoupied
houses.
The land on which the Brigade stands was originally
%u't, of two villages, Gura-Guri and Rajpura. In 1810
aulat Rao Sindhin selected this site for the encampment of
the troops under his immediate personal command. To this
three other plots were added for the regular battalions, or
Kamp#i as they were termed, under his European Generals
Alexander, Jean Baptiste Filose and Jacob. By the 7th
article of the treaty, entered into with the British Govern-
ment in 1844, these camps were broken up, and the Alex-
ander Kampi was added to the Mahdraja’s to form a
cantonment for the State troops which he was allowed to
keep up under that treaty., Houses gradually sprang wup
round the lines and a few shops. In 1859, a large building
was erected known as the Kamps Kotbi, in which Maharaja
Jayaji Rao resided from 1866, to 1874. Subsequently it was
used for the military offices, and since 1900 the Military
School bas been located there. The chief officers of the
Military department, reside in Lashkar Brigade, including the
Commander-in-Chief, Adjutant General and the Quarter-
master-General of the State forces and their stalf. The
State workshop is also located here; instituted originally for
military purposes, it has developed into a general work-
shop 1 which work of all kinds is earried out including
repairs for the Gwalior Light Railway. In the Muharram
festival an interesting eeremony takes place here. The State
Pasea is placed mear the Kothi, while all the State depart-
ments provide miniature working models illustrating their
special work, such as model trains, bridges, irrigation works,
and the like.
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Lashkar
Erigade.
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HYDERABAD,

The capital of H. H. the Nizam’s Dominions, lying in
17° 22’ N. and 78° 27’ E., on the right bank of the river
Musi, a tributary of the Kistna. It is the first city in the
State, and the fourth in the whole of India in point of popu-
lation, Its population (including the suburbs, Residency
Bazars and the adjoining cantonments) in 7851 was 867,417 ;
in 1891 415,039 ; and in 1901 448,466. Distance from
Bombay 492 miles, from Madras 583 and from Calcutta
762. The city was founded by Muhammad Kuli, the fourth
Kutab Shahi king in 1589, who ruled at Golconda, six
miles west of Hyderabad. It was first named Bhagnagar,
but the name was afterwards changed to Hyderabad. It
continued to prosper, until Aurangzeb began to interfere
between the king and his discontented minister, Mir J umla,
in 1665. 1In 1687 Golconda was conquered and Hyderabad
fell into the hands of the Mughals, when the last king of
Kutab Shahi dynasty was taken prisoner. H yderabad remained
in the possession of the Mughals, until the first Nizam pro-
claimed his independence, and made it his capital. The city
18 surrounded by a stone wall flanked with bastions, and
{)ierced with thirteen gates and twelve Zhirkis or openings.

t 18 built in the form of a parallelogram and is six miles in
circumference and 24 square miles in area. The wall was
commenced by Mubariz Khan, the last Mughal Subakdar,
and compléted by the first of the Nizims when he made
the city his capital. The city has out-grown its former
limits, and has been extended to the north and east. Four
bridges lead to the city ; Purana Pul (old bridge) is the
westernmost and the Oliphant Bridge the easternmost ; bet-
ween these two are the Afzal Bridge and Champa-Gate
Bridge, the former being near the Oliphant Bridge and the
latter near the Purana Pul,

The most imposing#building erected by the Kutab Shahi
kings is the Chdr Msnar or the four Minarets, occupying
a central position in the city, with four roads radiating
from ite base. The minavets, 180 feet high, spring from
the four abutments of the open arches facing the cardinal

ints. It was erected in 1591, During the oceupation of the
%([)ughals;, one of the minarets was struck by lightning, and
the reconstruction of a single minaret cost Rs. 60,000. M.
Bussy, the French Commander, and his troops, occupied the
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Clhir Mingr in 1786. The building was thoroughly renovated
by Sir Salar Jang, a few years before his death.

The Char Kaman (four arches) were built in 1593. These
are equidistant from the Char Sy Ka Hawe (Cistern of four
roads) from which four streets lead to the four quarters of
the city, over which these have been erected. The Ckar Sz
Ka Houz 1 situated to the north of the Char Minir. The
king had a pavilion erected near the cistern, from which he
used to witness the manceuvring of his troops.

The Dar-ush-Skifa (hospital) some 200 yards to the
north-west of the Purgng Hapels (old palace) built by Kuli
Kutab Shab, is a large building consisting of a paved
quadrangular courtyard, having chambers all around fqr
the accommodation of the sick. A number of native_ physi-
cians were maintained at the time to minister to the sick and
teach medicine, but the building is now used as & ba.r}‘a.ck by
some of the Irregular Troops, Opposite the entrance is a fine
mosque erected at the same time as the hospital.

The Ashur Kkana is a large building, west of Sir Salar
Jang’s palace, erected by Sultin Mahammad Kuli Kutab
Shah in 1594 at a cost of Rs. 66,000. ' It is used for the
Mubarram ceremonies,

The Purina Pyj (old bridge), situated at the north-west
corner of the city, connects it with the Karvan road, leading
to Golconda. Tt consists of 28 arches, and is 200 yards long,
11 broad and 18 high, and was built in 1593. The river 18
very narrow here and the banks are steep.

The Gosha Mahal palace was erected by Abul Hasan,
the last Kutab Shahj king, a mile to the north of the ecity,
with a large cistern and pleasure grounds for his zanana. 1t
was used until lately as 5 barrack, but is now a military elub.

The Mecca Masjid (mosque), situated to the south-west
of the Ckar Minar, is 255 foet long, 180 broad and 75 feét
bigh and is built entirely of stone, occupying a paved
quadrangle 360 feet square, Fifteen arches support the roof,
which 1s surmounted by two large domes, rising 100 feet
above it. It can accommodate 10,000 worshippers. Abdullah
Kutab Shah commenced the building, and after his death its
eonstruction was continued by Abdul Hasan, but after his
imprisonment by Aurangzeb, the latter ordered its completion.
His Highness Nizam Ali Khan and all his successors are inter-
red in the grounds of the Masjid.

The Jama Masjid (mosque) which is near the Chdr
Mynar, was built in 1698. Ruins of a Turkish bath are to
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“be seen in the eourtyard. With the exception of the Mecea
Masjid and the (Gosha Mahal, all these structures were
constructed by Sultan Mahammad Kuli Kutab Shﬁl} s who is
said to have spent £83,000,000 on public buildings and
irrigation works. His nobles followed his example, and the
number of superb mosques and palaces erected in various
parts of the Dominions is greater than in any other Muham-
‘madan kingdom in the Dececan,

There is an extensive burial ground known as Mir Mo-
min’s Daira which was or.igina,lly consecrated as the necro-
polis of the Shiah sect b{ Mir Momin, who came to Hydera-
bad from Karbala in the reign of Abdullah Kutab Shah and
contains his remains. But now both Shiahs and Sunnis are
buried here. It is situated in the south-east corner of the
city, south-west of the Mir Jumla tank. Sir Salar Jang’s
family burial ground lies to the south of the Daira.

Among the more recent buildings may be mentioned the
Purans Havele (old palace), an extensive building in the
north-eastern quarter of the city, built by the first of the
Nizams, and is still occasionally used by the present ruler,

The Nizim's Chau-Mahla palace consists of a vast
series of buildings and court-yards covering an extensive
space, just behind the Mecca Masjid. The palace consists
of three quadrangle, with handsome open face buildings on
either side, and large cisterns in the centre. All these build-
ings and the reception rooms are most luxuriously and
tastefully furnished and are situated in the third quadrangle,
beyond which lies the sandna or ladies’ apartments. There
are many other royal residences in addition to these, at
Golconda, Surunagar, Maula Ali, Asafnagar, Lingampalli
and Malakpet, but His Highness at present mostly resides
at Sirdar Villa at Malakpet, near the race course.

Salar Jang’s palace is situated near the Afzal Gate and
congists of two portions; one containing the Baradari and
Lakkar Kot (wooden palace) lies on the right bank of the
Musi, and the other beyond the road leading to the Puréina
Haveli. Both are extensive buildings covering a large
space of ground.

Shams-ul-Umara’s Baradari is situated in the west of
the city and was buill by the first Shams-ul-Umara on sn
extensive piece of ground,

The Falaknuma, a very fine palace, was built by the late
Sir Vikar-ul-Umara on the summit of a hill in the southern
puburb of the city, at a cost, it is said, of 85 lakhs.
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e view of the city and suburbs from this palace is most
striking and no modern building at Hyderabad equals it in
point, of architecture or design. It was purchased by His
Highness the Nizam in 1897,

e Jahan-numa - Palace and its besutiful gardens be-
longing to the late Sir Asman Jah, are situated north of the
Falaknuma. The palace and the bungalows in the gardens
contain great numbers of ingenious mechanical toys.

The suburbs of the city include those beyond the
river Musi and those adjoining the ecity. 'lhe former
comprise Begam Bazar, Karvan, Afzal Ganj, Mashirabad,
Khairatabad, Saifabad, and Chadarghat, extending for
a distance of three miles from east to west, and an average
breadth of 14 miles from north te south, covering a space
of over five square miles, The Residency Bazars are situ-
ated to the south-east of these suburbs and to the north-east
of the city. The other suburbs adjoining the city to the
east and south are known as Yakutpura, Malakpet, and
Jahannuma and occupy an area of four miles.

The Husain Sagar, a large sheet of water which when
full extends over an area of 8 square miles, lies between
Secunderabad on the north and Saifabad, a portion of
Hyderabid, on the south and is the source of water-supply
for the Residency and suburbs north of the Masi river.
The tank bund ig 2,500 long, and forms the road connecting
tht_z northern suburbs with Secunderabad. The bund was
built by Sultan Ibrahim Kutab Shah about 1575 at a cost of
24 lakhs.

Mir Alam’s tank, built in 1804-05, is situated to the
sopth-.Wes? of the city, and is a magnificent sheet of water 8
miles in cireumference. The bund consists of & series of 21
semi~circular retaining walls with their convex side facing the
body of the water, Its tota) length is 1,120 yards and it was
constructed by & French engineer in His Highness' service.
Mir Alam, the Minister, built, this, the Baradari and, other
buildings, out of the prize money which fell to his share after
the fall of Se'rmgapajmm. The bund alone cost 8 lakhs of
rupees, and is 4 unlque work, The cily and suburbs are
now amply sug;phed with water from these two large tanks,
Water works have been constructed from them though not yet
complete. However, this institution has led to considerable
improvement in the sanitation : and cholera, which used to be
an annual visitor, has not been known in the city for the
last few years,
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The buildings of the well-to-do people in the city are
substantial and chiefly built of stone and brick and situated
within large gardens ; while the houses of the commoner
people were built of mud, but are now gradually keing
replaced with brick-built houses. The old streets and lanes
were narrow, but have of late been widened through the exer-
tions of the municipality. In the northern suburbs, however,
the generality of the houses are of a much superior plan,
mostly built in the form of bungalows situated in suitable
compounds. It may safely be said that three-fourths of the
old city and suburbs Lave been rebuilt and renovated since
the ministry of the late Sir Salar Jang, to say nothing of the
new buildings erected during the last half century.

There are now three colleges, several English and verna-
cular schools, a large Roman Catholic church, St. George’s
church, and many others for the other Christian denomina~
tions, sitmated in Chadarghat. The Publie Gardens,
most beautibully laid out, with two large tanks in the centre,
and surrounded by a picturesque wall, lie just at the foot of
the Nawbat Pahar or the *“ black rock.”” To the south of these
gardens is the Hyderabad terminal station of the Nizam’s
Guaranteed Btate Railways, a very fine building. Near the
Afzal bridge are the Afzal Ganj hospital and mosque; the
former has accommodation for 78 in-patients and a large
staff of surgeons and nurses is maintained. Most of the
Government Secretariats and other offices ave situated in
Saifabad and Chadarghat, but the High Cowt and the
Small Cause and Magistrate’s Courts, the Treasury , Account-
ant General’s and certain other offices are located in the city.

The population of the city inclusive of those living in
the cantonments, the civil lines and suburbs, has consi-
derably increased during the last 20 years, At the census
of 1881 it was 367,417 ; 415,039 in 1891, and 448,466 in 1901.
The Hindus numbered 243,241, the Musalmans 189,152, and
the Christians 13,923, There were also' 863 Sikhs, 920
Parsis, 818 Jains, and 40 others.
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JATPUR.

Jaipur City or Jainagar, the ¢ City of Victory,” is the
capital of the Jaipur State in Rajputana and the head-quarters
of the Sawai Jaipur Nizamat. It is situated in 26° 55’ N.
and 75° 52° E. on the Rajputana-Malwa Railway and the
Agra-Ajmer trunk road, being by rail 84 miles north-east of
Ajmer, 158 miles west of Agra, 191 miles south-west of
Delhi and 699 miles north-east of Bombay.

Jaipur is the largest city in Rajputans, its ares, includ-
ing suburbs, being 3 square miles. Its population at the
three censuses was : 1881, 142,678 ; 1891, 158, 787 ; and 1901,
160,167. The small increase in 1901 of less than one
per cent. occurred entirely in the suburbs, the population
of the ecity proper being less by 830 than in 1891.
The latter circumstance was largely due to the year 1900
having been a very unhealthy one; 13,874 deaths oceurred
wibhin the city walls, or a rate per mille of nearly 105 against
an average for the previous 26 years of about 45 per mille.
Cholera prevailed almost incessantly till September, claiming
2,314 victims and to the severe outbreak of malarial fever
which immediately followed 7,372 persons suecumbed. Hindus
number 110,601 or 69 per cent. of the population, Musalmans
40,386 or 25 per cent., and Jains 8,726 or b per cent.

The city takes its name from the famous Maharaja Sawai
Jai 8ingh IT by whom it was founded in 1728. It stands
on a small plain conjectured to be the bed of a dried-up lake,
and is surrounded on all sides except the south by rugged
hills, the summits of which are, at all important points,
crowned with forts. At the end of the ridge about 500 feet
above the city on the north-west is the chief defensive work,
the Nahargarh or “ tiger fort,” the rock face of which is so
scarped as to be Inaccessible on the south or city side, while
on the north the ridge slopes towards Amser. A masonry
crenelated wall, averaging in height 20 feet and in thickness
9 feet, encloses the whole city, TIn the wall are seven gate-
ways, all l_)u\lb of the same pattern with two kiosks above and
machicoulis over the entramce and at intervals are bastions
and towers pierced for cannon, while the parapet is loop-holed
for musketry. The city is remarkable for the regularity and
width of its streets. Tod described it as being “ ag regular
as Darmstadt ” and “the only city in India built upon a
regular plan.” 1t is laid out in rectangular blocks and

QL
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divided by cross streets into six equal portions which are in
turn intersected at regular intervals by narrower alleys.
The main streets are 111 feet in width, the secondary ones
55 and the smaller 274 feet. The Maharaja’s palace forms
an imposing pile in the centre occupying, with its pleasure
grounds, about one-seventh of the city area, To the north of
the paluce 1s the Tal Katora tank, enclosed by a mascnry
wall and beyond it again is the Raja Mal-ka-talao about 100
acres in area and stocked with alligators.

One of the most interesting antiquities of the State is the
observatory (jantra). 1t was erected by Jai Singh II; the
instruments, consisting of dials, azimuth circles, altitude
pillars, etc.,, are of huge size and have recently been put in
order under the supervision of an officer lent to the Larbar
by Government. The main streets, the large public institn-
tions, the palace and some private residences are lighted with
gas at a cost of about Ks. 28,000 a year. Since 1874 good
drinking water has been brought into the ecity from the
Aman-i-Shah river about 1§ miles west of the Chandpdl
gate. Pumping engines raise the water to a height of 109
feet where 1t ir stored in covered reservoira and thence deli-
vered in the city in iron pipes under 60 feet pressure. ‘lhe
daily averace corsumption in 1903 was 407,890 gallons or
about 24 gallons per head and the annual cost of maintenance
is about Re. 40,000.

There has been a municipality since 1868 ; the board con~
sists of 26 nominated members including a health officer and
an engineer. All the receipts are paid into, and the entire
expenditure is met from, the state treasury. The refuse of the
city is removed by a light tramway drawn by buffaloes and
incinerators have been erected at convenient spots. The
principal arts and industties are dyeing, carving in marble,
ensmelling on gold, pottery and brass work. The School of
Art, opened in 1888, has done much useful work; drawing,
painting, sculpture, wood carving, pottery and working in
gold and brass are taught and the daily average attendance
in 1908-04 was 87,

For such a large place very little trade is carried on, but
there is an extensive banking and exchange business and Jaipur
has been described as “a sort of Lombard street to
Bijlj“t@"“'” Outside the city are two stesm hydraulic
cotton presses started in 1885, In 1908, 19,326 bales were
pressed, the net revenue being Re. 24,836, or a profit of
about 11 per cent. on the capital cost of the presses.
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Jaipur is amply supplied with educational institutions.
Tncluding 110 indigenous schools (patshalas and maktabs)
attended by 2,472 children, there were on the 31st March
1604 no less than 141 educational institutions and the daily
average attendance was about 5,000. The Maharaja’s
College deserves special mention. It was started in 1845,
the curriculum consisting of Urd and Persian with the
rudiments of English; it became a high school about 1865,
a second grade college in 1873 and a first grade college in 1897
(the only one in Rajputana). The daily average attendance
in 1903-04 was 62 and the expenditure R 21,064, Since
1891, 61 students from the college have passed the B. A,
examination and three the M. A. examination. There are two
other colleges in the city, namely, the Oriental College teaching
.boys up to the highest standardsof the Punjab University
examinations in Arabic and Persian and the Sanskrit College
preparing boys for the title examinations in that language.
In 1903-04 the daily average attendance at the former was 25
and at the latter 63,

The city is also well supplied with medical institutions,
there being three dispensaries for out-patients, two jail hospi-
tals, a lunatic asylum, a small hospital attached to the Resi-
dency, the Lansdowne Hospital for the use of the Imperial
Se?rvm_e Transport, Corps, and the Mayo Hospital. The latter,
with its recent additions, detached operating room, private
and eye-wards, is one of the most complete and up-to-date
hospl!‘,uls 0 India. It has accommodation for 150 in-patients
and, in 1908, 26,772 cages were treated (2,124 being those
of in-patients) and 1,360 operations were performed.

The two jails are outeide the city walls and have accom-
modation for 1,144, Prisoners,

In the beautifully 1aiq

3 : -out Rim Newids public gardeus,
which are 76 acreg In extent and are maintained at a eost of
about R17,000 a year, ig the Albert Hall, a large museum
of industrial art and educational models and the prineipal
a.rc]ptecturg.] feftture of the place. It is naimed after His
Majesty King Bdward VIT who, as Prince of Wales, laid the
foundation stone on the 6th February 1876,
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JAMMU.

This town, situated in 32° 44/ N, and 74° 55’ E., at an
elevation of 1,200, is the capital of the Jammu Province,
and the winter headquarters of the Maharaja of Jammu and
Kashmir. It lies high on the right bank of the river Tawi,
which flows past in a narrow ravine on its way to join the
Chendb river. The city covers a space of about one square
mile, densely packed with single-storeyed houses of round
stones and mud with flat tops. 1In the upper portion of the
city there are superior houses of brick and in the Mandi are
the State offices and the Palaces of the Maharaji and his
brothers. The general effect of Jammu is striking, and from-
a distance the whitewashed temples, with their goldfoil pin-
nacles, suggest a splendour which is soon dispelled on nearer

uaintance. The most conspicuous of the temples is Rag-
pathji, but like all the other buildings in Jamma it is com-
monplace. The Dogras have little taste in architecture and
are essentially economical and practical in their ideas of
domestie comfort.

The railway, which runs to the British cantonment of
Sialkot, a distance about 27 miles, starts from the left bank
of the Tawi. The Tawi is spanned by a fine suspension
bridge, and a good cart-road runs from the bridge as far
as the Mandi. The other streets of the city are narrow.
and irregular, and there is nothing of striking interest and
nothing which indicates prosperity and development. Of
late years, the vonstruction of water-works, the opening of
the cart-road to the Mandi, the suspension bridge over tlie
Tawi, and the railway extension from Sialkot to the banks
of the Tawi have improved the condition of life in Jammu,
but there has been no marked response either in population
or in prosperity. In 1891 the population was 34,648, In
1901 the population was 86,130, In the palmy days of
Raja Ranjit Dev, towards the latter part of the eighteenth
century, it is stated that the population was 150,000. There
is mothing in the geographical position of Jammu which
makes for prosperity, Tt lies on the edge of the Maharaja's
territories with an unfertile hinterland. Rightly speaking,
it should have been the emporium for Kashmir trade, but
the construction of the Kohala-Srinagar cart-road has taken
the Kashmir trade away from the Jammu-Banibal roufe,
At the present there are hopes of the development of coal to
the north of Jammu, and this might bring presperity to the
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Dogra capital, and a line of railway from Jammu _to
Kashmir would restore to the city the Important carrymng
and depbt business of the Kashmir trade.

OF the total population (36,130), no less than 12,014 fall
under the head government; 2,820 come under the category
of personal cervice; 8,833 persons are employed in the
supply of food, fuel, forage, and building materials ; and
3,715 persons are sufficient to transact the work of com=
merce, transport, and storage. The professional classes
number 2,765, of whom 1,541 are engaged in religion.

Briefly speaking, the city of Jammu is merely the resi-
dence of the ruling family and the officials of the State.
The Governor (Hakim-i-Ala) of the Jammu Provinee,
with his large revenue office (Daftar Diwani), the Chief
Judge of the Province, the Wazir-i-Wazarat of the Jammu
District and bis office, the Superintendent of Police, and the
heads of the various other departments all live in Jammu
and rarely leave it. For the absence of roads makes Inspec-
tion duty troublesome and distasteful. There is a Central
jail in = Jammu, costing about B 20,000, with a daily
average strength of prisoners of 270. The high school
has been fairly efficient ; it edueates over 600 students, of
whom 500 are Hindus.

There is a State hospital at Jammu, with branch dis-
pensaries. The hospital in 1897-98, the last year for which
figures are available, had an average daily attendance of
169. The total number of surgical operations was 8,692,
The chief diseases were malarial fever, rheumatic affections,
diseases of the eye, ear and respiratory system, dyspepsia,
diseases of the digestive system, goitre, skin diseases, and
diseases of the connective tissue.

Municipal institations do not flourish in Native States,
but Jammu possesses a municipality composed of five official
and twelve nov-official members. The State granted
R 19,983 to the municipality and the municipal expendi-
ture was B 17,197. The receipts from other sources
amounted to B 1,411

There is u considerable military force at Jammu and ab
the cantonment of Satwari, which lies on the opposite bank
of the Tawi. This force numbered 3,900 in 1397-98. Of
the total, 1,370 belonged to the Imperial Service Troops and
1,091 to the regular troops of the Mahara ja's army.

L.
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KARACHI,

The capital of Sind, Bombay Presidency. Karachi is
situated in 24°51” N. and 67° 4’ E,, at the extreme northern
end of the Indus Delta, near the southern base of the Pab
mountains and close to the border of Baluchistan. Tt is 500
miles distant from Bombay by rail, the distance in mnautical
mniles being 480. Two routes connect, the city with Lahove,
by Sukkur, and by the Kotri-Rohri Railway, the distance by
each being about 800 miles, Population has increased
rapidly : 1872, 58,753 ; 1881, 73,560 ; 1891, 105,199 ; 1901,
116,663, of whom 8,019 resided in the cantonment.
Muhammadans include 60,003, Hindus 18,169, Christians
6,158 and Parsis 1,823.

Bts a The bay of Karachi is fo"n}ed by the projecting headland

3:,22:‘: tion. of Manora Point, the extremity of a reef 10 miles in length,

5 which supplies a natural barrier againgt the waters of the

Arabian Sea. The opening of the bay between Manora and

the opposite sanitarium of Clifton has a width of about 8%

miles ; but the mouth is blocked by a group of rocky islets,

known as the ‘ Oyster Rocks,’ as well as by the larger island

of Kiamari, a little in the rear. The harbour stretches for 5

miles northward from Manora Head to the parrows of the

Layari river, and ahout the same distance from the old town

of Karachi on the eastern shore to the extreme western point.

Only a small portion of this extensive area, however, is

capable of accommodating large vessels. Manora Head, the

first object visible to a voyager approaching Karichi from the

sea, is crowned by a lighthouse, baving a fixed light 148 feet

above sea-level, and visible for 20 miles around in clear

weather. The point also affords room for a fort, said to have

been first erected in 17 97, the port and pilot establishment,

the buildings in connection with the harbour improvements,

and a portion of the In-]o-European telegraph department,

Besides a library, billiard-room, and European school, Manors

possesses an  Knglish church, intended for the crews of

vessels frequenting the harbour. It has recently been made

a cantonment and is shortly to be constituted a military
sanitarium in place of Ghizri, lately abandoned.

On the opposite side of the mouth, the island of Kiamnari

forms the landingwplace for all paseengers and goods hound

for Karachi, and bas three piers. A road running along the
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Napier Mole, 8 miles long, connects the island with the town
and mainland, and is traversed by the East India Tramway.
The North-Western Railway also extends to Kiamari; but
instead of following the mole, it takes a more circuitous route
to the south by the edge of a large lagoon, the waters of
which are passed through the mole by a fine screw-pile
bridge, 1,200 feet in length, erected in 1865 at a cost of
about 5 lakhs, 5o as to allow them to flow uninterruptedly
into the harbour as a means of scouring the channel. At the
northern extremity of this bridge, and running in a westerly
direction, stands the native jetty, built of stone at an expense
of 4} lakhs. At the end of the mole, on the mainland side,
. the custom-house runs right across the road, which pierces it
by five arches, thus intercepting all traffic,

Two principal thoroughfares lead from the custom-honse to
the Karichi cantonment, known respectively as the Bandar
and the M’Leod roads at the junction of which stands the
public memorial to Sir William Merewether, a handsome
clock tower. The oldest portion of the town is situated along
the former route, close to the harbour and contains the most
thickly populated quarter in Karachi. The municipality has
widened and paved the streets, and effected other improve-
ments which must conduce to the health of the inhabitants,
who are chiefly Hindu and Muhammadan merchants. The

Layari, a river only in name, as it contains water only some:

three or four times a year, separates this quarter from the
Layari suburb. On the M’Leod Road are situated the
court-house, the Bank of Bombay, the National Bank of
India, the City Railway Station, the General Post Office, the
Telegraph Oftice, the Mansfield Import Yard, the Chamber
9f Commerce, Messrs, Herman & Co.’s ironworks and three
important cotton presses—the M’Leod Road presses, owned
b%’ the Sind Press Company, capable of turning out daily
850 pressed bales of cotton ; the Tyabji presses, erccted in
1565 at a cost of 21 lakhs, and turning out 2560 hales ;
aud .the Albcrt Presses, leased tothe Sind Press Company, and
turning out 390 bales. This quarter also contains the Edulji
Dl_nshaw Dispensary, several schools, the Sind college, a new
Hindu temple, and most of the offices belonging to European
merchants. The Afghan suras intended for the use .of
caravans from Kandabar, rebuilt by the municipality in 1878
ata cost of R 20,000, coversan area of about 3 acres. Nearer
to the cantonment, a number of bungalows stand on the

L
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intervening space; while the civil lines skirt the cantone
ment itself to the eastward. The military quarter Wh'wh
is situated to the north and east of the town proper consists
of three portions—the depdt lines, theartillery lines, and the
European infantry lines, The depbt lines are the oldest military
portion of Kardchi, and were originally intended to supply
accommodation to troops passing up-country from the sea
or wice versd. Here also is the argenal, The Government
garden, distant about half a mile from cantonments, covers
an area, of 40 acres, neatly laid out with trees and shrubs, and
contains an excellent zoological collection,

Buildings. The architecture of Karachi is essentially modern and Anglo-

. Indian. The Anglican church of the Holy Trinity is situated

just outside the cantonments. It stands in a” large open
gpace, 15 acres in extent, and consists of a heavy, ungainly
Italian nave, with a disproportionately tall and ugly tower.
St. Patrick’s Roman Catholic School, formerly a church, is a
five stone building, capable of accommodating 40 boarders
and 200 day-scholars. The European aund Indo-European
school, known as the Karachi Grammar School, founded in
1854, under the auspices of Sir Bartle Frere, then Com-
missioner of 8ind, oceupies a handsome stone structure in the
depot lines. The other chief modern institutions include the
Presbyterian Church of St. Andrew, Christ Church and the
Anglican Mission schools, the Napier Barracks, the Sind Club
and post-office. The Frere Hall, a municipal building, stands
on a slight elevation near Trinity Church. It was opened in
a somewhat unfinished state in "Oectober 1865, up to which
date 1% lakhs had been expended upon its erection. This:
hall, which isa comparatively good specimen of slightly
adapted Venetian Gothie, contains the Karichi General
Library. Government Houge, the residence of the Commissioner
in Sind, is situated in the civil quarter, and consists of a central
building with two wings, approached by five separate carriage
drives, Though commodious and comfortable in its interior
arrangements, the exterior can lay no claim to architectural
beauty. It was originally huilt by Sir Charles Napier when
Governor of the provinge,

Climate and  The climate of Karachi, owing to the prevalence of sea-

Lieslth, breezes during eight mouths of the year, is more healthy than
any other in Sind. The low situation of the eity, snd the

near neighbourhood of marsh land, render the atmogphere

moist and warm; but the heat during the bottest monthe



cannob compare with that experienced in the interior. The

mean annual temperature, calculated from data extending

over nineteen years, may be stated at 77° F. The hottest

weather occurs in April, May, and June, though September

and October are also often close and sultry. The average

annual rainfall is about 5 inches. The first case of plague

occurred early in December 1896, the locality attacked being

the old town quarter, and nearly 8,400 persons died in the b
first year. The total mortality from plague until the end of

March 1904 was 19,010,

Karichilcame into British possession in 1843. The town History.
may be regarded as almost a creation of British rule, its
extensive eommerce, splendid harbour works, and numerouns
flourishing institutions  having all sprung up since the
introduction of our settled administration. Before 1725, no
town whatever appears to have existed on the site; but a
town named Kharak, with a considerable commerce, 18
mentioned as lying on the other side of the Hab river at the
confluence of the river and the sea. The entrance to Kharak
harbour becoming blocked with sand, o migration was made
to a spot near the present head of Karachi harbour, and at
that time (1729) called Karachi Kun; and in time, under
Jim Daria Khan Jokia, some little trade began to centre upon
the convenient harbour. Cannon brought from Muscab
protected the little fort, and the name of Kariichi, supposed
to be a corrupt form of Kalachi, was bestowed upon the riging
village, The hopeless blocking up of Shahbandar harbonr
shortly afterwards drove much of its former trade and popu-
lation to Karachi,

Under the Kalhora princes, the Khan of Kalat obtained a
grant of the town, which he garrisoned from his own
territory. Within the short period, 17921795, three Baloch
armies appeared before the town; but only on the third
occasion did the Talpur chief of Hyderabad, who led the
Baloeh troops, gain possession by force of arms. A fort was
built at Manora, at the mouth of the harbour, = The Talpur
chiefs made considerable efforts to increase the trade of
Karachi, so that in 1838 the town and suburbs had a

opulation of 14,000, half of whom were Hindus, The

ouses were all flat-roofed, and built of mud, very fow ‘of
them having more than one storey: each houee had ibs
badgsr or wind catcher for the puarposes of ventilntion. .‘l‘hc
government under the Mirs was vested in o civil and military
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official, the Nawib, who ruled despotically over the town and
. neighbourhood.

en before the period of British rule, the commerce of

(it Ka];:;chi had attainéd to some importance, owing to the value
of the river Indus as a channel of communication. Neyerthe-

less, the sparse population of the country, combined with the

shorfsighted and selfish policy of its rulers, prevented it from

reaching its proper development. Under the Talpur Mirs, all

'( imports were subjected to a 4 per cent. and all exports to a 21
1 per cent. duty. In 1809, the customs revenue amounted
toR 99,000; by 1837 it had risen to R 1,74,000. In

the latter year, the whole trade of the town was valued

at about 40 lakhs: the following being the principal

articles of trade :—Imports—English silk, broadcloth, chintz,

ete., Bengal and China raw silk, slaves, dates, sugar, ivory,

copper, spices and cotton. Exports—opium, gz, indigo,

wheat, madder, wool, raisins and salt fish, Slaves came

chiefly from Muscat, and consisted of negroes or Abyssinians.

Opinm to the extent of 500 camel-loads came from Marwar,

and was exported to the Portuguese town of Daman,

Almost all the goods imported into Sind were then consumed

within the province, only R 1,50,000 worth being sent
across the frontier,

In 1843.44, the first year of British rule, the trade of
Karachi, including Keti and Sirganda, had a total value of
about 12 lakhs, due to a decline in the opium trade, which
had steadily fallon since 1837 when its value was estimated
at 16 lakhs, The second year of British rule saw a rise to_
23, the third to 85, and the fifth to 44 lakhs. By 1852-53,
the total value had risen to 81 lakhs, In 185758, the exports
nearly overtook the imports, the two standing respectively at
108 and 107 lakhs.” The American civil war gave an
enormous impetus to the trade of Karachi, by the high
demand for Indian cotton which it created in the Buropean
markets ; and in 1863-64, the total value of the trade
amounted to no less than 6 crores, viz., imports 2 and
exports 4 croves, The vestoration of peace in America,
however, brought about a lower price for cotton in the home
markets, and the trade of Karichi gradually returned to
what was then eonsidered its normal level, The total value
sank to 4 crores in 1867-68, and 34 crores in 1878-74 ; but
by 1882-83 it had risen to 7 erores, and again in 1892493 to
11 crores.
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In 1902-03, the trade of Karachi port, exclusive of Gov-
ernment stores and treasure, had increased in value to 198
crores, of which 58 represented coasting trade, namely,
imports 9 crores and exports 10:8 crores. The main cause of
the increase is due to the annually increasing exports of
wheat and other food-grains, and oilseeds which are brought
by rail from irrigated tracts of Sind and the Punjab. The
following were the chief articles of foreign import, with their
values, for the three ports, in 1902-08 :—Apparel, 13 lakhs ;
cotton piece-goods, 2 crores; cotton twist and yarn, 18
lakhs; manufactures of wool, 10 lakhs; hardware and
cutlery, 10 lakhs; wines and liqueurs, 9 lakhs ; spirits, 11
lakhs ; metals, wrought and unwrought (chiefly copper, iron,
and steel), 82 lakhs; provisions, 20 lakhs ; sugar, 81 lakhs;
machinery and mill-work, 7 lakhs; and treasure, 31 lakhs ;
total imports from foreign ports, including treasure, 5}
erores.

From the United Kingdom, Karachi imports cotton
manufactures, railway materials, liquors, coal and coke,
machinery, metals, provisions, apparel, drugs, and medicines ;
from Bombay, cotton piece-goods and twist, treasure, metals,
silk, sugar, tea, jute, spices, dyes, woollen manufactures,
cocoanuts, manufactured silk, liquors, fruit, and vegetables ;
from the Pergian Gulf, dried fruits, treasure, wool, grain, and
horses; from the coast of Makrin, wool, provisions, grain,
and pulses; from Calcutta, jute, grain and pulses; and
from Russia, mineral oil.

The following list shows the value of the exports to foreign
ports in 1902-08 :—raw cotton, 14 crores; grain and pulses,
4 crores, of which 387 lakhs represented wheat; hides and
skins, 87 lakhs; oilseeds, chiefly rape and #i/, 79 lakhs ; raw
wool, 70 lakhs; sugar, 6 lakhs. Total value of exports,
including treasure, 8 erores,

Mo the United Kingdom, Karachi esports cotton, wool,
indigo, seeds, hides, skins, animal boues, tea and oils; to
France, wheat, cofton, animal bones, gingelly, and rapeseed ;
to Bombay, Cutch, and Gujarit, cotton, grain, g4, indigo,
oils, seeds, rice, wool, and horses; to Mauritius, grain and
pulses; to Persia, indigo, oils, hides, skins, and piece-goods ;
to Madras, horses ; and to China, raw cotton.

The inland trade of Karachi includes wheat from the
Panjab and the United Provinces, cotton for export from the
Punjab, a large quantity of wool, dried fruits, and horses
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from Kandahir and Kalat ; while, camels, bullocks, and
donkeys bring in firewood, grass, gk, date-leaves, hides, etc.,
from Las Bela and Kohistan.
Harbour and  The harbour of Karachi, during the period of the Talpur
Shipping.  Mirs, and for the first few years aftor British annexation,
was only capable of accommodating small native craft.
Steamers and large ships anchored outside Manora Pgmt,
whence men and stores were conveyed in boats up the river,
as far as the tide permitted, and then transferred into canoes,
which carried them through a sea of liquid mud to a spot
near the site of the esisting custom-house. In process of time,
bowever, it became apparent that the bar did not interpose
g0 great an obstacle as was originally supposed, and that
square-rigged vessels of a certain draught could cross it with
safety. In 1854, under the Chief Commissionership of Sir
Bartle Frere, the Napier Mole road or causeway, connecting
Karachi with the island of Kiamari, was completed and thugs
offered additional inducements to ships for visiting the
harbour.

In 1856, a scheme for improving the harbour by deepen-
ing the water on the bar was submitted for the opinion of
Mr. James Walker, an eminent London engineer, who
estimated the cost of works to provide an ample width of
passage with a depth of 25 feet at neap tides, at 29 lakhs of
rapees.  After much debate and intermissions, owing to

artial failures, the principal part of the works—the Manora
greakwater, 1,603 feet im length—was commenced in 1869,
and completed in 1873. Tt affords complete shelter to the
wostern ¢hannel over the har during the south-west monsoon,
and combined with other works, has already led to the deepen-
ing at the entrance to 20 fect at low-water spring tides. The

rise and fall is about 8 feet. The other portions of these

extensive works include the Kiamari groyne or stone hank,
the east pier,

the screw-pile bridge on the Napier Mole, the
native jefty, and the Chini ereck stoppage. The total
expenditure on the harbour improvements, up to December
1873, amounted to 45 lakhs of rupees,

In 1847.48, the number of vessels which entered the
harbour was 891, all native eraft, with a total burden of
30,609 tons. In 1902-08, 875 vessels (of which 146 were
stoam: vessels) entered Kariichi harbour with cargoes from
forcigm ports: gross tonnage, 278,160 tons. In the same
year 481 vessels (of which 286 were propelled by stesm)
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cleared with cargoes from Karachi for foreion ports: gross
tounage, 463,391 tons. From the ports on the coasts of
" India and Burma 1,490 vessels entered Karachi laden with
cargoes ; tonnage 506,273, For the ports on the coasts of
India and Burma 1,832 vessels left Kardchi laden with
cargoes ; tonnage 392,608. The affairs of the port are
managed by the Karachi Port Trust, the annual income of
which is about 15 lakhs and expenditure 11 lakhs, The
surplus is devoted to paying off the debt of 65 lakhs, which
has now been reduced to 53 lakhs. The principal steamship
lines are the British India, Hall and Anchor, Messageries
Maritimes, Austrian Lloyd, and the coasting vessels ot the
Bombay Steam Navigation Company.

The Karachi municipality was established in September Municipalit
1852 and has an income of about 12 lakhs, The chief heads ™ 1og (Cantone
of municipal revenuwe are: octroi (R2,47,319), tax om ment.
houses and lands (B 95,920), and rents (R24,698), and
the chief items of expenditure are:—cattle and collection
(R57,705), water-supply and  drainage (B1,48,772),
conservancy (R 1,57,621), hospital and dispensary (&
14,735), public works (R65,868) and publie instruction
R40,712). The management of the Cantonment is in the
hands of a Committee, which had an average iuncome of
R7,783 and expenditure of R12,612 during the ten years
ending 1901. 'The normal strength of the Karachi garrison
18 1.300, and of the Volunteer Forces 800. ;

The difficulty of water-supply long formed one of the chief

drawbacks to Karachi, most of the wells being too brackish for Water-supply.
drinking purposes. Formerly, the supply was mainly derived
from wells tapping a subterrancan bed of the Layari. The
inlm!)ltams of Kiamari, and the shipping in" the harbour,
obfained wafer from carts, which brought it up from camp.
For the purposes of ice manufacture, water was formerly
imported by rail from Kotri. A scheme for constructing an
u_ndcrground aqueduct, 18 miles in length, from the Mabr
river, ab a cost of 5 lakhs was comploted in 1882 and the
town i WOWw in possession of a pure water-supply. The
estimated cost of this undertaking, including pipes for distri-
buting the water to the town, Kiamari, and the cantonments,
amounted to 14 lakhs of rupees.

Education is carried on by the Sind College, Governmont
High 8chool, Anglo-vernacular schools, Governmont VOr= g, eation,
nacular school, and several female and other minor
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establishments. The Dayaram Jethmal Sind Arts College was
established in 1887, 1Tt is attended by 122 scholars, some of
whom are accommodated in a hostel attached to it. A law
class prepares students for the first LL.B. The Narayan
Jagannath High School prepares students for the Matriculation
and School Final Examination. It is managed by Govern-
ment, and B 10,000 are annually contributed from Provincial
revenues. Among the special schools may be mentioned the
Normal Class for the training of mistresses and the
Engineering Class. News.papers or periodicals published at
Kariichi included two English (the Sind Gazetse and the Sind
Zimes) and five native (in Sindi, Gujarati and Persian).
Hospitals. The medical institutions afforded relief in 190%2-03 to
73,150 persons, of whom 1,947 were in-door patients treated
in Karachi Civil Hospital. A sick hospital was establighed
in 1869, in connection with the cantonments, and in 1901 a
Lady Dafferin Hospital for women, built at & cost of nearly
a lakh of rupees by Mr. Edalji Dinshah.
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LAHORE,

Tahore, the capital of the Punjab and of the Division and
District which take their names from it, is situated in 81°
85" N. and 74° 20’ E. on the river Ravi, distant by rail
from Calcutta 1,252 miles, from Bombay 1,280, from
Karachi 784 and from Delhi 298 miles, at the junction of the
" railway lines from Kardchi, Peshawar and Calcutta. The
city is the second largest in the Province, and the population,
excluding that of the cantonment of M1an M1z, was in 1881,
188,878 in 1891, 159,597 ; and in 1901, 186,884, The
population in 1901 included 118,268 Muhammadans, 62,922
Hindus, 5,964 Sikhs and 4,199 Christians. Though legendary
history attributes the founding of Lahore or Lohiwarana to
Lava, the son of Rama, it is net probable that Lahore was
founded before the first century A.D., as we mneither find it
mentioned in conmection with Alexander, who must have
crossed the Ravi close by, nor is it described by Strabo or Pliny.
On the other hand, it is possibly to be identified with the
Labokla of Ptolemy, the more so thag Amakatis, which is men=
tioned by that author as near Labokla, has been identified by
Cunningham with the ruins of Amba Kapi about 25 miles
from Lahore. The first certain historical record of Lahore is,
however, that of Hiuen Tsiang, who mentions it as a large
Brabmanical oity visited by him in 630 A.D. on his way to
Jalandhar (Jullundur). At about this time it is possible, as
stated in the Hadigat-ul-Akalim of Murtaza Husain, that the
capital of the kingdom of Lahore was transferred to Sialkot,
as Al Birni speaks of Lahore as a province whose capital
was Mandhukur, and it is noticeable that Al Masadi who
lived at Multan in the time of Mahmid makes no mention of
Lahore. At the end of the 10th century the kingdom of
Lahore was in the hands of a line of Brahman kings, and in

988 A.D. Jaipil, the reigning monarch, was decisively beaten'

by Sabuktagin, and in despair burnt himeelf to death
In the invasions of Mahmad we hear no mention of Lahore
until 1022 A.D., or 18 years after Anandpal’s defeat at
Waihind; when it was visited by Mahmid on his way from
Kashmir, a fact which adds to the probability that Lahore city
was not at this time a place of great importance. In 1034
Lahore was seized by Nialtigin, the revolted governor of
Multan. He, however, was expelled and in 1086 Lahore

L,
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was made the capital of the Ghaznivid dominions east of the
Indus. A final insurrection by the Hindus at Lahore in
1043 was quelled by Maudad, and Lahore was left in
charge of Malik' Ayaz whom Muhammadan tradition relates as
the founder of the teity. During the reign of the first e1ght
Ghazoivid princes Lahore was governed by vigeroys as the
head-quarters of the province, but during the reign of Masid
IT (A. D. 1097—1114) it was made the seat of government of
the empire. After Masid’s death Muhammad Bahlim,
governor of Tahore, rebelled against Bahram Shah in
1119, but it was defeated, and in 1158 Khusri Shih again
transferred the seat of jgovernment to Lahore, where it
remained till 1198. The eity was putto ransom by Muham-
mad of Ghor in 1181 and taken in 1186. From this time
onwards Lahore was the centre of the opposition to the
authorities at Delhi, while subject to the constant incur-
gions of the turbulent Khokhras, who devastated the country
round Lahore in 1205. On the death of Muhammad of Ghor
in 1206 Kutab-ud-dia Aibak was erowned at Lahore ; his
licutenant Kubéchah lost the city to Taj-ud-din 1lduzin
1206, but it was recovered by Kutab-ud-din in the same
year. From the death cf Aram Shah in 1211 A.D, the
province of Lahore became the bone of contention between
Alt:amsh ab Delhi, Nasir-ud-din Kubachah at Multin and
Taj-ud-din Tlduz at Ghazni. The latter in 1215 took Lakore
from Nasir-ud-din; but Altamsh defeated him in the
following year and made himself master of the ecity in
1217, On the death of Altamsh in 1236 Malik Ala-ud-din
Jani of Lahore broke out in revolt and after he had been”
defeated gud killed, Kahir Khan-i-Ayiz of Lahore likewise
rebelled in 1288, but submitted on Raziyyat crossing the
Ravi. Thep follows a century during which Lahore lay at the
merey of incessant Mughal raids, It was taken by them in
1241 and put to rangom in 1246, The city was rebuilt by
Balban in 1270, but in 1285 the Mughals returned, and
Balban’s son Prinee ..Mllha,mmad was slain in an encounter on
the banks of the Ravi, the poet Amir Khuerit being ca-
captured at the same time, Muhammad’s son Kai Klbueri
was appointed governor of the Punjab in his stead, but was
murdered in 1287. The suburb of Mughalpura was founded
about this time by Mughal settlers, and Dua the Chaghati
made a raid and Lahore 1n 1801 Under Ala-ud-din Khilyi,
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Gliazi Malik, afterwards the emperor Tughlak Shah, was in
1308 given charge of the territories of Dipalpur and Lahore
ag a warden of the marches acainst the Mughals, an office
heseems to have discharged with some success. However,
the Kholkhars took Lalore in 1842 and again in 1394, when
it was retaken by Sarang Khin. In 1898 Lahore was
taken by a detachment of Timir’s army and seems to have
lain desolate till it was rebuilt by Mubarak Shah in 1422.

Jasrath Khokhar attacked Lahore in the same year and
again in 1431 and 1482, but withont success; but in 1433
Shaikh Ali took the city, which, however, he had almost
immediately to surrender, In 1441 Bahlol Khin Lodi was
appointed to the fiefs of Lahore and Dipalpur, aund seized
the opportunity of turning against his master Muhammad
Shah. Lahore seems to have enjoyed aperiod of peace under
the Afghans, but in the reign of Ibrahim Lodi, Daulat Khan
Lodi, governor of Lahore, revolted and called in the aid of
Babar. Lahore was plundered by Babar’s troops in 1524,
but in his final invasion in the next year he passed to the
north through Sialkot. Under the Mughal dynasty was
the golden period of the history of Lahore, which again
became a place of royal residence and grew to be, in the
language of Abul Fazl, ‘the grand resort of people of all
nations ’; and it still retains many splendid memorials of this
period. On the accession of Humayan, Kamran, hie younger
brother, took possession of Lahore and was assigned the
Punjab together with Kabul and Kandahir; and in the
strugele between Humiyin and Sher Khan, Lahore was the
mil tary head-quarters of the Mughals, and narrowly escaped

destruction on their temporary defeat. Humayin re-entered
* Lahore triumphantly in 1554, being received with every
éxi ression of joy ; but after Akbar had come to the throne
the place was seized in 1568 by his younger brother Hakim,
who, though expolled, made another “assault in 1581, from
which he was repelled by Akbar in person. Akbar held his
court at Lahore from 1584 to 1598, where he was visited by
some Portuguese missionaries, and by the Englishmen Fitch,
Newberry, Leeds and Storey., He enlarged and repaired the
fort and sarrounded the town with a wall, portions of which
sill remain, bailt into the modem work of Ranjit Singh.
Specimens of the mixed Hindu and Saracenic style adopted
by Akbar survive within the fort, though largely defaced by
later alterations. Under that great emperor, Lahore
rapidly increased in arca and population. The most thickly

L
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inhabited portion covered the site of the existing town but
long bazars and populous suburbs spread over the now desolate
tract without the walls, On Jahangir’s succession in 1606
Prince Khusrii seized the suburbs of Liahore and besieged the
citadel, but he was quickly defeated and his followers were
put to death with great barbarity. GuriArjan was implicated
in this rebellion aud died in captivity, or, as Sikh the
tradition has it, disappeared miraculously beneath the waters
of the Ravi, and his sbrine still stands between the Mughal
palace and the mausoleum of Ranjit Singh, Jahangir, fixed
his eourt at Liahore in 1622 and died near there in 1627.
Jahangir erected the greater Khwabgah or ‘Sleeping
Place, the Moti Masjid or ‘Pearl Mosque’ and the tomb of
Anarkali, now used as a repository of Secretariat records,
The palace originally consisted of a large quadrangle
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surrounded on three sides by a colonnade of red stone pillars,
havine their capitals intricately carved with figures of
peacocks, elephants and griffins. In the centre of the fourth
gide overlooking the Ravi, stood a lofty pavilion in the
Mughal style, flanked by two chambers with elaborately
decorated verandahs of Hindu architecture. A garden filled
the interior space of the quadrangle, with a raised platform
of marble mosaic ; while beneath the colonnade and pavilion,
underground chambers afforded cool retreats from the midday
sun. The beauty of this building was largely disfigured by
Sikh and European alterations, but a great deal has been
recently done towards its restoration.

Jahangir’s mausoleum at Shahdara forms one of the chief
ornaments of Liahore, though even this has suffered somewhat
from depredations. The marble dome, which once rose over
the tomb, was removed by Aurangzeb. The tombs of Nur
Jahan, his devoted wife, and of her brother Asat Khan, have
fared worse, having been stripped of their marble facings and
coloured enamels by the Sikhs. Shah Jahin erected a smaller
palace by the side of his father’s building, the beauty of
which can still be discerned through the inevitable whitewash
which covers the marble slabs and hides the depredations of
the Sikhs. To the same emperor is due the range of build-
ings to the left of the Khwahgih, with octagonal towers, the
largest of which, known as the Samman Burf, contains the
exquisite pavilion, inlaid with flowers wrought in precious
stones, which derives its name of the Naulakha from its
original cost of 9 likks ; together with the Shich Mahals,
afterwards the reception-room of Ranjit Singh, and interest-
ing as the place where Dalip Singh made over the sovereignty
of the Punjab to the British Government.

Lahore was seized by Shahryar on Jahangi’s death, bub
he was soon defeated, and between 1628 and 1637 Lahore
enjoyed peace and prosperity under the rule of Ali Mardan
Khin and of Hakim Ali-ud-din generally known as Wazir
Khan. The people of Labore warmly espoused the cause of
Diara Shikoh, and supplied him with men and money on his
flight westward in 1658. During the reign of Shah Jahan
Lahore must have had a circuit of some 16 or 17 miles, the
portion of the eity outside the walls consisting of numerous
thickly inhabited suburbs connected with the city gates by
long bazars.
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The Shihlamar Gardens and pleasure-ground, situated
4 miles east of Lahore city, were laid out in 1687 by Al
Mardan Khan, the celebrated engineer of Shah Jahan, in
imitation of the garden planned by the emperor Jahangir at
the sources of the Jhelum river in Kashmir., The garden
consisted of seven divisions representing the seven degrees of
the Paradise of Islam, of which only three are included in
the present area of about 80 acres, the remainder having
fallen into decay. In the centre is a reservoir hordered by an
elaborately indented coping and studded with pipes for
fountains. A cascade falls into it over a slope of marble
corrugated in an ornamental carved diaper. During the
troublous times of Ahmad Shah the gardens were neglected,
and some of the decorative works were defaced and removed.
Ranjit Singh restored them; but at the same time he laid
ruthless hands upon the marble pavilions of the central
reservoir, using them to adorn the Ramlagh at Amritsar,
and subssituting structures of brick and whitewash in their

stead.

Under Aurangzeb Lahore began to decline in population.
Even before his time, the foundation of Shahjahanabad or
modern Delhi had drawn awav the bulk of the classes
dependent upon the court; and the constant absence of the
emperor confribut:d still more to depress the city.
Aurangzeb also constructed an embankment for three miles
along the Ravi, to prevent inundations, but with such
undesirable success that the river completely altered -its
course, and left the town at a considerable distance. Among
his other works, the Jama Magjid or ¢ Great Mosque * ranks
first, a etiff and somewhat ungraceful piece of architecture,

which, by 1ts poverty of detail, contraste with the gorgeous
profuseness of Agra and Delhi.

With the reign of Aurangzeb, the architectural history of
Liahore may be said te close, later attempts marking oniy the
rapid deeadence of art, which culminated in the tawdry
ercetions of the Sikhg, From the accession of Bahadur Shih
till the establishment of Ranjit Singh’s authority at tjle
beginning of the 19th century, the annals of Lahore consist
of successive invasions and conquests by Nadir Shah, Ahmad
Shih, and many less famous depredators. The magnifieent
city of the Mughal princes and their viceroys sank info &
mere heap of ruing, containing a few seattered houses and
a couple of Sikh forts within its shrunken walls; while

[
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outside, a wide expanse of broken remains marked the site of
the decaying suburbs which once surrounded the capital.

As the capital of an outlying province Lahore early felt
the effects of the decay of the empire. It was threatened by
Banda’s insurrection, and Bahadur Shih marched there in 1712,
but died before he could effect anything. A conflict ensued
ontside the walls of Liahore between his son Jahandar and
Azim-ush-shin in which the latter was defeated and drowned
in the Ravi. Under Farrukh Siyarthe governor of Liabore
was defeated by the Sikhs, on which Abdus Samad Khan
was appointed ‘to the post, who defeated the rebels and took
Banda prisoner ; he wassucceeded by his son Ziakariya Khan,
who kept the Punjab peaceful “for twenty-one years (1717—
1788).  He however found it prudent to submit to Nadir
Shah, who accepted a ransom in lien of plundering the city.
Almad Shah Abdali occupied Lahore in 1748, and again in
his second invasion after some resistance from Mir Mannu
(Muin-ul-Mulk) the new governor, Mir Mannu was suc-
ceeded by hig widow, and her abduction by the Delhi
Wazir was the pretext for Ahmad Shah’s fourth invagion
(1755). Lahore was occupied and placed under Prince
Pimiir, from whom however it was taken by the Sikhs under
Jassa Singh. They were expelled by the Mahrattas in 1758,
who instﬁlcd Adina Beg as governor. He, however, died
in & few months and the Mahratta power was broken by
Ahmad’s victory at Panipat in 1761, while the Sikhs who again
besieged Liahore were defeated in bis sixth invasion af the
battle of Ghulaghara, Kabuli Mal being left as governor of
Lahore. The Sikh cavalry, however, ravaged the country rou nd,
and after Ahmad’s seventh invasion Kabuli Mal was ejected
and the Sikhs again became masters of Tiahore. For the 30
years following Ahmad Shah’s final departure (1767—1797)
the Sikls raled in Lahore unmolested, till in 1797 Shah
Zamin appeared before the city and put it to ransom. The
next year lie appeared again, and on this occasion Ranjit Singh
received from him on his reticement a formal grant of the
chieftainship of Lahore. The rise of Ranjit Singh’s empire
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made Liahore once more the centre of a flourishing, though
ephemeral, kingdom, The great Maharaja stripped the
M uhammadan tombs of their ornaments, which he sent to
decorate the temple at Amritsar; but he restored the Shala-
mar gardens, erected a really beautiful Zaradars in the space
between the palace and the Jama Masjid, and also built a
number of minor erections in the very worst taste. His
mausoleum, a mixed work of Hindu and Muhammadan
architecture, forms one of the latest specimens of sikh work-
manship, The collapse of the Lahore kingdom under Ranjit
Singh’s successors formsa chapter of imperial history.
In December 1846 the Couneil of Regency was established,
and the British Resident became the real central authority
at Lahore. On 29th March 1849, on the conclusion of the
second Sikh war, the young Maharaja Dalip Singh resigned
the government to the British,

In 1849 the environs still rema
erumbling ruins and the houses of th.
clustered around the old cantonme
lowland, south of the town, running parallel to a former bed
of the Ravi. Gradually, however, the station spread eastward ;
and now a new town covers g lare

! ge part of the area once given
over to ruing and jungle, while every year sees fresh additions
to the renovated capital.

The modern city of Lahore covers an aren of about one
square mile. It was formerly surrounded by a brick wall,
rising to a height of 80 feet, and strengthened by a moat and
other defences. But the moat, has been filled in, and the wall .
razed, 3‘9‘1 a garden now occupies the site of the trench and wall
and encireles the city on every side except the north. Though
built upon an alluyial plain, the debris of ages has raised the
present town to a position upon a considerable mound. A
metalled road runs round the outer side of the rampart, and
gives acoess to the city by 18 gates. The citadel or fort rises
upon a slight but commanding eminence at the north-eastern
angle, and abuts northward on the old river bed, while the
esplanade stretches over an open space to the south and east.

Within the city, narrow and tortuous streets, ending in
enlsdesac, and lined by tall houses, give Lahore a mean and
gloomy appearance; but the magnificent buildings of the
Mughal period serve to relieve the general dulness of ite
domestic architecture, On the north-eastern side especially,
the mosque of Aurangzeb, with its plain white marble domes

LAHORE,

ined a mere expanse of
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and simple minarets, the mausoleum of Ranjit Singh, with its
rounded roof and projecting balconies, and the desecrated
facade of the Mughal palace, stand side by side in front of an
open grassy plain exhibiting one of the grandest coupsd’e:sl to
be seen in India.

The European quarter or civil station lies on the south and
east of the city. The older part known as Anarkali lies to the
south, and originally contained a cantonment, abandoned in
1851-52 on account of its unhealthiness. Anarkali is con-
nected with the city by a fine road known as the Old Mall,
and contains the Secretariat Buildings, District Court-house,
Punjab University, Town Hall, Museum, Mayo and Lady
Aitchison Hospitals, and many other publie buildings and a
fine public’garden. To the eastis the Railway colony grouped
about the station in the quarter known as the Naulikha,
while to the gonth-east the new mall stretehes out for a
distance of three miles to Government House and the
Lawrence and Montgomery Halls. This road is the back-
bone of the newer residential quarters, the Cathedral of the
diocese and the Chief Court are on this road, besides sundry
Government offices and most of the European shops, A
large publio garden surrounds the Lawrence and Montgo-
mery Halls, and contains a zoological garden which has a
good collection of water fowl. The village of Mozang on
the south-east of the eity is now almost surrounded on three
sides by European residences. Beyond Government House
on the way to Mian Mir is the Aitchison Chiefs’ College.

The municipality, created in 1867, is of the lst class.
1% has 30 members, 16 nominated, 4 ex-officio, and 20 elected.
The president is elected by the members from among them-
selves, The average income for the 10 years ending 1902-03
was Rs. 5,238,648 and the expenditure Rs. 6,07,980 ; the chief
gources of 1ncome were octroi (Rs. 3,57,987) and taxes other
than house and land tax (Rs. 9,745) ; while the main items o
outlay were conservaney (Rs. 64,840), education (Rs. 10,038)
and hospitals and dispensaries (Rs. 19,327), water-supply and
drainage (Rs. 81,425) and administration (Rs. 62,502), public
eafety (Bs. 74,361) and public works (Rs. 52,5610)., The
income and expenditure for 1903-04 were Rs. 6,41,208 and
Rs. 6,07,775 respectively, i

A system of water-works was opened in 18%1. The supply
is drawn from five wells and pumped into service reservoirs
and over a high pressure stand-pipe direet into the supply

L
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gystem. The: city, civil station, railway colony, and the
village of Mozang are supplied by this system, and the esti-
mated daily supply is 10 gallons per head of population. A
drainage system was completed in 1883 whereby the whole
sewage of the city is discharged into the Ravi,

Most of the decorative arts for which Lahore was once
famous have greatly declined or vanished altogether. "The
silk-workers of Lahore who once were famous for guperior
silks of Bokhara thread now only turn out inferior and
coarse materials, though the trade in these is flourishing
enough, The mystery of gold and silver wire drawing has
entirely disappeared, and o has the production of glass,
enamel and arms, and but little gold embroidery is now done.
On the other hand, trades of a useful character have largely
increased, among which may be mentioned the manufacture
of vegetable oils, candles and soap, sulphuric and nitric acids,
and printing, lithography and book-binding. The leather trade
is an important one, and a large quantity of saddlery and shoes
is annually turned out. Cotton fabrics are largely made, and a
great deal of printing on coarse cotton stuffs is done, Good
woollen blankets are made, and fine paskmina woollen stuffs,
There 18 a large output of wooden furniture, decorated as well
asplain. A large quantity of bricks and tiles are burns,
Labore is moreover an important centre for the collection
of agricultural produce, and 10 cotton cleaning and pressing
mills prepare cotton for export. Of other factories the only
important ones are the Punjab Oil and Flour Mills established
in 1881, which turn out large quantities of castor and other
vegetable oils, as well as supplying large quantities of flour,
two mills for spinning cotton, and the North-Western Raile
way Workshops, The Punjab Banking Company has its
head-quarters at Lahore, with & branch at Miin Mir, and tie
Alliance Bank of Simla, Commercinl Bank of India and
National Bank of India also have branches in the city.

As the head-quarters of the Local Government, Lahore
naturally containg the prineipal educational institutions of the
Province. These comprise the Punjab University with five
colleges—the Government, Forman Christian, Dayanand
Anglo-Vedie, Islamia, and Oriental also the Medical and
Law Colleges and the Central Training College. The eif:
possesses 11 high schools —the Central Model High School,
the Aitchison Chiefs’ College, and the Dayanand, Madr'aagat-
ul-Musalmin and Sunatan Dharm Sabha schools, the Mission,
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Victoria and Oriental schools and three schools for Europeans.
Tt also has threo middle schools for Europeans and the Khalsa
middle school for Sikhs. Its girls’ schools include two high
schools (one for Europeans) and three middle schools (two for
Europeans). Technical andJspecial education are provided by
the Mayo school of Art, the Medical, Railway, Technical and
Veterinary Schools, the Hindu Technical Institute and Gov-
ernmeat Normal School.  Classes are also held in Yanani and
Vedic medicine. Printing presses are numerous and produce
20 English and 66 vernacular periodieals, of which the most
important are the Civit and Military Gazette, the Tribune
and the Observer.

Lahore is the head-quarters of the Anglican Diocese of that
name. The Cathedral of the Resurrection, a fine building in
the decorated early English style; was consecrated in 1887.
There is also a Railway Church in Naulakha. The Church
Missionary Society has a theological {raining school at Liahore.
The city is also the head-quarters of the Roman Catholic
divcese of Lahore and contains the Pro-Cathedral. The
American Presbyterian Migssion has a church, and several
native churches exist in the city. Missions are conducted by
the Church Missionary Society and the Methodist Episcopal
Mission, Lahore is the head-quarters of Punjab Freemasoury
and contains two lodges.

The principal public buildings have already been referred
to in the general description of the city and station. Lahore
is the head-quarters of the Punjab Light Horse and of the
1st Panjab Volunteer Rifles. The chief medical institntions
ara the Mayo and Lady Aitchison Hospitals, besides the
Medical College above mentioned.

L
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LUCKNOW.,

Municipality, cantonment, and former capital of the
Province of Oudh, situated in 26° 52’ N. and 80° 56’ B.
on the banks of the Gumti. Tt lies at the junction
of several branches of the Oudh and Rohilkhand Railway
with metre-gauge lines connecting the railway systems of
Rajputina and morth Bengal, and is the centre from which
radiate important roads to the surrounding districts. Dis-
tance by rail to Caleutta 666 miles, and to Bombay 885
miles. ~Lucknow is the largest city in the United Provinces,
and the fourth largest in British India. Population is,
however, decreasing: I869, 284,779; 1881, 261,308;
1891, 278,028 ; 1901, 264,049. In 1901 Lucknow con-
tained 154,167 Hindus, 101,666 Musalmans, and 7,247
Christians, of whom 5097 were Huropeans or Eurasians.
The population within municipal limits was 240,649, while
that of cantonments was 23,400,

The oldest part of Lucknow is the high ground within
the Machchhi Bhawan fort, which is known to Hindus
as the Lakshman Tila, from the tradition that a city was
founded here by Lakshmana, brother of Rima Chandra of
Ajodhya, Nothing is known of the early history of the
town; but after the Muhammadan conquest of India it
was occupied by Shaikhs and Pathans. The former became
of someimportance and built a fort, and according to one
account the place derives its name Lakhnau from Likhna,
the name of the architect of the fort. In the 15th century
one of the Shaikhs was celebrated for his piety and
aseumed the name of Shah Mina. His tomb is still visited
by pilgrims, who offer pieces of cloth, and it is speeially
resorted to when a man has a case pending in court. In
1626 Lucknow was occupied by Humdyin, who abandoned
it; but it was again taken by Babar in 1528, A few
years later Humayin defeated Mahmud, broi_:her_ of
the last Lodi king near here. Under the Suri kings,
Lucknow began to rise into importance, and in the reign
of Akbar it was the chief town of a sarkar, Its growth,
however, like that of so many of the great modern cities
of India, was most rapid in the 18th and 19th cenburies.
1t rose Lo greatness as the capital of the young dymasty
which established itself in Oudh during the deeay of the

History.
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Mughal empire, and spread its rule, not only over the
modern Province, but also through the neighbouring tracts
now included in Rohilkhand, the Gorakhpur and Benares
Divisions, and the Allahabad Division north of the Ganges.

Saadat Kban, the first Nawab, had a residence at Lucknow,

but lived there seldom. His son-in-law, Safdar Jang, built
a fort at Jalalabad, three miles south of the city, to keep in
check the Rajputs of Baiswara, and also commenced the
gtone bridge over the Gumti, He rebuilt the old strong.
hold of Lakshman Tila, which was henceforward known as
the Machchhi Bhawan or fish palace, from the fish which
he was entitled to bear on his standard. Shuja-ud-daula,
the third Nawab, resided chiefly at Fyzibad, and under
the reigns of the first three Nawabs Lucknow increased
in size, but received few architectural embellishments
of an ornamental kind. With Asaf-ud-daula, the fourth
Nawab, a new political situation developed. He lived the
contented and servile ally of the English; but the grandeur
of Lucknow dates from his reign and the works he con-
structed did not degenerate into the mere personal extra-
vagances of his successors. He built bridges and mosques,
as well as the great Imambara, the chief architectural glory
of Lucknow, in which he lies buried, the adjacent mosque,
the Rimi Darwaza or Turkish gate, and the magnificent
palace which afterwards became the Residency. Outside
the city lies the palace of Bibiapur, built by Asaf-ud-daula
ag a country-house and hunting-lodge. Numerous other
handsome edifices in various parts of the town attest the
greatness ’of the same Nawiab, whose memory is still
preserved in popular rhymes as the embodiment of liberality
?nd magnificence. The Lucknow court had now reached
its highest splendour. The dominions of the Nawab
°St?“d€'d over a wider area than at any earlier or later
period. ~All the wealth of the state was devoted to the
porson:_ﬂ aggrandizement of its ruler and the accumula-
tion of those materials which minister to oriental pomp.
The burden on the people was crushing, and when the
English traveller, Tennant, passed through it, he found
almost everywhere a plundered and desolate country,
Seddat All Khan, half-brother to Asaf-ud-daula, ceded
a large territory to the British in return for their protecs
tion, and thenceforward the Nawab and his guceessors,
the kings of Oudh, degenerated into a mere faindent
dynasty of pleasure-seekers, whose works no longer partook

L.
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of any national or utilitarian character, but ministered
soleiy to the gratification of the sovereign. In the place
of mosques, wells, forts or bridges, palace after palace
gprang up In succession, each more ungraceful and extra-
vagant than the last. At the same time European
influence began to make itself felt in the architecture,
which grew gradually more and more debased from reign
to reign. Awkward imitations of Corinthian columns
supported Musalman domes, while false venetian blinds and
stucco marble replaced the solid brickwork of the earlier
period. Palaces were erected for the kings, for tl v
wives, and for their concubines, and hardly less palatial
buildings eprang up 16 house the royal menageries.
Suadat Ali Khan set the fashion by erecting the
Farhat Bakhsli or giver of delight, the chief royal residence till
the lust king, Wajid Ali Shah, built the Kaisar Bagh. He
also built the portion of Lucknow which extends east of the
Machehhi Bhawan, besides numerons small palaces, including
the Dilkusha, In his time Lucknow reached very nearly its
preseuvt size.

Ghizi-ud-din  Ohdzi-ud-din Haidar, son of Suadat Ali Khan (1814),

Tasdin) was the first of his line who bore the title of king. He built for
his wives the two palaces called the great and lesser Chhattar
Manzils (umbrella or dome palace), and also erected fine
maugolenms to his father and mother, and the Shah Najaf,
in which he himself was buried: Other memorials of this king
are the Moti Mahal, the Mubirak Manzil, and the Shah
Manzil, where the wild-beast fichts took place, for which
Lmk!\oxv was famous, He attempted to dig a canal for irriga-
tion from the Ganges, but it proved a complete failure.

Nagir=nd=din  Nasir ud-din Haidar, son of the last-named monarch

Haidar. (182%), fouinded the Tarawali Kothi or observatory,”* under
the superintendence of Colonel Wilcox, his astronomer royal.
It contained several excellent instruments. On the death
of Colonel Wilcox, in 1847, the establishment was dismissed
and the instruments disappeared during the Mutiny. The
building was the headquarters of the Fyzibad Maulvi, Ahmad-
ullah Shih, during the rebellion, and the insurgent couneil
frequently held its meetings here. It is now ocoupied as a
bank. Nasir-ud-din also built a great Zarbale in Iradatnagar,
under which he lies buried. )

M hamaiad Muhammad Ali Shah, unele of Nasir-ud-din Haidar

Ali S\ gh.  (1887), raised his own monument, the Husainabad Imanibara,
a tawdry building in which the degeneration of architectural
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taste is distinetly marked. A magnificent stone tank stand-
ing close to the road from the Chhattar Manzil to Husainabad
dates from this reign, and near it stands an unfinished build-
ing, called the Sat Khanda or seven-storeyed tower, though
only the fourth storey was completed. Muhammad Ali Shah
also ervected a mosque close to his mausolenm ; but its court-

L

yard and the buildings attached were neyer completed, and the -

mosque itself seood unfinished for many years.

Amjad Ali Shah, the fourth king (1842), built his own
mausoleum in Hazratganj, and laid down an iron bridge
across the Gumti. This bridge was brought cut from England
by Ghazi-ud-din Haidar, who, however, died before it arrived.
His son, Nasir-ud-din Haidar, directed that it should be put
up opposite the Residency; but the operations for sinking
wells to receive the piers proved unsuccessful, and the work
was thus delayed till the accession of Amjad AlL

Amjad Ali
shiih,

Wajid Al Shah, the last king of Oudh (1847—56), bears Wajed Ali

the whole opprobrium for the erection of the Kaisar Bagh.
the largest, gandiest, and most debased of all the Lucknow
palaces. It was commenced in 1848 and finished in 1850 at
a cost of 80 lakhs. Only the rear portion is now standing.
For a year after the annesation of Oudh the work" of in-
sugwrating the new administration was busily carried on under
General Outram, the last Resident,and Mr, C. C, Jackson of
the Civil Service. A couple of months before the outhreak at
Meerut, Sir Henry Lawrence (20th March, 1857) had as-
sumed the Chief Commissionership The garrison at Luck-
now then consisted of the 32nd British Regiment, a weak
company of European artillery, the 7th Regiment native
light cavalry, and the 13th, 48th, and 71st Begiments of
native infantry. In or near thecity were also quartered two
vegiments of irregular locsl infantry, together with one regi-
ment of military police, one of Oudh irregular cavalry, and two
batteries of nafive artillery. The town thus contained nearly
ten Indian soldiers to every Buropean, or 7,000 to 750. Symp-
toms of disaffection occurred ag carly as the month of Apnl,
when the house of the surgeon to the 48th was burned down
in revenge for a supposed insult to caste. Bir Henry Law-
rence immediately took steps to meet the danger by fortifying
the Residency and accumulating stores. On the 30th of
April the men of the 7th Oudh Irregulars refused to bite thewr
earbridges en the ground that they had been greased with
cow’s tat. They were induced with some diffieulty o retura
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to their lines. On May 3rd Sir Henry Lawrence resolved to
deprive the mutinous regiment of its arms, a step which was
not effected without serious delay.

On May 12th Sir Henry held a darbar, and made an
impressive speech in Hindustani, in which he called upon the
people to uphold the British Government, as most tolerant to
Hindus and Muhammadans alike. Two days earlier the
massacre at Meerut had taken place, and a telegram brought
word of the event on the moming after the darbar. On the
19th Sir Henry Lawrence received the supreme military com-
mand in Oudh. He immediately fortified the Residency and
the Machehhi Bhawan, bringing the ladies and children into
the former building. On the night of the 30th May the ex-

ected insurrection broke out at Licknow. The men of the
71st, with a few from the other regiments, began to burn the
bungalows of their officers and to murder the inmates.
Promptaction was taken, and early next morn g the European
force attacked, dispersed, and followed up for 10 miles the
retreating mutineers, who were joined during the action by
the 7th Cavalry. The rebels fled towards Sitapur. Although
Lucknow thus remained in the hands of the British, by the
12th of June every post in Oudh had fallen into the power
of the mutineers. The Chief Commissioner still held the
cantonments (then situated north of the Gumti) and the two
fortified posts at the beginning of June ; but the symptoms
of disaffection in the city and among the remaining native
troops were unmistakable. In the midst of such a erisis,
Sir Henyy Lawrence’s health unhappily gave way. He dele-
gated his authority to a council of five, presided over by
Mr. Gubbins, the Financial Commissioner ; but shortly after
recovered sufficiently to resume the command. On the 11th
June, however, the military police and native cavalry broke
mtq open revolt, followed on the succeeding morning by the
native infantry. On the 20th of June news of the fall of
Cawnpore arrived ; and on the 29th, the enemy, 7,000 strong,
advaneed upon Chinbat, a village on the Fyzabad road, 8 miles
from the Residency, Sir Heﬁry Lawrence marched out and
gave the enemy battle at that spot. The result proved dis-
astrous to our arms through the treachery of the Oudh artillery,
and a retreat became necessary. The troops fell back on Luck-
now, abandoned the Machehhi Bhawan, and concentrated all
their strength upon the Residency. The siege of the enclosure
began upon lst July. On the 2ud, as Sir Honry Lawrence
lay on his bed, a shell entered the room, burst, and wounded
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him severely. He lingered till the morning of the 4th, and then
died in great agony. Major Banks succeeded to the cival
command, while the military authority devolved upon Brigadier
Inglis. On 20th July the enemy made an unsuccessful
assault. Next day Major Banks was shot, and the sole
command was undertaken by Inglis. On the 10th of August
the mutineers attempted a second assault, which was again .
unsuccessful. The third assault took place on the 18th; but
the enemy were losing heart as they found the small garrison
so well able to withstand them, and the repulse proved
comparatively easy,

Meanwhile the British within were dwindling away and Fist relief.
eagerly expecting reinforcements from Cawnpore. On
September 5th news of the relieving force under Outram and
Havelock reached the garrison by a faithful native messenger.
On 22nd September the relief arrived at the Alambagh, a
walled girden on the Cawnpore road held by the enemy in
force. Havelock stormed the Alambagh, and on the 25th
fought his way against continuous opposition through the
eastern outskirts of the city, On the 26th he arrived at the
gate of the Residency enclosure, and was welcomed by the
gallant defenders within, General Neill fell during the
action outside the walls, The sufferings of the besieged had
been very great ; but even after the first relief it became
clear that Lucknow could only be temporarily defended till
the arrival of further reinforcements should allow the garrison
to cut its way out. Outram, who had now reassumed the
command which he generously yielded to Havelock during
the relief, accordingly fortified an enlarge! area of the town,
bringing many important outworks within-the limits of
defence ; and the siege began once more till a second relieving
party could set the besieged at liberty. Night and day the
enemy kept up a continual firing against our position, while
Outram refaliated by frequent sorties.

Throughout October the garrison maintained its gallant Final zeliof.
defence, and a small party shut up in the Alambagh and cut
off un.expectcd]y from the main body also contrived to hold
good ite dangerous post. Meanwhile Sir Colin Campbell’s
force had advanced from Cawnpore, and arrived at the Alam-
bagh on the 10th of November. From the day of his landing
at Calentta, 8ir Colin had never ceased in his endeavours to
collect an army to relieve Luckuow, by gathering together
the liberated Delbi field force and the fresh reinforcements
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from England. On the 12th the main body threw itself into
the Alambiagh, after a smart skirmish with the rebels. Sir
Colin next occupied the Dilkusha palace, east of the town, and
then moved against the Martiniére which the enemy had
fortified with guns of position. After carrying the post he
forded, the canal and on the 16th attacked the Sikandra
Bagh the chief rebel stronghold, The mutineers, driven to
bay, fought desperately for their fortress ; but before evening
the whole place was in the hands of the British, As soon a8
Sir Colin Campbell reached the Moti Mahal, on the outskirts
of the city proper, General Havelock came out from the
Residency to meet him, and the second relief was successfully
accomplished. ) I

Evacuation.  Even now, howgver, 1t remained impossible to hold Luck-
now, and Sir Colin Campbell determined, before undertaking
any further offensive operations, to return to Cawnpore with
his army, escorting the civilians, ladies, and children rescued
from their long imprisonment in the Residency, with the
view of forwarding them to Caleutta. On the morning of
the 20th November, the troops received orders to mareh for
the Alambéagh ; and the Residency, the scene of so long and
stirring a defence, was abandoned for a while to the rebel
army, Before the final departure, Sir Henry Havelock
died from an attack of dysentery. He was buried in the
Alambagh, without any monument, a cross on a neighbouring
tree alone marking for the time his last resting-place. Sir

James Outram, with 8,500 men, held the Alambagh until

the Commander-in~Chief could re'wrn to recapture the capital.
The rebels used the i

nterval for the fortification of their
stronghold to the utmost extent of their knowledge and
power. They surrounded the greater part of the city, for a
civeuit of 20 miles, with an external line of defences, extending
from the Gumti to the canal. An earthen parapet lay
behind the canal : g second line of earthworks connected the
Moti Mahal, the Mess-house, and the Tmambira; while the
Kaisar Bagh constituted the rebel citadel, Stockade works
and parapets closed every street; and loopholes in all the
houses afforded an opportunity for defending the passage
inch by inch. The computed strength of the insurgents
amounted to 80,000 sepoys, together with 50,000 volunteers ;
- and they possessed 100 pieces of ordnance, guns and morfars.
Very.

On the 2nd March, 1858, 8ir Colin Camphell found him-
self free encugh in the rear to march omce mowe mpon
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Tucknow. He first oceupied the Dilkusha, and posted guns

to command the Martinietre. On the 5th Brigadier Franks

arrived with 6,000 men, half of them Gurkhas, sent by the
Raja of Nepal. Outram’s forces then crossed the Gumtl
and advanced from the direction of Fyzabad, while the main
body attacked from the south-east. After a week’s hard
fighting, from 9th to the 15th March, the rebels were com-
pletely defeated, and their posts captured one by one. Most
of the insurgents, however, escaped. As soon as it became
clear that Lucknow had been permanently recovered, and
that the enemy as a combined body bad ceased to exist,
Sir Colin Camphell broke up the British Oudh army, and
the work of reorganization began. On the 18th October,
1858, the Governor-General and Lady Canning visited
Lucknow in state, and found the city already recovering from
the devastation to which it had been subjected. Lucknow
remained the capital of a separate administration till 18775
when the post of Chief Commissioner wae united with that
of Lieutenant-Governor of the North-Western Provinees.

L

The city of Lucknow covers a vast area lying south ofpegeription
the Gumti, with suburbs extending across the river. Theof city.

large cantonment forms an irregular quadrilateral adjoining
the south-east corner of the city. Up to the Mutiny, bazars
reached to the river almost throughout the whole of its
course on the northern boundary of the city, but a space has
gradually been cleared, with an average breadth of about
half a mile. Most of the buildings already mentioned lie
in this clearing, and within the last few years have been
enclosed m verdant lawns which have justly earned for
Lucknow its description as the City of Parks. On the
extreme wést lies the unfinished mosque of Muhammad Ali
Shah, known as the Jama Masjid. It was intended to rival
the great mosque at Delhi, but is only remarkable for its size
and gaudy colour decoration, which has recently been renewed.
The Husainabad buildings erected by the same king consist
of two énclosures at right angles. One of these is lined
with sheps and contains the tomb of Muhammad Ali
Shah’s daughter, a poor model of the Tajat Agra. The other
is laid out as a garden, adormed with stone water channels,
fountains, and badly-executed statuary, and contains the
Imambira in which Muhammad Ali was buried, The build-
ings are richly endowed, the surplus income being devoted to
charity. Bast of MHusainabad, and estending to the Rami
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Darwaza, is a beautiful garden, called the Victoria Park,
which was laid out in 1887, and encloses the Sat Khanda,
the house first occupied by Asaf-ud-daula when he transferred
his government to Lucknow, the large tank built by Muham-
mad Ali Shah, and a b@redar: constructed by the same king,
which contains a series of portraits of the Nawibs and kings:
of Oudh. Close to the tank is a clock-tower of Moorish
design, 221 feet in height and 20 feet square, which was built
between 1880 and 1887, and contains a chime of bells. On
the eastern border of the Park lies the finest group of build-
ings in Lucknow, including the Rami Darwaza, the great
Imambara and a mosque, all of which were built by Asaf-ud-
daula. The first of these is a massive gateway popularly
believed to be an imifation of the gate at Constantinople,
from which the Sublime Porte derives its name. It leads into
the Machehhi Bhawan on which are situated the other build-
ings. The great Imambara consists of a single immensge hall,
162 fect long and 54 feet wide, On either side are verandahs
27 fect wide, and at the ends are octagonal appartments 53
feet in diameter. The whole building is covered by a roof of
bricks set in concrete several feet thick, which stands without
the thrust entailed by vaulting. No wood is used anywhere
in the construction, which is built on very deep foundyations.
A plain slab marks the resting-place of the founder. In the
same enclosure stands the beautiful mosque raised by the
Nawib, The Machchhi Bhawan also contains the mound
known as the Lakshman Tila now surmounted by a mosque
. bult by Aurangzeb, and a fine school-house has recently been
erected south-east of the Tmambara, The mound occupied by
the ruins of the Residency lies at a distance of half a mile
south-east of the Machchhi Bhawan and is separated from the
Gumti by a road and open ground. At the time of the
Mutiny bazars were situated close to the low wall surroundin z
it, but these lLave been cleared away. 'The shattered walls
of the main block of buildings in which Sir Henry Lawrence
received his fatal wound, Dr. Fayrer’s house where he died, the
noble banqueting hall, used during the siege as a hospital, the
cellar wheve the women and children took refuge, and several
other buildings ave still standing, while high above all the
topmost tower still rears its battered sides. lﬁ%rther decny
has been prevented by carvefully exeouted repairs, snd the
grounds have been levelled and turfed. In one corner, under
the shade of many cypresses, are the tombs or cenotaphs of
some 2,000 Buropeans who perished during the Mutiny.

L
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The palaces of Saadat Ali Khan and Ghazi-ud-din Haidar
lie east of the Residency and adjoin each other. Only por-
tions remain of the vast Farhat Bakhsh. The part of this
building which overlooks the river was constructed by
General Claude Martin and sold by him to Saadat Ali Khan.
1t is now joined to the larger Chhattar Manzil built by his
successors, and the whole building is used as a club. Other
portions of the Farhat Bakhsh are the Lal Baradari and the
Gulistan-i-Iram, which are now the Provincial Museum.
The former building was the throne-room of the Oudh kings,
and in it a serious disturbance took place in 1837, when an
attempt was made to prevent the accession of Muhammad
Ali Shih. A fine court for the Judicial Commissioner of
Oudh has recently been completed epposite this building and
coutains a chamber used for meetings of the Provincial
Legislative Council. A short distance to the south of these
bwldings are the stately tombs of Saadat Ali Khban and his
wife, and behind them are the Canning College and the
large quadrangle forming the Kaicar Bagh. The latfer has
already commenced to decay and one side has been removed.
The other sides have been allotted to the falukdars of Oudh
as residences. Fast of these buildingslie the Tarawali Kothi,
the Khurshed Manzil, called after the wife of Saadat Alf
Khan who commenced it, the Moti Mahal, which also includes
the Mubarak Manzil, and the Shah Manzil or arena, and the
Shah Najaf, where Ghazi-ud-din Haidar is buried. A large
horticultural garden then intervenes, on the east of which is
the Sikandra Bagh, where fierce fighting took place on the
second relief. Another large public garden, called the Wing-
field Park after a Chief Commissioner, lies on the east of the
city, and south-east of this is situated the Martiniere College.
This bizarre erection was built by General Martin as his own
residence during the time of Asaf-ud-daula, and resembles
a colossal Ttalian villa on an exaggerated scale. The
founder's bones were buried within the Martiniére to prevent
its confiscation by the Nawab, but were dug up and scattered
during the Mutiny. The Dilkusha palace is situated in
cantonments.

Viewed from a distance, Lucknow presents a picture of
anusual magnificence and architectural splendour which fades
on nearer view into the ordinary aspect of a crowdeil oriental
town. Some of the most striking buildings, which look like
marble in the moonlight, are disclosed by the disillusionising
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sun to be degraded examples of stugco and brick, Flying
buttresses to support nothing but one another, copper domes
gilt from top to bottom, burnished umbrellas, and balustrades
of burnt clay form frequent features in the tawdry architec-
ture which renders the distant aspect of Lucknow so bright
and sparkling. Tmmediately after the Mutiny a wide glacis
was cleared round the Machchhi Bhawan, and three wide
military roads, radiating from this point as a ceutre, were
cut right through the heart of the native quarter. The city
itself contains shops of the ordinary style and a few larger
private residences. The, civil station adjoins the eastern side
of the city and contains a fine thoroughfare lined with the
shops of European tradesmen, called Hazratganj, at the end
of which lies the Luncknow residence of the Lieutenant-
Governor.

. Officials. Liucknow is the headquarters of the principal court in
| Oudh, the Inspectors-General of Civil Hospitals and of Jails,
! the Postmaster-General in the United Provinees, the: Conger-
vator of Forests in the Oudh Circle, the Commissioner of the
Lucknow Division, an Executive Kngineer, a Superintendent;
of Railway Police, and an Inspector of Schools. The Church
; Missionary Society, the American Methodist Mission, the
‘. Wesleyan and the Zanana Bible and Medical Missions have
important stations here. There are 10 hospitals and
dispenearies for both sexes, besides 3 female hospitals. The
magnificent: hospital founded by the late Maharaja. of

Barravpur and added to by the present Maharaji is excep~
tionally well fitted.,

M unici- The city has heen administered as a municipality since
pality. 1862» and a special Act was passed fo regulate it in 1864

w which remained in foree til] 1873, since which date it has’
been undel_' the ordingry munieipal law of the United Provin-

ces. During the 10 years ending in 1901 the average

income and, expenditure were 52 lakhs, including a loan

from Government of 132 lakhs to meet the cost of a water-

supply from the Gumti. In 1903-04 the total income was

58 lakhs, chiefly derived from octroi yielding 86 lakhs,

sale of water Rs. 88,000, water-rate Rs. 26,000, and
conservancy receipts Ra, 22,000. The expenditure of 56

lakhs inclnded items of 1'8 lakhs for conservancy, Rs. 76,000
repayment of loans and interest, Rs. 67,000 public safaty,

Rs. 50,000 maintenance of water-works, and Rs. 45,000
adwinistration and collection. A drainage scheme is now
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under construction and a scheme for electric tramways has
been sanctioned. .

The cantonment is the largest in the United Provinces, Cantonment.

and is garrisoned by British and native regiments of both

cavalry and infantry and by garrison and field artillery.

The cantonment fund had an average income and expenditure

of Rs. 58,000 in the 10 years ending 1901, and in 1908-04 the 5
income was Rs. 78,000 and the expenditure Rs. 74,000,

Lucknow is also the headquarters of the Oudh and Rohilkhand

Railway Volunteer Rifles, the Lucknow Volunteer Rifles,

and the Oudh squadron of Light Horse.

The city is more noted for its manufactures than for Commerce.
general trade; but its industries have suffered from the
alterations brought about by British rule. Under the prodigal
waste and lavish display of its latest kings Lucknow was a
eentre for the production of rich fabrics and costly jewellery.®
The kings have departed, and their descendants and those
of the nobles of the court who still inhabit the city live on
pensions which are fast becoming sub-divided toa vanishing
point. Cotton fabrics are still manufactured of all grades,
from the coarsest cloth to the finest muslin, and cotton prints
are made. An important industry connected with cotton
is the famous chikan or embroidery in silk or cotton on
muslin. The work affords employmient to many women and
children of good family whe aie nowW impoverished, and
very good tasteful articles are produced. Lucknow is also
celebrated for embroidery with gold and silver thread, but
the demand for this is decreasing. The silver work has
gome reputation and is largely sold to Buropean visitors, while
bidr or damascening of silver on other metals has also been
revived within recent years, The brassand copper industry
is still of importance, and vessels for use by Muhammadans
are especially made. Wood-carving is still carried on, and
there is a little carving in ivory. The potters of Lucknow
produce various kinds of art-wave, some of which are dis-
tinetly good ; while the clay modellers are pre-eminent in the
whole of India. Their models of fruit and vegetables have
a large sale among matives and are exported to Calcutts and
Bombay, and ¢clay figures representing various types of native
life are wonderfully artistic. Minor products are to baaco,
shoes, and perfumes.

B

® See W. Hoey, Monograph on Trades and Manufactwres, 1880:
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There are also some large industries worked on European
lines. Two railway workshops employed 8,400 hands in
1903, while four large printing presses employed 930, a

large paper mill 526, an iron foundry 200, a brewery 156,
and an ice and flour mill 84,

Lucknow 1s important as an educational centre. The
chief institution is the Canning College, founded in 1864 and
partly supported by the taluldars, which contained 336
stndents in 1904, of whom 47 were in the Oriental depart-
ment and 78 were studying law. There is also a school for
the sons of the falukdars and gentry, called the Colvin
School. The Reid Christian College, which contains a busi-
ness department and is managed by the American Methodist
Mission, several other mission schools, a normal school, the
Jubilee High School, and a number of schools which- are
under native management are also to be mentioned, The
secondary schools contains nearly 2,000 pupils, and there are
b primary schools with about 150. Lucknow POssesses more
facilities for female education than any other city in the
United Provinees. Itcontain a high sehool for girls main-
tained by the American Mission with 150 pupils, of whom
18 were reading in college classes in 1904, while 600 girls
are taught in a number of primary schools. The chief school
for Europeans and Burasians is the Martiniere, which eon-
tains nearly 300 boys. It is partly supported by the endow-
ments bequeathed by General Martin ; but the fees amount
to more than half a lakh annually. A girls’ sehool was
founded in 1866. Tt is situated in the Khurshed Manzil
and contains 75 pupils, Lucknow is also a centre of literary
ncti'vit_y and five English and 18 vernacular newspapers and
periodicals are published there. The formerinclude an Anglo=
Indian paper called the Indian Daily Telegraph, and the
Advocate, which is the leading organ of native publie
opinion in the United Provinces and 1s also published in a
vernacular edition, The Newal Kishore Press is one of the

most important publishing houses in India for Hindustani
literature,

(M. B. Gubbing Mutinies in Oudk, 1858 ; MecLeod
Innes Lucknow and Oudh in the Mutiny, 1902 )
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Mapras CiTy, the capital of the Madras Presidency and Deseriptive.

the third largest town in the Indian Empire, is built in a
straggling fashion on a strip of land nine miles long, from
two to four wide and 27 square miles in extent on the shore
of the Bay of Bengal in 13° 4/ N, and 80° 15’ E.

The site is low-lying and almost dead level, its highesf
point being only 22 feet above the sea, and it is intersected
by two languid streams, the Cooum and the Adyar, of
which the former enters the sea immediately south of Kort
St. George, in the centre of the town, and the latter near the
southern boundary of the city. Neither of them carries
enough water to keep the mouth open, and except in the
rains they both form salt lagoons separated from the sea by
narrow ridges of sand.

Strangers to the town find it difficult to realise that they
are in a place as populous as Manchester. Approached from
the sea, little of Madras is visible except the first row of its
hounses; the railways naturally enter i by way of its least
crowded parts; and its European quarter is anything but
typically urban in appearance. Most of the roads in this
part of the town run between avenues and are flanked by
frequent groves of palms and other trees; the shops in the
principal thoroughfare, the wide Mount Road,—though
many of them are imposing erections—often stand back from
the street with gardens in front of them; the better
European residences are huilt in the midst of ‘ecompounds®
which almost attain the dignity of parks; and ricefields

frequently wind in and out between these in an almost’

agoreseively rural fashion, Kven in the most thiekly-peopled
native quarters, such as Black Town and Triplicane, there is
little of the erowding found in many other Indian cities, and
houses of more than one storey are the exception rather than
the rule.

The reason for all this lies in the fact that in Mudras, if
we except the sea on the east, there are none of the natural
obstacles to lateral extension such as hem in Calcutta and
Bombay ; land is consequently cheap, and though the popula~
tion of the town is only two-thirds of that of Bombay and
only three-fifths of that of Calcutts, it has spread itself over
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an area five square miles larger than that occupied by the
former city and only three square miles legs than that covered
by the latter. Though large parts of it are strictly urban in
their characteristics, the city as a whole 18, in fact, rather a
fortuitous collection of villages separated from the surround-
ing country by an arbitrary Loundary line than a town in the
usual sense of the word.

For municipal and statistical purposes it is divided into
twenty ¢ Divisions,” but in popular usage the different
portions of the town are referred to by the names of the
villages within the original limits of which they staud.
Some of these villages (Nangambaukam is an ingtance) are
raral hamlets to this day, showing no sign of urban influence

beyond the municipal lamp posts and dustbins with which
their streets are dotted.

The The commercial centre of the city is the native quarter

Native called Black Town, which lies immedia,tely behind the

quarters. harbour and the twp or three streets of European banks and
mercantile offices which there face the sea, and is more thickly
populatad than any other part of it. Triplicane, the clief
Muhammadan quarter, and Purasavakam and Vepery, where
the greater part of the Eurasians reside, come next in density.
All these lie in the middle of the town, but they are separated
from one another by ample open gpaces which will never be
built over. Chisf of these is * the Island,’ the city’s principal
parade and recreation ground, which is surrounded by. the
two arms of the Cooum and forms part of an extensive fire
zone which the military authorities have reserved round the
Fort, Next in importance comes the People’s Park, begun
in 1859 during Sir Charles Trevelyan’s governorship and
consisting of ornamental grounds containing a cousiderable
zoologieal collection, The N apier Park, lying between the
Mount Road and Chintadripetta, and the Robinson Park,
north of Black Town, ave also due to the initistive of
Governorg of the Presidency, namely, Lord Napier (1866——
72) and Sir William Robinson (1875). Next to the Napier
Park come the extensive grounds of Government House and
the open space round the group of publie buildings which
face the eea south of the Cooum. All these serve as lungs to
the crowded centre of the town. Of the surrounding fringe
the most thickly peopled area is that north of Black Tawn,
and its population will probably continue to rapidly increase,
as it lies handy to the busy part of the city.
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The principal European quarters are in the west and south The

of the fringe, in Egmore, Chetpat, Kilpauk, Nangambaukam, European
Teynampet and the strip of land on the north bank of the quarters:
Adyar river. Here are the fine houses built by the merchant

prinees and vhe sexrvants of John Company at the end of the
- eighteenth and the beginning of the nineteenth centuries; in

the bad old days when the pagoda-tree still flourished, many

of which—Brodie Castle, Doveton House, Gambier’s Gardens

and ofhers—still bear the names of the authors of their being:

All of these are built of brick cased with shell-lime plaster

and are designed on very generous Jines. The zenanas
attached to some of them bear witness to the social customs of

the period when they were built. Modern residences are
planned on aimore lowly scale and employ red brick.

These quarters of the town are served by handsoms
thorough-fares. Chief among them is the Mount Road,
running from the Walajah gate of the Fort across the
Island, past Government House, the: Madras Club,
St. George’s Cathedral; and the Horticultural Gardens,
thence beside the bank of the Tiong Tank, over the Adyar
by the Murmalong Bridge (built in 1728 by Petrus
Uscan, the most notable of the Armenians of old Madras)
to the Governor’s country residence at’ Guindy and
the cantonment of Saint Thomas’ Mount wvine' miles
from the Fort. Nearly parallel. to it, the shorter
Mowbray’s Road, with its fine banian avenue, leads to the
Adyar Club—built: by Mowbray, the first: Accountants
General— and at St George’s Cathedral it is crossed: by the
Cathedral Road and the Nangambaukam High Road. The
latter of these runs up to the once fashionable quarter on the
Puor'mmallee Road, while the former loads eastwards to the
Marina, a broad esplanade, bunilt in the governorship of Sir
M. E. Grand/Duff,! which mns along the sea front from
the High Court to the suburb of St, Thomé and has the
makings of one of the finest thoroughfates in Indiad

The public buildings of Madras are more than usually Publie
handsome, but this again is a faet which the stranger is buildings.
not likely to immediately perceive, for they arve seattered

1Of it he wrote, “we have greatly benefited MnJ;;;“by » . tumin
1he rather dismal beach of five years ago into one of the most' beautiin

romensdes in the world. From old Sicilian resollections, I:gave in

884 to our new ereation the namao of the Mavina ; and I was not s little
amused when walking thers last winter with the Ttalian general Salytta,
he suddenly eaid to mo * on se dirait & Palerme.’ **
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about in a manner which robs them of all eollective effect.
The Post and Telegraph office and the new Bank of Madras
building had naturally to be near the harbour and the
mercantile centre of the ecity, and so had the High Court
and its appendage the Law College. The Fort, the zone
reserved round if, and the Cooum have, however, prevented
the erection of other public buildings near these facing the
sea, so that the next collection of them is over a mile away
on the Marina south of the Cooum mouth. This group
covsists of the Senate House, the beautiful office of the
Board of Revenue (formerly the palace of the Nawabs of
Arcot) and the Presidency College. Hidden in various
isolated sites throughout the city are many other fine build-
ings —Goveroment  House, the Banquefing Hall (buils by
Lord Clive in 1802 and containing portraits of many Gov-
emmors of Madras), the Museum and Connemara Library
(the nucleus of which was the old Pantheon), St. Geeorge’s
Cathedral (Iomq m style and finished with the polished
plaster work which resembles marble), the Memorial Hall
(erected by public subscription to commemorate the exemp-
tion of Madras from the horrors of the Mutiny) and others
—vwhich seen singly fail to arouse enthusiasm, but grouped
together or more favourably situated would make an impres-
sive collection, ‘

The earlier public: buildings—the Banqueting Hall and the
Cathedral are instances—were built of brick cased with
plaster moulded into detail copied from the Ttalian and other
Buropean schools. Since the introduction of granite from
Cuddapab and North Arcot in 1864, local architecture has,
however, been slowly woiking towards an adaptation of the
Hindu Saracenic, and the High Court, the Law College and
the Bauk of Madras are built in this style in ved brick
and grey granite. The latest building material is the beauti-
ful brown stove from Nellore, close-grained yet easily worked
of which the Young Men’s Christian Association building on
the Esplanade is made.

The chief statues of Madras are those of Her Majesty the
Jate Queen-Empress, near the Senate House; of the King-
Emperor, opposite the Mount Road entrance to Government
House; of Lord Cornwallis, in the Fort square ; of Sir
Thomas Munro, by Chantrey, on the Island ; of Genernl Naill,
of Mutiny fame, opposite the Madras Club; of Justice glr
Muttuswami Ayyar, in the High Court ; ayld‘ of the Rev. Dr,
Miller, on the Esplanade, opposite the Christian College.

Stalues.
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echurches of Madras deserve more space than.can be Ghurchess
' agcorded them. The foundation stone of the TLuz Church.
| bearsthe date 1516 and the oldest European inscription in
| Endia. St. Thomé Cathedral contains a series of memorials
. to Portuguese pioneers which begins in 1557, St. Mary’s
church in the Fort was consecrated in 1680, is the oldest
Protestant place of worship in India, and contains. the graves
. of Governor Nicholas Morse, a great great-grandson of Oliver
. Cromwell and the man who capitulated to La Bourdonnais
. in 1746 ; of Lord Pigot, who defended the Fort against Lally
| in 17569 and was afterwards deposed and imprisoned by his
| own council; of the famous Swartz, missionary and states-

man; of 8ir Thomas Munro, who died of eholera while on a fare-
ﬁ well tour in his heloved Ceded Districts in 1827, and of many
|
9
4

others who have made Madras history. The Roman Catholie

Cathedral in Armenian Street was erected in 1775 by the

Capuchins, and aboat the same time the Armenians,. then a
' weilthy and influential community, built their church in the
. same street. 8t. Mark’s, Black Town, was consecrated in
. 1804, St. George’s Cathedral in 1815, and St. Andrew’s
(the Scotch Kirk) in 1821. The twolast were designed by
the Civil Architect, M ajorDe Haviland, R.E.

: The principal Hindu temples are those dedieated to Vishnu
and Siva respectively at I'riplicane and Mylapore and the
~ chief mosque that in Triplicane.

The climate of Madras has heen described with considerable Climate,
aceuracy as “three months hot and nine months hotter,’” temperature
The cooler months are never col " Ehe  miban | besh TRl and rainfall.
December and January being 76°, hut the heat in the summer
does not approach that of upper India, the mean for May and
Jnne.bcmg the moderate ficure of 90°. The mean for the
year is 83°. fl‘he average annual rainfall, based on figures
for 85 years, is 49 inches, of which 29% inches arve received
during the nort.-h-east monsoon from October to December
and another 15inches from June o September in the south-
west monsoon.  The heaviest recorded fall during the last 85
years was 88 inches in 1827 and the smallest 018 inches in
188R, the year before the Guntiir famine,

Like other places on the Bay of Bengal, Madras is liable Cyelones.
to frequent and severe cyclones. In October 1687 a storm
raged for five days, and drove ashore two ships lying in the
ronds. In 1721 another storm swept four shipsufro‘m their
moorings and wrecked one of them. On Oectober 8rd, 1748,
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when La Bourdonnais’ fleet was in the roads after the eapture
of the town, a cyclone sank tiree of his ships and two
prizes, while four others’ either lost or cut away their
masts and 1,200 men were drowned. In 1782 over 100
native craft which had come to Madias with rice to feed the
thousands who had flocked into the town to escape Haidar’s
horremen were wrecked and a terrible famine followed.
Other cyclones occurred in 1811, 1818, 1820, 1836, 1843 and
1846. In the first of these 90 counfry vessels went down
ab their anchors and the surf broke in nine fathoms of water
four miles from the shore. In the last, the Observatory
anemometer broke at a registered pressure of 40 lbs. to the
square foot and_ one of the massive masonry pillars on the
Elphinstone Bridge was blown over. In 1853, 1858, 1863,
1864 and 1365 yet other cyclones visited the place. The
most destructive of all happened in May 1872, The wind
pressare was 53 lb's. to the square foot. The shipping in the
roads did not receive sufficient notice to put out to sea, and
between 6 and 11 a.x. nine English vessels, with an agore-
gate tonnage of 6,700 tons, and 20 native eraft were driven
ashore, though owing to the use of the rocket apparatus only
nineteen lives were lost. In 1874 another cyclone visited
Madras, but this time the ships put to sea in time and
escapod. The last was in 1881 and, as narrated below, did
great damage to the harbour,

History. Madras was founded in 1639 in the reign of Charles T

Masulipatam, the Company’s then head-quarters on
the Coromandel Coast, was hampered by the unfriend-
liness of the officials of the kingdom of Goleonda,
within which it lay, and by its distance from the native
weaving and dyeing centres. These were further south in
the teritories of the dying kingdom of Vijayavagar, the
ropregentative  of  which lived at Chandragiri  and
rled through ‘ Naiks’ with local authority, In August
1639 Fraveis Day, chiof of the subordinate fuctory at
Armagon, south of Masulipatam, obtained from one of
these a leaso of the revenues of ¢ Madraspatam’ and per-
mission to build a fort “in or about” it. This fort was begun
in auticipation of the Divectors” sanct on by Day and Andraew
Cagan, the Agent on the Coromandel eoast, in March L1640
and was named Fort Si. Goorge, after England’s pateon
gait. In honour of the losal Nuik’s father ()l\xrlln.nl'l’ﬁ. the
gettloment, a8 distinct from the town of Madras iteelf, was
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called Chennappapatam, but the natives now apply the name
Chennapattanam to the whole town. The Portuguese at
St. Thomé, whose prosperity was already waning, had
invited Day to settle there, but he preferred an independent
position.! By the autumn of 1640, 300 or 400 families of
weavers and others, attracted by an exemption from taxes for
30 years, had seftled round the Fort, which when finished
consisted of a  tower or house’ enclosed by a rectangular
wall 400 yards long by 100 yards wide with bastions at the
four corners.

In 1641 the place hecame the Company’s head-quarters
on the Coromandel coast, in 1653 it was made independent
of Bantam, and in 1658 Bantam and the stations in Bengal
were put under its orders. The old records still in the Fort
vividly describe the simple existence of the factors of those
eurly days—the common mess at which the Governor presided,
the prayers which every one hud to attend, and the penalties
prescribed for swearing, drinking more than half a pint
of brandy at a sitting or getting over the Fort wall=—and
detail the many trials they had to undergo—the irrepressible
¢ interlopers,” the utiquitous pirates, and the hungry native
potentates with their never-ending demands for more doucenrs.

The Fort was frequently threatened. In 1672 the French
took St. Thomé and fortified Triplicane; the Dutch drove
them out in 1674 ; in 1687 Aurangzeb became agressive ;
his general Dand Khan blocked the place from St. Thomé in

1702 ; and in 1739 the Marathas were hovering round. Af
cach succe<sive scara something was done to put the Fort,
snd the wall which had been built round Black Town, into
bettor order, but, though these spasmodlc efforts resulted in
Day and Cogan’s Fort being improved out of recognition,
the Directors always grudged expenditure on fortification,
the place remained wretchedly weak, and when in 1746,
during the firet war between the Company and the French,
Dupleis’s lisutenant Lia Bourdonnais attacked? it, Governor
MO"'SO meekly capitulated at once and he and his council were
carried off to Pondicherry.

' Law and order wore moregver at s discount there.  nu of the varly
Jettors 10 tho Diventors says  Hud woe imbraed theire proffor to reside
in that eittee, you must have sought out for such sorvants to dvo your
Tusines as wore both stiok freo and shot free and such an cond digest
poizon, for this is their dayly practice in St. Thoma, and no Jupfice.™

4 This attack, and the lator siege by Lally, refered to below, are
gaphically deseribed by Orme.

L
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manual labour is in the greatest demand, such as Perambur
and the area round the harbour, this latter figure is even less
than this.

Religions. Owing to the presence in the town of the Prince of Arcob
and his following and of a large number of Furopeans and
Eurasians, the proportion of Musalmans and Christians
in it is considerably higher than usual, there being 113
Musalmans and 80 Christians in every 1,000 of the
population against 64 and 27 in the Presidency as a whole.
In 1901 there were 4,228 Buropeans and 11,21% Eurasians
in Madras, but the Armenians, who in the old days formed
a considerable community, numbered only 28, There were
only 63 Parsis and only 11 Jows,

The town  is the head-quarters of the Church of England
Bishop of the diocese, of the Roman Catholic Archbishop of
Madras and Bishop of Mylapore, of the Chureh of Scotland,
and of many Christian Missione and Societies, among which
may be specified the Societies for the Pl'opﬂgntiouonf the
Gospel and for the Promotion of Christian Knowledge, the
Church Missionary Society, the Wesleyan Missio;:x, the
London Mission, and the Madras Bible Society.

{

:

Vernaculars  Lhe vernacular of the city is Tamil, which is spoken by
and eastos.  nearly three times as many people as any other tongue-
Next i importance come ('elugu, which is the language of

as many as a fifth of the population. It follows that the

‘ Tamil and Telugu castes lavgely predominate in the towi.
QE the former the Paruiyans (labourers, 63,000), Vellalas

(63,000) and Pallis (52,000) ave the most numerous and of

the latter the Balijas (merchants, 48,000), The next most

numerous caste, the oil presser Vaniyans, is nearly 20,000

strong. Brahmans are more than usually numerous, forming

geme 6 per cent. of the Hinda population. Most of the
Mu_sahpﬁns return themselves as Sheikhs by tribe. There is &

sprinkling of foreign castes, but none of them are numerous,

Qcoupa~ In their occcapations the people naturally present #
tions. complete contrast to the Presidency asa whole, less than %
per cent, of them being employed in callings connected with
pasture and agriculture, as compared with 71 per cent. in
the reet of the Province, while the numbers gaining their
livelihood from service under Government, personal an¢
domestic service, the supply of food and drink, commerce and
the learned and artistic professions are proportionately much



" MADRAS. 175 L |

larger than clse.\vhere. The number of persons of in=-
dependent means 18 also unusually high.

Births and deaths are registered with more aeccuracy in Publie

Madras than anywhere else in the Presidency, and con- healthe
sequently the rates of both are apparently much higher than in
other urban arveas.  On an average of recent statistics they were
41+9 and 40';'3 per mille, respectively, against 54°6 and 305,
resnectively, in all urban areas throughout the Presidency.
The great majority of the deaths are returned, as usual,
under the vague headings of ‘fevers’ and ¢ other causes.
Up to date (1901) plague has not visited the city. Cholera
is froquently imported from the neighbouring villages outside
the town, over which the municipality has no ganitary
confrol.

The town eannot boast that it is healthy to native life,
though to Europeans it is salubrious enough. The tanks to
the west of it, and the rice-fields within its limits which are
irvigated from these, keep the sub-soil water at an un-
pleasantly high level, and morcover the drainage system of
the town has hitherto been inadequate to remove the large
quantities of water brought into it every day by tle
municipal water-works. The soil is accordingly much
water-logged.  Considerable quantities of sewage also ab
present flow into the Cooum owing to the inadequacy of the
existing drainage arrangements. The new drainage scheme
veferred to below, is expected to do much to cure these defects.
The recently erected Moore Market hag been of service in
improving the food-supply.

Bosides 1hé educational and medical institutions referred jptitns
to (under those hends) below, Madras possesses a large tions.
number of scientific, oharitable and social institutions’
and societies. Chief amony those devoted to science
are the Observatory and the Museum. The Obgerv-
atory was the first ever established by Europeans in the
Bast. 1ts nucleus was a collection of instruments made by
a scientific member of the Madras Couneil, William Petrie,
and bequeathed by him to the public service when he laft
Indin in 1789. The present building was evected in 1792 3
Sir Charles Oakeley, who was keenly interested in such matitors,
heing then President in Council. Jobn Goldingham was the
first astronomer, holding the post till 1830, and he and his
successors~notably T. G. Taylor, F.RS. (1880-1848),
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Fort St. David then became the head-quarters of the
Company and continued as such until 1752. The French
retained Fort St. George until 1749, when it was given back
under the treaty of Aix la Chapelle, and during those three
years they pulled down the native and Armenian part of
Black Town, which then clustered close under the north
wall, and 'made a glacis out of the débris. But in other
ways they left the Fort in an even worse condition than they
found it and when the Company regained possession they set
themselves seriously to improve it, turning the north arm of
the Cooum away from the south wall of the Fort and build-

ing, on the ground so obtained and on the west, a series of
new bastions and works which practically constituted a mnew
¥ort enclosing the old one. !These changes enabled Pigot to
resist Lally’s attack suceessfully in 1759, The result of

this siege, which followed on the gecond outbreak
between the English and the

moment, for the French had alre

and several others of the English settlements and the fall
of the Company’s headquarters would have been attended
with disastrous consequences, The struggle lasted from the
Lith December 1758 to the 16th February following and
was most obstinately contested on both sides, The chief
line of attack was along the shore north of the Fort, Lally’s
principal battery being near the present High Court. The
Place was saved by the appearance of an English fleet in the
roads, the French retreating as soon as it arrived. ]
_ The greater part of the Fort as it stands to-day, includ-
mg its northern half and the Secretariat buildings, was
either restored or constructed between 1763 and the end of
.thi‘ century. With the exception of Haidar Ali’s threaten-
g approach in 1769 and again in 1780—on which latter
gceasion he ravaged the country up to the very gates of the
Fort—Madsas has been froe from outside attack since Lally’s

siege,

of war
French, was-of the utmost
ady captured Fort St. David

Beyond the limite of the Fort and Black Town the
Company had little authority in its earlier days. Tendiarpet,
Purasavikam and Bgmore wero granted to it in 1603,
Veysarpddi, Nangambuukam, Tiravottiyur and Enunons
in 1708, and Vepery, Perambar and Pudupakam in
1742. Possession of fliese and other tracts, inoluding
St. Thomé, which bad beon occupied in 1749 to prevent §bg

+ & minute description of these improvements is given in Orwe ii,
402--406.
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Trench gebting a footing there, was confirmed by a farman
of the Mughal Emperor in 1765. These villages were
usaally leased out, and though some of them boasted
outposts with guns, they were too weak to be seriously
defended when attacks oceurred.,

South-west of the Fort, stretching as far as Mylapore
and the Long Tank, where now lies the most prominent part
of the town, was an open and treeless expanse called the
Choultry Plain, and as the time of Lally’s attack the
Governor’s garden-house on the Cooum bank, where Gov-
ernment Aouse stands now, was apparently the only Euro-
pean residence on that side of the Yort. European Madras
as it mow appears was most of it built at the end of the
eighteenth and the beginning of the niueteenth centuries.

The population of Madras in 1871 was 397,552 ; in 1881, Population.
405,848 ; in 1891, 452,518 ; and in 1901, 509,846. It is
mereasing more rapidly than that of ordinary rural areas and
the census statistics of birth-place show that this is largely
due to immigration from the neighbowring Districts of
Chingleput and North Arcot. Between 1891 and 1901
the total percentage of increase was 12°6, but in parts of the
town it was much higher than this. The namber of people
in Perambir and Veysarpadi, for example, owing mainly to
the establishment of two cotton mills, the Madras Railway
Workshops, and the quarters and hazar of a Nmi\fe Regiment
in or near that locality, has more than dqul»led in the last

" thitty years, and the inhabitants of the houses, between
Parry’s corner and Messrs. Arbuthnot’s office have doubled
in numberseven during the la-t decade. Hmigration statis-
tics show that large numbers of persons left Madras for
other countiies By gea, bt only a small proportion of these
were natives of the town itself, the majority coming to the
port from inland Distriets.

The density of the population is greater than that of any Its density.
other of the large cities of the Presidency, and the average
number of persons living in each oceupied house is nine
against six in the other towns having over 50,000 inhabi-
tants, while in the heart of Black Town it is as high as
thitteen. The city is also increasing in strietly utban
characteristics. The proportion of the inhabitants who are
in the useful ages, between 20 and 40, ie a8 high as one-third
of the total, and the percentage of women to men continues
to decrease and is now only 98, In tLe parts in which Lard
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Captain W. 8. Jacob of the Bombay Engineers (1819-1859):
and N. R. Pogson (1861-1891)—have dove much special
work of permanent value n astronomical annals, ‘The Observ-
atory contains among- its instruments a large equatorial and.
an efficient transit circle, The Meteorological department in
connection with it was established in 1867, and was brought
under the Government of India department in 1874. In
1899 the Madras Observatory was transferred to the Gov-
ernment of India, the astronomer became the Director of the
Observatories  at Kodaikanal and Madras and  the
latter institution was put under the immediate charge of a
Superintendent, who is also the Meteorological Reporter to.
Government. Its work is now chiefly confined to meridian
ohservations for deferminine the time, and the maintenance
of the time service, which is effected by the daily transmission
to the Central Telegraph office at Madras, and thence
automatically throughout Indii, of a sienal marking the
moment at which Madras mean standard time is 4 Pp.M.
Special observations are also made for the issue of storm warn- -
ings and the daily weather report for the Presideney -is
compiled from telegraphic information received from the
various recording stations,

The Museum was founded in 1851,
was a collection of geological specime
Madras Literary Society and ths
sent to the Great Exhibition of
1855 subordinate museums we

Its original nucleus
ns presented by the
duplicates of the articles

1851 in Hyde Park. In
ve established in five different
Districts, but they were not successful, and in 1861 all but
that at Rijahmundry were cloged and many of the articles m
them were transferred to Madras. In 1855 a Zoolovieal
garden was connected with the Madras Museum, but this
was transferred to the People’s Park in 1863, In recent
years, under Mr, Thuraton’s sare, the Museum has been very
greatly developed. The policy adopted has been to render 1t
a popular illustrated guide, as it were, to the natural history
(animal, vegetab]e and mineral), arts, archwology, ethnology
and eeonomic resourees of {he Presidency, and that it is ap-
preciated by the publie is sufliciently shown by the fact that
it is annually visited by more than 400,000 persons, Among
the most valuable abjects in the arehaological section are the
geulptured marbles from the railing of tle Buddhist stupa ab
Amaravati in the Kistna District, the date of which is
about the end of the second century A. D, m§d a fragment
which ie supposed to be part of one of Buddha's bones, as iu
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was found (at Bhattiprolu in the same district) in a
rock-crystal casket enclosed in an outer stone case inscribed
with the stat'ment that it was made to contain relics of
Buddha. The collection of arms and armour from the
arsenal in the Yort and the Tanjore palace, the prehistorie
antiquities, and the numismatic collection, which is specially
rich in coins of the various native dynasties of South India
and of the various European Companies which have held
sway there, are others of the more notable possessions of the
institution, Attached to the Museum is the Connemara
Public Library, which was opened in 1896, contains more
than 10,000 standard works, and is used by about 14,000
persons annually ; and a theatre, capable of seating 400,
provided with a stage adapted for lectures, conferences and
charituble entertainments by amateurs,

Of the charitable institutions in Madras two of the oldest
are the Friend-in-Need Society and the Monegar Choultry,
which were founded in 1807 and 1808 respectively. Both
are supported by public subseriptions and grants from Gov-
ernment. The former devotes itself to the relief of destitute
EBuropeans and Eurasisus and the suppression of mendieity
among them. The latter affords shelter, food and clothing
to the native poor and infirm irrespective of caste or ereed, and
relieves some 50,000 cases annually. Besides these, (Groverns
ment contributes to the npkeep of two eivil a_ml_ one military
orphan asylums, a foundling asylum, the Triplicane Langar-
khaua, or poorhonse, and other charitable institutions.

Among other societies, Madras has a Literary Society
which Possesses a ]ibrnry of over 45,000 Volumes; a Fine
Art Society which holds an annual exhibition andin other
ways encourages Art; an Agri-Horticultural Society which
manages the ornamental gardens opposite the Cathedral and
holds an annual flower show ; a Musical Association and an
Amatenr Dramatie Society ; a Gymkhana Club, clubs for
erickoh, boating and racing, and the two favourite resorts of
Madras Society, the Madras Club end the Adyar Club, The
Mud::ns Club was founded in 1881. Up to then the usual
meeting place Lad been Lord Cornwallis’ Cenotaph on the
Mount Koad, or (for the yeunger members of the King’s
and Company’s services) the Tavern of the Exchange (uow
the British Infantry mess) in the Fort.

The chief indigenons arts of Madras ave silk and cotton- X rtx
weaving, silver work and embroidery. Raw silk is obtained °
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frore Bangalore, Caleutta and Bombay, mixed with eotton
and woven into native cloths which are sold locally and also
exported to Ceylon, Burma, the west coast of the Presidency
and even Natal. The cotton cloths made are of the ordinary
coarse variety, The silver work and embroidery employ but
few hands, but the former is less known than it deserves to
be, while the latter is usually in excellent taste and consists
of silk, gold or silver thread, or green beetlo wings procured
from Cuddapah, worked on satin or muslin. The School of
Arts gives instruction in a number of other directions, such
as wood=carving in the Dravidian style,
repoussé work, lacquer-work, and carpet-weaving, but none
of these arts has as yet faken root outside its walls.

The city has hardly any notable manufactures. Until
very recently tanning was an important industry. 7The
factories are just outside the town in the Chingleput District
which in 1900 possessed 97 of them with a

; n outturn worth
82 lakhs, The industry is now seriously threatened by the
superior speed and cheapnessof the American process of
chrome tanning,

The Buckingham, the Carnatic and two other mills, all
established between 1874 ard 1883, spin yarn and weave
cofton cloths of various descriptions. Their total capital is
27 lakhs, they possess 1,700 looms and 117,000 spindles and
they employ a daily average of over 7,000 men, women and
children. Some cement and tile works employ 350 hands
and 1_)r0duce an annual outturn worth over 11 lakhs. There
are nine iron foundries and four cigar factories, one of which

makeg 12 million cheroots annually. A new industry is the
manufacture of aluminium utensils,

Although Madrag has no nafural harbour, it vanks fifth
among th

€ ports of India in the value of its trade and fourth
in the tonnage of vessels which enter and clear at it, But if
the averagesfor the last two quinquennia are compared, it will
be found that itg foreign trade has remained practically
stationary. Fifteen or twenty years ago this was always
greater than that of Karichi and frequently in excess of
that of Rangoon, but during the last five years it has always

been less than that of Rangoon and has twice been smaller
than that of Karachi,

Including the coasting trade, but excluding Government
stores and treasure, the average annual value of the total
external import trade of the port in recent years wus 688

brass and copper
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lakhs, and of the expoit trade 570 lakhs, making a total of
12 crores and 53 lakhs, or £8,360,000. It is the only port
in the Presidency at which imports have exceeded exports.
Of the imports 523 lakhs, and of the exports 504 lakhs were
from and to foreign countries and the remainder was earried
coastwise from and to Indian ports. An annual average of
1,300 vessels, having a tonnage of 2,293,000, enter and clear
the port I cargo and in bailast. Of these an average of
1,060 with a tonnage of 1,725,000 are coasting traders.
Over 40 per cent. of the total sea-borne trade of the Presi-
dency is conducted from the port. “Over 70 per cent. of the
imports and nearly 60 per cent. of the exports are respectively
brought from and sent to the United Kingdom.

By far the largest item in the foreign imports is European
piece-goods, twist and yarn. Next -come iron and steel,
machinery and railway plant, and kerosine oil. Of the
foreign exports, hides and skins are the most important item,
and they are followed after a long interval by lndian piece-
goods, indigo and raw cotton. The native traders in the
town are chiefly Tamil Chettis and Telugu Komatis and
Balijas. Foreigners, such as Parsis, Gujaratis, Bhatias, and
Boras, take a share, but are few in numbers.

L

The serious disadvantage of the absence of any natural mhe harbour.

harbour at a port where the surf is continual has been met by
the construction of a serew-pile pierand a harbour of masonry.
‘The pier was completed in 1862. The harbour was begun
in 1876 and by September 1881 was mnearly completed. Tt
consisted of two parallel masonry breakwaters, each B00
yards distant from the pier, running out at right angles to
the shore for 1,200 yards into 74 fathoms of water
and then bending towards one another so as to leave
an entrance in the centre of the east side 550 feet wide. The
space thus enclosed was calculated to hold nine steamers of
from 3,000 to 7,000 tons. On the 12th November 1881 a
cylone struck it which, besides minor damages, washed away
half a mile of the breakwaters, threw the two top courses of
eoncrete blocks into the harbour, hurled over two of the Titan
eraues used on the works, lowered and spread out the rubble
base of the breakwaters and washed away 1§ miles of con-
struction railway,

In 1883, a committee of Bnglish experts reported on the
best method of completing work, and in 1884 operations were
recommonced. The harbour was completed in 1896 on
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practically the ariginal design, except that the width of the
entrance was reduced to 500 feet., The total cost from first. to
last was some 126 lakhs. Since then, however, it has silted
up considerably and after much diseugsion in India and
England it has now been decided to close the existing
entrance on the east, which is rapidly shallowing, and to
open another at the north-east corner. It has also been
suggested that, in the large aceretion of gand which the con-
struction of the harbour has oecasioned on the coast to the
south of it, a dry dock should be excavated in <which ships
could he unladen direct on to wharyes, stead.of into boats
and lighters as at present. By Act 1T of 1886 the harbour
is vested in the Harbour Trust Board, the average income of
which during the last five years was 74 lakhs mainly
derived from harbour dues. The harbour light is on the main
tower of the High Court buildins and is a double flash white
light visible 20 miles in clear weather.
The rail-borne trade of the city amounts to 740,00
of which 344,000 tous are imports and the remainder e
The imports from places within the Presidency are nearly
treble those from outside it, but the exports ‘go in about
equal quantities to places within and without the Provinee,

Of the external imports, more than half come from the
Nizim's Dominions, largely in the shape of coal from the
Singareni mines. Nearly all the exteinal exports are sent to
My=ore State, They consist chiefly of coal and coke brought
to Madras by sea from Bengal and sent to Kolar for use on

the gold-fields, while grain and pulse, metals and kerosine
oil, are also important items.

The chief internal imports are grain and pulse, which eome
largely from Ganjim, Vizagapatam, Godavari and the three
Districts—Nellore, Chinglepnt and North Arcot—adjoining
the city ; stone, lime and wood, imported mainly from these
same three Districts ; dyes and tans, from 1hese three Districts
and the Decean ; oilseeds, and bides and skins.

The internal exports consist chicfly of salt, sont mainly to
the inland Districts in the Sonth; grain «nd pulse, despatched
lurgely to the three adjoining Districts ; metals, most of
which are sent south; coal and coke; kerosine oil and Huoro-
yean piece-goods.

The whole of this trade is carried by two railways, the
Madras and the South Indian systems. The former is on the

) tons,
xports.
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standard gauge and has three sections. OF these, the North-
east line, starting from the Royapuram terminus, connects
Madras with Caleutta; the North-west line, from the
Central station, leads to Bombay ; and the South-west line
from the same terminus goes to the west coast Districts.
The South Indian Railway, a metre-gauge line with its
terminus in Egmore, runs to Tuticorin, whence steamers ply
to Colombo and so place Madras in communication with the
ocean liners which touch at that port. The Madras and
South Indian Railways have a joint station on the Beach
opposite the harbour, for the convenience of the shipping and
the North-east line of the former is being carried into the
Central station.

The British India Company’s steamers gail periodically
from Madras to Caleutta, Bombay, Rangoon and the Straits.

The Buckingham Canal provides cheap transit to
and from places along the coast between the Kistna Dis-
trict north of the town and the South Arcot District south
of it. A cheap and speedy service of electric trams is in
operation in the more crowded parts of the City and the
Municipality maintains 187 miles of metalled roads. There
is a telephone exchange and an howly postal delivery
throughout the town.

The revenue of Madras is administered by a Collector, who Revenmue
18 something of a pluralist, being also Collector of Sea-Cus: admimistia-
toms, Protector of Emigrants under the Emiigration Aet tion.

XX1 of 1883, and Superintendent of Stamps and Stationery
for the Presidency,

In the early days of Fort St. George revenue was raised
not only from the rents of the villages and ‘ gardens’ round
the Fort but also by tases on tobacco, betel, wine and country
sPirit, by land and ‘sea-customs, by scavenging fees and hy
‘quit-rents’ on houses.! The main part of these was colleg-
ted by an officer known as the ¢Land Customer” In 1780,
the total revenne amounted to about £30,000, After the
Chingleput District came into the Company’s pnssession in
1763, the management of the villages, which were then
known as the “ Home Farme,” was made over to the Colleetor
of that District; but in 1870 the Cellector of Madras, as the
Land Customer was by tha time called, was made responsible

*“ Nine fanams for every gront house, six fanaws for every small
hous¢ and three fanams for every little round house.”



Civil and
Criminal
justice.

MADRAS. L

for the revenues of the City, and he continues in charge o_f all
of them except those from Salt and Abkari. The agricul-
tural land in the town is held on the ordinary ryotwari tenure,
but the old quit-rents on house property, which are still
collected, are peculiar to the city. The chief items of general
revenue in the town (in thousands of rupees) are from land
revenue 97, quit-rents 65, stamps 4,64, excise 11,89 and
income-tax 5,45. Besides these there are large receipts under
other heads, such as customs, which owe their importange to
thes fact that the city is the chief port and the capital of the
Presidency, but these can hardly be considered to form part
of ifs revenue as a District.

In the early days of old Madras both civil and ecriminal
justice were administered by the ¢ Choultry Justices,” who
consisted of the Land Customer, the Mint-master and the
Pavmaster and sat twice g week at the Choultry. From
1678 the Governor and his Couneil sat on Wednesaays and
Saturdays in the chapelin the Fort to hear the more serius civil
and criminal cases, while the Choultry Justices continued to
dispose of petty matters. In 1687 the newly appointed Mayor
and Aldermen were constituted a Court of Record which
replaced the Choultry Justices and in the same year a Court
of Admiralty with a Judge from England, the forerunner of
the present High Court, was established under charter. In
1726 the Governor and his Council wore appointed as a Court

of Quarter Sessions for the trial of all offences except treasom
and were algo

a empowered to hear oivil appeals from the
Mayor’s Court, A Supreme Court was established in 1801
With & Chief Justice and two barrister Judges and the follow-
ing year the Sadr Adalat and the Faujdari Adalat, consisting
of the Governor ang Council, were respectively made the
courts of appeal in ejvj] and ecriminal cases amsing outeide
Madras, Tn 1869 these were combined with the Supreme
Court to constitute the pregent High Court,

Civil Justice is now administered by the three judges of
the Court of 8my]] Causes, by the City Civil Court and by
the High Couwrt, The g of these had its origin in a Court
of Requests founded in 1763 and originally possessing juris-
diction ouly up te } g0, It now tries cases up to R 2,000
in value, ‘Ihe City Civil Court was constituted by Aet VIX
of 1892.aud hus power to hear sujts up to R 2,700 in value
except those which are cognisable by the Small Cauge Court.
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Criminal Justice is administered by four full-power
magistrates called. Presidency Magistrates, session cases
arising within the city being heard by the High Court,

The internal administration of the city is in the hands of The
the Municipal Commissioners, who consist of a President Municipal
paid from municipal funds and appointed by Government “OH™HON:
and a body of honorary Commissioners partly elected by the
rate—payers'and partly appointed by the Government. The
President is assisted in his executive work by an Engineer,
a He.alth Officer, and a Revenue Officer, all of whom are also
appointed by Government. A special Act, which has recently
been remodelled, governs the operations of the Commission,

The first organised effort towards municipal government
in Madras was made in 1688 when, under the orders of Josiah
Child, Governor of the Company, who had taken the idea
from Dutch institutions in India, a Mayor and Corporation
consisting of twelve Aldermen and 28 Burgesses, with a
Recorder, were established by charter. On the 29th Septem-
ber 1688 the Aldermen in robes of scarlet serge and the
Burgesses in white china silk met in state in the fort to
hear the charter read and take the oaths. Their only income
atfirst was from certain petty dues on measuring grain
and weighing goods which the Government assigned to them.
T'he records show that a scavenging tax wasimposed and that
roads aud bridges were repaired out of the proceeds of an
impost ecalled the Town Conicopillay’s duty, but it isnot
clear that the proceeds of these were administered by the
Corporation and as the natives strenuously resisted all new
taxation that body apparently had no considerable revenue.
Municipal Government proper began with the passing of an
Act in England in 1792 which legalised the collection of
assessments on houses and lands in the three Presidency
Towns for expenditure upon their ¢ geood order and govern-
meut.”” From that time forward a succession of Acts bas
gradually improved the mnnicipal machinery and the
Commission now has an average annual revenue, excluding
receipts from loans, of some thirteen lakhs, The chief items
in this ave the house and land taxes, which together bring in
vearly five lakhs, and the water tax, which produces nearly
two lakhe more. The largest item on the expenditure side
is sumitation, while drainage, rcads and water-supply follow
next, The Commissioners have been continually hampered
in their undertakings by the straitness of their means, The
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and Washermanpet and (7) Royapuram. From these wells
it will be forced under pressure into a high-level cast-iron
main which will be ninemiles long and will traverse the

whole length of the city from Mylapore in the south to the

sewage farm in the north. The “whole scheme is estimated
to cost 40 lakhs.

Besides the outlay on the water supply and drainage
schemes, the Commissioners spend an average of 8} lakhs, or
over one-fifth of their inecome, on other sanitary measures.
The chief recent improvements have been the construction of
Moore Market, so called after the late President of the muni-
cipality, at & cost of 23 lakhg

0 , the erection of two cinerators
for the destruction of the town rubbish, and the cutting of a

number of new streets and lanes through the most crowded
and insanitary parts of the town. The more notable of these
latter are the street from the Walaja Road to Pyeroft’s Road
in Triplicanc, and that from Waller’s Road to the Napier Park,

Some few troops are always stationed in Madras itself—
in the Fort and elsewhere—and there are others at Saint
Thomas’ Mount, Poonamallee and Pallavaram on the out-
skirts of the city., In addition, there arc three corps of Vol-
unteer Rifles—the Madras Volunteer Guards, the South
Indian Railway Volunteer Rifles and the Madras Railway
Volunteers—and also the Madras Artillery Volunteers,

The police arrangements in old Madras were as primitive
a8 those for the administration of justice, Outside the Fort
an hereditgry official known as the Pedda Naik (¢ big peon ?)
was appointed who, in veturn for the grant of certain rice-

fields rent free and petty duties on rice fish, oil, and betel and
nat, was required to keep up a cortain staff of peons (origin-
ally twenty were found enough, but the numbers were after-
wards increased)

and either to detect all crimes committed

or make good the losses of those who were robbed. He was
also required to provide the Goyernor when called upon with
a body-guard of 150 peong. On State occasions he used to

ride at the head of his peons in the processions aceompanied

by ¢ our country musie ? as the old papers call it, the precursor,

apparently, of the Governor's Band. In 1858 the police

throughout the Presidency, the force in Madrs includea, was

entirely re-organised and placed nnder Sir William (then Mr.)
Robinson, the first Inspector-Gieneral of Police. The force in
Madras consisted in 1902 of & Commissioner of Police, with a
Deputy and two Assistant Commissioners, sixteen Inspectors
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and 1,324 subordinate officers and constables, of whom four
were mounted and 44 marine police. There were 22 police
stations.

The Penitentiary in Madras ranks as 2 Central Jail, but Juiles
unlike most of such institutions it is used for the detention of
prisoners sentenced to short terms, there being no subsidiary
jails in the eity. It has aecommodation for 1,048 prisoners,
meluding 59 in the hospital and 42 in the observation cells.
"The total average population in 1902 was 986. The principal
indnstry on which the convicts are employed is eomposin,
grintmg and binding forms and beoks for the Government

ress, and the section of the jail in which: this work is done
is treated asa branch of the Press. ‘On an average 250
conviets were daily employed in this mauner. Next in
importance comes the manufacture of cotton goods, such as
tent-cloth, rope, tupe and bedding for the various depart-
ments of Government, especially the army. In this work a
daily average of 175 men were employed. Boot and sandal
making for the police, jail and other departments and the
expressing of gingelly oil oceupy between them. some 80 men
daily, The net profit on all the manufactures in 1902 was
Rs. 63,000, which was considerably larger than that earned
in any other Central Jail. Within the Penitentiary is the
only Government work-house which bas been established in
this Prcsidency unden the Vagrancy Acts. Civil debtors are
usually eonfined in a portion of the Central and District Jails,
but in Madras the Civil Jail is in Popham’s Broadway at
some distance from the Penitentiary. Including its hospital,
it will hold 81 persons. In 1902 the total average number
of persons. confined in it was 28, There is also.a Criminal
Leper Ward in Royapuram with accommodation for 23
persons.

The first educational effort in the early days of Fort St. Edacation.
George was the despatch by the Directors of a sechool-
master ” who aavived in 1678. In 1715 the European
inhabitants convened a public meceting and resolved to
establish a freeschool for Protestant European and Jurasian
children, “St. Mary’s Charity School’ was the result, and
it survived till 1872, when it was amalgamated with the
Civil Orphan Asylums, The first attempt to educate the
natives was made by the Christinn Missions, and in 1717 the
Danish Missionavies at Tranguebar, of whom the chief was



Water-
supply.

MADRAS. L

straggling nature of the. city involves a larger exp'enditure
on many items than is easily met from the receipts, and
improvements of any magnitude have had to be_ pa}d for
from loans, the interest on, and repayment of, which form a
heavy charge on the revenues.

The most important of the Commissionetrs’ undertakings
have been the water-supply aud drainage of the ecity.
Madras 1s supplied with water from a rteservoir called the
Red Hills Lake which is fed from another reservoir known as
the Cholayaram tank, which in its turn is filled by a channel
from the Korttalaiyar river. This lake is seven miles from
the city and the water is brought from it by an open channel
and eventually led into pipes and distributed throughout the
town. The scheme was begun in 1865 and finished in 1872,
and was carried out under the supervi-ion of the then Muni-
cipal Engineer, Mpr. Standish Lee. On the 20th November
1884 a cyclone burst the bank of the Red Hills Lake and the
breach rapidly widened until it was nearly a mile in length,
and the lake was practically emyptied. For ten days, until the
breach was temporarily repaired, Madras was dependent u pon
the small Trevelyan reservoir and the old Seven Wells supply
for its water. The Red Hills luke has a capacity of ~ome
100 millions of cubic yards, but as it lies low, the head of
the supply channel being only 85 75 feet above M. S. L.,
only a portion of this can be drawn off at a level which will
command the town and when the water in the lake falls
below a certain height the supply has to be maintained by
pumping. The average annual quantity of water supplied
to the eity is 415 millions of cubic feet ; but owing to the waut
of pressure due to the low situation of the lake, the amount
available is insufticient for the needs of the people in about
one-third of the area of the town. To remedy this it is
proposed, when funds ave available, to introduce a new
scheme under which Red Hills water will be pumped to the
top of a ridge near the lake which is 90 feet above M.S,L.
and taken thence to the town in pipes under the pressure
resulting from this elevation. The capital cost of the exist-
ing works was 244 lakhs, of which 21 lakhs were met
from loans and the remainder from revenue and grants from
Government. Up to 1902, 10§ lakbs had been invested in
Government seeurities towards a sinking fund for tlu'a re~
pnymcnt of this sum. The average annual cost of the
maintenance of the scheme is Rs. 1,16,000.
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Parts of the town have been systematically drained for

many years. Black Town, its most thickly populated quarter,
is served by a complete system which was begun in 1882 and
was prepared by the then Municipal Engineer, Mr. J. A.
Jones, This consists of open U-shaped drains at the side of
the streets which empty themselves mto three parallel sewers.
These discharge into a main sewer which leads to a well in
Royapuram whence the sewage is pumped through an iron
main for 13 milesand thereafter taken by an open masonry
channel about half a mile further to a sewage farm of about
78 acres north of the city. Here it is utilized for growing
hay, which is largely bought by the Commissariat Depart-
ment and brings in a considerable revenue. This scheme
cost 10% lakhs, and the amount was raised by a special loan.
Up to 1902, 83 lakhs had been invested in Government
securities towards its repayment. The average cost of main-
tenance of the scheme is Rs. 67,000.

Besides Black Town, certain other smaller localities have
been drained on the same system by leading the sewage nto
wells and pumping it on to sewage farms. There are four
of these pumping stations. One in D’Mellow’s Road serves
Purasavikam, Chulai, Vepery and Egmore ; another, in the
Napier Park, Chintadripetta and North Triplicane ; a third
at Kistnampet, South Triplicane and Kistnampet ; and the
fourth, at Mylapore, deals with the sewage of Mylapore and
St. Thomé. The total area of the four farms is 65 acres.
The cost of maintenance of the four systems aggregates
Rs. 87,000. These farms are, however, too small to deal
with all the sewage pumped and are, moreover, situated
unpleasantly near to human habitations.

A new scheme for the drainage of the entire eity (except
Black Town) has accordingly been drawn up and is now
(1904) in progress. This will do away with these isolated
farms and will take the whole sewage of the town to a large
farm beyond its northemn outskirts. The essentials of tﬁe
seheme were planned by an espert from England, but the
details have heen modified by the present Engineer to the
manicipality. The house drains will discharge mto gyphon
tm‘»s fixed in the street and the sewage will be led, by pipes
laid ot self-clesnsing gradients, to seven different wells

serving the following weven quarters of the town s—=(1)
Mylapure, (2) Kistnampet and South Triplicane, (3) North
Triplicane, Chintadripetta and Pudupet, (4) Egmore, (5)
Purasavikam, Chulai and part of Perambir, (8) Tondiarpet

L

Drainage.
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the famous Ziegenbalg, obtained leave from the Governmgnt
to establish two schools “one for Portuguese in the English
town and another for Malabars (Tamils) in the Black Town.””
Their labours in this and other stationg received substant_m,l
support from the English Society for Promoting Christian
Knowledge.

Madras is now the edueational centre of the Presidency .
Besides the University, which is purely an examining body,
conforring degrees in Arts, Law, Medicine, Engineering,
Teaching and Sanitary Secience, the town contained on the
81st March 1903 ten arts colleges, three professional colleges,
93 secondary and 423 primary schools and also 21 technical
and training schools, Of the ten arts colleges, three—the
Presidency College, the Madrag Chrictian College and
Pachaiyyappa’s College—are first-grade institutions giving
instruction up to the B, A. degree. - The first of these is

managed and financed by Government, while the other two
are aided with grants.

The three professional colleges are the Law College, the
Medical College and the College of Engineering. Most of
the lectures in the Law College were originally given by
specially selected barristers and vakils of the High Court in
the early momings and late afternoons when the Court was
not eitting, but from 1902 it has been made a whole-time
college with a permanent staff of a Principal and three
professors, The Medical College has also recently been re-
organised in important directions, In Saidapet just outside
the limits of the town, are also the Teacher’s College and the
College of Agriculture. A very noticenble point in copnec-
tion with all these special colleges is the high proportion of
Brahmans among the students in them. Games and athletics

are greatly eucouraged at all the colleges and large schools
in Madras,

Of the tiaiving schools one is specially maintained for
training schoolmasters belonging to the Panchamas, or
depressed castes, for work in the schools kept up for those
¢lusses, The special institutions include schools or elasses of
medicine, engineering, telegraphy, printing, drawing and
dressmaking, 4wo commercial schools, three industrial schools,
four scheols of music or simging, the Ang']uma!_: aud the
School of Arts. The Anjuman was established in 1885 to
amcliorate the condition of the Musalman poor of both sexen
and thongh intended chiefly as a technical school provides



also for the general education of its pupils. It has a show
room for its productions in the Mount Road. The School of
Arts was started by Dr. Hunter as a private concern in 1850
and was taken over by Government in 1855. It cunsists of
two branches, one in which drawing, designing, modelling
and engraving are taught and another in which instruction
is given in wood-carving, carpet-weaving, metal-work and
pamnting, All the students are required to attend the classes
in the former. Kor some time special attention was paid in
the school to the capabilities of aluminium as a material for
household and other utensils, and oue result of this has been
the establishment of an independent private industry im the
manufaeture of such articles from this metal.

The total number of pupils under instruction in the city
in 1880-81 was 28,650 ; m 1890-91, 34,948 ; in 1900-01,
42,348 ; and in 1902-03, 44,953. Of these last, 11,377
were girls. It far surpasses all the other districts in the
literacy of its people. Of the malesin it 36 per cent,, and
of the females 9 per cent. can read and write, while in the
Presidency as a whole the corresponding figuresare 12 and
less than one. Fourteen per cent. of its inhabitante ean read
and write English against less than 1 per cent. in the
Province generally. -

Of the ®girls in the upper stages of theschaols and in the
colleges the majority are Buropeans, BEurasiang and Native
Christians. Of the 45 women who have up to the present
passed the F. A, Esamination, 34 were Europeans, 7
Native Christians and 4 Brahmans. In 1901 6 European
and 2 Native Christian ladies passed the B. _A. ex-
amination and ome Native Christian lady obtained
the M. A, degree. Of late years efforts have been
made to remove students in the town from the upwbolesome
asgociations of native hotels by providing them with properly
regulated hostels or boarding houses. There are four of these
attached to the Teachers’ College, another is connected with
the Panchama Training school already referred to and a sixth,
the Victoria Hostel, stands behind the Presidency College in
Chepauk. This is the largest of them all, but it is far too
gmall to hold the many applicants for admission. Of the
124 lakhs which were spent upon all the educational insti-
tutions in the city in 1908, some 38 per cent. was devoted
to the colleges, 54 per cent. to secondary schools, 20 per cent.
to training and special schools and 8 per cent. to primary
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MANDALAY.

~ Head-quarters of the District and Division of the same
name in Upper Burma, and capital of the Burmese kingdom
from 1858 to 1885. The city occupies part of a plain, here
about 8 miles wide, on the east bank of the Irrawaddy
between the river and the Shan hills, the dead level of which
is broken only by an eminence 954 feet in height. To the
south-west of this hill, a mile and-a-half from the river, are
the moat and walls of the old city, nearly 6 miles in circum-~
ference. The cantonments include the hill with the old eity
and space to the north and east of it, in all about six square
miles. West and south of the cantonments is the present native
eity, which stretches to the river on the west and the walls of
the old fort of Amarapura on the sonth. The entire area of
the municipality and cantonments is 25 square miles, but
this includes large unoccupied spaces at the four corners.
Religious buildings are scattered over the town, covering
with their precinets two square miles. The Buropean quarter
is on the south of the fort and the business quarter on the
west. Masonry buildings are general in the latter, but over
the rest of the town the houses are sometimes of wood, more
commonly of bamboo. Paddy-fields occupy the counfry near
the river to the north and south, and towards the south-east,
where the royal gardens of Mindon once were, is a stretch of
land now given over to the St. John’s Leper Asylum and to
paddy cultivation, As the city lies below flood level it is
protected by an embankment, which runs all round the
municipality and cantonments and is in some places doubled.
A canal, called the Shwetachaung, gives water connection
with Madaya on the north. Along the river bank are some
back-waters cut off by the embankments and gradually
filling up.

Mandalay ity dates only from the accession of king
Mindon, who is said to have been induced by a dream to
abandon for it the old capital of Amarapura, immediately to
the south of the present municipal limits. The practice of
founding a new city in each reign was quite in accordance
with Burmese custom. The hardship to the Izeoplc entailed
by this practice is less than it might seem. They were only
allowed to build houses of bamboo and thateh, and, apart

buildings, their

grom the walls of the palace and religious bu
cities were practically huge caravanserais, which must have
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vexceedingly insanitary after a few years., The walls
and moat of the new city and the palace were constructed
with paid labour between February 1857 and May 1858.
Jars full of oil, buried in masonry pits at each of the four
corners, are said to have taken the place of the human
sacrifices which had once been customary. The whole area
to be occupied, both within and without the walls, was laid
out in square blocks separated by broad roads along most of
which tamarind and other shade trees were planted. Many
of these blocks were occupied in the centre by a high official,
whose retainers dwelt along the edges.

King Mindon’s reign was peaceful except for an attempt
at rebellion by his son the Myingun Prince, who in 1866
killed the heir-apparent and after some resistance fled to
Rangoon. Mindon was succeeded .in 1878 by his son
Thibaw, the history of whose reign is one of palace intrigue
varied by massacre. About a year after his accession some
?ighty of his kin, men, women and children, were murdered
in the palace precincts and their bodies thrown into a trench.
In 1884 there was a further massacre of some 200 persons
suspected of being concerned in a plot on behalf of. the
Myingun Prince. In 1885 came the rupture with the
British ; an expeditionary force was despatched into Upper
Burma and towards the end of November of the same year
General Prendergast’s flotilla appeared off Mandalay. No
resistance was offered, and the king received Colonel Sladen
In a summer-house in the palace gardens and formally
surrendered himself. For some months dacoities and rob-
beries were frequent, but the town was eventually reduced
to order, About a tenth of the urban area was burnt down
during the hot weather of 1886, and in August anabnormally
high flood burst an embankment built by king Mindon and
caused some loss of property. In 1887 a ml}melpal Com-
mittee was formed and the metalling of the main roads taken
in hand, a telephone system was introduced, _and a town '
survey partly carried out. Before the introduction of muni~
cipal government the stockade round the palace and t.he
bamboo houses in the old eity, now called Fort _Duffenn,
were removed, compensation being paid for the sites, and
new land being given out to the expropriated.

The old city now forms part of eantonments, and 18 ¢
known as Fort Dufferin, The walls form a perfeet squaré my, po gnq
with a side a mile and a quarter long. They are built Palc.
of brick and provided with battlements, the total height

is Place of iate-
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education. Of the total expenditure 36 per cent. was mot

from gencral revenues, 32 per cent. from fees and 22 per cent.
from endowments,

News papers Madras has four daily newspapers. Of these, two, the
and periodi-

| Madras Maié and the Mudras Times, are edited by English
o] men and have a circulation of between 3,000 and 4,000 copies,.
and the two others, the Hingy and the Madras Standard,

possess a eirculation of some 2,00() copies, and are edited b
natives. In addition there are tep weekly papers and 31
papers and magazines published bi-weekly, mouthly or
quarterly. Of these as many g5 fourteen “are devoted to
religioas subjects, Otherg represent Law, Education and
Social Reform, the Planters, the Eurasians and the Muham-
madans, Whlle three of them, the Cﬁri;tz‘dn COZZGQE ]l[aga,ziue,,
the Madras Review and the Indian Review are magazines of
repute which deal with current anq literary topics. The
latest arrival is the Tndiasn Ladies’

Magazine, written for
native ladies and edited by one of them.,

Melieal, Madras possesses nine hospitals
Of the former, five, namely, the Gener

mic, Leper, and V. oluntary Venerea] (Women’s) Hospitals
are maintained drom Provincial Funds, one, the Royapettah

e municipality, and three, namely, the
i omen, Raja Sir

) spital and the Native
Inﬁrm_ar_v attached to the Monegar Choultry are supported

by private subscriptions aided by grants. OF the five
dispensaries, one ig kept up by Government, two by the
municipality and the other tweo by publie subscriptions and
grants.  The Gieneral ang Maternity Hospitals are
found and wel managed,
The number of beds avai
taken together is 1,565, of +
Hospital. Tn 1902

and five dispensarios,
al, Maternity, Ophthal-

lable in all these institutions
vhich 473 are in the General
an agoregate of 19,000 in-patients
(7,000 at the General Hospital) ang 2,34,000 out-patients
(61,000 at the General Hospital) were treated in them, and
18,000 operations (6,000 at the General Hospital) were per--
formed. The total expendifure was Rg, 4,34,000, of which
Rs. 8,44,000, or 79 per cent. wag met by Government, and
Rs. 26,000 by the municipahty. The main items were
establishment (R, 1,65,000), ‘ miscellancous  charges”
(Rs. 1,09,000) and diet (R-. 96,000).
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‘The Lunatic Asylum in Kilpauk, which is in many ways
2 model institution, had an average daily population of 305
males and 99 females in 1902. Of the 113 admissions in
that year 22 were Europeans or Eurasians and the remainder
natives. The cost of its upkeep was Rs. 95,000, of which

Rs. 38,000 were spent on establishment and Rs. 28,000 on
diet of patients.

Vaccination is compulsory in the town and is attended to
with more than usual care, the number of successful operations
in 1902-03 being 53 per mille of the population against an
average for all municipalities of 50 per mille.

Further infor mation regarding Madras City will be found
in the Madras Manual of Administration (Government Press,
Madras, 1885), Talboys Wheeler's Madras in the Olden Time
(Higginbotham, Madras, 1861), Mrs. Penny’s Fort 8¢. George
{Swan Sonnenschein, 1900), Mr. Leighton’s Picissitudes of
Lort. St. George (Combridge, Madras, 1902), Mr. Foster’s
Founding of Fort St. George (Eyre and Spottiswoode, 1902)
and Colonel Love’s List of pictures in Government House,
Madras (Government Press, Madras, 1908).




194 MANDALAY. L

«/ being 29 feet. Picturesque watch-houses with many-storied

roofs rise above them at regular intervals, thirteen on each
side, the largest over the gates, which are twelve in number.
Outside the walls is a strip of grass land and beyond this
the moat, over 200 feet across “and bridged opposite the cen-
tral gate on each side and also opposite the gates on the
south-west and north-east,

Exactly in the centre of the square, with roads converging
on it from the four main gates, is & platform 11 feet high,
1,000 feet long, and about half as vwide, on which the palace
is built. It was surrounded in the Burmese king’s time by a
brick wall and stockade 20,000 feet square, but these have
since been removed. Within this space, north and south of
the palace, are shady pleasure gardens with lakes and grot-
toes. The gal’(l_en on the south contains the summer-house
where king Thibaw surrendered himself. On the east is the
bell-tower where the watches were sounded, and north of it
the glittermg tomb of king Mindon, covered with glass
mosaic. Opposite the bell-tower, on the south side of the
road, 18 another tower enshrining a tooth of Buddha, and
further south a small monastery of glass mosaic on the site
of an older one where Thibaw was living in retreat with
shaven head and yellow robe, in accordance with Burmese
custom, when he was suddenly called to the throne.

: The principal throne-room, swrmounted by a nine-roofed
spire 200 feet, high, is near the east end of the platform. In
front of it is an open hall 285 feet long. Its golden roof is
supported by gilded teak pillars, some of them 60 feet high.
The building was repaired, and the gilding renewed, at a cost
of over a lakh of rupees after Liord Elgin’s visit in 1898. The
!;hrone 18 raised 6 feet 4 inches above the floor of the build-
mg. Ttis approached through a gate of gilded iron open-~
work from g flight of steps at the back. To the west is
another throne-room in which foreign representatives were
received. The room behind it contained between 20 and 30
figures of solid gold, each about two feet high, representing
the kings and queens of Alaungpaya’s dynasty. Offerings
were made to these as in Chinese ancestor-worship. I‘_&‘Xﬁ
in line to the west is the hall of the body-guard ; a waiting-
room for readers and others, with the pages’ quarters to the
north of it ; another throne-room used for royal marriages;
and a lofty room with an open verandah on two sides used
by king Mindon asa sleeping-chamber. Thibaw’s queens
slept in the last room of the serics when not in the royal
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, #ients to the south. The last king and his favourite

| queen usually slept in a small masonry building near the
southern entrance-hall. On the west of this are sitling-rooms
with the usnal gilded pillars and roof, and south of them a
room from which plays were witnessed, the performers being
below the platform under a large iron pavilion. To the east
of the entrance hall is a masonry building with a tank (now
filled in) where the king and queen amused themselves at the
annual water-festival by watching the pages and maids-of-
honour throw water at each other. On the north of this is
the king’s treasure-chamber and a room where he held
informal leveés, and on the easta building of masonry, the
council-chamber where the ministers held their secret deli-
berations. The Hludfaw, where they met in public for
judicial and other business, was to the east of the platform and
has been pulled down. Close to the council-chamber is a watch
tower, 78 feet high exclusive of its decorative roof, from
which a fine view is obtainable. On the north side of the
platform is a gilded entrance hall similar to that on the south.
Both contained thrones, which have been removed. To the
west of this hall are the large apartments occupied by Sin-
byumashin (¢ Lady of the White Elephant ) mother of
Thibaw’s three queens, and here the neglected Supayagyi, by
right thé chief queen, was obliged to live in practical confine-
ment. Most of the buildings in the western half of the plat-
form have been demolished, but the beautiful Lily Throne-
room, where the wives of officials were received in state
twice a year by the king and queen, remains, The building
18 of the same character as most of those on the p]atform_.

The ‘most important Buddhist shrine in Mandalay is the
Payagyi or Arakan Pagoda, four miles from the palace i and
two south of the Ziegyo bazar. Its terraced road, of gilded
stucco, 1= of recent construction, the original roof having been
burnt i‘n 1884, The building was erected to hold the great
brass image of Buddha brought from Arakan by king
Bodawpapa after his victorions campaign in 1784. Tt is said
to have been cast by kLing Sandathuriya of Arakan, who
ascended the throne in A. D. 146. The Gautama is seated
on a pedestal seven feet high, and measures 12 feet 7 inches
from the platform to the tip of the magaik, or tiara, on his
head. The image was dragged over the mountains by
Burmese soldiers, and was accompanied by numerous captiv:ee
of war, who afterwards settled in Mandalay. Long galleries
approach the building from each side, partly decorated with
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paintings ; most of them represent the future life, but some,
on the north side, are descriptive of the bringing of the
Buddha from Arakan. The galleries are lined with stalls on
which gongs, marionettes, and the usual bazar goods are
displayed, and are thronged in the cold weather, especially
during a festival, with a gay crowd of many races. In the
court on the north-east is a stone inseription recording the
manner in which the image was brought from Arakan. To
the south-east is a large tank filled with turtles, and in the
north-west court are two colossal bronze images of good
execution, but now dilapidated, also brought from Arakan.
Their navels are _bnght and worn owing to a superstition that
rubbing them with the finger will keep off stomach-ache.
On the south-west are 575 stone inscriptions, Burmese, Pali
and Talaing, the originals of which, now disappeared, were
collected by king Bodawpaya and copied by his orders. On
the east bank of the Shwetachaung canal, a little to the south
of the Zegyo bazar, is the Setkyathiha pagoda, built in 1884
over a brass image even larger than that from Arakan. It
was cast by order of king Bagyidaw in 1824, and followed
the Court from Ava to Amarapura and Mandalay. Close to
it on the east is a small pagoda built on the site of her old
home by Shinbome, a famous beauty who was the wife of five
successive kings. The building contains some wooden images
representing the queen and her maids of honour.
A Across the Shwetachaung is the Eindawya pa oda, built
in 1847 by king Pagan on the site of a summer-house used
by hm_l when a prince ; whence the name, meaning royal
house-site.” Tt is kept in good repair and richly gilded.
Being on & spacious platform, from which it rises to a height
of 114 feet, 1t is seen to better advantage than the other
pagodas in Mandalay. It has several shrines with graceful
carvings in the modern style. On the west side is the
Mahuya Payé, or “corundum ” image, of black stone,
ll)g%t;g t by an emissary of king Bagyidaw from Gaya in
To the west of the Fort, between the roads leading from
the two gates on that side, is the Shwekyimyin pagoda, built
in 1852 over an older one said to have been erected in 1104
A.D., and containing several images of great sanctity in
addition to the great brazen Buddha for which it was bilt.
Oue of these, the Shwelinbin, represents Gautama standing
in royal robes, and has been moved from one capital to
another since it was placed in a pagoda of the same name by
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Lifie” Narapatisitha of Pagan (1107 to 1204 A.D.) This,
with the Shwekungyaok and others of which stories of miracle
are told, was found in the palace at the annexation and
removed to this shrine by the British, The Anyathihadaw,
which is kept in a vault near the great image, has been so
plastered with gold-leaf by devotees that it is now a mere
shapeless lump.

Close by to the north is the Payani or Red Pagoda, so
named from the colour of one of its predecessors, built on
the site of a shrine erected in A.D. 1092. Itis interesting
_chiefly on account of the presence of the Naungdaw and
Nyidaw images dating from the time of Nawrata (1010-1052
A.D.) which were stolen from Mandalay Hill in the troubles
following the annexation and, after the mass of gold with
which they were covered had been removed, thrown into the
valley, where they were found by 2 monk and regilded by
the towns people. Here also is the Sadaunghye image,
b_efore which a party to a civil suit could challenge the other
gide to swear to the truth of his statements.

The Yadanamizu pagoda is beyond the Shwetachaung on
the north side of C. Road, three-fourths of a mile from the
south-west gate. It was built in 1478 by king Maha Thiba-
thura, and is said to have retained its original shape. On
the north side is a carved pavilion erected in 1868 and
sheltering an image of Gautama. 4 A

On the north side of the Fort, in an unfinished building
at the foot of Mandalay Hill, is & Buddha 256 feet hig‘h_ hewn
out of a single block of Sagyin marble at the beginning of
king Mindon’s reign. To the east of it is the Sandamani
ps_a.goda., containing an iron image of similar features cast by
king Bodawpaya. The royal pensioners here feast the publie
out of their slender incomes at the annual festival on the first
two days of Thadingyut (Qctober). "

hel_' east is the Kuthodaw, the most splendid monu-
ment of king Mindon consisting of a pagoda 100 feet high
surrounded by 729 others, in each of which in a marble glab
inseribed with a part of the Buddhist scriptures in Burmese
am} Pali. Great care was taken to collate the various manu-
scripts go as to arvive at the most eorrect version, and the
whole stands as a complete official record of the sacred writ-
ings.

South of the Kuthodaw are the walls of a yast monastery
built by the same king and called the Atumashi, or “ Incom-
parable.”” These and a forest of blackened pillars are all
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“fhat is left of the building, which was burnt in 1892. Just
to the east of it is the Shwegyaung, or Golden Monastery,
built by Mindon’s chief queen after his death with the
materials of the house in the palace where he died. The
interior is a blaze of gold.

Just outside the east gate of the Fort is the Taiktaw, a
large monastery surrounded by others, all finely carved,
which served as the residence of the Thathanabaiug, or head
of the Buddhist Church, from 1859 to the annexation. The
Myadaung monastery, situated on A road, a mile to the south-
west of the Fort, s also profusely carved and gilded, though
the gilding on the outside is now mnearly worn off through
exposure to the weather. The builder was Thibaw’s favorite
queen Supayalat. The Salin monastery, near the race course
to the north of the Fort, contains what is probably the finest
carving in Burma. It was built in 1873 by the Salin
Princess.

On the highest point of Mandalay Hill is a pagoda which
once contained the Naungdaw and Nyidaw images, now at
the Shewkyimyin shrine. A little lower, at the south end of
the ridge, stood, until it was burnt in 1889, a great wooden
image called the Shweyattaw, erected by king Mindon on
the foundation of Mandalay. It represented Buddha point-
ing to the palace as the future site of the capital, in accord-
ance with a legend which relates that when Gautama visited
Mandalay Hill, his abode in former states of existence, a befu-
ma, or ogress, having nothing else to offer him, cut off one of
h.er breasts and laid 1t at his feet. As a reward for her devo-
tion, he promised that she would in a future existence be
king of a country of which the capital would be at Mandalay.
Preparations are being made (October 1904) to erect a new
figure to replace that burnt.

__An interesting morning may be spent on the top of the
hill with a good glass. The whole of Mandalay lies at oné’s
feet, and every building of consequence may be identified.

At first sight the town seems buried in trees, but the tops ab

least of all religious buildings are visible. Conspicuous to

the south-east are the Kuthodaw and the walls of the Incom-
parable Monastery. Far beyond them in the south at the
edge of a cultivated plain, the white pagodas on Kyaukse hill
may be seen, backed by the Shan plateaun. Maymyo lies

due east, hidden by several ranges of hills. On the north a

conical hill marks the marble quarries of Sagyin{ and far

beyond are the mountains of the Ruby Mines District. West,
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“the broad Irrawaddy, the huge mass of brick-work
erected by king Bodawpaya at Mingun may be seen, with
innumerable white pagodas dotted over the hills southward to
Sagaing. On the east bank, opposite Sagaing, the pagodas of
the old aity of Ava, and further to the left Amarapura, rise
above the trees.

Half a mile to the west of the south-west corner of the
Fort is the main bazar, called the Zegyo. The buildings
of this huge mart, which covered twelve acres, were erected
under king Mindon and utterly destroyed by fire in 1897,
They have since been replaced by a masonry bazar, costing
eight lakhs where almost everything obtainable in Mandalay
may be bought. The bazar sellers are mostly women, and
unmarried Burmese girls of all classes may be seen displaying
their good looks as well as their wares, and sharpening their
wits In competition with natives of India against whom they
can hold their own much better than their menfolk. The
bright dresses of both sellers and buyers, and the still more
brilliant colouring of the silk-stalls, the laughter and badinage
and the freedom of manner of the women, devoid of forward-
ness and combined with a modesty well able to protect itself,
make of the principal market of Burma a scene as attractive
as any in the Rast,

Within the city walls are barracks and officers’ quarters puiiio
for one British and two Native infantry regiments. The jail Buildings.
18 m the north-west corner and near it Government House
overlooks the moat from the north wall. To the north of
the Fort, skirting M andalay hill, are the Burma Sappers’
Imes and quarters for a Native mountain battery. To the
south, outside the walls, lie the court houses, municipal office,
and circuit-house, and further west the hospital, the dik
bungalow, and the railway station, On the west, i the
business quarter of the town, are the post and telegraph
offices and the main bazar. There are twelve markets
besides the Zegyo, within municipal limits, and seventeen
police-stations and out-posts.

Of. European religious buildings the chief is the Roman
Catholie C;Lhedra], situated in the business quarter. It was
completed in 1898, the entire cost being borne by a wealthy
Burmese convert. The Society for the Propagation of the
Gospel has a church and school, built by king Mindon,
across the Shwetachaung in the west, the English Wesleyan
Mission on the south of the Fort, and the American Baptists
a mile to the south-west, The 8t. Joseph’s Orphanage,



I’opulntion.

200 MANDALAY.
/ opened in 1904, gives free board and teaching to 150 nL‘

boys. It is supported by subscriptions from the Chinese com=
munity and by grants from Government and the municipality.
The St. Jobn’s Lieper Asylum, a Roman Catholic institution,
was built in 1902 at a cost of three lakhs through the energy
of the late Father Wehinger, who had worked for the
Jepers of Burma for over ten years. It contains seven wards
accommodating 50 patients each and in November 1904 had
828 inmates. The institution is maintained at a cost of
34,000 a year. Expenses are met by a Government grant
of about £6,000 a year, contributions from municipal and
other local funds amounting to over 10,000, and 9,000
private subscriptions collected in the Province. A little to
the west are the wards of the Mission to Lepers in the East,
of which the local Superintendent is at present a Wesleyan
Misgionary. In November 1904 there were 138 inmates in
this Asylum, besides 11 untainted children of lepers kept
separately. The maintenance costs 815,000 yea.rly, defrayed
from a Government grant of R3,300, municipal and loeal
fund contributions amounting to R4,000, the Mission fund,
12,200, and subscriptions in Burma, 86,000. The Mission
has been at work in Mandalay since 1890. The town contains
over a hundred Buddhist monasteries and schools and several
MOosques,

The population of the city in 1901 was 183,816, a decrease
of 4,999 since the first census taken in 1891. Of this
number 166,154 persons were living within municipal limits
and 17,662 in cantonments, Half of the decrease was in
cantonments and was due mainly to the reduction of the
garrison, The falling-off in the town was a little over one
per cent.  Of the people living within municipal limits 91
per cent. were returned as speaking Burmese, 4} per cent.
Hindustani, less than one per cent. Englich, and 8} per
cent. other languages, mostly Indian, A large proportion,
however, of the Burmese-speaking people have Indian blood
in them. While the number speaking Indian languages
cannot exceed 8 per cent. of the whole, those returning
themselves ss Muhammadan or Hindu in religion are no less
than 18 per cent. of the total population. And it appears
probable that at least 5 per cent. of the Burmese-speaking
people must be partly Indian in race. The proportion 18
possibly greater, for there are many Buddhists of mixed
descent. The Chinese in the District numbered 1,365 males
apd 211 females in 1901 and probably nearly all these were



ferated in Mandalay City. This would give a proportion
of one per cent. The former, however, would include many
half Burmans, sons of Chinamen by Burmese mothers usnally
wearing the pig-tail. The city has several settlements of
Manipuris and Hindus from Manipur, Assam, and Arakan,
brought as captives after the invasions of those countries,
and now called indiscriminately Ponnas. They are all of |
Hindu religion, and do not as a rule inter-marry with
Burmans, but their women wear Burmese dress, Of the
9,000 enumerated in the District 1n 1901 the bulk were resi-
dents of the city. The Christians number 2,470, or 1% per
cent. of the population of the city. Roman Catholic mis-
sionaries have been established in Upper Burma since the
eighteenth century ; the Society for the Propagation of the
Gospel has had a school in Mandalay from the time of
king Mindon; and the American Baptists and English
Wesleyans also have churches and schools. Of the canton-
ment, population nearly two-thirds were returned as Burmese.

The census returns show the number of persons engaged
in the distribution of food-stuffs and stimulants to have been
about 31,000 in 1901. Unskilled labourers and their depen-
dents numbered eighteen thousand, religious devotees (monks,
ete.) eleven, and Government servants, including the military,
nine thousand. Wight thousand persons were connected
with agriculture and nine thousand with personal services of
various kinds, Of the industries cotton-weaving comes first
with 11,000, Tailors and sempstresses with their dependents
numbered 10,000. Next come sawyers, carters, and workers
or dealers in the precious metals, each with 7,000, sandal-
makers with 6,000, and silk-weavers with 5,000. Tanners
and lacquerers, and blacksmiths, account for over 2,000 each,
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The arts and crafts of Mandalay include nearly every= Arts and
thing that the Burmese race is capable of producing. The use Manufae.
of machinery is almost unknown, and with the exception of tures,

Messrs. Dyer and Company’s brewery and a few rice and
timber mills almost all the industries are carried on in the
home. Among the arts may be included hammered silver-
work, wood-carving, iron-work, painting, and s kind of
embroidery called shwekyido, of gold and silver thread and
spangles. The silver-work mow consists mostly of bowls
with figures in relief. It is of unequal merit, but good work
can be got if demanded. The wood-carving, though the
most national of all the arts practised, is in ite decadence.
The work of the old craftsmen was intended for the open @,
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¢ wheré it Was exposed to the élements and néeded to be

effective at a distance. - The best work still shows its origin
in its bold free lines and vigour of execution. The iron
work chiefly consists of #s intended to ornament the tops of
pagodas. The shwekyido work is the most characteristic of
all. Tt is extremely gorgeous and effective, being most in
demand for the palls at the cremation of monks and for
the dresses of royal personages on the stage; but it does
not last well, nor does it lend itself to fine detail. HEqually
rich in effect 8 a rough kind of gold lacquer inter-
spersed with coloured glass, & favourite material for - monastic
furniture. 'The ordinary lacquer work is inferior to that of
Pagan and is used mpst]y for platters, the designs on which
are effective but wanting in varlety. The material used is
not lac but tAitsi, the gum of the Melonarrhea usitatissima.
The patterns of the silk pasos and Zameins, including the
beantiful ackeik or interwoven work; are constantly varying
and the fashions change as quickly as in any Huropean
capital. The making of brase and marble images of Buddha
can hardly be called an art, as there is no variation in the
type. Brass-work is moulded by the cire-perdu process.
The figure is modelled in wax and encased in a shell of clay:

t is next subjected to an intense heat, which expels the wax:

he.molten brass is then poured in and takes the place of the
wax. A puré white marble i8 obtained from Sagyin, 20
miles to the north, and the images; sometimes of great size; are
sent all over Burma. Among the minor industries of the
city may be mentioned the making of gongs, cireular or
three-cornered, and the preparation of suered writings with
ornamental lettering on brass or lacquer.

A municipal committee was formed in Mandalay in 1887
and bhas five official and twelve electéd members, the latter
representing the Huropean, Burmese, Miuhammadan, Hindu
and Chinese communities. The principal sourees of revenue
are the house and land tax, which has risen steadily from
R1,57,000 in 1858-9 to R2,37,000 in 1908-4; and markets,
which yielded R1,43,000 in the first year, 82,69,000 in
1902-8, and B2,12,000 in 1903-4. Of this amount the
Ziegyo bazar contributed R1,50,000 in 1902-8 and R1,20,000
in 1903-4, the falling-off in the latter yéar being due
to a fire in 1908, Slaughter-houses yielded R27,000 in
1898-9 and R44,000 in 1903-4. Other ources of income
are the cart-tax and toll, which has increaded in the lust five
years from 123,000 to R31,000, and the hackney-camiage tex



item of expenditure is conservancy, which cost £84,000 in
1899-00 and R1,12,000 in 19034, Against these figures must
be placed respectively 89,000 and R14,000 received as fees.
Roads are a varying item of expenditure. ‘The average for
the past five years is #1,30,000, besides 26,000 for establish-

ment. ‘The maintenance of the hospital costs about #65,000

yearly, the fees received heing about £5,000. An amount of
R50,000 a year 1s devoted to education. There is no muni-
cipal school, but the Education department divides the grant
among mission and other schools. The lighting of the town
costs #43,000, which amount 1s just covered by a tax levied
for the purpose. The expenditure on general administration
rose from R28,000 mn 1899-00 to 136,000 in 1903-4, and
that on collection of taxes from fifteen to nineteen thousand.
The town survey costs about 116,000 a year, and the fire-
brigade 820,000. Vaccination and registration of births and
deaths each absorb about #4,000 of the municipal income.
Other items are a sum of 120,000 payable annually to
Government to defray the cost of the embankment surround-
ing the town, and grants of 10,000 to the cantonment fund
and #10,800 to the Leper Asylums. The only municipal
taxes levied are s land-tax rated according to the kind of
building and an additional 25 per cent. for lighting. The
total incidence is R 1-8-4 or about 2s, per head. Income-tax is
levied by Government, but not thathameda, go that persons
with incomes of less than 1,000 are more lightly taxed than
in the villages outside municipal limits, The mileage of
roads within the municipality is 117, of which, however, only
51 are metalled. An electric tramway, opened in 1904, runs
along 12 miles of road, and it is proposed to light the town,
or part or it, by electricity, in place of qil. Both conservancy
and water-supply are capable of great improvement. Night-
soil is removed by carts, and only when the house-owner
chooses to pay a fee. In the business quarter, however, a tax
has been sanctioned. The water-supply is from the moat and
river and from wells. A scheme to sink new wells at a cost
of 8% lakhs is under consideration. The average death-rate
for the town in the five years ending 1903-4 was 382, and
the birth-rate 40°72 per thousand. The hospital which was
built in 1891 had 2,392 in-patients in 1903-4, and medi-
cines were dispensed in over 17,000 cases. In addition to the
hospital there is a dispensary near the Zegyo bazar at which
o somewhat larger number of cases were attended to.
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h has fallen off from R11,000 to £9,000. The principal |
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ts. The cantonment fund is administered by a committee
" composed of the commanding officer, the cantonment magis-
trate, and others. Grants-in-aid from the military and the
municipality, amounting to 54,000 a year, constitute its
chief source of income. These are supplemented by house,
conservancy and other taxes, yielding in all about R16,000,
a sum of R7,000 from markets, and other collections amount-
ing to about £4,000. The chief recurring items of expen-
difure are conservancy, 31,000, police, 17,000, and hospi-
tals, ®8,000. There are 26 miles of metalled roads, within
eantonment limits, maintained from Imperial funds,

There are eight secondary and three primary Anglo-ver-
nacular schools in the town. Of these the principal are St.
Peters’ High School and St. Joseph’s (Roman Catholic), the
American Baptist Mission High and European Schools, the
Society for the Propagation of the Gospel’s Royal School
and the High School of the European Wesleyan Mission.
There is also a survey school and a normal school for teachers.

Education,
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MYSORE.

The dynastic capital of the Mysore State and residence
of the Maharaja, Also headquarters of Mysore
District and taluk. Situated in 12° 18’ N., 76° 42’ E., at
the base of the Chamundi hill, 86 miles from Ban-
galore by rail. Population 68,111 in 1901, and 74,048
in 1891, the decrease being due to plague. It covers an
area of 71 square miles, and is divided into 7 muhallas or
municipal wards, namely, the .Fort, Lashkar, Devaraj,
Krisbnaraj, Mandi, Chamaraj, and Nazarabad. The original
city is built in a valley formed by two ridges running north
and south. In recent years it has been completely transformed
by extensions to the north and west,and the erection of many
fine public buildings, but the old E)arts are very crowded
and insanitary. A special Board of Trustees for improve-
ments has now (1903) been formed, and it promises to
become in course of time a very handsome city. But even
in the past important sanitary measures have been carried
out. In 1886 a complete system of drainage was provided
for the Fort, and the precincts of the Palace were opened
out and improved. One of the most beneficial undertakings
was the filling in of the portentous great drain known as
Piurnaiyas’s N ullah, originally excavated in the time of that
minister with the object of bringing the water of the sacred
Cavvery into Mysore. ~ This purpose it did not fulfil, and
simply remained as a very deep and big noisome sewer.  Its
place has now been taken by a fine wide road, called after
the Gaikwar of Baroda the Sayaji Rao road, flanked on
either side by ranges of two-storeyed shops of picturesque
design, called the Lansdowne Bazars. At the same time a
pure water-supply was provided by the formation of the
Kukarhalli reservoir towards the high ground on the west,
from which water was laid on to all parts of the city in iron
mains. This has since been supplemented by a high level
reservoir, the water in which is drawn from the Cauvery
river itself near Anandir, and forced up with the aid of
turbines er ected there. The new quarter called (after the
late Maharaja) Chamarajapura more than doubled the area
of the city, Conspicuous on the high ground to the west
are the public offices surmounted by a dome, standing in the
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PESHAWAR,

City, municipality and cantonment in the North-West
Frontier Province, headquarters of the Peshawar District and
tahsil, and capital of the Province (84° 1" N. and 71° 85’ E.).
Population (1901) 95,147, including 68,352 Muhammadans,
18,552 Hindus, 5,144 Sikhs, and 3,063 Christians. Of . the
total population 21,804 live in cantonments, Peshawar is
situated in a small plain near the left bank of the Bara
stream, 184 miles south-east of the junction of the Swit and
Kabul rivers, and 104 miles from Jamrid fort near the
entrance of the Khyber Pass. Distant by rail from Caleutta
1,552 miles, and from Bombay 1,579 miles, by road from
Kabul 190 miles. It is the terminus both of the Grand
Trunk road and of the broad-gauge North-Western Railway,
though branch lines run from it to Dargai and Jamrad.
Peshiwar was in the time of Fa Hian the capital of the
Gandhara Province, and is historically important at all
later periods. It was famous during the early centuries
of the Christian era as containing the begging pot of
Buddha, and the holy pipal tree whose branches are said
to have given shade to the Master, and the enormous stupa
of Kanishka. Buddhist remains still mark its early greatness.
The name is not improbably derived from Purushawara or
Purushapura, the seat of a king named Purush, and the
present form Peshawar is referred to the emperor Akbar,
whose fondness for innovation is said to have led him to
change the name, of whose meaning he was ignorant, to
Peshiwar, the ‘ Frontier Town.” In 1552, Humaéyan found
the fortress in ruins, but had it repaired and entrusted it to a
Cossack governor, who successfully defended it against the
Afghans under Khan Kaji. The town appears to have been
refounded by Balgram, a contemporary of Akbar, and was
much enlarged by General Avitabile, its governor under the
Sikhs. It became the headquarters of a District and Division
in 1849, and the capital of the Government of the
North-West Frontier Province in 1901. The modern city
has but slight architectural pretensions, the houses being
chiefly built of small bricks or mud, held together by a
wooden framework, It is surrounded by a mud wall, builb
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héral Avitabile which is gradually being rcbuilt of
. The city is entered by 16 gates. The main street,
entered from the Kabul gate (ve-erected as a memorial to Sir
Herbet Edwardes), is a broad roadway 50 feet in width, con-
sisting of two double rows of shops, the upper rooms of which
are generally let out as lodgings; the street is well paved,
and at busy times presents a very picturesque sight. The
remainder of the city proper consists of octagons, squares,
markets, with narrow and irregular streets and lanes. A
masonry canal runs through the centre of the city, which is,
hoyvever, only used to carry off drain-water and sewage.
Drinking water is brought down in pipes from the water-
works, for which the municipal committee pays a yearly
rental. - Wells are only used in the hot. weather to supply
colder water than the pipes afford. The sanitary and conser-
vancy arrangements are described as very good, and all the
drains are paved. There are now very few old houses of
architectural importance, most of them having been destroyed
at the time of the capture of the city by the Sikhs from the
Durranis, Several handsome mosques ornament the city ; and
there is a large building known as the Gor Khattri, once a
Buddhist monastery, and then rebuilt into a Hindu temple
which is now used as the tahsil. Just without the wall, on
the north-western side, a quadrilateral fort the Bala Hisar,
crowns a small eminence, completely dominating the ecity.
Its walls of sun-dried brick rise to a height of 92 feect above
the ground, with a fausse-iraye of 30 feet ; bastions stand at
each corner and on three of the faces, while an armament of
guns and mortars is mounted above.

South-west of the city, stretehing from just outside the
walls, are the suburbs of Bhana Mari and Dheri Bighbanén,
where there are gardens noted for their fruit, producing
quinces, pomegranates, plums, limes, peaches, and apples in
abundance, These gardens form a favourite pleasure-ground
of the people; north of the city is another public pleasure-
ground, the Bagh Shahi, or old royal’gardens. Two miles
west of the eity lie the cantonments, where most of the civil
offices are also situated.

The cantonments were occupied by British troops soon
after annexation in 1848-49. The garrison has been much
reduced and consists at present of one battery, R. F. A., two
regiments of British and three of native infantry, one
regiment of native cavalry and one company eaeh of sappers
and miners, beaver corps, and army hospital native corps.

L,



wooded grounds of Gordon Park. Other prominent build-
ings in the vicinity are the Victoria Jubilee Institute, the
Mahardja’s College, and the Law Courts. In 1897 the old
Palace in the Fort was partially destroyed by fire, and this
has given occasion for the erection of 3 new Palace, on the
same spot, of more modern design, constructed of durable
and less combustible materials. ‘The opportunity has been
availed of for introducing some of the handsome -porphyries
and other ornamental stones found in Mysore, and stone
carvings on the lines of the famous ancient sculptured
temples of the State are being used. Altogether, the new
Palace now appmcb1ng comp'etion bids fair to be a build-
ing mnotable for its architecture and decorative features.
The Fort, which is the original nucleus of the city, is quad-
rangular, three of the sides being about 450 yards in length,
and the remaining cr south side somewhat longer. The
Palace, in the interior, was crowded round with houses,
principally occupied by retainers. But open spaces have
now been formed, and farther improvements will follow the
completion of the new Palace.

Mysore itself (properly Mabisir, buffalo town) is no
doubt a place of great antiquity, as it gave its name to the
«country as Mahisa-mandala in the time of Asoka in the Srd
century B.C., and appears as Mahishmati in the Maka-
bharata. Maisar-ndd is mentioned in inseriptions of the
11th and 12th eentury. The original fort is said to have
been built in 1524, But the modern fown, even before the
rextensive rebuilding of recent years, could not to any extent
boast of great age. Though Mysore was the ancestral
capital of the State, it was superseded by SerinaapaTam,
which was the seat of the Court from 1610 till the downfall
of Lipt Sultan in 1799. The latter ruler had demolished
the fort, and conveyed the stones to a mneighbouring site
called Nazarabad, where he intended to erect a newfort.
On the restoration of the Hindu Raj in 1799, the stones
were taken back and the fort rebuilt. It was then also
that the recently destroyed Palace was erected, and the
Couit removed to Mysore. So that not many standing
remains ¢an claim to be older than about a hundred years.
Interesting buildings of that period are the house occupied
by Colonel Wellesley (the future Duke of Wellington), and
the Residency (now ealled Government House) erecf:ed in
1805 in-the time of Sir John Malcolm by de Baviland.
This ‘hus lately been much altered and estended, The
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sipal board is composed of 20 members. The Deputy
missioner i8 President, with 5 other exz-offico and 4
nominated members appointed by Government, and 10
elected members, The privilege of election was granted in
1892 The principal beads of municipal receipts and
expenditure are (1900-01) :

Receipts: Expenditure.

R B®

QOctrol ' A P 62,399
Tax on houses and 11,279 | Head office charges . 9,052

buildings. i Collection : ! 12,374
Liicenses for liquor 7,812 | Conservancy . 29,903
shops, ete. Registration of births 749

Carriage tax . ¢ 583 | and deaths.
Tax on aniinals . : 1,154 | Lighting . . 7,668
Tolls and Ferries s 20,587 | Public Works . § 35,062
Mohatarfa (on shops, 4,857 | Charitable grants . 5,702

looms, ofl-mills, and Education 5 ; 8,632
carts). Miscellaneous . i 15,024
Rents from markets, ete. 6,614 | Plague  preventive
Pire: ¢ . 168 | charges. 3,748
Miscellaneons 3 17,156 | Loan y - . 21,316
Pﬂy"‘gnts for munieipa 7,183
8ervices.
Grant-in-aid (loan) .| 21,846 B
Total o 1,861,167 Total . 1,490,219
VLl e R
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< The garrison forms part of the Peshawar Military Division
of the Northern Command, the head-quarters of which are
sitnated here.

The wmunicipality, founded in 1867, iz of the second
class, and is composed of 20 members, 14 nominated and
6 ex-gfficio. The Deputy Commissioner is ex-officio presi-
dent. The average annual income for the 10 years
ending 1902-03 was 12,21,000, and the expenditure
R2,16,000. Octroi (R1,63,000) is the chief source of
income. The principal items of expenditure are conser-
vancy  (B24,000), education (R3,000), hospitals and
dispensaries (£18,000), public safety (R44,000) and adminis-
tration (828,000) and its income and expenditure for
1903-04, were R2,83,437 and 2,94,353 respectively. The
average receipts and expenditure of cantonment funds in the
10 years ending 1962-03, were R52,904 and 52,629
respectively.

The main trade of the District passes through the city
of Peshawar. The commerce of Peshawar, though of a varied
and not uninteresting nature, is less extensive and less
valuable than might perhaps have been expected. Its position
points to importance as an entrepdt for trade with Central
Asia, but results in this respect are far from satisfactory,
and having no manufactures of its own, the city can look for
little development of its commerce from any other source.
The principal foreign markets having dealings with Peshawar
are Kabul and Bokhira, From the former place, raw silk,
WOI‘S‘bed,_COChineal, jalap, assafostida, saffron, resin, simples,
and fnuts,. both fresh and dried, are imported, principally for
re-exportation fo the Punjab and Hindustan, whence are
received in return English pieee-goods, cambrics, silk, indigo,
sugar and spices. Bokhsra supplies gold sequing, gold and
silver {hread and lace, principally for re-exportation to
Kashmir, whence the refurn frade is principally in shawls.
lron.f?om .Ba‘jaur, and skin-coats (poshtins) ave the only
remaming items of importance coming from beyond the
border. The items of return trade are those already men-
tioned, with the addition of salt and tea, the former from
Kohit, the latter purchased for the most part in the markets
of Amritsar and Lahove. The transactions of the Peshawar
market, however, are as nothing when compared with the
stream of through traffic from the direction of Kabul and
Bokhara which passes on, not stopping at Peshawar, into. the
Punjab and northern India.
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« city possesses an unaided Arts College attached to
the Mission high school, four high schools, namely, the
municipal and Edwardes’ Mission anglo-vernacular high
schools, and 2 unaided anglo-vernacular high schools. There
is also a civil hospital. Another local institution is the
Martin Lecture Hall and Institute, with its reading room and
library, also maintained by the Peshawar Mission.

L,
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QUETTA.

Quetta (Kwatak, generally known as Shal or Shalkot)
is the capital of the Baluchistan Ageney and head-quarters
station of the Quetta-Pishin District, It lies in 80° 10'N.,
and 67° 1’E. at the northern eng of the tahsil of the same
name, and is now one of the most desirable stationsin northein
India. Quetta is connected with India by the North-Western

it by the Kakars, and it was unsuccessfully invested by the
Brahuis. The present Occupation dates from 1876, The
place consists of a cantonment covering about 15 square

miles on the north and the civil town on the south, which
are separated by the Habib Nallah Population has risen
from 18,802 (1891) to 24 584, (1901). It consists of 8,678

Christians, mainly " the European garrigon, 10,599 Muham-
madans, and 8,678 Hindus, The majority of the remainder
are Sikhs. The ordinary

: garrison comprises 3 mountain
batteries, 2 companies of garrison artillery, 2 British and 8
native infantry regiments, 1 regiment of mnative cavalry, 1
company of sappers and miners and & companies of volunteers
(1904). The police foree employed in the eantonment and
town numbers 180,

Municipal taxes have been levied since 1878, but the
present municipal

ived from octroi, The committee
m Government of which the unpaid balance
on March 81st, 1904

A ; » amounted to §/1,100. Half of the net
ostrol receipts collected by the committee is paid o the canton-

ment fund. The receipts of {his fund, from which the main=
tenance of the eantonment ig provided, were 11 lakhs during
1903-1904 and the expenditure 13 lakhs, Much attention
bas been paid to sanitation and the prevention of enterie feyer,
which was, at one time, common, A piped supply of water
for the cantonment, civil etation and railway was constructod
in 1891 at a cost of about 7} lakhe, and an additional supply
has since been provided for the cantonment at a cost of more
than 83 lokhs. The civil station and town lie somewhat low
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and nearly 11 lakhs have been expended in providing a system
of street drainage for them. The principal buildings are the
Residency, the Sandeman Memorial Hall, St. Mary’s Church
and the Roman Catholic Church. The civil hospital is well
equipped and the town also possesses a female dispensary,
two mission hospitals, a high school, a girls’ school and &
European school. A mill for grinding flour and pressing
wool and chopped straw has existed since 1887. The Indian
Staff College is now in course of erection (1904). A feature
of the station is the gymkhana ground, with its fine turfed
polo and cricket grounds. The trade of Quetta is continually
expanding, JImports by rail have increased from 89,200 tons
in 1893 to 56,224 in 1903 and exports from 5,120 tons to
13,529 tons,

[ESRCISSEESE————



6 RANGOON. I i

rising was speedily quelled by Mintasa-gyi or Bodaw-paya,
the Burmese monarch.

About this period the English obtained leave to establish
a factory in Rangoon and the British colours were hoisted
overit. In 1794 difference arose in Arakan and Chitta-
gong between the East India Company and the Burmese
Government and Colonel Symes was sent on an embassy to
Ava, one of the results of his mission being the appoint-
ment of a British Resident at Rangoon in 1798. Symes
thus describes Rangoon as he saw i, s —¢ It stretches along
the bank of the river about a mile and i8 not more than a
third of a mile in breadth. The city or myo is a square
surrounded by a high stockade and on the north side if 18
further strengthened by an indifferent fosse, across which a
wooden bridge is thrown. In this face there are two gates, in
each of the others only one, On the gouth side, towards the
north, there are a number of huts and three wharves with
eranes for landing goods, A battery of 12 cannon (six and
nine pounders) raited on the bank commands the river, but
the guns and carriages are in such a wretched condition
that they could do but little execution. The streets of the
town are narrow and much inferior to those of Pegu, but
clean and well paved. The houses are raised on posts from
the ground. AIl the officers of the Government, the most
opulent merc}}nntq and persons of consideration live within
the fort; shipwrights and persons of inferior rank inhabit
the suburbs.” Daring the first Anglo-Burmese war (1825)
Rangoon was taken by the British and held. During the early
part of the campaign strenuong efforts were made by the
Burmane to re-capture it, but it was held (though nut with-
out heavy losses from sickness, as well as casualties in action)
till 1827, when it was evacuated in accordance with the
terms of the treaty of Yandabo. In 840 the appearance
of Rangoon was deseribed as suggestive of meanness and
poverty. In 1841 king Kon-baung-min, better known as
Princo Tharrawaddy, ordered the town and stockade o be
removed about a mile and a quarter inland to the site of
Ok-ka-la-ba and to be ealled by that name. The royal
orders was to a certain exteut obeyed, the principal build-
ings and Government offices wero placed in the new town
and were there when the British force landed and captured
Rangoon in April 1862 on the outbreak of the second
Burmese war, From this time onwards the plage bas
vomained in possession of the British, its history being one
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of phenomenal development, but, with one or two excep-

tions (such for instance as a riot that occurred in June

1893) devoid of incident, The principal pagodas of the

town are the Shwedagén to the north-east of the canton-

ment, said to eontain the relics of no less than four Buddhas,

viz., the water-strainer of Krakuchandha, the staff of Kasyapa,

the bathing robe of Konagamana and eight hairs ~of

Gautama; the Sule pagoda, a more ancient but less pre-

tentions shrine in the centre of the business quarter; and

the Botataung pagoda on the river face in the south-east of

th%zown. e
ngoon is famous for its carvers in wood and ivory and 375t 8

for the beauty of its silver work, which mostly tatlzas the RN

shape of embossed bowls. An art exhibition is held annually

and is no doubt helping to stimulate an interest 1in art among

native workers. Many beantiful specimens of wood carving

are to be found in the shrine of the Shwedagbn pagoda.

The factories of the town are for the most part concerned
with the production of the three prineipal exports—rice,
timber and oil. Of rice-mills (where the paddy brought from
the surrounding rural areas is husked and  otherwise prepared
for the market) there were in 1902 twenty-eight and of
saw-mills eighteen. There is one petroleum refinery, but
that a large one which deals with practically the whole of
the produce of the earth oil wells of the dry zome of Upper
Burma. The total of factories in 1902 was 67.

About five-sixths of the maritime trade of Burma passes Commerco
through the port of Rangoon and a history of the commerce and Trade.
of the Province is very little more than the history of the pro-
gress of that single port. Since Rangoon became an integral
part of His Majesty’s dominions, its trade has inereased by
leaps and bounds. In 1856-57 its value aggregated a cvove
only. By 1881-82 this figure had risen to 11 crores and by
1891-92 to 19 crores, In 1901-02, inspite of a more stringent
tariff than in the past it had mounted up to close on 26 crores,
while 1902-08 showed a further advance of nearly two croves
on the figures for the previous year. Under practically all
the main import and export heads the growth has been
stendy. TImports of cotton piece-gaods, which in 1881-82
were valued at 6% lakhs, were valued at nearly fifteen lakhs
in 1901-02. Provisions have rigen from 8 to 11 lakhs in value
within the same twenty-year period, coal from ome to 34
Jakhs, tobaceo from 2 to 4 lakhs, spices from 24 to 4§ lakhs.
Among exports the development has been even mere
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~ The capital of Burma and headquarters of the Local Govern-
ment, situated in 16° 46’ N. and 96° 18’ E. on both sides of
the Hlaing or Rangoon river at its point of junction with the-
Pegi and Pazindaung streams, twenty-one miles from the
sea, The greater part of the city, 4.c., the town proper with
its main spuburbs of Kemmendine and Pazt‘mda.ung lies along
the left or northern bank of the river, which at this point,,
after a_southerly course through level paddy stretches and
down the city’s western skirts, turns towards the east for a
mile or so before bending southwards to the Gulf of Martaban.
Behind the array of wharves and warehouses that line the
northern bank rise the buildings of the mercantile and busi-
ness areas of the town and thence the ground slopes upwards
through a well wooded cantonment to the foot of the slight
eminence from which the great golden Shwedagon pagoda
looks down upon the town and harbour. On the south bank
of the Rangoon river are the suburbs of Dalla, Kamakasit
and Kanaungto, a narrow strip of dockyard premises and
native huts on the fringe of a vast expanse of typical delta
paddy land. These mark the southern limit of the town.
| To the west the boundary is the western bank of the Hiaing ;
‘ to the east the Pazindaung and Pegi streams hem the eity
in; to the north the municipal boundary runs through the

slightly undulating wooded country into which the European

quarter is gradually spreading.

alati The population of the town at each of the last four cen=
Population. . ces was as follows : 1872,—~98,745 ; 1881,—184,176 ; 1891,
~180,324 ; 1901,—~284,881. After the three Presidency
towns and the cities of Hyderabad and Lucknow, Rangoon
is the most populous city in British India, Ite rate of
growth is, as the census figures show, considerable, the actual
increase between 1891 and 1901 (54,557) being very little
less than that of Madras, a city of more than double its ine
babitants, while that between 1872 and 1901 (136,10) is
exceeded only by that of Calcutta among all Indian cities.
l;matically the whole increase in this decade is due to immi-
sration from India. The number of immigrants from India
%usident in the city was 65,910 in 1891 and 117,718 in 1901
(of whom only about 16 per cent. were women). Nearly two-

Deseription.
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thirds of these foreigners had come from Madras, and about
one-fifth from Bengal. The Chinese colony has inereased
from 8,029 in 1891 to 10,118 ia 1901. Of the 1901 popula-
tion 83,631 or mere than one-third were Buddhists, but the
Hindu aggregate (82,994) was almost as large. The Musal-
maus totalled 43,012 and the Christians 16,980, of whom
about one-half were Huropeans and Eurasians. The Society
for the prpagation of the Gospel and the American Bantist
Mission labour in the town. The Wesleyans, the Preshyterians
and other Protestant denominations are represented, and
there is a large Roman Catholic Mission.

Rangoon has been the administrative head-quarters of the
Province ever simce the second Burmese war added the
Province of Pegi to the Indiam Empire. It was mever,
however, a royal capital and its importance as a merecantile
centre is of comparatively recent development.

According to Talaing {radition the first village on the
wite of modern Rangoon was founded about 585 B.C. by
two brothers, Pu and Ta Paw, who had received some of
Gautama’s hair from the Buddha himself and acting on
his instructions enshrined them in the famous Shwedagon
pagoda. Pun-na-ri-ka, who reigned in Pegli from 746 to

761 A.D., is said to have refounded the town-and called it

Aramana and it was not tili later that it regained its name of
Dagdén. The Talaing records relate how it was occupied
by the Burmese in 1413 ; how Bya-na-kin the son of Raza-
dirit was appointed its governor; and how Shin-tsaw-bu, his
sister, in whose memory a national festival is celebrated each
year, built berself a palace here in 1460. After this, how=
ever, the town gradually sank into a collection of huts,
Dalla, now an animportant suburb on the right bank of the

Hlaing and Syriam on the opposite side of the Pegi river

are repeatedly noticed, but of Dagon little or nothing 1s said.

In the wars between the sovereigns of Burma and Pegi,
Dagon frequently changed hands ; and when in 1763 Alaung-
paya (or Alompra) drove out the Talaing garrison of Ava
(then the Burmese capital) and eventually conguered the
Talaing dominions he came down to Dagdn and repaired
the great pagoda. Alaung-paya for the most part rebuilt
the town, gave it the name of Yan Kon (lit. the end of the
war) or Rangoon, which it has ever since borne, and made
it the seat of a vice-royalty. Until 1790 it was the scene
of incessant struggles hetween the Burmese and Peguans.
dn that year the place was captured by the latter but dhe

L

History.
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marked. The staple produce of the country is rice. The
value of exports in this single commodity amounted in
1901-02 to 9% crores, against 6 crores in 1891-92 and 3%
crores in 1881-82, Next in importance comes teak timber,
with a growth in value from 22 lakhe in 1881-82 to 91 lakhs
in 1901-02 and next oil, which has risen from two lakhs in
the former year to 81 in the latter. Cutch is the only 1m-
portant export commodity that has shown a falling off of
recent years.

The following shows the actual figures of imports and ex-
ports for the three years selected and for 1902-03 :—

—— 1881-82, 1891-92. 1901-02. 1902-083.

Ras. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Imports | 5,05,00,660 19,02,87,805 | 11,16,68.862 |11 :54,96,950
Kxports | 4,78,42,340 9,00,82,102 | 14,66,17,278 |17,18,42,799

Total | 9,78,42,900 | 18,08,70,087 25,82,86,140 |28,68,39,749

During the same period the customs revenue rose from
Rs. 44,385,100 in 1881-82 to Re. 60,32,670 in 1591-92 and
finally to Rs.91,10,270 in 1901-02. Owing to the increas-
ing employment of vessels of large burthen the number of
ocean-going steamers entering Rangoon has not risen to an
extent proportionate to the growth in trade and tounage,
the figures for 1881-82 being 981 vessels with an aggre-
gate capacity of 654,627 tons while those for 1901-02 were
1,805 vessels with a capacity of 1,788,190. Rangoon has
now entered upon an era of prosperity which sh.o‘ys no imme-
diate prospect of waning, The port is adm_mlstered by_ a
Port Trust constituted under the Rangoon Port Commis-
sioners’ Act, 1879, which eees to the buoying and lighting of
the river and provides and maintains wharf and godown ace
commodation, The receipls and expenditure of the trust in
1902-03 aggregated fifteen and fourteen lakhs respeqtlvilg.
Rangoon is the terminus of all the lines of railway in the
Province. Starting from Phayre Street station the lines #o
Prome and Bassein pass westwards between the municipality



RANGOON, 219 @L

and the cantonment and thence northwards through the sub-
urb of Kemmendine. There are frequent locals along this
section of the railway and several stations within the limits
of the city. The main line to Mandalay and Upper Burma
runs generally eastwards from the terminus through the sub-
urb of Pazindaung aud, skirting the mills that line the Paztin-
daung creck, passes north-eastwards into the Hanthawaddy
District. There are 80 miles of roads within eity limits, of
which about 60 are metalled, A steam tramway runs east and
west through the heart of the business quarter as well as
northwards as far as the Shwedagdn pagoda. It will probably
be electrified shortly. There is an earth railway on the
eastern side of the town which is bging used for bringing
in the earth required for the reclamation of the low-lying
swampy area near the banks of theriver.

Rangoon city consists of the municipality, the canton- Admini-

ment and the port. For the purposes of judicial and gene- stration.
ral administration it is a District of Lower Burma and is
in charge of a Deputy Commissioner who is Distriet Magis-
trate and who is assisted by a Cantonment Magistrate, two
Subdivisional Magistrates and other Jofficials, The Presi-
dent of the municipality is Deputy Commissioner of Town
Lands in the District. The Chief Court sits in Rangoon.
It is a Court of Sessions for the trial of Sessions cases in the
city and hears appeals from the Court of the District Magis-
trate. There is a Bench of Homnorary Magistrates consist-
ing of twenty-three members, On the civil side the Chief
Cowrt disposes of original civil cases of the value of
Re, 2,000 and upwards and of eivil appeals. - Petty eivil
cases are disposed of in the Small Cause Court in ‘which two
judges sit. There is a good deal of crime in the town, The
Indo-Burman community is addicted to theft, and acts of
violence are not uncommon, while the proximity of the port
appears to make the temptation to smuggle irresistible to
certain elasses.

The administration of the Rangoon Town Lands is at present
carried on under the provisions of the Burma Town and
Village Lands Act of 1898. Since 1§90 the Town Lands
have been controlled by the Deputy Commissioner (who is at
the same time President of the Rangoon municipality) under
the eontrol of the Commissioner of Pegu and the Financial
Commissioner. For revenue purposes the whole area compris-

pg Town Lands is divided into eight circles. The average
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revenue collections in the District amounts approximately to
Res. 10,348 ; the whole of this sum being credited to Imperial
funds.

The ground rents together with premia and the sale pro-.
ceeds derived from lands and building sites averaging
annually Rs. 8,038,717, are credited 4o the Land Sale and
Rent fund ; a portion of this sum is credited to the Town
Lands Reclamation fund ; the net balance being transferred
annually to the Rangoon municipality to be expended on
works of utility. AWl cultivated land i assessed to revenue
at a fixed rate per acre irrespactive of the crops (mostly garden
produce) cultivated, The rates vary from Rs, 2 to Rs. 3
per acre, )

Other sources of non-municipal revenue within city limits
besides customs and land rate are excise and income-tax.
The former broaght in about 144 lakhs and the latter (which

bas been in force in Rangoon since 1888) nearly 5 lakhs in
1900-01.

The Rangoon municipality comprises an approximate

area of 38 square miles with g population (inclusive of the
residents of the port) of 221,160 persons, It was constituted
on the 3lst July 1874. ‘The committee consists of 25
members, of whom 19 are elected hy the rate-payers and 6
are nominated hy Government,

There are various taxes, levied at 2 percentage on the annual
valuo of lands and buildings within mnicipal limite,
namely :—the 8 per cent, tax for « general purposes, >’ the 7
per cent. scavenging tax, the 4 per cent. water tax and the
1 per cent. lighting tax, Scavenging tax is charged at the
rate of 4 per cent, in areas not served by the municipal
drainage system, Ag is the case elsewhere, bazars are a
fruitful source of municipal income in Rangoon.

During the 10 years 1890—1900 the average ordinary
ineome of the Rangoon municipality (that is excluding special
loans) was Rs, 17,10,000 and the average ordinary expendi=
ture was Rs, 15,01,000. Tn 1902-1908 the ordinary income
was Rs. 24,62,704 (the principal sources being Rs. 6,16,000
from the general house and land tax, Rs. 8,98,000 from
conservancy, Rs, 2 84,000 from markets and slanghter-houses
and Rs. 2,41,000 from water-rate). The gross income in
1902-03 was Rs. 84,79,858, including a loan of Re. 33,38,000
for public works purposes. ~ The expenditure during that yeap
was Rs. 52,260,484 ; and included a capital outlay of
Rs. 10,17,000 on water supply, and a re-payment of a losn
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it Rs. 6,42/000 ; Rs. 8,89,000 was spent on conservancy,
Rs. 2,47,000 on hospitals and dispensaries, and Rs. 5,30,000
on roads.

The cantonment area lies to the mnorth of the city. It
formerly comprised the bulk of the European residential
quarter, but building operations have now been extended |
further afield outside its limits—mainly in the direction of
what is known as the Royal Lake, an artificial stretch of
water lying to the rorth east of the town—and the canton-
ment boundary itself is now being curtailed. . The popalation
of the cantonment at the 1901 census was 18,721, There is
a cantonment fund administered by the .cantonment com-
mittee. Tts income in 1901-02 was Rs. 69,654 (including
Rs. 15,000 from a house tax, Rs. 13,600 from conservancy
and Rs. 12,000 from land. The expenditure in that year
amounted to Re., 66,065, the prineipal items being couservancy
(Rs. 29,000), police (Rs. 9 500) and (roads Rs. 9,500).

The town is at present lit with oil lamps, but electrie light-
ing will probably be introduced within the municipal area at
an early date.

The drainage of the town consists of gravitating sewers
which receive the sewage from house connections and carry
them to ejectors. These di-charge their contents automati-
cally into a gealed sewer main, through which all the night
soil and sullage water of the town is forced into an outfall
near the mouth of the river and immediately to the southe-
west of Monkey Point Battery to the east of the town. 4his
system has been in use since 1%89 most successfuly. The
water-supply for the town is at present from an artifical
lake about 5 miles from the town ealled the Vigtoria Lake,
the collected rain water from which is carried by a main pipe
to the town and supplies it with low pressure for about 12
bours per day. Water is also pumped upto a high level:
reservoir on the Shwedagon pagoda platform about 100 feet
above Rangoon ; whence itis supplied to the town by gravita-
tion, This arrangement has provided drinking water to
the town for the past 20 years but the supply being at
present insufficient a large reservoir lake is being con-
structed at Hlawga about ten miles beyond the Vietoria lake,
which when completed is calenlated to supply all require-
ments for an indefinite peried. \

The oity contains several handsome buildings. Among
the mest conspicnous are the new Government House to the
north-west of the camtonment area, the Secretiriat Buildinge
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to the east of the business quarter and the District Court
buildings facing the river in the centre of the town. The
new Roman Catholic cathedral which is approaching com-
pletion promises to be a very handsome structure. The
Jubilee Hall at a corner of the brigade parade ground in the
neighbourhood of the cantonment is one of the more recent
additions to the architecture of the town. It is used for
public meetings and for recreation purposes. The Town
Hall in which the munieipal offices are located adjoins the
Sule Pagoda in the business quarter, The Rangoon College
buildings, the General Hospital and the Anglican Cathedral
are grouped together and merit notice. A mnew Hospital
and a Chief Court building will be constructed shortly.
There are several public squares and gardens and a pictur-

esque park (Dalhousie Park) surrounding the Royal Lake
referred to above,

The town is garrisoned by British and native infantry
and by two companies of Royal artillery. There are three
volunteer corps, Previous to June 1899 the Rangoon police
were under the orders of the Inspector-General of Police,
Burma, but on the 16th June 1899, a Commissioner was

appointed for Rangoon and the police were placed directly
under his charge,

For police purposes the town is divided into three sub-
divisions, each in charge of a Superintendent of Police.
There are 10 police stations and 10 outposts. The total
strength of the force under the orders of the Commissioner
of Police and the Superintendents is, 14 Inspectors, nine
head constables, 57 serzeants and 727 native constables
besides 17 European constables and one European sergeant.

Rangoon bas a large central jail, with accommodation for
2,618 native and 80 European prisoners, which is in charge
of a whole-time Superintendent who is an officer of the
Indian Medical Service, The principal industries earried
on in the Rangoon jail are carpentry, wood=carving, coach-
building, weaving, wheat grinding, and printing. A con-
siderable portion of the printing work of Government is
carried out by the Jail Branch of the Government Press.

Bduostion.  The following are the chief educational institations of
Rangoon :—The Rangoon College and Collegiate School,
established in 1874, administered by the educational Syndi-
cate fiom 1886 to 1903 and placed in the latter year under
the direct control of Government; The Dioccesan Boys
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School, founded in 1864 for the education of Europeans;
The Baptist College, opened in 1872 as a secondary school,
and in 1884 affiliated with the Calcutta University; St.
John’s College S. P. G-, founded in 1864, and affiliated as a
high school to the Calcutta University; St. J ohn’s Convent
School for girls started in 1861 ; The Lutheran Mission
School for Tamil children opened in 1878 and St. Paul’s
(Roman Catholic boys’) school opened in 1861.

There were registered in 1903-04, 29 secondary schools,
110 primary schools, 206 elementary (private) schools, 37
training schools and “special ” schools. The number of
pupils in registered schools and in the two collegiate estab-
lishments was 8,081 in 1891; 18,5614 in 1901 ; and 17,166
in 1908-04 (including 4,123 females). The expenditure
on education in the year 1903-04 was borne as follows:
Provinecial funds Rs. 90,800; municipal ;funds Rs. 71,500
fees, Rs. 2,04,300, and subscriptions Rs. 11,600.

The chief epidemic and contagious diseases prevalent in
the town are small-pox, cholera and enteric fever. Small-
pox appears to be introduced annually from the Districts,
where it is always rife, Cholera is endemic along the banks
of the river and creeks, and is, no doubt, closely related to
an impure drinking water supply. Enteric fever occurs
gporadically throughout the town and suburbs. It is pro-
bably due to defective drainage and defective water-connee~
tions.

The most important medical institutions in the city are the
Rangoon General Hospital and the Dufferin Hospital, a new
andbandsome building recently erected in the north-west corner
of the town. In connection with the Geeneral Hospital there
is a contagious diseases hospital and an out-door dispensary
at Pazindaung. There is a lunatic asylam which ig situated |
close to the Central jail and is in charge of the junior
aivil surgeon of Rangoon and a leper asylum outside the
town.
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Municipal town and administratve head-quarters of the
Simla District, Punjab, chief sanitarium and summer capital
of British India. Situated on a transverse spur of the Central
Himalayan system in 31°6’ N. and 77°10’ E. Mean eleva~
tion above sea-level 7,084 feet. Distant by rail from Calcut-
ta 1,176 miles, from Bombay 1,112 miles, and from Karachi
947 miles ; from Kalka, at the foot of the hills, by cart rond,
58 miles. © The population of the town (excluding Jutogh
and Kasnmpti) was in 1881, 12,305 ; in 1891, 13,084, and
in 1901, 13,960 as enumerated in February or March when
it was at its lowest. At a municipal census taken in 1904
the population of the station was returned at 34,501, Of
the population enumerated in 1901, Hindus numbered 8,568,

Mahammadans 3,545, Sikhs 846, Christians 1,471, and Jains
and Zoroastrains 85,

A tract of land, including part of the hill now crowned
by the station, was retained by the British Government at
the close of the Gurkha war in' 1815-16. Licutenant - Ross,
Assistant Political Agent for the Hill States, erected the
first residence, a thatched wooden cottage, in 1819. Three
years afterwards, his successor, Lieutenant Kennedy, built a
permanent house, Officers from Ambala and neichbouring
stations quickly followed the example, and in 1826 the new
settlement had acquired a name, A year later, Lord
Ambherst, the Gnvernor-(}eneral, atter completing his progress
through the North-West, on the conclusion of the successful
Bharatpur campaign, spent the summer at Simla. From that
date the sanitarium roge rapidly into favour with the European
population of northern India, Year after year, irregularly
at first, but as a matter of eogrse after a few seasons, the seat
of Government wag transferred for a few weeks in every
summer from the heat of Calentts to the eool climate of the
IIimilzm_y&s. Suceessive Governors-General resorted with
increasing regulatity to Simla during the hot weather.
Situated in the recently anmexed Panjab, it formed an
advantageous epot for recciving the great Chiefs of northern
and western India, numbers of whom annually come to
Simla fo pay their respects to the Vieeroy, Tt also presented
greater conveniences as a starting point for the Governors
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=eral’s cold weather tour than Caleutta, At first only a
small staff of officials accompanied the Governor-General to
Simla; but since the administration of Lord Lawrence
(1864) Simla has, except in 1874, the year of famine in
Bengal, been the summer capital of the Government of India,
with its secretariats and head-quarters establishments.

Simla was the regular head-quanters of the Commander-
in-Chief before it was that of the Governor-General, and now
several of the Army Head-quarter Offices vemain in Simla all
the year round. The Punjab Guvernment first came to
Simla in 1871, and except for a three years’ rojourn at Mut-
ree from 1873 to 1875 has had its summer head-quartersat
Simla ever since, .

Under these circamstances, the station has grown with
extraordinary rapidity. From 30 houses in 1830 1t increased
to upwatds of 100 in 1841 and 290 in 1866. In February 1881
the number of occupied houees was 1,141 and in March 1801
1,847 (including Kasumpti). At present, the bungalows
extend over the whole length of a considerable ridge, which
runs east and west in a crescent shape, with itsconcave side
pointing southward, The extreme ends of the station lie at a
distance of 6 miles from one another. Eastward, the ridge
culminates in the peak of Jakho, over 8,000 feet in height,
and nearly 1,000 feet above the average elevation of the
station. Woods of deodar, oak and rhododendron clothe its
sides, while a tolerably level road, 5 miles long, runs round
its base. Auother grassy height, known as Prospect Hill, of
inferior elevation to Jakho, and devoid of timber, closes the
western extremity of the crescent. The houses cluster thick-
est upon the southern slopes of Jakho, and of two other hillg
lying near the western end, one of which, known as Observas
tory Hill, is erowned by Viceregal Lodge. Thechurch stands
at the western base of Jakho, below which, on the south side
of the hill, the native bazar cats off one end of the station
from the other. The eastern portion bears the name of Chota
Simla while the most western extremity is known as Boileau-
ganj. A beautifal northern spur, running at right-angles to
the mnin ridge, and still clothed with oak and old rhododendron
trees, has acquired the complimentary designation of Elysium.

Three and-a-half miles from the western end, two batteries of
artillery oecupy the detached hill of Jutogh. The exquisite
scenery of the neighbourhood is typical of the Himalayas,
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Simla besides being the summer head-quarters of the G.ov-
ernments of India and of the Punjab and of the various
Departments of Army Head-quarters is the head-quarters of
the Deputy Conservator of Forests, Simla Division, and the
Executive Engineer, Simla Division, as well as of the ordinary
District staff, and the summer head-quarters of the Commis-
sioner of the Delhi Division. A battalion of Volunteers, the
2nd Punjab (Simla) Rifles, is stationed here. There are four
churches of the Church of Ragland :—Christ Church (the
Station Church) opened in 1844, 5 Chapel of Base at Boileau=
ganj, a Chapel attached to Bishop Cotton School, and a
Native Church in the bazar. There arealso a Roman Catholie
Cathedral and two Counvents, and an Undenominational
Church following the Presh

/ yterian form of worship. The
Church Missionary Society, Society for the Propagation of
the Gospel Zanana Mission and Baptist Mission have branches

in the town. There are two Masonic Lodges. There is also
at Simla the Umted.Service Institution of India, and a large
club entitled the United Service Club,

The Government offices are for th
in large blocks of buildings, and th

contaios a theatre, reading room and ball room. Annandale,
the Simla ericket ground and race-course, has recently heen
greatly enlarged. The municipality, created in 1850, is of the
1st class. Tt has 10 members, 4 nominated and 6 elected,

and the Deputy Commissioner of Simlg is ex-officio president.
The average income for the

10 years ending 1902-03 was
Rs. 4,16,382, the chief source being taxes, and the expendi-
ture Rs. 4,14,314. Tts ingome and expenditure were in
1903-04 Rs. 5,46,684 and Rs,

i A ; 5,36,122 respectively. Water
is supplied to the station by a system of water-works con-
structed at the cost of about 6 lakhs and supposed to be cap-

able of supplying a minimum of 800,000 gallons & day.
The supply is not, however, sufficient for the rapidly growing
needs Of_the town. There ig g drainage system which is
now being extended at the cost of nearly 6 lakhs. The
consolidated municipal debt amounts to about 12 lakhs.

The commeree of Simla consists chiefl y in the supply of
necessaries to the summer visitors and their dependants, but
Simla is also an entrepdt for the trade with China and Tibet.
There are a large number of European shops, and four Engl;sh
Banks. The chief exports of the town are beer and spirits,
there being two breweries and one distillery.

e most part accommodated
ere is a Town Hall which
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The chief educational institutions are Bishop Cotton
School, a public school for European boys founded by Bishop
Cotton in 1866 in thanksgiving for the deliverance of
the British in India during the Mutiny of 1857; the
Auckland High School for girls; the Christ Church Day
School for boys and girls; two Convent Schools and a
convent Orphanage the Mayo Orphanage for Euro-
pean and REurasian orphan girls; and a municipal high
school. The two chief medical institutions are the Ripon and
Walker Hospitals, the latter founded in 1902 through the
munificence of Sir James Walker, C.LE., as a hospital for
Europeans.
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TRICHINOPOLY.

The head-quarters of the District and taluk of the same
name in the Madras Presidency, situated on the right bank
of the Cauvery river in 10° 49’ N. and 78° 49’ E., distant
from Madras 195 miles by road and 250 miles by the South
Indian Railway. It is the third most populous town in the
Presidency. It once held the second place, but at the census
of 1901 Madura outstripped it. although in the decade ending
with that year its inhabitants increased by as much as 18 per
cent. Out of the total population of 104,721, 76,927 are
Hindus, 14,512 Christians and 13,259 Musalmans. In 1891
its inhabitants numbered 90,609 ; in 1881, 84,449 ; and in
1871, 76,580. The fact that it is an important railway
junction and head-quarters has had much to do with its
rapid growth.

Trichinopoly is a very ancient town. Popular legend
carries its history back beyond the days of the Ramayana.
Later, the capital of the Chola kingdom was once at
Uratyr, a suburb of the town which is identified with the
’Ofovpa mentioned by the Greek geographer Ptolemy (about
A. D. 130). In the local purina or history (Sevvandi-
puranam) there is a story of the destruction of Uraiyir by a
shower of sand. There ‘was a flower garden, says the tale, on
the Trichinopoly Rock in which the sage Saramuni raised
sevvandi (chrysanthemum) flowers for the worship of Siva.
A gardener stole some of the flowers and presented them to
the Chola king Parantaka daily. When the theft was
discovered and the gardener was arraigned before the king,
the latter excused him. Siva was very worth thereat and
turned his face towards Uraiyur and rained sand on it. The
king and queen fled and ag they ran she fell in the river but
he was buried in the storm of sand. The queen was washed
ashore and protected by a Brahman, She gave birth to a son
who was afterwards called to the throne. He was identified
as the rightful heir by an elephant and was consequently
called Karikala, Tt hae been snrmised that this account has
reference to a Pandyan invasion. The king Parantaka is

robably. Parantaka IT, whose son was Aditya 1I. alsas
%aﬁkila‘ and who reigned in the 10th century.

Inscripfions have been found in the Srirangam and
Jambukeswaram temples which show that as late as the 15th
and 16th centuries descendants of the Chols dynasty reigned




at Uraiyir as vassals of the kings of Vijayanagar. In the
13th century, the Hoysala dynasty appears to have held
sway here for a time, with its provincial capital at Samaya-
puram. The Musalmans succeeded in the 14th century, and

| then the Vijayanagar dynasty. During the rule of the
Naiks of Madura, Trichinopoly was an important place and
was for some time their capital. The founder of the dynasty, -
Viswanatha Naik, is supposed to have fortified the town and
constructed the Teppakulam reservoir, One of his successors,
Chokka Naik, erected the building known as the Nawab's
palace, obtaining the necessary materials by demolishing
portions of the famous Tirumala Naik’s palace at Madura.
The building is also known as Mangammal's palace after the
Naik queen of that name. )

In the wars of the Carnatic, Trichinopoly was frequently
the scene of hostilities between the English and the French.
After the country was ceded to the Company it continued
for many years to be an important military station. Troops
were first stationed within the Fort, next at Uraiyir, and
subgequently in the present cantonment. The cantonment
was formerly garrisoned by European and Native regiments,
but in 1878, when the fourth Afghan war broke out, the
whole of the Buropean contingent was removed and the gar-
rison subsequently reduced to two regiments of Native In-
fantry. It at present consists of one regiment and a part of
another.

The Wort is rectangular, measuring about a mile by half
a mile, and was origmally surrounded by ramparts and a
ditch, but the walls have now been levelled and the ditch
filled in, The streets in this part of the town are narrow but
fairly regularly laid out. ’

Trichinopoly was constituted a municipality in 1866.
The municipal limits include the Cantonment and  the,
Fort as well as several other revenue villages. The
municipal council consists of 24 members of whom
eight are elected and 15 nominated by Government,
one of the latter being a military officer to represent the
Cantonment. The Divisional officer is ez-officio a councillor, The
average income i8 about Rs. 1,560,000, and latterly the ex-
penditure has exceeded the receipts in consequence of the out-
lay incurred from borrowed money on the water-supply
scheme. These water-works cost about eight lakhs of rupees
and loans were raised to the.amount of Rs. 8,88,600. The
supply is derived from wells and filter beds laid in the bed of
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the Cauvery nearly a mile above the town, and the water is
pumped up by steam and conducted into the town by pipes.
The introduction of the supply has had a marked effect on
the public health and has practically exterminated cholera,
which was formerly the scourge of the place. The works are,
however, liable to severe damage when the Cauvery is in flood,
sometimes necessitating a return to the old tainted sources of
supply. The problem of rendering them strong enough to
resist floods is still under consideration ; meanwhile the
necessity for continued repairs is a severe drain on munieipal
revenues. : :

The most interesting object in the town is the famous
Rock. It lies within the fort and rises sheer from the plain
to a height of 273 feet above the level of the streets at its foot.
The ascent is by a covered stone staircase, the entrance to
which is on the south side. On each side of the gateway are
stone figures of elephants, and the passage itself is lined with
pillars with carved capitals, At the head of the first flight of
steps, a street runs completely round the rock, by the side of
which houses ]?ave been built. Tt is used for religious pro-
cessions, and is connected with the street round the foot of
the rock on the eastern side. From the street opens a hall,
on the left of which is a small shrine to Ganesh, = A second
series of steps leads out of this hall through an exit ornamen-
ted with statues of dwarapilalas (gate—keepers) on each side.
On ascending these, a second landing is reached on each side
of which is a large hundred pillared mantapam or hall, that on
the left being used twice g year £

belonging the main temple.” M or the reception of the idol
oty ird land-
ing, to the left of whichpis a e Jet do & Gl I

! hic] small room for the temple records
and in front of which is a shrine to Ganesh. The ascent now
turns sharply to the left and then to the right terminating on

a fourth landing, giving access to the main temple. None
but- caste Hindus may enter this, but a view of a portion of
the antechamber can b

. e obtained from the landing. The steps
now emerge into the open air, passing on the left a chamber
hewn out of the rock and covered with Sanskrit ingeriptions.
This chamber was used as 3 magazine by the British during
the siege. It has recently been opened out. The carvings
have a Buddhistic air and are probably not later than the fifth
or sixth century A.D. Two short flights lead to a building to
which the temple deity is taken once a year and to a platform
on the shoulder of the rock whenee the top is reached by a
final series of steps which are cut im the face of the rock. On
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e top is a small temple dedicated to Ganesh, whose shrine is
surrounded by a gallery from which a fine view of the fort,
the town, the Cauvery, Srirangam, and the adjacent country
is obtained. At-a corner of this gallery, overlooking the
great temple, is a narrow door leading on to a small platform
from which a good view is obtained of the ¢ kalasam ’ or
golden covering over the central shrine of the temple.
Beneath can be seen, sculptured in relief on the surface of the
rock, two foot-prints which Hindus believe to have been made
by Vibhishana, the brother of Ravana and the ally of Rama.
The Musalmans, however, claim the foot-prints as those of the
saint Nadir Shah Aliya, who took up his residence on the
rock but was ejected therefrom by the god of the place.

At the foot of the rock, on the north-eastern side, is a row
of low buildings with semi-circular arched roofs, said to he
old bomb-proof barracks, and further on—more to the east—a
portion of the former outworks of the fort, the line of the
walls being indicated by the open space surrounding the town.
A representation of the rock is sculptured on a tablet to
Major Lawrence in Westminister Abbey. The deity in the
main temple on the rock is called ¢ Matrubutheswara ’ in
Sansgkrit and “Tayuméanavar’ in Tamil from his having
assumed the guise of a mother to attend on a helpless woman
in child-bed, her mother having been detained by floods on
the other side of the Cauvery. When the floods subsided
the mother came across, and the woman and her husband
were mueh puzzled as to who her double could have heen.
Siva then appeared in his real form and blessed them. This
curious legend, as well as that of Saramuni, are painted pano-
ramically on an inner wall of the temple.

Near the foot of the rock is the Teppakulam, & large
masonry tank or reservoir with a small but graceful manta-
pam in the centre. Overlooking it'at the south-west corner
is the main guard gate, a substantial piece of masonry, from
the top of which is the best view of the rock as a whole.
Distinguished visitors to the town are entertained by heing
taken to this point to see the great rock and the tank all out-
lined with thousands of lamps—an impressive scene. The
place was similarly illuminated at the two jubilees of Her
Majesty the late Qeeen-Empress and on Coronation Day.

The Nawab’s palace, a part of which is now used as &
Town Hall and part as public offices, is situated elose to the
rock. The portion used as the Town Hall was formerly the
audience hall and is. a fine building of plain and massive

I



Aarchit.ecture, surmounted by an octagonal dome, and gurroun-
ded with colonnades. These last are perhaps, however, rather
too squat to make an effective base for the dome.

In front of the Nawab’s palace is the Coronation garden
with the Wenlock Fountain within.
. Overlocking the Teppakulam at its south-east cover is a
house which was once the residence of Clive, but is now
occupied by St. Joseph’s College. To the north-west of the
rock is Christ Church which was founded by the famous
Missionary Swartz. His house is also close by. Near the
Fort rallway-station is what is known as Chanda Sahib’s
tomb. 1t is m the Nadir Shah mosque, wherein are buried
the remains of Nadir Shah, Aliya, a saint who is reputed
to have come here f§'0m Constantinople in the days of old,
and of one of his disciples, a lady. The railings round the
tomb are of pierced metal work of a curious design. The
building appears to have been constructed from the materials

of Hindu temples, the head of g lingam (for example)

having been converted into a lamp-post. The entrance hall
to the mosque 18 clearly an old

; 08 Hindu mantapam left almost
in its original state. Chanda Sahib built the dome over the

ediﬁce and his' remains are interred close to the buildin
while the remains of his rival Muhammad Ali and of the
members of his family are in the verandah and in a room

attached thereto, There are Persian mseriptions on the walls
of this building and of the mosque. B l

Besides the wafer~311pp]y,
built & market in the fort and
it. In front of the market are
Jubilee Park and the arch erected in commemoration of the
visit of the present King-Emperor when Prince of Wales.
The hospital has an endowment of Rs. 12,000 raised by publie
subseription in 1868 and also receives an annual grant of
Rs. 4,500 from the District board. Tt has a maternity ward,
a ward for caste patients and a dispensing room for women
and children under charge of a lady apothecary trained by
the Countess of Dufferin’s Fund Committee.

Trichinopoly is one of the great educational centres of the
south of the Pl‘eSldenc]y. It contains two first-grade colleges
maintained respectively by the Roman Catholic Jesuit
Mission and by the Protestant Society for the Propagation
of the Gospel. The former, known as 8t. Joseph’s College,
was originally established at Negapatam in 1844 and
was removed to Trichinopoly in 1888. The present building

the municipal council has
a hospital to the south of
a clock tower, the Diamond
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was opened in 1886. The' college Cathedral, a very fine,
edifice, has been recently completed. Attached to the institu-
tion is a large boarding-house for native Catholic students as
well as lodgings for Brahman and caste Hindus and hostels
within the college compound. The S. P. G. College, which
is a development of various schools founded by Swartz, was
raised to a first-grade college in 1883. There 1s a hostel for .
Hindu students upon the college premises and hard by is
another bearing the name of Bishop Caldwell and intended
mainly for Christian students from Tinnevelly. The pro-
selytizing activity of the Jesuit mission led to the establish-
ment by the Hindu eommunity in 1886 of the National high
gchool in the interests of the Hindu community,
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Udaipur city, the capital of the Mewar or Udaipur State
in Rajputana, takes its name from Rana Udai Singh IT who
founded it in or about 1559. It lies in 25° 85’ N. and 73°
43’ B. being, by railway, 67 miles west by south-west of
Chitor, 458 miles south-west of Delhi and 697 miles north
of Bombay. The city is the fifth largest in Rajputana- and
has a population of 45,976 (against 38,214 in 1881 and 46,693
in 1891). Hindus number 29,157 or over 63 per cent of the
inhabitants, Musalmans 9,685 or over 20 per cent, Jains
4,520 or mearly 10 per centiand “others” 2,714, The picturesque
sitnation of Udaipur froms its principal charm. = The city
stands on a low ridge, the summit of which is erowned by
the Maharana’s palace, and to the west it clusters round the
bank of a beautiful piece of water known as the Pichola lake.
The view from the embankment across to the dark background
of wooded hills, which close in round the western sides of
this lake and supply the water, is as fine as anything in
India. The palace is an imposing pile of buildings runnin
north and south and covering a space about 1,500 feet long
by about 800 feet at its widest part. Fergusson has described
it as “the largest in Rajputana and in outline and size a
good deal resembling Windsor ; but its details are bad and ’
when closely examined, it will not bear comparigon with
many other residences of Rajput princes.” But though the
palace has been added to by almost every Chief since 1571,
when the oldest portion, the Ratamgan or royal courtyard,
is said to have been built, the want of plan and mixture of
architecture do not spoil the general effect. It is this very
diversity that is so attractive. The Pichola lake is said fo
have been constructed by a Banjara at the end of the 14th
eentury and ils embankment was raised by Rana Udai
Singh IL. Tt is about 2} miles long by 1} broad and has an
area of over one square mile. In the middle of the lake stand
the two island-palaces, the Jagamandir and the Jagniwas, the
former built by Rani Jagat Singh I in the first half of the
17th century and the latter by Jagat 8ingh II about 100
years later. The Jagamandir is noted as the asylum of




Prince Khurram, afterwards the emperor Shah Jahin,
while in revolt against his father, Jahangir. The, little

palace then built for him consists of a round tower of yellow:

sandstone lined inside with marble slabs, three storeys in
height and crowned by a handsome dome. The upper apart-
ment is circular, about 21 feet in diameter, and Fergussom
thought it the prettiest room he knew in India. ¢ Its floor is
inlaid with black and white marbles, the walls are ornamented
with niches and decorated with arabesques of different
coloured stones (in the same style as the Taj at Agra, though
the patterns are Hindu), and the dome is exquisitely beautiful
inform.” Otherobjects of interest on this island are the little
mosqae and the throne sculptured from a single block of ser-
pentine. The Jagniwas is about 800 feet from the shore and
consists of a collection of small apartments, courts and gardens.
The latter are filled with orange, mango and other fruit trees,
forming a perfect roof of evergreen foliage, broken only
occasionally by a tall palm or cypress and varied by the broad-
Jeafed plantain. Of these two islands Fergusson writes that
the only objects in Europe that can be compared with them
“gare the Borromean islands in the Lago Maggiore, bub I
need scarcely say their Indian rivals lose nothing by the
comparison—they are as superior to them as the Duomo at
Milan is to Buckingham Palace. Indeed, I know of nothing
that will bear comparison with them anywhere.” Another
fine lake, connected by a small canal with, and lying to the
north of, the Pichola, is the Fateh Sagar constructed by, and
named after, the present Maharana. It is about 14 miles
long by one mile broad and its embankment, 280 feet long,
is named after His Royal Highness the Duke_of Connaught
who laid the foundation stone in 1889.  Among other objects
of interest are the Sajjan Niwas gardens, well laid out and
kept up ; the Vietoria Hall, & handsome building used as'a
library, reading room and museum, in front of which stands
a statue of Her late Majesty ; and the cenotaphs of the Chiefs
of Mewir in the oid village of Ahar. The manufactures of
Udaipur city are unimportant and con<ist mainly of em=
broidery, cotton eloths stamped in gold and silver, and swords
and daggers, The central jail has accommodation for 458
prisoners and is usually overcrowded, the daily average
strength having been 481 in 1901, 672 in 1902 and 526
in 1908. There are altozether ten schools ab Udaipur, namely,
5 maintained by the Stateand 5 by the United Kreo Chureh
Mission ; the daily average attendance during 1903-04 was

UDAIPUR. 236
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926, Of these schools, 8 are for girls, The only nota-
ble institution is the Maharana’s high school, in which
English, Sanskrit, Persian, etc., are taught. 1t is affiliated
to the Allahabad University and, since 1888, 60 students
have passed the middle and 47 the entrance examination of
that University, Its average daily attendance is 443.
There are altogether 4 hogpitals and one dispensary at Udai-
pur and of the former, one is maintained by the mission and
one by Government, They have accommodation for 128 in-
patients and in 1903, 114,792 cases (1,276 being those of in-
patients) were treatedand 3,298 operations performed. The
Lansdowne hospital (opened in July 1894) and the Shepherd
Mission hospital (opened in December 1886) are both excel-
leut institutions and deservedly popular. The Walter hospi-
tal for females (opened in May 1888) is also deserving of
notice as it is a fine building containing 24 beds. Of places
of interest in the vicinity of Udaipur may be mentioned
Eklingji sitoated in a narrow defile 12 miles to the north.
Here in the eighth century Bapa Rawal constructed a temple
to Mahadeo who is worshipped under the epithet of
Ekling—that is, with one /ingam or phallus. The origi-
nal building was destroyed by the Muhammadans, but was
rebuilt in the fifteenth century. The temple is of unusual
design, having a double-storeyed porch and sanetuary, the
former covered by a flat pyramidal roof composed of many
_hundred circular knobs and the latter roofed by a lofty tower
of more than ordinary elaboration. Inside the temple is &
four-faced image of Mahadeo made of black marble. Since
Bapi Rawal’s time, the chief of Mewar has been Diwan or
vice-regent of Eklingji and as such, when he wvisits the
temple, supersedes the high priest in his duties and performs
the geremonies. There is a picturesque lake in the vicinity
and there are numerous other temples, that built by Miran
Bai, the wife of Bhoj Raj, son of Sangram Singh, in the
sixteenth century being of singular elegance. Close to
Eklingji is Nagda or Nagahrida, one of the most ancient
places m Mewar. Here the Maharana’e ancestors ruled for
seven generations till the time of Bapa. The principal
temples are the Sis Bahu said to be asold as the _eleventh
century ; they are two in number and are dedicated to
Vishnu. They are most beautifully carved and adorned with
artistic figures and sculpture in the very best taste; indeed,
the one to the south has been described as * a perfect gem
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kind and not eurpassed by any old building in Mewir,
not exeepting Baroli.” The Jain temple known as Adbudji’s
is remarkable only for the great size of the images it contains,
the largest, that of Santinath, being 64 feet by 4 feet.

[The quotations from Mr. Fergusson are taken from his
Picturesque illustrations of ancient architecture, 1848.]



